Climate Change Management

Ulisses M. Azeiteiro Walter Leal Filho Luísa Aires *Editors*

Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education

Distance Learning for Sustainable Development



Climate Change Management

Series editor

Walter Leal Filho, Hamburg, Germany

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/8740

Ulisses M. Azeiteiro · Walter Leal Filho Luísa Aires Editors

Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education

Distance Learning for Sustainable Development



Editors Ulisses M. Azeiteiro Department of Biology, Centre for Environmental and Marine Studies (CESAM) University of Aveiro Aveiro Portugal

Walter Leal Filho School of Science and Environment Manchester Metropolitan University Manchester UK Luísa Aires Department of Education and Distance Learning and CEMRI, Centre of Studies on Migrations and Intercultural Relations Universidade Aberta Porto Portugal

 ISSN 1610-2010
 ISSN 1610-2002 (electronic)

 Climate Change Management
 ISBN 978-3-319-70198-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-70199-8 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8
 ISBN 978-3-319-70199-8
 ISBN 978-3-319-70199-8

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017957656

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Climate change, as a global and local problem, and e-learning, as a prominent innovation area, are two intersected issues in this book. As a result, we can find an interdisciplinary mosaic in which the researchers' voices build scientific dialogs.

Regarding e-learning and Open Education, the book proposes one main idea: accountability of e-learning and Open Education in Climate Change Education.

E-learning allows add-on teaching and learning; it represents a different paradigm of teaching and learning. Therefore, the analysis of models and methodologies for sustainable e-learning is a fundamental basis to understand it as a powerful method for climate education.

Recent changes in social, scientific, and educational acceptance of e-learning and Open Education, with movements including MOOCs and OERs, put this educational perspective in a prominent place. However, multiple initiatives in this field must be accompanied by research and educational practices for new teaching and learning ecologies. Those ecologies encourage different ways of thinking, teaching, and learning; they are founded in constructs such as open and free education, cultural and social media, ubiquitous learning, m-learning, e-communities, personal learning environments (PLEs), e-participation, or e-citizenship that are challenging the ways teaching innovate on teaching and students innovate on learning.

Through the book chapters, several authors contribute to minimize the gap between practice and research in the development of sustainable e-learning in climate change education. This is also a way of innovating.

Twenty-two double-blind peer-reviewed chapters from Europe (Denmark, England, Germany, France, Latvia, Italy, Spain, and Portugal), Asia (India), Australia, Africa (Burkina Faso, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Malawi, and South Africa), South America (Brazil), and North America (Mexico and USA) cover different subjects related to the theme of this book. Together with massive open online courses (MOOCs), open educational resources (OER), and communications technology (ICT), this book contributes to the discussion about e-learning and Open Education in Small Island States, Climate Refugees, Climate Smart Agriculture in developing countries (the Global South), Climate Literacy, Health curricula and Teaching, participation and governance systems, interdisciplinarity, and interculturality.

"Human resources resemble a crucial bottleneck in certain parts of the world, as a lack of qualified human resources can hinder the introduction of renewable and energy efficient technologies, as well as the wider application of appropriate technology and, even more importantly, maintenance of those technologies. Concerning capacity building, for example in the field of sustainable energy, recommendations include the use of lifelong learning measures such as dedicated capacity building and continuous professional development programmes, or the extension of curricula to better prepare learners for employment in green economic sectors. These short and longer-term measures should focus on building interdisciplinary, multidisciplinary skills and knowledge as required in sustainability related jobs." Franziska Wolf, Franziska Curran, Ellen Pflaum, and Hannah Ramic in Chapter "Education for Sustainability: Integrating Climate Change and Energy into Lifelong Learning Initiatives for Small Island Developing States" address the challenges and opportunities which open online interventions, such as massive open online courses (MOOCs), combined with open educational resources (OER), can offer to provide wider and free access to interdisciplinary high-quality knowledge provision. An area for which this is in high demand is energy access, energy security, and energy efficiency (EASE) and its relation to climate change, for which there is a growing demand across professions and age levels, and a deficit especially in lifelong learning in the developing world. This will be illustrated through the key online component of a dedicated lifelong learning model developed by the European funded EDULINK project L3EAP (short for "for Energy Access, Security and Efficiency in African and Pacific Small Island Developing States"). It is argued that approaches like the L3EAP mentored MOOC have the potential to play an important role in building and strengthening human capacities in less-developed regions of the world, where awareness of and knowledge about sustainable energy technologies and climate change can be lacking. The authors conclude that embracing ICT solutions can be a valuable cross-cutting measure to address the lack of human capacity in distant, less-developed, and remote locations, such as Small Island Developing States (SIDS), which may constrain a quicker uptake of sustainable energy technologies.

In Chapter "Distance Learning Will Enable Climate Refugees to Avoid Falling into the Social Risk Trap", María-del-Pilar-Quicios-García, Ana-Huesca-González, and Mª-Ángeles-Pascual-Sevillano describe how distance learning can help climate refugees protect themselves against the social risk that results from restrictions on their right to education. This documentary analysis is predominantly theoretical, and its general aim is to present a documentary corpus to facilitate classification of climate refugees in terms of their ICT competence. The specific aim is to provide keys for the design of educational programs that can closely match the competences of the individual refugee. This is the novelty and originality of this chapter. The refugee has traditionally been treated as an element within a group to which common educational methodologies are applied. This chapter treats each refugee as Preface

an individual according to their ICT skills, so each one will require a specific type of education.

"Poverty and climate change vulnerability is increasing in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) because the region lacks education and skills development facilities and sustainable governance systems. Arguably, mainstreaming climate literacy in secondarv schools through Information and Communications Technology (ICT) modalities can promote sustainable development and climate change resilience by providing early opportunities for the youth to gain knowledge and awareness of the behavioral and cultural changes that may foster improved climate change resilience." Dumisani Chirambo in Chapter "Leaving No-One Behind: Improving Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Education in Sub-Saharan Africa Through E-Learning and Innovative Governance Systems" through an inductive analysis based on research articles, case studies, policy briefs, and academic literature reviews, sought to highlight emerging ICT learning contexts in SSA as a means to determine the extent to which ICT may be used to promote climate change and sustainable development education in secondary schools. The paper showed that climate literacy at secondary schools was being constrained by a lack of climate change education material and content on existing ICT learning platforms and a lack of innovative governance systems to support governments in delivering climate literacy content to secondary schools and the youth. Consequently, to "leave no-one behind" requires non-state actors to develop and utilize innovative governance systems and digital climate literacy material that can complement government efforts to mainstream climate literacy at secondary schools.

"Hunger is still a major issue in the developing world. Education and sustainable agriculture can be seen as key links in overcoming hunger. Both can be combined in e-learning technologies; a popular method in developing countries and the Implementation of e-learning could provide a great leverage in improving education for sustainable agriculture in developing countries. E-learning has conditions which contribute to the implementation and success of e-learning." Aafke Schaap, in Chapter "E-learning as Tool to Feed the World", aims to assess if the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) addresses e-learning conditions according to scientific findings in their "E-agriculture Strategy Guide -Piloted in Asia Pacific Countries". This research answers the following question: Does the FAO address e-learning conditions per scientific findings in their "E-agriculture Strategy Guide"? If so, which conditions are addressed? This assessment is based on a literature review which provides a theoretical framework. With this framework, the selected FAO document is reviewed. The results present that the FAO takes all conditions, except two into account. The focus of the FAO in their "E-agriculture Strategy Guide" relies on course content, system (and internet) quality, and equality in education. Interpretation of the results shows that the FAO focusses on e-learning conditions of a technical nature or is close to other goals of the United Nations, such as equality. This research provides preparatory research for evaluation of e-learning strategies implemented by the FAO.

Maria Nuutinen and Walter Leal Filho in Chapter "Online Communities of Practice Empowering Members to Realize Climate-Smart Agriculture in Developing Countries" introduce the readers to "Communities of practice that are networks where individuals share the same interest and the will to learn together on the same domain through regular communication". The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) has facilitated and provided online learning opportunities to 12 climate-related communities since 2012. Their objective is to speed up knowledge-sharing, innovation, and the uptake of sustainable, climate-smart agricultural practices. Based on members' feedback and online monitoring results, the structured learning events, and messages in the communities' online fora (email-based discussion fora, webinar platform, and a group on social media), some 12 500 members have helped the members and their colleagues and organizations to solve problems related to climate and food security. In this chapter, an analysis of the bottlenecks and possibilities of how online communities could benefit a larger group of stakeholders is performed, and the capacity development methods improved for stronger impact are outlined. This chapter also introduces the challenges seen in implementing the concept of online communities of practice, as well as related capacity development methods, outlining technical and nontechnical components.

Eva A. McNamara, Melaine Kermarc, Joseph Zambo Mandea, and Glenn Bush, in Chapter "Tertiary Education Knowledge and Standards in Sustainable Development: A Crisis for the Democratic Republic of the Congo", present a case study to stimulate debate and action to avert a crisis in capacity to plan and manage development sustainably in the Équateur province of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC). The case study examines environmental literacy of higher education students enrolled in programs focused on rural sustainable development in the context of human resource needs to effectively implement complex sustainable development programs financed through international climate change initiatives. Written surveys of students and teachers and semi-structured interviews with key informants in a higher institute of education's administration revealed low comprehension of key environmental issues in the region (climate change, deforestation impacts), low French literacy, and limited access to teaching and learning materials as well as the Internet. Overall, this case study illustrates those immediate interventions which are needed to avert a current crisis in the ability of the DRC to scale-up planned sustainable development programs. Curriculum revisions and improved access to current information and training methods are especially needed to create a foundation for sustainable development within the country.

"The global food system makes a significant contribution to climate change, affecting greenhouse gas emissions and other major environmental impacts along the entire food chain. Individual food consumption is an important part of the production-consumption chain, because consumers make the final choice of the goods and services they consume, and their lifestyles determine how they influence sustainability practices. Simultaneously, there is an increasing concern for the environment issues and an increasing demand for naturalistic icons or organic production, free-range farming and unadulterated processing." Ana Pinto de Moura and Luísa Aires in Chapter "Food and Sustainability: An Emerging Subject in

Sustainable Environmental Sciences Education Applying to the e-Learning Environment" address the imperative to address sustainability in food consumer sciences education, due to the multidisciplinary nature of consumer food studies, by applying online education programs. The rational for e-learning approach is the fact that advances in information and communication technologies have had a tremendous impact on the format and approaches to teaching and learning.

"Climate literacy is a key impetus for triggering individual behavioral and societal change. Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), at first glance, entail a multiplier effect for climate literacy as they are recognized for offering non-formal learning opportunities to a wider audience. However, throughout the recent years MOOCs have been under manifold criticism from various corners challenging their educational value. A remedy for shedding light on the question whether MOOCs are a powerful tool for climate education is to bring in the students' perspectives on and experiences with MOOCs. These findings disclose the recipients' perceptions and give empirical evidence to assess the incorporation of non-formal learning into the students' learning context." In Chapter "MOOCs-A Powerful Tool for Imparting Climate Literacy?" insights from discussions with students, Daniel Otto presents an empirical study based on 35 interviews conducted with students who participated in an English-speaking MOOC about interdisciplinary perspectives on climate change. The interviewed students represent a variety of different nationalities and academic backgrounds. During the semi-structured interviews, the students revealed diverse reasons for their participation in the MOOC, multiple learning outcomes, and manifold opinions regarding the use of the MOOC in their personal learning context. This concludes that while MOOCs are a promising tool for climate change education, they require a deeper understanding by incorporating the students' perspective.

In Chapter "E-collaborating for Environmentally Sustainable Health Curricula", Peter Musaeus, Caroline Wellbery, Sarah Walpole, Hanna-Andrea Rother, Aditya Vyas, and Kathleen Leedham-Green aimed to demonstrate how medical educators can e-collaborative tools for collaborating internationally and use cross-institutionally toward designing environmental sustainability and health (ESH) education. The main focus of the chapter is on sustainable medical curricula. The chapter uses a case study approach to bridge these broader e-collaborative principles with the specifics of implementation driven and supported by e-collaboration. The case study describes the evolution of the Sustainable Healthcare Education (SHE) network into a network collaborative. Finally, the chapter discusses e-collaboration for education development through an illustrative case. The case concerns a UK-Greek University e-collaboration aimed at combating obesity and promoting climate literacy. E-collaboration is central at all levels of the ESH curriculum design process from forming a network collaborative around the curriculum process, alignment of assessment, and learning activities with objectives, discussing and agreeing on a vision to the actual implementation plan. E-collaboration aids the curriculum design process such that people feel that their participation and interests are valued, as well as providing resources and input to resource-stressed academics and institutions. E-collaboration is not an end in itself, but a means of enabling a global network collaborative to address an issue that suits this type of collaboration toward sustainable healthcare education. This chapter is original in showing how a component of a sustainable medical curriculum is the promotion of climate literacy and how this is linked with e-collaborative tools. The chapter shows how health education should educate climate literate health professionals who can address and reduce public health impacts of climate change.

"Massive open online courses (MOOCs) give the opportunity to engage and teach a global audience in the rationale and arguments of climate change and its impact on health." In Chapter "Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) on Climate Change and Health: Teaching a Global Audience", Sandra Barteit, Anneliese Depoux, Ali Sié, Maurice Yé, and Rainer Sauerborn describe the possibilities of MOOCs for climate change education based on the example of three MOOCs on climate change and health that were offered on the online learning platform university and FUN-MOOC. One MOOC was designed for a broader audience without prior requirements in the area of climate system and climate change. The learning target was health impacts worldwide, best practices in adaptation and mitigation strategies, as well as the promotion of health co-benefits. This MOOC was subtitled in ten different languages. An executive MOOC was targeted at policy-makers as part of their conference briefing for the climate conference COP21 in Paris in 2015. The key arguments of the MOOC included the development of climate policies and their share of the burden and benefits, as well as scientific evidence behind the four key arguments based on human health for climate policy (Sauerborn 2016a, b). The third MOOC focused again on a broader audience on climate change and health within an African context for a francophone audience. In the following, authors introduce MOOCs for teaching climate change education to a global audience, also with a focus on developing countries, followed by a description of the three MOOCs on the topic of climate change and health in more detail with regards to their contents, participant demographics, retention rate, and encountered challenges. The authors discuss findings with regards to all three MOOCs and give insights into practices for employing MOOCs in climate change education, for developed and developing countries.

As emphasized in the Paris Agreement, effective capacity building is vital to enable developing countries to take strong climate action. However, such capacity-building systems cannot rely solely on our age-old systems of individualized instructions and certification through educational institutions. The target groups to be capacitated have strong livelihood concerns and possess tacit knowledge to address their issues. This rich pool of tacit knowledge needs to be blended with structured knowledge of the Educational Institutions and should be aimed at finding solutions in real-life settings. Paradigmatically, new approaches for adaptation and mitigation activities would go a long way in realizing these development goals. Distance education as a philosophy and as a methodology is favorably positioned to respond to the climate change impact by creating systems which are outward-looking, reason-driven, and involving multi-stakeholder's environment. Umesh Chandra Pandey and Chhabi Kumar in Chapter "Emerging Paradigms of Capacity Building in the Context of Climate Change" suggest a step further in this direction to create paradigmatically new capacity-building systems for climate change. The idea is to have a paradigm shift in the university education from being structured with a predetermined curriculum and one which is based on individual certification to a contextualized learning based on practical knowledge, real-life experiences for exploring solutions in consultation with the community. The chapter would focus on how distance learning would create such opportunities and at the same time provide for capacity-building programs for climate change impact and its aftermath.

Luis Velazquez, Krystal Perkins, Nora Munguia, and David Zepeda in Chapter "A Coil-Enhanced Course on International Perspectives of Climate Change" considered the potential and significance of embedding intercultural experiences and globally networked learning into courses on climate change and sustainability. In particular, the State University of New York's (SUNY) Center for Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) has developed a pedagogical approach aimed at fostering multicultural learning across various areas of study. Drawing from our experiences participating in the COIL Center's professional development programs and through the implementation of a COIL-enhanced course, several suggestions for infusing COIL-like models into courses on climate change and sustainability are offered. To begin, a brief review of the existing literature on distance education is provided. Then, a brief background of the SUNY COIL System is presented. This is followed by a case study analysis of the COIL-enhanced course, International Perspectives on Climate Change. Finally, some reflections about the COIL experience at the University of Sonora are offered, including successes, challenges, and suggestions for fostering climate change literacy and sustainable learning.

"Climate change is a key issue on today's scientific, social and political agenda. The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals reinforce its current priorities in this regard (e.g. SDG 13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts) and is one of the five priority areas of the Strategy 2020 of the European Commission." Fátima Alves and Ulisses Miranda Azeiteiro, in Chapter "Climate Change and e-Learning: Interdisciplinarity and Interculturality Challenges", discuss the specificities of climate change online learning in respect to syllabus contents and highlights its multidisciplinary and multicultural components. One of the characteristics of online learning is its capacity to reach an extensive number of people, scattered around the world and with diversified cultural backgrounds. This opens an extremely valuable path to research and societal responsibility, filled with potentialities and challenges. Student's cultural diversity and geographical belonging must be reflected in the syllabus contents, as well as in the objectives of the courses and in the competencies that should be promoted. Furthermore, in the design of the courses, it is increasingly relevant to reflect and value an interdisciplinary approach to teaching and learning, because it is a key factor in Climate Change Education and Awareness. In this interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary dialog, it is crucial to evidence the cultural and contextual validity of knowledge and the impact of socioenvironmental dimensions in the configuration of climate change challenges. For the purpose of this study, we took as an example two course proposals: "Environment, Health and Wellbeing" for social sciences undergraduate students and "Governance of Climate Change Adaptation" for postgraduate students, presenting teaching contents, teaching and learning methodologies, effectiveness through e-learning in higher education institutions (HEIs), and the potential for increase in public climate science literacy.

"Spain and Brazil have played two significant roles in the field of higher education through inter-university cooperation; on the one hand, highly updated contents relating to sustainability and, on the other hand, an innovative system for the evaluation of education through competencies." Maria Julia Rubio Roldán, Glauco Gomes de Menezes, and João Carlos Cunha in Chapter "Innovations in Climate Change and Sustainable Management in Higher Education. Training and Evaluation" present an analysis of the model of integral sustainable administration. This model combines social, economic, and environmental factors based on the most outstanding contributions in this topic, and coins the concept of "socioecosustainability" as a necessary model for the twenty-first century. Furthermore, an educational process based on the model of climate change is evaluated. Conclusions provide useful recommendations to improve higher education around sustainability from the point of view of acquiring fundamental competencies for the development of professionals in truly sustainably organizations.

"Although distance learning and e-learning are currently acknowledged as important training tools for higher education institutions, they are seldom used as a way of disseminating environmental sustainability, climate change and its implications." Fernando J. P. Caetano, Carla M. B. P. Oliveira, Magnólia F. F. Araújo, and Maria C. F. D. Rego in Chapter "Towards Climate Change Awareness Through Distance Learning—Are Young Portuguese and Brazilian University Students Vigilant?" present the result of a teamwork between two universities, one from Brazil and the other from Portugal, which joined efforts to promote an interdisciplinary massive open online course associated with the environmental sustainability. We have interviewed university students from these two countries in order to understand their main conceptions and ideas about the climate changes as well as proposals they have for its mitigation. From these dialogs, we observed that, irrespective of the geographical distance/location, those students share similar concerns, conceptions, and proposals but it is noticeably lacking scientific knowledge when discussing these topics. This is an important starting point for the creation of a set of learning resources accessible to different audiences and with different and diverse backgrounds that can stimulate the interest of scientific knowledge. In this context, it is our belief that e-learning and distance education supported by the information technologies can efficiently and effectively contribute to a well-supported knowledge on environmental sustainability, namely climate changes and its causes and effects.

"As this is stressed in the international legislation and research, climate change is a serious global problem that has a negative impact on the quality of life which needs solutions at both global and local levels." Dzintra Iliško and Olegs Dedels, in Chapter "Dealing with Climate Change as a Wicked Issue via Innovative Approaches", reflect on good practice of integrating innovative pedagogical approaches dealing with climate change as a complex and wicked issue in a blended university study course: "Educating for sustainable social and cultural changes" at the Master's program level. The course is carried out at a regional University and highlights a promising practice of engaging students as transformative actors in their local contexts for initiating sustainable changes. It was concluded that the climate change issue needs to be dealt with as a wicked problem within a sustainability framework, and it needs to become an integral part of learning for a sustainable development. By learning about climate change, students not only acquired knowledge but also developed competencies to adopt sustainable lifestyles leading to a climate-resilient and sustainable behavior. The authors believe that a sustainable development requires changes in the way people think and act, and they see education playing a critical role in teaching-relevant skills for the application of change in this issue.

Paulo Dias, Luísa Aires, and Darlinda Moreira, in Chapter "e-Learning Diversification in Higher Education: Conceptions of Participation", reflect on the conceptions and different forms of participation in e-learning contexts in higher education and its influences in climate change literacy. Although the literature review highlights intense research on the value of participation in informal contexts, we argue that the construction of a pedagogical discourse on e-learning cannot be sustained without the pedagogy of participation. Such participation also acquires new meanings when analyzed using socio-constructivist and cultural approaches. In this study, the analysis of participation in e-learning contexts is based on categories such as leadership, sharing, and cohesion. The empirical data presented are the result of more wide-ranging research carried out at the Observatório da Qualidade da Educação a Distância e e-learning (Distance Education and e-learning Observatory) at the Universidade Aberta, Portugal. Data were collected from the online questionnaire given to a sample of 26 e-learning course leaders and pedagogical coordinators in face-to-face higher education institutions. The conclusions of the study highlight the different conceptions about the nature of e-learning processes and practices in higher education, which we believe highlight the need to promote a participation-oriented pedagogy as a fundamental aspect of both climate change literacy/education and online education and based on the construction of both pedagogical innovation and teachers' education to teach in virtual environments.

"The environmental crisis, caused by unsustainable development and an unjust model, requires a global change in a political, social and environmental context". To promote this change we need to redirect Higher Education to train citizens to be able to make responsible decisions and act in a sustainable way. This requires educational initiatives promoted by universities to redirect teacher training towards sustainability. With this objective, Mercedes Varela-Losada, Azucena Arias-Correa, and Pedro Vega-Marcote in Chapter "Training Teachers Committed to Climate Change Mitigation" present and focus a teacher training proposal based on treating the problems of climate change, the climate education, and the development of teaching skills. Its purpose is to enable students of the Faculty of Education Sciences, future teaching staff, to participate, individually and collectively, in improving this socioenvironmental problem of a local and global nature, which also has a multiplier effect for society in their later professional development. The proposal is based on a holistic and participatory methodology, promoting the development of sustainable skills, participation, information processing, critical thinking, and autonomous and informed decision-making using ICTs and a platform providing distance learning. The experience can be the foundation for future proposals in different contexts and professional profiles.

Diogo Casanova, Linda Price, and Barry Avery, in Chapter "Supporting Sustainable Policy and Practices for Online Learning Education", describes an approach to the adoption of online learning in higher education. It is particularly relevant for readers interested in Online and Distance Learning initiatives that enact an agenda of climate change education through being sustainable and future proof. Authors present a pathway for ensuring sustainable educational initiatives, drawing from research that identifies crucial factors in this endeavor. In particular, it addresses how the adoption of Online and Distance Learning can be used as a catalyst for changing the pedagogical paradigm of universities and how this change may impact on the development of new policies and guidelines. In this chapter, we report on how policy, guidelines, and professional development can be designed for sustainable and consistent learning design and teaching practices.

In Chapter "Sustainable Mobility in Higher Education Through Virtual Attendance", Esteban Vázquez Cano and M.^a Luisa Sevillano García present various proposals for improving student mobility on their journeys to and from university. Specifically, we describe a student service delivered by the virtual attendance system implemented by the National Distance-Learning University (UNED) which is not only a reference in terms of support for the teaching-learning process but also enables the reduction of student journeys to UNED-associated centers and university campuses, thus reducing both the air and noise pollution caused using motorized vehicles. Furthermore, we analyze from the perspective of social networking analysis (SNA), the network of interactions obtained in online discussion forums about the benefits of using virtual attendance at University. The results show that students' perceptions about this system enables the reduction of private motor vehicles, contributes to the elimination of mobility wastes, and fosters academic networking and collaborative work at university.

"E-learning has increasingly been acknowledged as a legitimate option which contributes to the democratization of higher education. One of its advantages is the possibility of reaching non-conventional publics for higher education, including workers, adults, and people who live outside the main city centers. This is also an important aspect about sustainability education, particularly when addressing climate change education, as these publics may be less easily reached by conventional educational settings." Filipa Seabra, Susana Henriques, Teresa Cardoso, Daniela Barros, and Maria de Fátima Goulão in Chapter "E-Learning in Higher Education: Academic Factors for Student Permanence" discuss "permanence as a key issue and a significant obstacle to the success of any e-learning based initiative—for the educational goals to be met, one must ensure, in the first place, that students who enroll in a program are able to persevere, successfully learn, and reach graduation.

This chapter presents a framework of the concept of permanence in higher education, particularly in e-learning contexts and concerning adult populations."

"The dramatist and the scientist have similar goals as they both attempt to 'create unique, engaging and insightful texts about the human condition' (Saldina, J. (1999, p. 60). As the risks of devastating climate change becomes more and more apparent there is a growing understanding of the role the creative arts can play in making sense of the ecological challenges we encounter. Drama processes and performance can widely engage with sustainability issues across several Year levels and it's behavioral activism appeals to its audiences to think for themselves and 'act'. Dramatic form is premised on critical and creative thinking. As an art form, it is only a complete learning activity when it engages the learner to experience the drama and 'do' or 'act'." Linda Hassall, in Chapter "Climate Literacy and Collaborative On-Line Landscapes: Engaging the Climate Conversation Through Drama Facilitation in Distance and e-Learning Environments", discusses the potential to introduce climate literacies into online learning platforms through drama curriculum processes and practices. While utilizing drama in online learning landscapes is still largely a theoretical proposition, this paper suggests that the dramatic form could provide a unique means of fostering climate literacies with distance learners. A focus on environmental and ecological issues in the curriculum through drama collaborative processes and practices can potentially increase the possibilities for global climate change education and promote the importance of sustainability for future generations. This paper therefore proposes that dramatic investigations of scientific discourse may provide unique ways of developing climate literacy through alternative understandings, through adopting scientists' amassed knowledge and transforming it into something that can be experienced and explored kinesthetically in the representational worlds of the drama.

Given the variety of research, this book offers a diverse thematic/disciplinary and geographic overview of some current research and projects/action projects in Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education—Distance Learning for Sustainable Education. In addition, the chapters address some important challenges and future developments, also giving insights to the discussion around consequences at multiple spatial, temporal, education, and socio-political scales and the multiple dimensions of Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all authors who submitted their manuscripts for consideration of inclusion in this book. As the peer review was a double-blind process, we also thank the reviewers who have taken time to provide timely feedback to the authors, thereby helping the authors to improve their manuscripts, and ultimately the quality of this book.

Aveiro, Portugal Manchester, UK Porto, Portugal Ulisses M. Azeiteiro Walter Leal Filho Luísa Aires

References

- Sauerborn, R. (2016a). About this Course—Climate Change & Health for Policy-Makers. Retrieved May 31 2017, from https://iversity.org/en/courses/climate-change-health-for-policy-makers.
- Sauerborn, R. (2016b). Why should health be a central argument in climate negotiations? Can a MOOC help to bring the message across? *Public Health Reviews 37*(1), p. 18.
- Saldina, J. (1999). Playwrighting with Data: ethnographic performance texts. Youth Theatre Journal 14, 60-71.

Contents

| Education for Sustainability: Integrating Climate Change and Energy into Lifelong Learning Initiatives for Small Island Developing States Franziska Wolf, Franziska Curran, Ellen Pflaum and Hannah Ramic | 1 |
|--|-----|
| Distance Learning Will Enable Climate Refugees to Avoid Falling into the Social Risk Trap María-del-Pilar-Quicios-García, Ana-Huesca-González and María-Ángeles-Pascual-Sevillano | 19 |
| Leaving No-One Behind: Improving Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Education in Sub-Saharan Africa Through E-Learning and Innovative Governance Systems Dumisani Chirambo | 33 |
| E-Learning as Tool to Feed the World | 49 |
| Online Communities of Practice Empowering Members to Realize Climate-Smart Agriculture in Developing Countries Maria Nuutinen and Walter Leal Filho | 67 |
| Tertiary Education Knowledge and Standards in Sustainable Development: A Crisis for the Democratic Republic of the Congo Eva A. McNamara, Melaine Kermarc, Joseph Zambo Mandea and Glenn Bush | 85 |
| Food and Sustainability: An Emerging Subject in SustainableEnvironmental Sciences Education Applying to the e-LearningEnvironmentAna Pinto de Moura and Luísa Aires | 109 |

| MOOCs—A Powerful Tool for Imparting Climate Literacy? Insights from Parleys with Students Daniel Otto | 131 |
|--|-----|
| E-collaborating for Environmentally Sustainable Health Curricula Peter Musaeus, Caroline Wellbery, Sarah Walpole, Hanna-Andrea Rother, Aditya Vyas and Kathleen Leedham-Green | 151 |
| Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) on Climate Change andHealth: Teaching a Global AudienceSandra Barteit, Anneliese Depoux, Ali Sié, Maurice Yéand Rainer Sauerborn | 169 |
| Emerging Paradigms of Capacity Building in the Context of Climate Change Umesh Chandra Pandey and Chhabi Kumar | 193 |
| A Coil-Enhanced Course on International Perspectives of Climate Change | 215 |
| Climate Change and e-Learning: Interdisciplinarity and Interculturality Challenges Fátima Alves and Ulisses Miranda Azeiteiro | 229 |
| Innovations in Climate Change and Sustainable Management in Higher Education. Training and Evaluation | 243 |
| Towards Climate Change Awareness Through Distance Learning—Are Young Portuguese and Brazilian University Students Vigilant? | 261 |
| Dealing with Climate Change as a Wicked Issue via Innovative Approaches Dz. Iliško and O. Dedels | 275 |
| e-Learning Diversification in Higher Education: Conceptions of Participation | 291 |
| Training Teachers Committed to Climate Change Mitigation Mercedes Varela-Losada, Azucena Arias-Correa and Pedro Vega-Marcote | 307 |
| Supporting Sustainable Policy and Practices for Online Learning Education Diogo Casanova, Linda Price and Barry Avery | 323 |

| Sustainable Mobility in Higher Education Through Virtual | |
|--|-----|
| Attendance | 341 |
| Esteban Vázquez-Cano and M.ª Luisa Sevillano García | |
| E-learning in Higher Education: Academic Factors for Student | |
| Permanence | 359 |
| Filipa Seabra, Susana Henriques, Teresa Cardoso, Daniela Barros and Maria de Fátima Goulão | |
| Climate Literacy and Collaborative On-Line Landscapes: Engaging the Climate Conversation Through Drama Facilitation in Distance | |
| and e-Learning Environments | 375 |
| Linda Hassall | |

Education for Sustainability: Integrating Climate Change and Energy into Lifelong Learning Initiatives for Small Island Developing States

Franziska Wolf, Franziska Curran, Ellen Pflaum and Hannah Ramic

Abstract Human resources resemble a crucial bottleneck in certain parts of the world, as a lack of qualified human resources can hinder the introduction of renewable and energy efficient technologies, as well as the wider application of appropriate technology and, even more importantly, maintenance of those technologies. Concerning capacity building, for example in the field of sustainable energy, recommendations include the use of lifelong learning measures such as dedicated capacity building and continuous professional development programmes, or the extension of curricula to better prepare learners for employment in green economic sectors. These short and longer-term measures should focus on building interdisciplinary, multidisciplinary skills and knowledge as required in sustainability related jobs. This chapter addresses the challenges and opportunities which open online interventions, such as massive open online courses (MOOCs), combined with open educational resources (OER), can offer to provide wider and free access to interdisciplinary high quality knowledge provision. An area for which this is in high demand is energy access, energy security and energy efficiency (EASE) and its relation to climate change, for which there is a growing demand across professions and age levels, and a deficit especially in the developing world. This will be illustrated through the key online component of a dedicated lifelong learning model developed by the European funded EDULINK project L3EAP (short for

F. Curran

E. Pflaum · H. Ramic Mediendidaktik HOOU@HAW, Arbeitsstelle Studium Und Didaktik (ASD), Hamburg University of Applied Sciences, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: ellen.pflaum@haw-hamburg.de

H. Ramic e-mail: hannah.ramic@haw-hamburg.de

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_1

F. Wolf (🖂)

Research and Transfer Centre Applications of Life Sciences, Hamburg University of Applied Sciences, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: Franziska.wolf@haw-hamburg.de

School of Chemical Engineering, University of Queensland, St Lucia, Brisbane, Australia e-mail: franziska.curran@uqconnect.edu.au

"Lifelong Learning for Energy Access, Security and Efficiency in African and Pacific Small island Developing States"). It is argued that approaches like the L3EAP mentored MOOC have the potential to play an important role in building and strengthening human capacities in less developed regions of the world, where awareness of and knowledge about sustainable energy technologies and climate change can be lacking. The authors conclude that embracing ICT solutions can be a valuable cross-cutting measure to address the lack of human capacity in distant, less developed and remote locations, such as Small Island Developing States (SIDS), which may constrain a quicker uptake of sustainable energy technologies.

Keywords Mentored MOOC • Sustainable energy • Open educational resources Small island states

Introduction

Human resources resemble a crucial bottleneck, preventing parts of the world from entering more sustainable development pathways. A lack of qualified human resources still constrains the introduction of renewable and energy efficient technologies as well as the wider application of appropriate technology in Small Island Developing States (Innis 2012). The lack of qualified local personnel for maintenance of those technologies may further threaten progress in achieving the Sustainable Development Goal #7 which aims to ensure access to affordable, reliable, modern and sustainable energy for all. This is even more crucial for developing nations. Small Island Developing States (SIDS), for example, are constrained by some inherent characteristics, e.g. remoteness, small population, size of land, institutional infrastructure e.g. higher education institutions (HEI), and access to finance. At the same time, however, SIDS are highly susceptible to impacts of climate change as they are often located in regions where sea-level rise and extreme events such as cyclones, flooding and droughts already severely impact national development today (UNEP 2014). Many SIDS are heavily dependent on oil to fuel their economies and, correspondingly, national development. As such, exploitation of renewable energies such as solar, wind, geothermal and other types for production, combined with increasing energy efficiency in production and consumption, promises a significant opportunity to reduce the economic burden and dependence on fossil fuels, increasing sustainable development while contributing to the provision of cleaner energy supplies.

For SIDS, the qualification of its island workforce, such as through formal education, can be costly both on institutional as well as on individual levels. Informal educational measures, openly accessible knowledge and free educational offers become more and more important, not only for younger generations who grew up with internet technology but, in fact, all age groups. The buzzword 'lifelong learning' refers to the range of educational formats—in classroom settings, outside the classroom or online—, comprising general education, vocational

education, vocational training, non-formal education as well as informal learning undertaken throughout life which ideally leads to new knowledge, improved skills and strengthened competencies.

First and foremost, online learning activities are often regarded as one possible way to reduce costs of instruction. Referring to higher education institutions (HEI), Yuan and Powell (2013:17) claim that "higher education is already experiencing a period of unprecedented change worldwide", and the cost of funding was a major driver of this change which appears to be valid for both the developed as well as developing world. Moreover, online learning activities may serve to attract new sources of funding, reach out to new and external learners and even improve the quality of teaching and learning through embedding innovative formats and types of media that address learner behavior and labor market needs. Wolf et al. (2018:1) add that "embracing ICT solutions, in the area of energy, can be a valuable crosscutting measure to promote education for sustainability and address the chronic human capacity problem that constrains the quicker uptake of sustainable energy technologies in SIDS". How HEI may support such development will be briefly elaborated in the following chapters.

Chances and Drivers of ICT-Based Capacity-Building for Higher Education

When assessing the potential for ICT to be used in capacity-building, it needs to be considered that such mediated online learning arrangements fundamentally differ from on-site trainings (Siemens et al. 2015; Muilenburg and Berge 2005). Those who are working in the dynamic fields of renewable energies (RE), be it practitioners implementing RE technologies or educators at HEI who are teaching tomorrow's RE professionals, face the need to continuously update their knowledge and skills to meet the demands of working and academic environments (Wolf et al. 2018). This underscores the relevance and growing demand for lifelong learning opportunities that enable individuals to continuously update their knowledge levels and skills throughout their working lives, i.e. build new and strengthen existing capacities.

Regarding formal and non-formal education, and fueled by the inception of the Internet, digital technology has, by now, been adopted by higher education institutions (HEI) and beyond, for teaching and learning on and off campus all over the world (Kirkwood and Price 2016:1). Digital media can be utilized for classroom teaching, in blended learning contexts where learners participate in both classroom and digital sessions, as well as fully online, such as in virtual classroom settings, which might have online lectures or modular courses. These are, increasingly, developed in the form of massive open online courses (MOOCs), and offered both by providers of formal education, i.e. HEI, as well as private actors. There are three main drivers especially for HEI to develop such openly accessible online courses:

They expand access to higher education to a broad(er) audience, they allow HEI to create a space for experimentation with online teaching and learning, and they serve to extend the HEI's brand, helping them to gain international reputation. Generally, private companies reach out to learner groups that may not resemble the 'core' target groups of universities, for example learners who lack resources, time or entry qualifications for formal education offers yet strive to strengthen existing or build new capacities, or improve existing skills and competencies (Yuan and Powell 2013:8).

From a learner's point of view, openly accessible online learning can resemble a cost-efficient, convenient measure to foster lifelong learning, and more and more HEI have started to embrace such online approaches for a number of reasons. Firstly, there has been an increase in the availability of appropriate technological infrastructure as well as in the acceptance of online learning. This is reflected in increased digital literacy of learners, who nowadays have fewer barriers to be able to master digital technologies and their related hardware, and in the growing number of educational offers of various kinds (DiMaggio and Hargittai 2001; Wolf et al. 2018). Online learning offers a range of degree courses, from fully free and open to paid. For example, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) started offering open online courses already in 2002 (Yuan and Powell 2013), whereas the major universities in SIDS regions, for example, the University of the West Indies (UWI) in the Caribbean, offers over forty paid full-time online degree programmes in various disciplines, indicating popularity and acceptance of online learning in SIDS (http://open.uwi.edu/programmes). Relating to HEI and their online learning offers, Yuan and Powell (2013:17) suggest a "significant momentum behind the concept of free and open access to high quality university learning, and it is likely that content and courses will continue to be promoted resulting in more MOOCs and other types of open education approaches emerging."

Openness is another driver of educational innovation and is expected to lead to further transformation of higher education. According to Yuan and Powell (2013:6), the concept of openness in education- relating to the free sharing of knowledge through which demographic, economic, and geographical barriers to learning may be overcome-had already evolved in the early 20th century. Referring to small island populations, the growing openness in online learning can thus provide great opportunities to access the latest know-how and expertise, to support lifelong learning. OER are characterized as openly accessible resources, i.e. downloadable via the internet, for which the creator explicitly permits their use by third parties for teaching and learning as well as non-commercial or commercial usages. Creative Commons licenses are the means to clearly define the type of use, i.e. if the OER may only be used or if it could even be changed and used in further settings by others (Mruck et al. 2013). By now, there is an established open educational resources (OER) movement comprising a wide range of organisations, governments, institutions, educators and learners from all over the world who fund, support, develop and use OER (Yuan and Powell 2013:18). Also city governments have become interested in seizing opportunities of OER to increase the leverage of academic knowhow. One example of this is how the Hamburg Open Online University (HOOU) bundles all OER material developed by the higher educational and research institutions of The Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg in Germany, on an openly accessible platform for its citizens (see: www.hoou.de).

While academics, like in the case of the HOOU, explore and experiment with the development of OER material, such as small content used for teaching and learning, the literature suggests that open courses such as MOOCs have the power to influence existing teaching processes, It is argued that educators can take part in, and share their knowledge in, open courses facilitated by others, and through this, learn and explore the pros and cons of various online learning approaches in different learning contexts (Yuan and Powell 2013:18).

A number of motivations exist for the development and use of MOOCs, as well as the participation in MOOCs. For universities and educational institutes, this could include to increase reach and flexibility of offered coursework, as well as for cost drivers as technology assisted learning can do (Kirkwood and Price 2016) or to strengthen, support or supplement parts of curriculum of a program. Zheng et al. (2015) examined the motivations for learners to do MOOCS and found that they cover reasons such as complementing their studies or work, to assist in improving their employability, and for curiosity, amongst other things.

Complementing this, a study conducted by the Duke university singled out four categories of learner motivations: (i) Tapping into new areas of knowledge; (ii) Personal challenge combined with social network aspect; (iii) Simplicity and convenience; and (iv) Curiousness to explore online education (Belanger et al. 2013).

Opportunities and Challenges of Massive Open Online Courses

Technological advances have facilitated the development of online learning environments, which can enable learning across distances. Online resources can be used to support traditional learning methods to improve learning outcomes and can be utilized in a fully online or blended online and classroom manner (Nguyen 2015), in groups or by individuals (Keegan 1998). A study by Nguyen (2015) surprisingly revealed null findings for the difference of online learning to traditional face to face learning.

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs)

While MOOCs are a form of online learning, there are some significant differences between virtual learning environments and MOOCs. This can include things such as the accessibility and openness that MOOCs can have, which can differ from virtual learning environments, as well as the scales generally operated on, for example (Zheng et al. 2015).

MOOCs, as their name may suggest, are courses that are massive in scale, open and online, however there is still some contention around having a clear definition (Kay et al. 2013). Massive in scale refers to the number of participants (Waks 2016) (Hood and Littlejohn 2016), and there can be significant variation in these such numbers while still having the course fall under the MOOC banner. The 'openness' of a course, according to Hood and Littlejohn (2016) can have a number of meanings such as such as access, cost, that the knowledge is open or that it is open to be reused and developed further and as can the 'online' nature of MOOCs, which could be fully online or blended. As such and in general, a MOOC is an online course that is theoretically accessible to large groups of people.

Classification Schemes

The two main ways that MOOCs have been traditionally characterised as are either 'xMOOCs' or 'cMOOCs'. xMOOCs typically have a more traditional course and lecture format, but are extended and online; these have been known as the most commonly represented, and the most common types of MOOCs (Kay et al. 2013). cMOOCs, also known as connectivist MOOCs are ones which rely upon the generation of knowledge through participation of learners, and creation of course content through interaction and communication with each other (Kaplan and Haenlein 2016). As such cMOOCs might rely upon use of social media, and discussion forums as a central part. Although this classification system as xMOOCs or cMOOCs has been commonly used and referred to, some sources suggest that this system is insufficient to capture the diverse natures of these types of courses and their unique attributes (Conole 2014), and there are other ways that they have been described.

There are diverse characteristics and attributes that MOOCs can have, which can be used to classify them in different ways. Considering time, courses can be synchronous or asynchronous, meaning that learners are carried through the course at the same time, or can access it in their own time, respectively. As such these courses have sometimes be labelled as SMOCs, synchronous massive online courses or SSOCs synchronous small online courses (Kaplan and Haenlein 2016). The degree of 'openness' of a course can give rise to variation of MOOC look-alikes, such as SPOCs, small private online courses (Hood and Littlejohn 2016; Hashmi 2013).

Some MOOCs are labelled based on their purpose, such as the use of MOOCs4D, MOOCs for development (Castillo et al. 2015), which can serve to increase reach and information flows and build capacity for sustainable development outcomes, for example. Clarke (2013) proposed a list of 8 different types of MOOCs that take into account some of the main characteristics, such as origin, time and size. These

included: transferMOOCs, madeMOOCs, synchMOOCs, asynchMOOCs, adaptiveMOOCs, groupMOOCs, connectivistMOOCs and miniMOOCs.

Finally, Conole (2014) proposed 12 dimensions that could be used to classify MOOCs which were: the degree of openness, the scale of participation, the amount of use of multimedia, the amount of communication, the extent to which collaboration is included, the type of learner pathway, the level of quality assurance, the extent to which reflection is encouraged, the level of assessment, how informal or formal it is, autonomy, and diversity. These dimensions and different named classifications confirms that there is huge diversity in types and broadness in the definition of what a MOOC is.

Challenges and Opportunities

One of the major challenges facing MOOCs is that there is no agreed upon and robust way, or set of metrics, to measure quality and impact of MOOCs and to compare between different MOOCs (Hood and Littlejohn 2016; Onah et al. 2014). A very common metric used is drop-out rates, which can be contributed to by factors such as; student intent to complete or not, lack of time, difficulty and lack of support, amongst other things (Onah et al. 2014). Measurement of MOOC quality by drop-out rates alone has been heavily criticised, and it is recommended that contributing factors need to be taken such as participant motivations (Daradoumis et al. 2013). A metric related to drop-out, but looked at across the duration of the MOOC is persistence, as explored by Breslow et al. (2013). This can capture how far through a course students move before dropping out, and might imply how much benefit a student received from the course prior to dropping out. In general it is recommended that caution is applied to understand any metrics used (Hood and Littlejohn 2016) when evaluating the quality of a MOOC or comparing between them. Context specific metrics that reflect the unique nature of participants and their motivations, as well as course outcomes might appropriate for assessing the quality and success of MOOCs.

Aided by their 'open' nature, the ability to attract diverse participants from around the world and with varying levels of education is a strength of MOOCs, however this is not always fully realised (Hood and Littlejohn 2016; de Waard et al. 2014). It has been noted that 'access' for people in developing countries can be quite complex with a number of barriers including infrastructure access, digital literacy and language barriers (Liyanagunawardena et al. 2013). In general, MOOCs have potential to be open and accessible, but on a case-by-case basis the limitations need to be understood, especially in the context of developing countries, and where the content is designed to help sustainable development.

An additional challenge relates to online learning characteristics: As this kind of learning takes place virtually, i.e. not in a physical classroom, and without direct face-to-face interaction with fellow learners, online learners need high self-discipline, intrinsic motivation, and personal commitment, aspects which are required for reflection and self-organization of one's own learning process (Zawacki-Richter et al. 2009; Anderson 2008).

Comprehensive e-tutoring and a learning community have been identified as key ingredients that will enable learners to successfully work in a self-determined, self-paced manner that is a typical feature of open online arrangements—the literature suggest that less than 10% of online learners are able to do without such facilitation and motivating learning community (LI 2017).

A significant opportunity within MOOCs is their ability to be tailor made to different contexts and suit different specific needs, and this is aided by their open access and online nature. A clear example is the use of MOOCs for capacity building and specific local needs of developing contexts, and specific purposes and demographics (Castillo et al. 2015). In terms of their structure, it has also been suggested by Zheng et al. (2015) that MOOCs can be tailored to meet motivations of participants including a "learning-driven" or a "certificate-driven" approach. If such courses are then designed in a modular way, and if learners are awarded by ideally bankable credits, this can increase learners' motivations (Yuan and Powell 2013). The collection of large amounts of data also presents an opportunity to learn (Breslow et al. 2013) and even to tailor make and improve courses. Other opportunities include the use of automated tools to streamline MOOC processes (Daradoumis et al. 2013), and creativity in the interactivity to increase engagement (Gené et al. 2014).

A significant strength of MOOCs also include their ability to facilitate social interaction and engagement between participants, both formally and informally, internally and external to the course (Zheng et al. 2015). This can lead to increased networks extending beyond the course and for continued collaboration supporting further learning.

Finally, through their flexibility and openness, MOOCs can support lifelong learning by principle as they "may also contribute to balancing work, family and social life (...) encourage more mature students to participate in higher education and gain qualifications to further their careers (Yuan and Powell 2013:18)." An example of an open online course that addressed the various opportunities and constraints by means of a unique mentored approach will be presented in the following chapter.

The L3EAP Online Learning Course "Sustainable Energy for SIDS"

In the frame of the Europe Aid project L3EAP (www.project-l3eap.eu), a mentored modular open online course has been developed, targeting distinctive audiences located on Small Island Developing States and which takes a constructivist approach to teaching, i.e. providing learners with hand-on knowledge and actionable outcomes.

Based on a survey of training needs that explored the learning preferences and characteristics of energy practitioners and academics in Fiji, Mauritius and Germany, a lack of formal educational programmes and non-formal training schemes focusing on EASE topics was identified (L3EAP 2017). In their analysis of the online course, Wolf et al. (2018) describe three crucial requirements for the design of such programmes that would need to be considered to meet the distinctive learning needs of practitioners and academics:

- Convenience—modular segments of short duration, ideally with close tutorial facilitation;
- 24/7, on demand availability—allowing to match individual work schedules and different times zones in which learning would take place; and
- High level of interaction with fellow SIDS learners and SIDS experts—fostering the transfer of contextualized knowledge, appropriate technologies and applicable skills.

This resulted in a two-stream lifelong learning model applied by the EU project, with one stream offering specific training courses on EASE topics to build local capacity in SIDS and the other stream resembling a generic online course on EASE (L3EAP 2017). How this second stream integrates the aforementioned considerations is further elaborated on below.

Profile

In 2016, the L3EAP partner consortium, in close collaboration with the Hamburg Open Online University, developed and implemented a six week long open online course on "Sustainable Energy for SIDS" with more than 1000 learners, hereof 54% from SIDS and 46% from the rest of the world, with a completion rate of about 13%. The e-course aimed at introducing an international community of heterogeneous learners to theoretical concepts, methods and distinctive real-life cases from two SIDS regions, the Pacific and the Indian Ocean. The pilot course comprised a range of learning material (videos, training booklets, quizzes, assignments, case studies). An iteration of the course with a slightly adapted, improved design took place in early 2017, reaching out to 750 learners this time.

With this concept, the L3EAP partners intended to provide an open learning opportunity that met distinctive needs of SIDS regarding sustainability topics, included transnational knowledge transfer, was grounded in real-life cases, and allowed for international networking. The design as a fully virtual course enabled implementation and facilitation without geographical or time zone related restrictions. Due to open access, a heterogenous learner group of university students, academics, members of public authorities and practitioners of various ages and from 29 out of 38 small island states (plus further countries) took part.

In anticipation of reaching out to a heterogenous learner group located on islands all over the world, Wolf et al. (2018) stated that the course was developed as a

MOOC from the very beginning. The course designers considered a set of specific conditions for course development:

- Access to state-of-the-art knowledge, expertise and a high diversity learning community;
- Collaborative learning arrangement driven by topical interest that supports peer-to-peer interaction;
- Use of open educational resources to support the dissemination of rights-free learning material to stakeholders outside the course, e.g. other universities; and
- Consideration of future iterations after pilot course evaluation and closing of the EU project.

The didactic design of the online course can be labelled as learner-centric and competencies-based. As Bretschneider and Pflaum (2016:112) found little scientific grounding or even an agreed upon definition of learner-centrism in the German-speaking literature, they suggested that learner-centric design resembles a fusion of two different perspectives, one being the learner-oriented approach known from education, the other being learner-centrism applied in user-centred software development (Pflaum and Wolf 2018).

Methodologically, the online course developers determined their key target groups according to a user-centered design approach which focuses on the development of computer-based products for and with the potential users (Abras et al. 2004). This approach puts the potential users, their existing knowledge and skills, their motivation and capacities, or learning requirements, at the heart of interactive systems development.

Over six weeks, the online course followed a certain modular structure that allowed learners each new week to access new content. The concluding week seven comprised of reflection, the evaluation of the final assessment and the official farewell. The final assessments served as means to evaluate if the overall learning objectives had been achieved, i.e. gaining new knowledge and skills. Consequently, the content, methods and tasks were designed in a way that learners were enabled to write an empirically grounded energy project proposal. Every week, the complexity and/or difficulty of tasks increased, guiding the learners successively towards the knowledge and skill level they needed to complete the final assignment. The following table illustrates the course weeks and the respective subtopics as well as the related tasks and learning goals (Table 1).

The overall structure, broken down into weekly modules, implied already a certain pathway to interact with the learning content. Every week, the complexity and difficulty of tasks increased, guiding the learners successively towards the knowledge and skill level they needed to complete the final assignment.

However, learners could pursue a range of learning paths, depending on their motivation as well as on their own capacities in terms of learning time. In practice, this meant that some learners chose the path that led to the certificate of completion in the end whereas others only picked what they needed, or what they were

| Week | Topic | Assignment/Learning goals |
|------|--------------|---|
| 1 | Overview | Analyzing energy in SIDS with an interdisciplinary framework Sketch key issues, disciplinary aspects of the overall topic |
| 2 | Challenges | Sustainable energy production in SIDS Explain why sustainable energy essential for SIDS, Describe concrete examples from concrete SIDS settings |
| 3 | Development | Energy access and energy security Analyze theoretical foundations, concepts; Critically examine concrete examples from SIDS settings |
| 4 | Strategies | Energy efficiency and energy management in SIDS Explore theoretical foundations, concepts; Critically examine concrete examples from SIDS settings |
| 5 | Technologies | Sustainable solutions for SIDS: the promise of renewable energies (RE) Analyze theoretical foundations, concepts and RE technologies; critically examine concrete examples from SIDS settings |
| 6 | Regimes | Policies, initiatives, programs Identify suitable political frameworks for proposal Critically examine concrete examples from SIDS settings |
| 7 | Reflection | Evaluation of project proposals and feedback to learners Critical reflection of learning outcomes |

Table 1 Overall structure of online course "Sustainable Energy for SIDS"

Learning goal at course completion:

Create an evidence-based proposal for an energy project in a specific SIDS context

Source L3EAP (2017)

 Table 2
 Learners personal learning goals (L3EAP online course survey)

| Learner's personal goals for the course | % |
|--|--------|
| To keep up to date with all course content, and complete all submission items on time (quizzes, case studies, assignments) | 65.08 |
| To watch/read most of the course content, and complete most of the submission items on time | 20.63 |
| To look at content in my own time, and maybe not complete the assessment items | 5.56 |
| I am teaching this subject and interested in the OER course material | 4.76 |
| To look through some of the course content, and complete some submission items | 2.38 |
| I'm just having a look around at this stage | 0.79 |
| No answer given | 0.79 |
| Total | 100.00 |

Source L3EAP (2017)

interested in, without completing mandatory tasks that would have resulted in a certificate at the end (see Table 2).

Comprehensive e-facilitation resembled a key to motivate and inspire learners: A set of experienced e-facilitators and e-tutors guided, motivated and challenged the



Fig. 1 Outcome of learning survey/pilot run of online course. Source L3EAP (2017)

learners sparking interaction and collaboration among the learners as well as between learners and e-tutors who were also experts in the topics of the course. During the online phase, these online facilitators and online tutors played important roles and positively influenced the learning experience in the virtual settings to a large extent through the overall coordination of and motivation of learners (see Fig. 1).

As this 'mentored' approach may be unusual for learners, especially those who possess less experiences with online learning, it should be duly communicated upfront to raise the motivation of learners to successfully work themselves through the online phase (e-Trainer 2017).

E-Tools

In line with the user-centred approach, learning objectives for two distinctive use cases (energy practitioners, master students) have been developed in a first step. Even though the learning objectives differed to some extent they were by no means contradictory to each other. These learning objectives then guided the



Reflective thinking: in this online unit...

Fig. 2 Learners' perceptions/reflective thinking. Source L3EAP (2017)

development course content, and appropriate e-tools were chosen to suit these different user needs, their distinctive learning characteristics and the determined learning objectives (see Fig. 2). In the frame of the online course "Sustainable Energy for SIDS", learners were provided with a range of e-tools which are briefly described in the following:

<u>Videos</u>: Short videos (no longer than 5 min each) present technologies, policies and socio-economic aspects in SIDS, illustrated by real-life examples. Corresponding audio files and transcription were also provided to learners;

<u>Slides:</u> For those learners who needed more background information, training booklets were provided in which learners could read up on theoretical concepts and further background information related to the weekly topic. This content could also be downloaded by the learners;

<u>Further resources:</u> Comprehensive material for further reading, enabling learners to explore original energy policies and frameworks, national energy statistics, scientific papers and relevant best practice reports;

<u>Interactive quizzes:</u> Quizzes are included as a fun means to self-test learning progress. For this, the built-in feature of Moodle was used, where learners receive instant feedback on their answers;

<u>Case studies/discussions:</u> Case studies were introduced as a means of reflection, interaction and joint discussion which were facilitated by the online moderators and e-tutors. For this, distinctive weekly discussion forums were opened up and facilitated.

<u>Deliverables</u>: Weekly assignments which were shared within the learning community served to spread learnings and best practices throughout the community, enabling them to learn from each other.

All in all, the learning environment preferably applied asynchronous e-tools to communicate with and guide the learners along their individual learning paths. Especially the last two interactive e-tools (case studies/facilitated discussions, deliverables including peer review) are valuable tools to create learning occasions and opportunities for learners to discuss and engage with the topic, two important indicators of learner-centrism as suggested by Pflaum and Wolf (2018).

Lessons Learned

The L3EAP online course has achieved its course objectives (see objectives Table 3). The positioning and framing matched reality in that the course reached the envisaged learner groups, and it attracted an even higher number of participants than envisaged. Concerning the audience, the first run saw more SIDS participants than the second run in which 2/3 came from 'rest of world' countries. However, this may be due to the different timing—the first course was conducted in late summer, the second course in early spring—and due to recommendations.

The course appeared to be valuable to learners' professional and academic practice, and participants trained to critically assess island energy regimes, sustainable technologies and identify appropriate solutions. The course designers supported the online learning motivation of the learning community through using a broad range of e-tools, with particular attention paid to those that support

| Positioning | Interdisciplinary adult education course making current research accessible for students in higher ed, practitioners in the field of energy, to broaden awareness of the topic's complexity and provide a research-driven intervention in development discourses |
|-------------|---|
| Framing | Non-curricular, stand-alone course format for heterogeneous audience of adult-learners with proficiency in English |
| Audience | At least 500 course participants in pilot phase - 60% of which based in SIDS or SIDS ex-pat community - 40% rest-of-world Main target groups: - Political stakeholders/decision-makers/NGO in SIDS energy sector - Higher-Ed students in technical or development studies programs - Researchers interested in interdisciplinary perspectives on energy topic - Private and public donors/investors in sustainable energy management |
| Evaluation | Active participation, completion rate, recommendations rate |
| Indicators | Overall demand and feedback as an indicator for future course iterations |
| G LODAD | (2017) |

Table 3 Course objectives, key indicators and performance measures, L3EAP online course

Source L3EAP (2017)

interaction and collaboration. Due to an on-going demand, the course has been repeated again, and it is planned to reiterate the course a third time in fall 2017.

Through the comprehensive mentoring by the course facilitators in the frame of the weekly online discussions, interaction with learners through peer-review activities and interactive discussions alike reflective thinking was encouraged (see Fig. 2). The facilitation, guidance and constructive feedback provided by the online moderators was also well received by the learners (L3EAP 2017). The high level of interaction also supported learning from peers and reflecting on own learning styles. Participant feedback also suggests that the learners have practical use for the knowledge and skills they gained (see Fig. 3). This may be especially related to the training of proposal writing skills which directly meets the existing need of small island energy practitioners and academics.

Finally, the development of the online module required a substantial amount of resources in the design phase, the development phase, the production phase (content and especially the professional video production), as well as the implementation and evaluation phase. The additional support of the Hamburg Open Online University beyond the resources the EU project could provide was thus key for the timely and professional development and delivery of the online course. As such, the L3EAP approach reflects lessons learned from early online learning initiatives who were not as successful as thought: "Lessons learnt from failing early online learning initiatives in the UK: the fact that the approach took a supply-driven rather than demand-led approach. (...) UK Open University experiences indicate that a much greater up-front investment of resources, time and careful planning is needed when designing distance-learning courses" (Casey 2012 in Yuan and Powell 2013:14).



Fig. 3 Learners' perceptions/relevance of online course. Source L3EAP (2017)

Conclusions and Recommendations

From the experiences gained from the online course "Sustainable Energy for SIDS" it may be concluded that well designed open online courses can greatly assist in building and strengthening local capacities, especially in distant, remote islands. Online interventions such as the L3EAP online course can also be used for complementing existing capacity-building activities on the ground, and/or for increasing the outreach to further stakeholders. The creation of learning communities and enabling learning from peers are some other important factors that such online courses can support, and their relevance for lifelong learning opportunities should not be underestimated.

The L3EAP online course structure, its OER components and stand-alone course design allow easy replication and integration by others who want to extend their curricula with transdisciplinary topics, given that respective capacities and expertise for set-up of the platform, promotion and online facilitation exist.

Through its learner-centered design, the L3EAP course thus appears to have created an attractive learning experience that has been inspiring, motivating, and fun for learners worldwide. As these type of constructivist online learning approaches and related research is still rare in many parts of the world, educational actors are encouraged to experiment with developing and testing such formats to create a solid evidence base for online learning.

References

- Abras, C., Maloney-Krichmar, D., & Preece, J. (2004). User-Centered Design. In W. Bainbridge (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human-computer interaction*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Anderson, T. (2008). *The theory and practice of online learning*. Canada: Athabasca University Press.
- Belanger, Y., Thornton, J., & Barr, R. C. (2013). Bioelectricity: A quantitative approach-duke university's first MOOC. *EducationXPress*, 2013(2), 1.
- Breslow, L., Pritchard, D. E., DeBoer, J., Stump, G. S., Ho, A. D., & Seaton, D. T. (2013). Studying learning in the worldwide classroom: Research into edX's first MOOC. *Research & Practice in Assessment*, 8.
- Bretschneider, M., & Pflaum, E. (2016). Lernendenzentrierung im Lehren und Lernen mit digitalen Medien. Teaching Trends 2016. Digitalisierung in der Hochschule: Mehr Vielfalt in der Lehre, pp. 111–120.
- Castillo, N. M., Lee, J., Zahra, F. T., & Wagner, D. A. (2015). MOOCS for development: Trends, challenges, and opportunities. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 11(2), 35–42.
- Conole, G. (2014). A new classification schema for MOOCs. The international journal for Innovation and Quality in Learning, 2(3), 65–77.
- Clarke. (2013). *MOOCs: Taxonomy of 8 types of MOOC, blogpost*. Available online from: http://donaldclarkplanb.blogspot.com.au/2013/04/moocs-taxonomy-of-8-types-of-mooc.html.
- Daradoumis, T., Bassi, R., Xhafa, F., & Caballé, S. (2013). A review on massive e-learning (MOOC) design, delivery and assessment. 2013 Eighth International Conference on paper presented at the P2P, Parallel, Grid, Cloud and Internet Computing (3PGCIC).
- de Waard, I., Gallagher, M. S., Zelezny-Green, R., Czerniewicz, L., Downes, S., Kukulska-Hulme, A., et al. (2014). Challenges for conceptualising EU MOOC for vulnerable learner groups. *Proceedings of the European MOOC Stakeholder Summit, 2014, 33–42.*
- DiMaggio, P., & Hargittai, E. (2001). From the 'digital divide' to 'digital inequality': Studying Internet use as penetration increases. Princeton University Center for Arts and Cultural Policy Studies, Working Paper Series 15. Retrieved April 20, 2017 from http://www.maximise-ict.co. uk/WP15_DiMaggioHargittai.pdf.
- E-Trainer. (2017). Tipps zur Motivation. https://elearn.leading-interactive.de/mod/folder/view. php?id=1360.
- Gené, O. B., Núñez, M. M., & Blanco, Á. F. (2014). Gamification in MOOC: challenges, opportunities and proposals for advancing MOOC model. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Technological Ecosystems for Enhancing Multiculturality.
- Hashmi, A.H. (2013). *The Harvard Crimson, HarvardX Set to Launch Second SPOC*. September 17, 2013. http://www.thecrimson.com/article/2013/9/17/kennedy-school-spoc-edx/.
- Hood, N., & Littlejohn, A. (2016). Quality in MOOCs: Surveying the terrain.
- Innis, V. (2012). The implementation of low-carbon and green economy measures in small island developing states. Commonwealth Secretariat (2012). Small States Economic Review and Basic Statistics, Volume 16, doi:10.14217/smalst-2012-en.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2016). Higher education and the digital revolution: About MOOCs, SPOCs, social media, and the cookie monster. *Business Horizons*, 59(4), 441–450. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2016.03.008.
- Kay, J., Reimann, P., Diebold, E., & Kummerfeld, B. (2013). MOOCs: So many learners so much potential. *IEEE Intelligent Systems*, 28(3), 70–77.
- Keegan, D. (1998). The two modes of distance education. Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 13(3), 43–47. doi:10.1080/0268051980130306.
- Kirkwood, A., Price, L. (2016). Technology-enabled learning implementation handbook: Commonwealth of learning (COL). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/11599/2363.
- Leading Interactive (LI) (2017), Lerntypen, Qualifikation e-Trainer, internal learning material, https://elearn.leading-interactive.de/mod/folder/view.php?id=1360.
- Liyanagunawardena, T. R., Adams, A. A., & Williams, S. A. (2013). MOOCs: A systematic study of the published literature 2008–2012. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 14(3), 202–227.
- L3EAP (2017). Strengthening human capacity for the development of energy access, security and efficiency in sids, recommendation report. http://project-l3eap.eu/downloads/viewcategory/10-results.html.
- Muilenburg, L. Y., & Berge, Z. L. (2005). Student barriers to online learning: A factor analytic study. *Distance Education*, 26(1), 29–48. doi:10.1080/01587910500081269.
- Mruck, K., Mey, G., Schön, S., Idensen, H., & Purgathofer, P. (2013). Offene Lehr- und Forschungsressourcen, in: L3T Lehrbuch f
 ür Lernen und Lehren mit Technologien. http://l3t. eu/homepage/das-buch/ebook-2013/kapitel/o/id/112/name/offene-lehr-undforschungsressourcen.
- Nguyen, T. (2015). The effectiveness of online learning: Beyond no significant difference and future horizons. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 11(2), 309–319.
- Onah, D. F., Sinclair, J., & Boyatt, R. (2014). Dropout rates of massive open online courses: behavioural patterns. *EDULEARN14 Proceedings*, 5825–5834.
- Pflaum, E., Wolf, F. (2018). Lernendenzentrierung und Kompetenzorientierung im Online-Kurs "Sustainable Energy for SIDS". In Leal Filho, W. (Ed), *Innovation in der* Nachhaltigkeitsforschung, Theorie und Praxis der Nachhaltigkeit, Springer, (forthcoming).
- Siemens, G., Dawson, S., & Gašević, D. (eds.) (2015). Preparing for the Digital University. Retrieved September 1, 2016 from http://linkresearchlab.org/PreparingDigitalUniversity.pdf.
- UNEP. (2014). *GEO small island developing states outlook*. Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme.

- Waks, L. J. (2016). The evolution and evaluation of massive open online courses: MOOCs in motion. Berlin: Springer.
- Wolf, F., Seyfarth, F., & Pflaum, E. (2018). Scalable capacity-building. Scalable online capacity-building for heterogeneous, geographically dispersed learners. In U. C. Pandey & V. Inrakanti (Eds.), Open and distance learning for sustainable growth in emerging nations. IGI Global. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-2621-6.
- Wolf, F., Becker, D., Leal, W., Krink, J., Haselberger, & Kowald, M. (2016). Sustainable energy generation and use in SIDS and beyond—the L3EAP online learning approach, Brazilian Journal of Science and Technology, 3(2).doi:10.1186/s40552-016-0021-8.
- Yuan, L., Powell, S. (2013). MOOCs and open education: Implications for higher education. A white paper, http://publications.cetis.ac.uk/2013/667.
- Zawacki-Richter, O., Baecker, E. M., & Vogt, S. (2009). Review of distance education research (2000 to 2008): Analysis of research areas, methods, and authorship patterns. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 10(6), 21–50.
- Zheng, S., Rosson, M. B., Shih, P. C., & Carroll, J. M. (2015). Understanding student motivation, behaviors and perceptions in MOOCs. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 18th ACM conference on computer supported cooperative work & social computing.

Distance Learning Will Enable Climate Refugees to Avoid Falling into the Social Risk Trap

María-del-Pilar-Quicios-García, Ana-Huesca-González and María-Ángeles-Pascual-Sevillano

Abstract This chapter describes how distance learning can help climate refugees protect themselves against the social risk that results from restrictions on their right to education. This documentary analysis is predominantly theoretical, and its general aim it to present a documentary corpus to facilitate classification of climate refugees in terms of their ICT competence. The specific aim is to provide keys for the design of educational programs that can closely match the competences of the individual refugee. This is the novelty and originality of this chapter. The refugee has traditionally been treated as an element within a group to which common educational methodologies are applied. This chapter treats each refugee as an individual according to their ICT skills, so each one will require a specific type of education.

Keywords Distance learning • Manifestations of social risk • Climate refugees E-book • Streaming • Moocs

María-del-Pilar-Quicios-García (🖂)

Ana-Huesca-González

María-Ángeles-Pascual-Sevillano

Department of Educational Theory and Social Pedagogy, National Distance Learning University (UNED), Rue Juan Del Rosal, Nº 14, Office 259, 28040 Madrid, Spain e-mail: pquicios@edu.uned.es

Department of Sociology and Social Work, Comillas Pontifical University (UPCO), Rue Alberto Aguilera, Nº 23, 28015 Madrid, Spain e-mail: ahuesca@comillas.edu

Department of Education Science, University of Oviedo (UOV). Llamaquique Campus, Rue Aniceto Sela, S/N, 33005 Oviedo, Spain e-mail: apascual@uniovi.es

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_2

Introduction

The *climate refugee* does not legally exist (Fernández 2015). This assertion is based on the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, a document that provides the basis for the legal action applicable to refugees but which does not include climate change as possible cause for bestowing refugee status.

Setting aside the limitations of international law, practitioners in sociology, social pedagogy, social education and collective ethics consider these environmental migrants to be a population at social risk, for two reasons: first, these persons do not have their basic needs covered in their country of origin; second, they cannot exercise their social rights (to employment, social protection, housing, education, health and a healthy environment and adequate nutrition...) in the country they abandon as a consequence of climate change (Lebrero Baena and Quicios García 2010).

In Europe, Sweden and Finland in particular have aided refugees but without conferring refugee status (Sola Pardell 2012; Sweden's Immigration Law 2005). Both countries have endeavoured to cover *climate refugees*' basic needs.

Once basic needs are satisfied, the climate refugee can only abandon a state of social risk by being able to exercise the social rights mentioned earlier. Access to education is one of those rights; and if it were not for distance education, the climate refugee would have to give up this right on abandoning the country of origin.

Distance education is a teaching methodology characterized by the mediated didactic dialogue between teachers at one institution and students situated in a different space, enabling the latter to learn independently or in groups (García Aretio 2014). In the 21st century, this mediated dialogue now knows no frontiers as it can be developed through any kind of electronic device connected to a data network, thus facilitating ubiquitous and on-the-move learning (Vázquez-Cano and Sevillano 2015).

The climate refugee can take advantage of the potential of u-learning to continue with the study plan he/she was following in the country of origin even though they are now situated in another country. They only need a smartphone; all the rest can be provided by distance learning institutions (Pascual 2013).

It makes it much easier for the climate refugee who has/her basic needs accounted for, and who can access education, to integrate in the society of the country of origin; they can maintain their network of close contacts from their native country, continue with their study plan from the country of origin, follow the study plan drawn up in the country that has accepted them, develop the habit of continuous and permanent education and cease to be a member of a collective at risk or fall into the social risk trap (Quicios García 2013; Lebrero Baena and Quicios García 2011).

Manifestations of Social Risk Among Climate Refugees

Incessant deterioration of the environment in the country they inhabit, or an imminent climate catastrophe are usually the causes that lead environmental refugees to lose contact with the reference coordinates of their lives.

These situations place the climate refugee under enormous stress, and leave them vulnerable to emotional problems (Navarro-Lashayas 2014), or to the worsening of a psychosocial disturbance particular to the migrant population, known as the Ulysses Syndrome (Achotegui 2012a; Ayala García 2014; Young 2014); stress also arises from culture shock (Oberg 1960), and there is also the phenomenon of acculturation stress (Sánchez and Jaramillo 2014).

All these pathologies have their roots in shattered hopes and an imbalance between expectation and reality. These conditions manifest themselves in organic symptoms that are somatic and range from depression and confusion to anxiety (Achotegui 2012b). All these symptoms can be treated with medication, but these ailments do not improve because they are not illnesses, rather they are symptoms of illnesses. The climate refugee is manifesting in organic symptoms the consequences of conditions of extreme pressure under which they had to leave their places of origin (Sola Pardell 2012).

International law could revise the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees. By adding climate change as a cause that impels a migrant to abandon a territory, the displaced migrant who is forced to leave his/her country because of a natural disaster resulting from climate change could then acquire the status of refugee and thus reduce his/her exposure to social risk. If this were to happen, the climate refugee would suffer less from stress by being able to reconnect with their close social contacts through services on digital mobile, or fixed, devices (chats, Skype, WhatsApp, online leisure websites...) (Aparici 2011).

The Relation Between Climate Refugees and ICT

Climate refugees have one characteristic in common. They have all been forced to abandon their countries of origin due to a natural disaster caused by climate change. This collective is formed of people of all ages, social classes, levels of education and technological competence. This heterogeneity thus obliges distance education institutions to accommodate their strategies to the characteristics presented by each individual climate refugee seeking to resume education in their new country of residence.

Climate refugees include students considered to be *pseudo-analogical*, who use ICT following the logic, structure and utility of the educational resources in place before the digitalization of content. Such students are able to design their own study model and professional development model largely ignoring the influence of new

media tools. They are mere consumers of online knowledge (Sevillano García et al. 2016; Aguaded and Sánchez 2013; Villalustre 2013; Khan 2012).

Climate refugees also include digital migrants and students who are network visitors. These are groups of passive users who do not participate in media; they are *old learners*, people who taught themselves from non-digital sources because they have not been able to achieve a sufficient level of multimodal or multimedia literacy (Avello Martínez et al. 2017; González García 2013).

These two collectives are joined by climate refugees who are *new learners*, new millennials, students of the "instant message generation" and the "Net generation", digital natives, digital and technological literates, resident students and media prosumers (García-Ruiz et al. 2014; Ferrés et al. 2012).

These new learners are characterized by being highly adept at multitasking; they do not think in a linear way and their styles of learning are many and varied (OECD 2008). They form part of a generation that thinks and learns interactively (Ramos et al. 2010). They can generate content as individuals, and show greater control and creative capacity than the *old learners*. The *new learners* have a stronger sense of identity and their own attributes (Siemens 2006). They are autonomous and independent in their learning styles, combing through sources and resources in order to find new content that they can mix and match.

The *new learners* design their learning strategies not by searching out specific blocks of data (McLester 2007) but by exploring, consulting and synthesizing knowledge rather than assimilating content from one single source of validated knowledge as represented by a book or a professor expounding at a conference (Dede 2005). Evidently, each type of learner is going to request a different type of e-learning generation, which distance education has to acknowledge and maintain synchronically active. We now analyse each of these types (Cabero 2013).

The Different e-Learning Generations

The first generation of e-learning constitutes adapting printed material to the web format. This is done on Web 1.0, a static, one-direction network managed and maintained by programmers remote from the teacher and student who uses it. Web 1.0 is a network of knowledge and information, a network of documents that is very useful for presenting in a theoretical way the conceptual bases of any discipline. It is also very useful for analogical students, the old learners, climate refugees who use technologies exclusively for e-learning, or for those who only want to learn on their first-generation speed digital mobile devices.

On Web 1.0, students learn from an expositional teaching methodology, in which master classes are given along with material provided by technological companies. The professor continues to be the specialist who transmits the knowledge to the students. This is not attendance-based but mediated, and this web format is ideal for climate refugees regardless of their technological skills. They can keep in contact with people from their own country, acquire essential knowledge about

their host country and can continue learning from the study plan developed in the country they have had to abandon (Huesca González and Agudo 2013).

The second e-learning generation is about finding the best virtual campus (platforms and managers) for learning, while the third generation follows a model supported on collaboration and flexibility. This third generation of e-learning is the one used by climate refugees who are empowered as prosumers, and the aim is for the students to generate knowledge in conjunction with others and access material from different devices. The second and third e-learning generations use Web 2.0, Web 3.0 and even Web 4.0.

Web 2.0 is a learning and communication platform that acts as a meeting place for teachers and students, and for students to communicate among themselves. Its features are collaboration and collective knowledge. Web 2.0 synthesizes the three levels required for knowledge generation: open access to data, the interactive transformation of data into information and creative knowledge collaboration. It includes blogs, RSS, wikis, mashups, tagging, folksonomy and tag clouds.

In Web 2.0, the teacher is the guide who facilitates learning by helping students to discover knowledge. He/she is the person who redirects the learning if the student is unable to obtain that knowledge alone. The teacher does not just transmit knowledge but conducts the generation of the knowledge made by the user on the web.

Web 3.0, or the semantic web, aims to link, integrate and analyse various data sets in order to obtain a new flow of information. On Web 3.0, the teacher is just one more piece in the collaboratively constituted learning jigsaw puzzle. The teacher orients the construction of knowledge, accompanies the student in the production of knowledge and provides the resources needed for its construction. This is the most complex of the webs in use but also the most versatile. Web 3.0 has improved accessibility, mobility, and the potential for simulation, creativity and innovation. This is the web that is responsible for powering globalization (De Castro 2012).

Web 4.0, or the symbiotic web, views the future of the Net as a symbiotic interaction between humans and machines to produce more potent interfaces, such as mind-controlled interfaces. Web 4.0 will be open, intelligent and adaptive in terms of reading digital content. The role of the teacher in Web 4.0 is not yet clearly defined. Web 3.0, the semantic web, and Web 4.0, the symbiotic and ubiquitous web, are interrelated (Pascual 2013).

Climate refugees can include people who have been taught via traditional analogical teaching or e-learning (using technology for learning), m-learning (access to learning services via mobile devices), t-learning (learning interactively via television), or u-learning (learning anywhere and at any time via any type of digital device). U-learning, as a ubiquitous setting, integrates both e-learning and m-learning as the user can access traditional content and more up-to-date content formats via digital mobile devices (Rodrigo and Castro 2013).

U-learning will adapt the materials to the ICT skills of the least competent climate refugees, in other words, to the pseudo-analogical students. This is a basic measure to ensure that no climate refugee is denied the opportunity of receiving an

education via the distance learning methodology. The more competent climate refugees can enrich the material provided by acting as prosumers, or media prosumers, offering the work they have produced to less-skilled students. This action helps fulfil several objectives:

- To consolidate the learning of the material provided
- To learn to transmit the knowledge acquired
- To form a sense of comradeship
- To establish a support network among environmental refugees
- To maintain contact with the territory they were forced to abandon
- To preserve the language, customs and traditions of the country of origin

In short, the objective of distance learning is to prevent the emergence of digital divides among the climate refugees who study using this educational methodology, as well as to establish resilient relationships among them. These two strong points can prevent other social risk situations from arising.

Didactic Material for the Different e-Learning Generations

The e-Book

Distance education classifies the book in print version as auxiliary material, a physical support condemned to extinction since 1971, when Michael Hart conceived of the e-book, the electronic book, the digital book or cyberbook (Vassiliou and Rowley 2008). Since the birth of the e-book, distance education has gradually adapted its information hardware but its didactic strategy determining how information is transmitted is largely unchanged, in other words the e-book is only the electronic version of the printed version. The e-book is the digitalized version of a book that enables it to be viewed on a specific electronic device or in a specific digital format (García Orosa and López García 2016).

The electronic devices used to read e-books are many and various, ranging from table-top computers to the e-reader or e-book reader, as well as the tablet, smartphone, laptop or netbook. All such hardware needs software apps like MOBI, DjVu and others in order for e-book content. The use of this hardware and software have advantages and disadvantages for this type of learning format, the advantages being:

They enable the location of specific data in the texts via the *search* command. This tool optimizes reading time and allows for a selective search for information in the text.

- It enables the reader to make notes and underline text without damaging the document
- It is space-saving
- It saves on paper and ink

- It provides access to other e-books via Internet
- E-books can be acquired by online purchase
- It is less wearing on the eyesight

Disadvantages include potential copyright infringement. It can lead to a new type of digital divide by obliging users to have specific hardware and software to access e-books. There is the initial outlay to purchase the hardware device and the software apps needed for e-reading. Another possible drawback is the damage to the environment caused by the generation of electronic junk in the renewal of devices.

Setting aside the pros and cons of the e-book, in their most basic formats these devices are suitable for those refugees who are pseudo-analogical because as students they only consume knowledge from the Net via first-generation speed digital mobile devices with access to Web 1.0, which is a static, instructional and one-directional web.

In distance education accessed by Web 2.0 and later versions, other types of devices are available, such as the smart book, or digital book. These enable the user to access digital libraries and empower the reader to construct knowledge via the data found in the documents the student can access via the smart book. In other words, the smart book is a door through which the reader can pass in order to access other books to which they are redirected. Using the smart book means the student can create knowledge autonomously, and this type of material is of particular interest to new learners, to prosumers and media prosumers as well as to Web 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0 users.

Those climate refugees with greater ICT competence will be able to generate e-books in their own native languages. Such materials are an important contribution and by this action, distance learning can boost students' capabilities in their native languages. It also enables their culture to be extended to all ICT users, and helps maintain emotional stability and reciprocal affective relationships among persons forced to become environmental refugees due to climate change.

Streaming

Some climate refugees have acquired higher levels of technological expertise and need more enriched material. These refugees can teach themselves by ubiquitous learning and can create knowledge collaboratively. Streaming, or online reading, might be the ideal tool for such people as it means users can profit from the huge quantity of information available to anyone, anywhere and at any time (García-Peñalvo and Seoane Pardo 2015).

Streaming combines the features of ubiquitous learning with the advantages of e-books, and enables the user to produce and disseminate information in such a way that learning becomes permanent and in space and time. Until streaming becomes the predominant learning format, new students can access education via MOOCs (massive open online course).

MOOCs

New learners surf the Net in search of content with an attitude that is collaborative, connective and heterarchical. They search for and then post learning material that is free, in large quantity and totally accessible. MOOCs are the teaching material that fits well with these conditions. According to Vázquez-Cano (2013:48):

Current learning scenarios in higher education are oriented towards a new format that combines three basic principles: cost-free, large-scale and ubiquitous. These three principles are evident in MOOCs, and the development of such courses opens up a new concept of education and training. This type of new learning macro-scenarios has its roots in the philosophy of the "open learning movement" based on four fundamental ideas: redistribute, remake, review and reuse.

MOOCs are courses that offer (Osuna Acedo 2014; Vázquez et al. 2013a, 2013b):

- Massive online access, free for all those interested in a subject that does not require class attendance or official certification for having completed the course.
- Open and free access. To do a MOOC, the student does not need to have prior qualifications certifying a certain level of knowledge of the subject.
- Learning that takes place entirely online. This channel of communication crosses all barriers of space and time.
- Synchronous and asynchronous interaction between teachers and students or among the students themselves via chats, forums, videoconferences...
- No certificate for having done the course, neither does it charge fees. The learning action is assessed and accredited as knowledge acquired.
- Designed with an emphasis on the audiovisual. Written texts are only used as support material.
- Activities which are programmed, planned, documented, sequenced, tutor-assessed and certified.
- A variety of methodologies such as autonomous, collaborative and participative learning.
- Material that is free and which can be openly accessed.
- Minimal teacher intervention.

The teacher develops a different task for each MOOC modality and for each of its phases. At one point, the teacher could adopt the role of leader, or connector, depending on the type of student he/she is dealing with. So, the role of the teacher determines whether the MOOC is classified as xMOOC or cMOOC (Cabero Almenara et al. 2014).

The MOOCs in which teachers take on a leadership role are xMOOCs, and are focused mainly on pseudo-analogical students and old learners. Here the teacher continues to transmit knowledge in a one-directional way. These xMOOCs pursue the philosophy of Web 1.0 and the first-generation e-books. The logic behind xMOOC teaching is that the student carries out activities proposed by the teacher in virtual scenarios. Nothing more. The student does not produce knowledge in collaboration with other students (Moya López 2014).

The xMOOCs respond to a schematic that is "one to many", or at most "one to one". They offer content via platforms on which students can view videos and post exercises they have completed. These are then assessed by course colleagues, and correction is sometimes but not always overseen by the teacher. In xMOOCs, if exams are set, they are in multiple-choice format, with the items chosen according to the content of the course videos and the practical work carried out by the students in the e-exercises proposed by the teacher (Zapata-Ros 2015).

The advantages of xMOOCs are that they try to provide a personalized form of learning by allowing each student to progress at his/her own pace. They generate learning groups in which each colleague learns from another, and they correct each other's work under teacher supervision. These courses develop technological or mediated competences (Bartolomé-Pina and Steffens 2015).

On the other hand, cMOOCs, which are connectivist in nature, are more oriented to new learners, prosumers and media prosumers. Here, all students produce knowledge in a horizontal way under the schematic of "many to many" and "many to one". In other words, this type of MOOC is similar to the way learning takes place on the social networks and in personal learning settings. They develop a type of collaborative learning based on contact and the interaction of all the course participants. The role of the teacher is to construct the learning community and to be just one more piece in the collaborative jigsaw who participates in the co-creation of learning that is collegiate in style. MOOCs are basic for the social construction of learning acquired in virtual settings (Chiappe-Laverde et al. 2015).

Not all MOOCs fit into these two rigid categories, and there are those that overlap both. For example tMOOCs, or eclectic MOOCs, are a version of MOOCs that specialize in the resolution of different types of tasks and activities that increase in complexity and which allow the student to advance on the course, or not, depending on the progress achieved (Drake et al. 2015).

Other types of MOOC cover up to eight different modalities (Torres and Gago 2014):

- TransferMOOCs. These courses previously existed in different MOOC formats.
- MadeMOOCs are more innovative than xMOOCs and cMOOCs. MadeMOOCs make effective use of video and interactive material, which are well produced and of a superior quality to that available on older MOOCs.
- SynchMOOCs are courses with fixed start and end dates, which would seem to contradict the early philosophy of this learning modality.
- AdaptativeMOOCs. These courses provide personalized learning experiences based on dynamic assessment and the use of huge quantities of data gathered on the courses. They represent the MOOCs' learning analytics version.
- GroupMOOCs are courses that focus on the collaboration that takes place between small groups.
- ConnectivistMOOCs are courses that emphasise the connection that can be established within a network of participants.
- MiniMOOCs. These courses are much more limited in scope than traditional MOOC courses.

Conole (2013) started with 12 dimensions to classify MOOCs into an indeterminate number of categories depending on the dimensions considered. These 12 dimensions are: entry level requirement, scale of participation (massification), use of multimedia, use of communication, extent of collaboration with other participants, type of learning (centred on the needs of the student or, teacher-focused and more structured), level of the quality guarantee, promotion of auto-reflexive processes, level of assessment, formal/informal nature, autonomy and diversity.

Regardless of the categories into which they fall, MOOCs are endowed with both strengths and weaknesses. MOOCs' educational strengths are: the adaptability of methodologies to the characteristics of the online society, the redefinition of roles, the use of assessment strategies that confer an active role on students, flexibility and adaptability of the academic courses on offer, cooperation between teachers and students on the MOOC, open access to a wide range of learning that is international in scope and the development of technological tools to support the teaching-learning process (Valverde Berrocoso 2014).

The educational weaknesses evident in MOOCs are (Valverde Berrocoso 2014): the preponderance of teaching methodologies based on outmoded educational theories; the presentation of "educational innovations" that are nothing of the kind; the standardization of knowledge, that is, applying the same content and activities to all students; the lack of a universal design for learning, in other words, the absence of differentiated educational attention; a lack of knowledge of the development and evolution of e-learning; the devaluation of the teaching function in the teaching-learning processes, namely in assessment and tutoring; the partial and self-interested perspective of the "open education" concept; the predominance of economic considerations over pedagogical experimentation and research in education; the requirement that students have a certain level of digital competence and they are, to a greater extent, independent learners.

As with all the educational instruments that endure over time, it is evident that the advantages outweigh the weaknesses, which enables them to remain relevant and in active progression.

MOOCs are the most versatile distance-learning tool for climate refugees, and this is evident in the number of MOOCs built for refugees. The Kiron University, a German online non-profit university, invites refugees to access their online courses from anywhere in the world free of charge. It does not require refugees to present proof of academic qualifications, as it is well aware of the problems refugees have in getting hold of such documentation.

"Kiron University, or "the international university for refugees", has some of the most internationally eminent professors on its roster, thanks to its MOOCs. Refugee students can start university courses even before they obtain legal status in Germany. The reality of the new technologies and the emergence of the collaborative consumer in the world of education put them within reach of a whole series of master classes from universities such as Harvard, Stanford or Yale.

.../...In their first year, the students can try out material to see which course they want to study. In the second year, they must choose between one of the five degree courses on offer,

and in the third and final year the students attend classes at one of the 15 partner universities (in Germany and abroad) in order to complete their degrees.

.../...The founders' long-term aim is to enable refugees to have access to university degree courses. It is estimated that there are around eight million young refugees worldwide". (El País 2015).

A second example of MOOCs aimed specifically at refugees can be found in work carried out by psychologist Barbara Moser-Mercer, of the University of Geneva. This professor has used MOOCs to educate refugees residing in camps in Kenya and Somalia, and successfully adapted the MOOC format to conditions on the ground. With Internet access almost impossible, she took with her course material, videos and exams downloaded onto pen drives in order to be able to replicate courses on the few computers available at United Nations departments in the camps (Moreno 2014).

Another use of MOOCs for refugees can be seen on virtual platforms such as Coursera, edX and Kiron, which offer MOOCs on Setting Up a Business, Programing and Commercial Activity, through "MOOC Camps" aimed at 60 countries worldwide such as the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya, Lebanon and Jordan, countries that host large numbers of refugees (Martínez 2016).

As can be seen, MOOCs are the most versatile distance-learning tool for protecting climate refugees from the social risk inherent in not being able to exercise their right to education. MOOCs can provide education to anyone with a mobile device anywhere in the world.

Conclusion

Distance education is the ideal methodology for enabling climate refugees to avoid slipping into the social risk trap, as they will be able to exercise their right to access education and no longer have their educational needs unmet. The great advantage of distance education is, first, its capacity to adapt its learning materials to the technological competences of each student; second, it allows students to learn at their own pace and to follow their own learning styles; third, it opens up a range of educational possibilities that match the aspirations of each and every user and their motivation to educate themselves through u-learning.

References

Achotegui, J. (2012a). La crisis como factor agravante del Síndrome de Ulises. *Temas de psicoanálisis, 3,* 1–16.

Achotegui, J. (2012b). Emigrar hoy en situaciones extremas. El síndrome de Ulises. Aloma: Revista de Psicologia, Ciències de l'Educació i de l'Esport, 30(2), 79–86.

- Aguaded, I. & Sánchez, J. (2013). El empoderamiento digital de niños y jóvenes a través de la producción audiovisual. Ad-Co mu -nica, (5), 175–196. doi:10.6035/2174-0992.2013.5.11.
- Aparici, R. (2011). Principios pedagógicos y comunicacionales de la educación 2.0. Organización de los Estados Iberoamericanos. *La educ@ción*, (145), 1–14. Recuperado de www.educoas.org (consultado 10/03/2017).
- Avello Martínez, R., López Fernández, R., Iglesias, Cañedo, et al. (2017). Evolución de la alfabetización digital: nuevos conceptos y nuevas alfabetizaciones. *Revista Finlay*, 7(1), 64–71.
- Ayala García, S. (2014). El derecho a la buena administración de los inmigrantes: burocracia y Síndrome de Ulises. *Revista de Estudios Fronterizos del Estrecho de Gibraltar, 1,* 1–18.
- Bartolomé-Pina, A. R. & Steffens, K. (2015). ¿Son los MOOC una alternativa de aprendizaje? Comunicar, 22(44), 91–99.
- Cabero Almenara, J., Llorente Cejudo, M. C. & Vázquez Martínez, A. I. (2014). Las tipologías de MOOC: Su diseño e implicaciones educativas. *Profesorado*, 18(1), 13–26.
- Cabero, J. (2013). El aprendizaje autorregulado como marco teórico para la aplicación educativa de las comunidades virtuales y los entornos personales de aprendizaje. *Revista Teoría de la Educación: Educación y Cultura en la Sociedad de la Información. 14*(2), 133–156. Recuperado de http://www.campus.usal.es/~revistas_trabajo/index.php/revistatesi/article/view/10217/10626 (consultado 8/03/2017).
- Conole, G. (2013). MOOCS as disruptive technologies: strategies for enhancing the learner experience and quality of MOOCS. Recuperado de http://eprints.reclis.org/19388/ (consultado 11/03/2017).
- *Convención sobre el estatuto de los refugiado*, Ginebra (Suiza), 28 de julio de 1951, Serie Tratados de Naciones Unidas (Vol. 189, Nº 2545, p. 137). Recuperado de http://www.ohchr.org/SP/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/StatusOfRefugees.aspx (consultado 12/03/2017).
- Chiappe-Laverde, A., Hine, N. & Martínez-Silva, J. A. (2015). Literatura y práctica: Una revisión crítica acerca delos MOOC. *Comunicar*, 22(44), 9–18. doi:10.3916/C44-2015-01.
- Dede, C. (2005). Planning for neomillennial learning styles educause quarterly, 28 (1); 7–12. Recuperado de www.educause.edu/pub/eq/eqm05/eqm0511.asp (consultado 15-02-17).
- De Castro, C. (2012). El futuro de las tecnologías digitales aplicadas al aprendizaje de personas con necesidades educativas especiales. *RED. Revista de Educación a Distancia, 32*, 1–43.
- Drake, J. R., O'Hara, M. & Seeman, E. (2015). Five principles for MOOC design: With a case study. Journal of Information Technology Education: Innovations in Practice, (14), 125–143.
- Fernández, M. J. (2015). Refugiados, cambio climático y derecho internacional. Revista migraciones forzadas, 49, 42–43.
- Ferrés, J., Aguaded, I. & García-Matilla, A. (2012). La competencia mediática de la ciudanía española: dificultades y retos. *Icono 14*, 10(3), 23–42. doi:10.7195/ri14.v10i3.201.
- García Aretio, L. (2014). La educación a distancia. Bases conceptuales. Contextos Universitarios Mediados, 14(7).
- García Orosa, B. & López García, X. (2016). El ebook busca en la lectura social la propuesta que impulse nuevos formatos de éxito. Anales dedocumentación, 19(2). DOI:10.6018/analesdoc. 19.2.246351.
- García-Peñalvo, F. J., & Seoane Pardo, A. M. (2015). Una revisión actualizada del concepto de eLearning. Décimo Aniversario. *Education in the Knowledge Society*, 16(1), 119–131. doi:10. 14201/eks2015161.
- García-Ruiz, R., Ramírez-García, A. & Rodríguez-Rosell, M. M. (2014). Educación en alfabetización mediática para una ciudadanía prosumidora. *Comunicar*, 43, 15–23. doi:10. 3916/C43-2014-01.
- González García, J. (2013). Alfabetización multimodal: Usos y posibilidades. *Campo Abierto*. *Revista de Educación*, 32(1), 91–116.
- Huesca González, A. & Agudo, C. (2013). La gestión de los centros educativos de Escuelas Católicas: características y retos de futuro. *Padres y Maestros*, (350), 17–23.
- Khan, S. (2012). The one world schoolhouse: Education reimagined. New York: Twelve Publishing. ISBN-13:9781455508372.

- Lebrero Baena, M^a P., & Quicios García, M^a del P. (2010). El estudiante inmigrante y su inclusión en la universidad española. *Educación XXI*, 13(2), 241–262.
- Lebrero Baena, M^a P., & Quicios García, M^a del P. (2011). Invisible vulnerability, as new cause of social risk of children and youth. SIPS-Revista Pedagogía Social, Revista Interuniversitaria, 18, 117–129. doi:10.7179/PSRI_2011.18.09.
- Martínez, J. (2016). MOOCs, la solidaridad al rescate por un mejor mañana. Revista de Educación Virtual. https://revistaeducacionvirtual.com/archives/2211 (consultado 02/07/2017).
- McLester, S. (2007). Technology literacy and the myspace generation: They're not asking permission. *Technology & Learning*, 27(8), 16–22.
- Moya López, M. (2014). Los MOOC/COMA: Un nuevo reto educativo para el siglo XXI. Una metodología didáctica para el aprendizaje en línea. *VIRTUalis*, 4(8), 85–103.
- Moreno, L. (2014). Moocs: educando en campos de refugiados. Observatorio Mooc. http:// blogmooc.iei.ua.es/2014/08/moocs-educando-en-campos-de-refugiados.html (consultado 02/ 07/2017).
- Navarro-Lashayas, M. A. (2014). Sufrimiento psicológico y malestar emocional en las personas migrantes sin hogar. *Revista de la Asociación Española de Neuropsiquiatría*, 34(124), 709– 721. doi:10.4321/S0211-57352014000400005.
- Oberg, K. (1960). Cultural shock: Adjustment to new cultural. *Environments Practical Anthropology*, 7, 177–182.
- OECD. (2008). New millennium learners: Initial findings on the effects of digital technologies on school-age learners. OECD & CERI. Recuperado de http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/39/51/40554230.pdf (consultado 13/01/2017).
- Osuna Acedo, S. (Coord.). (2014). *Escenarios virtuales educomunicativos*. Barcelona: Icaria. ISBN 13: 978-84-9888-626-9.
- País, E. I. (2015). Crean una universidad (de élite) para refugiados. https://elpais.com/elpais/ 2015/09/23/alterconsumismo/1442989500_144298.html (consultado 02/07/2017).
- Pascual, M^a A. (2013). La universidad ante las posibilidades de los dispositivos móviles en el aprendizaje ubicuo. *Historia y comunicación Social, 18*, nº Especial, 461–468. doi:10.5209/ rev_HICS.2013.v18.44255.
- Quicios García, M^a del P. (Coord.) (2013). Infancia, adolescencia y juventud en dificultad social. Madrid: McGraw-Hill. ISBN 13: 978-8448182939.
- Ramos, A. I., Herrera, J. A. & Ramírez, M. S. (2010). Desarrollo de habilidades cognitivas con aprendizaje móvil: Un estudio de casos. *Revista Comunicar*, XVII (34), 201–209. doi:10.3916/ C34-2010-03-20.
- Rodrigo, M. A. & Castro, C. (2013). La información digital actual, un nuevo modelo de contenido educativo para un entorno de aprendizaje ubicuo. *Revista de Educación a Distancia. RED*, (39) 1–16.
- Sánchez, R. & Jaramillo, L.E. (2014). Impacto del desplazamiento sobre la salud mental. Universitas Humanística, 47(47) 87–101.
- Sevillano García, M^a L., Quicios García, M^a del P., & González García, J.L. (2016). Posibilidades ubicuas del ordenador portátil: percepción de estudiantes universitarios españoles. *Comunicar*, (46), 87–95. doi:10.3916/C46-2016-09.
- Siemens, G. (2006). Knowing knowledge. Recuperado de www.knowingknowledge.com (consultado 03/02/2017).
- Sola Pardell, O. (2012). Desplazados medioambientales. *Cuadernos Deusto de Derechos Humanos*, 66, 13–105.
- Sweden's immigration law. 2005. www.sweden.gov.se/sb/d/5805/a/66122 (consultado 01/07/2017).
- Torres, D. & Gago, D. (2014). Los MOOCS y su papel en la creación de comunidades de aprendizaje y participación. *RIED. Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 17(1), 13–34.
- Valverde Berrocoso, J. (2014). MOOCS: Una visión crítica desde las ciencias de la Educación. Profesorado, Revista de Currículum y Formación del Profesorado, 18(1), 93–111.

- Vassiliou, M. & Rowley, J. (2008). Progressing the definition of "e-book". *Library Hi Tech*, 26(3), 355–368. doi:10.1108/07378830810903292.
- Vázquez Cano, E., López Meneses, E. & Sarasola Sánchez-Serrano, J. L. (2013). La expansión del conocimiento en abierto: Los MOOC. Barcelona: Octaedro. ISBN 13: 978-84-9921-433-7.
- Vázquez, E., Méndez, J. M., Román P., et al. (2013). Diseño y desarrollo del modelo pedagógico de la plataforma educativa Quantum University Project. *Campus Virtuales, Revista Científica de Tecnología Educativa*, 01(II), 54–62.
- Vázquez-Cano, E. (2013). El videoartículo: nuevo formato de divulgación en revistas científicas y su integración en MOOC. *Revista Comunicar*, XXI(41), 83–91. doi:10.3916/C41-2013-08.
- Villalustre, L. (2013). Aprendizaje por proyectos con la Web 2.0: Satisfacción de los estudiantes y desarrollo de competencias. *Revista de Formación e Innovación Educativa Universitaria*, 6(3), 186–195.
- Young, P. (2014). Prevención cuaternaria y los síndromes de Knock y Ulises. *Medicina*, 74(1), 82–83.
- Zapata-Ros, M. (2015). MOOCs, una visión crítica y una alternativa complementaria: La individualización del aprendizaje y de la ayuda pedagógica. *Campus virtuales*, 2(1), 20–38. doi:10.1.1.87.3793&rep = rep1&type = pdf.

Leaving No-One Behind: Improving Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Education in Sub-Saharan Africa Through E-Learning and Innovative Governance Systems

Dumisani Chirambo

Abstract Poverty and climate change vulnerability is increasing in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) because the region lacks education and skills development facilities, and sustainable governance systems. Arguably, mainstreaming climate literacy in secondary schools through Information and Communications Technology (ICT) modalities can promote sustainable development and climate change resilience by providing early opportunities for the youth to gain knowledge and awareness of the behavioral and cultural changes that may foster improved climate change resilience. Through an inductive analysis based on research articles, case studies, policy briefs, and academic literature reviews, this chapter sought to highlight emerging ICT learning contexts in SSA as a means to determine the extent to which ICT may be used to promote climate change and sustainable development education in secondary schools. The chapter showed that climate literacy at secondary schools was being constrained by a lack of climate change education material and content on existing ICT learning platforms; and a lack of innovative governance systems to support governments in delivering climate literacy content to secondary schools and the youth. Consequently, to "leave no-one behind" requires non-state actors to develop and utilise innovative governance systems and digital climate literacy material that can complement government efforts to mainstream climate literacy at secondary schools.

Keywords Climate change education \cdot Leave no-one behind \cdot Massive open online courses (MOOC) \cdot Microfinance \cdot Sustainable development goals (SDGs)

D. Chirambo (🖂)

Seeds of Opportunity, P.O. Box 1423, Blantyre, Malawi, Africa e-mail: sofopportunity@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_3

Introduction

Despite the existence of many programmes and frameworks to improve climate change education, capacity building, adaptation and mitigation such as the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), climate change vulnerability in Africa is arguably increasing. For example, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) highlighted that even though African countries have initiated comprehensive planning processes for climate change, the implementation of these plans is lagging; and the integration of climate change programmes with national economic and development planning is limited (Niang et al. 2014). To add to this, many climate change resilience-building interventions in the region do not include measures to improve access to secondary/tertiary education even though improved access to secondary/tertiary education is an aspect that many communities and beneficiaries consider imperative for local climate change resilience-building (GOM 2013a; UNDP 2014). To make matters worse, Africa is in dire need of (i) education and skills development facilities, (ii) sustainable governance systems, and (iii) hard infrastructure (WEF 2014) in order to overcome its development challenges and have a good chance to address its problems related to climate change, poverty and inequality. Consequently, Africa's education and skills development inadequacies are projected to make Africa to eventually become home to 50% of the world's illiterate population (WEF 2014).

Many universities in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) have various environmental programmes related to climate change capacity building. However, some commentators have pointed out that focusing on the provision of climate change education at university and targeting climate change education towards university scholars with an interest in climate change might not be the best solution for improving climate change knowledge and resilience (Mutasa 2016). Arguably, SSA needs to drastically reform the current education curriculums so that climate change studies and entrepreneurship should be taught to learners at all levels including secondary schools (Mutasa, 2016; Ajufo 2013; Baah-Boateng 2013; Musarurwa 2012; UNESCO 2010; Amanchukwu et al. 2015). However, whilst reforming education curriculums to incorporate climate change studies at secondary schools may have the potential to reduce climate change vulnerability in SSA, challenges still exist in developing and implementing pertinent curriculums and education policies since many SSA governments have problems in sufficiently funding and investing in education and skills improvement systems (WEF 2014; Mambo et al. 2016). Additionally, donor support to African education systems and climate change programmes has been inadequate and unreliable (e.g. Official Development Assistance (ODA) to Africa declined 0.5% in real terms between 2013 and 2014 although in nominal terms it was virtually unchanged-\$135.2 billion in 2013 as against \$135.1 billion in 2014; and ODA to least developed countries, landlocked developing countries, and small island developing States declined 16% in real terms compared to 2013) (UNECA 2015).

Distance education and distance education institutions were hyped as a solution to reach out to the isolated, marginalised, challenged and minority groups (Prinsloo 2016). Unfortunately, distance education never fully realised this promise due to regulatory constraints, institutional inefficiencies and structural inequalities affecting access to education (Prinsloo 2016). However, with the advent of the internet and mobile phones there is now potential to finally reach out and educate societies' marginalised and isolated communities through various Information and Communications Technology (ICT) education platforms. In Africa, 14.7 out of 100 inhabitants use the internet, which is much lower than the World average of 43.7 (UNECA 2015). However, Africa's average annual growth rate of internet users per 100 inhabitants is growing faster than the World average growth rate (i.e. 21.7% for Africa against a World average of 10.2%), hence if the current growth rates are maintained over the coming years, Africa may match or exceed the World average internet usage rate (UNECA 2015). Arguably, such remarkable growth in Africa's internet usage rates may therefore be embraced by development practitioners and education policy specialists as an opportunity to promote the use of ICT based education platforms either as compliments or replacements of distance education and distance education institutions.

ICT is considered as a catalyst that can facilitate life-long learning, climate change education (Alexandru et al. 2013), inclusive human development (Asongu and Le Roux 2017) and entrepreneurship (Fatoki 2016). The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are calling for the youth to have access to learning opportunities that can help them to acquire the knowledge and skills needed to exploit opportunities and to participate fully in society (UN, 2015). Therefore, arguably, ICT may be harnessed to mainstream climate change education programmes in secondary schools and support the implementation of the SDGs. This may be important in the context of SSA as SSA is experiencing high rates of population growth to the extent that it is the only region where the rural population is continuing to grow in absolute terms (Moore 2015), hence enhancing the knowledge, awareness and participation of the youth and women on climate change issues can promote sustainable development by significantly helping in the effective implementation of climate change programmes at community level (GOM 2013b).

Previous studies on climate change education, entrepreneurship and sustainable development include Gupta et al. (2015) who analysed innovation for social enterprises in Africa and concluded that in the absence of a favourable environment for innovation, the impact of social entrepreneurship and social enterprises in Africa was constrained by existing institutional voids and market inefficiencies. Timothy et al. (2016) looked at e-learning (electronic learning) experiences from Nigeria, South Africa and the United States of America, and concluded that a combination of technology and learner's attitudes towards e-learning material and activities were aspects that determined the success of online courses. Tenzer and Pudelko (2015) discussed how the private sector through African–European partnerships between entrepreneurs could facilitate the attainment of the SGDs in SSA. Asongu and Nwachukwu (2017) assessed some factors that could facilitate inclusive human development in SSA and concluded that educational quality, innovation and

internet penetration influenced knowledge diffusion hence mobile phones were an integral component in facilitating knowledge diffusion for inclusive development and sustainable development. However, there are knowledge gaps regarding the innovations that could be implemented is SSA to promote ICT based learning for climate change education and facilitating sustainable development at secondary schools. This chapter therefore sought to address these knowledge gaps by high-lighting emerging ICT learning contexts in SSA so as to determine the extent to which ICT may be used to promote climate change education and diffuse knowledge about sustainable development in SSA's secondary schools. To achieve the goals of the chapter, an inductive analysis using secondary data consisting of various research articles, case studies, policy briefs, and academic literature reviews focusing on the challenges and opportunities for climate change capacity building and ICT based education was undertaken.

The chapter is structured as follows: Section "E-Learning and M-Learning Strategies for SSA" provides a brief background on some e-learning and m-learning (mobile learning) platforms that have been developed to support primary and secondary education in SSA. In Section "A Case for Integrating Climate Change Education with Entrepreneurship Education", the chapter provides an argument on how a combination of climate change education and entrepreneurship can increase the agency of the youth towards climate change action. In Section "Discussion", the chapter provides a discussion focusing on how climate change education can facilitate the attainment of the "Leave No-One Behind" principle of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The discussion also shows how non-state actors such as microfinance institutions can implement polycentric governance approaches in order to support national governments in promoting climate change education at secondary schools. The chapter ends with a conclusion in Section "Conclusion" which emphasises the need to mainstream climate literacy at secondary schools through ICT in order to foster behavioral and cultural changes in the youth that can promote sustainable development.

E-Learning and M-Learning Strategies for SSA

ICT education platforms, more especially, e-learning and m-learning modalities can be utilised to promote access to education in various contexts. E-learning is defined as knowledge delivered by online services as education and training. E-learning is therefore a technique to enhance learning and teaching experiences and is used to educate students with or without their instructors through any type of digital media (Alexandru et al. 2013). M-learning is an extension or subset of e-learning which encompasses the use of wireless and mobile technologies (e.g. smartphones and tablets) to wirelessly transmit learning modules and administrative data, and to enable learners to communicate with lecturers and peers (Brown 2003). Developing and developed countries have various challenges in relation to improving the deployment of ICT for life-long learning, climate change education, poverty reduction and entrepreneurship hence innovations that are effective in developed countries might not necessarily be effective in developing countries. For example, the main e-learning challenge in developed countries is how education enterprises can attract learners to their e-learning services and platforms due to an influx of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOC) (free internet based courses and programmes run by universities and development organisations) (Timothy et al. 2016; Liao and Lu 2008). In contrast, the main e-learning challenges in the developing world include a lack of relevant infrastructure (e.g. accessible and affordable broadband coverage to rural regions), and a lack of relevant learning environments (Brown 2003; Timothy et al. 2016; Asongu and Le Roux 2017). Since the constraints for enhancing the use of ICT for education vary between developing and developed countries it can be argued that developing and developed countries require different policies, strategies and actors in order to improve climate change education through ICT.

Table 1 shows some of the challenges, threats and opportunities in the climate literacy ICT domain particularly in relation to the development and use of e-learning and m-learning platforms. Notwithstanding the issues contained in Table 1, various local e-learning and m-learning platforms have been developed in SSA. Such platforms have arguably been developed as business opportunities or as social enterprises noting that the education systems in many SSA countries are characterised by poorly funded government schools, low quality education standards, overcrowding in classrooms and expensive private education (UNECA 2015; Mambo et al. 2016).

Below are examples of four e-learning and m-learning platforms that are trying to make primary and secondary school education more inclusive and affordable in the context of SSA. The examples provided below were identified through purposive sampling hence are not intended to provide a representative sample of the e-learning and m-learning platforms available in SSA but rather to provide an indication of the different implementation modalities and the nature of various non-state actors that are providing ICT solutions for secondary school education.

Eneza Education

Eneza Education is a virtual tutor that allows students to learn through their mobile phones. Eneza Education is available through text messaging and an Application/ App for smartphones. This enables the service to be accessible to people in both rural and urban areas as it can work in areas with limited or no internet access and is compatible with normal phones and smartphones. The Eneza platform provides tutorials, tips, and assessments that are aligned to local primary and secondary school curriculums through virtual tutors and teacher's assistants. The platform also has a Teacher Development Course to help teachers in developing good skills in class, staff and finance management; and a Business Course to help small business owners to develop appropriate skills in banking, financial management and

| Challenges | Threats | Opportunities |
|---|---|---|
| Bridging the digital divide and bringing Informatics systems for climate change education to groups that have the greatest need | Inadequate information on the best use of ICT and on how to incorporate climate change issues in education | The emergence of identifying and delivering different types of information needed for effective adaptation to climate change |
| Directing users to high quality information and to teach them how to assess the quality of information | Climate change information on the internet is of variable quality, overwhelming and often difficult to interpret | Institutional and individual capacity to deploy training programmes using e-learning methods |
| Guiding teachers and students to use specific information in educationally appropriate ways | Low ICT literacy—a potential difficulty for users to understand specific information, better manage their own way of living, and make informed decisions about personal choices | Guaranteed validity and consistency of the available information provided by the information systems for climate change education |
| Developing strategies to ensure high quality standards in the publication of web based information | The lack of adequate infrastructure in certain regions | Raising awareness on the fact that ICT can decrease vulnerability both to natural climate instability and human-induced climate change |
| Generating new web applications able to anticipate the long-term unexpected impacts of the climate change | The use of the Information systems for climate change education will work differently in different contexts, both geographically and over time | A strengthening of the teacher-student relationship in which information flows in both directions |

 Table 1
 ICT challenges, threats and opportunities for creating learning and innovative education in climate change

Source Alexandru et al. (2013)

investments. More important are the assertions that up to 30% of the platform's users are not the school going segment that the platform was intended for but either drop-outs or older learners that do not go to school (Eneza Education 2017). This arguably demonstrates the zeal that people have for learning in non-traditional/ non-classroom learning environments and that when there is relevant material available that is affordable and easy to access, even the non-traditional learners will try to access it to improve their understanding of things.

Ruzivo Digital Learning

Ruzivo Digital Learning is an online interactive digital learning platform targeted at primary and secondary school students in Zimbabwe. The platform is a product and

business entity of Econet Wireless (Zimbabwe), Zimbabwe's largest provider of telecommunications services (i.e. mobile and fixed wireless telephony, etc.). The Ruzivo Digital Learning platform allows students and teachers to subscribe and access digitalised academic content, including interactive lessons, exercises and tests. The platform also records the exercises and tests that a learner/subscriber undertakes and generates detailed performance reports hence his/her progress or lack thereof can easily be ascertained by the student, guardian, parent and teachers (RDL 2017). The platform therefore enables students and school authorities to easily gauge their performance and standards against national benchmarks and other schools.

Shasha

Shasha is an online repository of notes, exam questions and preparation materials for secondary school students. The platform also promotes peer-to-peer learning through online discussion forums. The platform does not charge access/user/ subscription fees as it collects revenues for its sustainability through online advertising revenues (Shasha Network 2017). The platform therefore partly reduces the financial constraints to accessing education material that poor households have.

Padziwe Digital Library (PDL)

Padziwe Digital Library (PDL) is a secondary school focused learning software that can be used online and offline. The software package also has study guides and past exam papers which guide students on the topics for them to cover in preparation for certain exams; notes capability so that users can write and store their own notes in a database; and study tips providing helpful tips on how students can study and handle exams effectively (PDL 2017). The content on this platform is delivered through a variety of media types (animations, videos, audios, slideshows, graphics, and plain texts) hence the interactivity and visual presentations engage the students in a variety of ways and makes the learning process to be less monotonous.

Various businesses, entrepreneurs and philanthropists have risen up to the challenge and tried to address the capacity gaps in SSA's educational systems by enhancing student and teacher education and training through e-learning and m-learning modalities. The case studies demonstrate various transformative ways to provide accessible and affordable educational material and support services to primary and secondary school children from diverse backgrounds and in various contexts. The case studies also highlight an urgent need for climate change education to be included in primary school and secondary school curriculums. This follows that the focus of many platforms is to prepare students for national exams as per their national curriculums hence their content was based on the subjects in the

national curriculums (e.g. Agriculture, Mathematics, Geography, etc.). Since climate change education is not in most curriculums, most platforms therefore do not consider climate change material as being worthy of teaching or hosting. Climate change is not an environmental issue, but a phenomenon that fundamentally affects how societies develop; hence effective mitigation and adaptation does not only encompass measures to increase awareness but requires measures to facilitate various behavioral and cultural changes (GoM 2013a; IPCC 2014; Wibeck 2014). The omission of climate change education in curriculums and the lack of climate change education material on most ICT platforms therefore thwart efforts to promote sustainable development and youth empowerment since the opportunity to foster behavioral and cultural changes in society early on is missed.

A Case for Integrating Climate Change Education with Entrepreneurship Education

Abandoning the traditional framing of climate change as an environmental problem and reframing climate change issues has the potential to encourage more people to take actions to enhance climate change mitigation and adaptation. For example, climate change can be reframed as a security issue, emphasising risks to personal security posed by drastic climate change; or as an economic issue, linking climate change impacts with national economic performance (Wibeck 2014). Africa's poverty and climate change vulnerabilities are characterised by a predominance of rural poverty whereby poverty is noted to be at least three times higher in rural areas than in urban areas because of poor rural infrastructure, youth unemployment and limited access to quality education (UNECA 2014). Arguably, framing climate change in the context of an opportunity to eradicate poverty (and its contributing factors), create jobs, promote entrepreneurship and promote equality may therefore encourage the youth to develop an interest in climate change issues and incentivise businesses, entrepreneurs and philanthropists to develop climate change education ICT content for various market segments.

In addition to framing climate change as a socio-economic opportunity to foster sustainable development, there is also a need to put more effort into developing climate change education content that is engaging and salient to SSA secondary school students so that SSA's youth should feel that they have the agency to mitigate and adapt to climate change. Wibeck (2014), considers that agency is a key factor in determining whether people will engage in pro-environmental behaviour or not. Therefore, unless people believe that they can do something about the problem, and that it is worth doing something, it will be difficult to encourage engagement (Wibeck 2014). Consequently, the failure of some climate change programmes and strategies could be attributed to their climate change communications which contained alarmist messages and visualisations that increased public awareness of the severe impacts of climate change but also engendered feelings of

hopelessness and apathy in the audience (Wibeck 2014). Arguably, by integrating climate change education with entrepreneurship education it might be possible to improve the interest of secondary school students (the youth) in climate literacy and empower them with the knowledge to enable them to understand the aspects that they can do in order to reduce their climate change vulnerabilities. Entrepreneurship education can enhance the creative abilities of people and their values thereby enabling them to establish more efficient and effective processes and products. shape new norms and beliefs and enable them to take action in the midst of uncertainty (Iyigün 2015; Gutiérrez and Baquero 2017). More importantly, teaching entrepreneurship can reduce youth unemployment in SSA and hence promote sustainable development by reducing inequality and the marginalisation of the youth in accessing jobs (Ajufo 2013; Efe 2014). Due to the flexibility of e-learning and m-learning modalities, there is therefore a significant scope that ICT education platforms can therefore enhance secondary school learning environments in SSA by providing mechanisms to promote the integration of entrepreneurship and climate change education so that African youth can develop a sense of climate change agency and to enable secondary school learners to develop new practices and strategies for managing their climate change risks.

Discussion

The SDGs stipulate that by 2030, all learners should acquire the knowledge and skills needed to promote sustainable development, including, among others, through education for sustainable development and sustainable lifestyles (i.e. SDG 4.7); and that various stakeholders should improve education, awareness-raising and human and institutional capacity on climate change mitigation, adaptation, impact reduction and early warning (i.e. SDG 13.3) (UN 2015). In order for this to happen, the utilisation of ICT for climate change education particularly to secondary school students and the youth will be imperative since ICT modalities provide the means to which secondary school students can access external materials and support related to climate change education; and secondary schools can provide climate change education and sustainable development knowledge even where the schools do not have a curriculum and teachers for such subjects.

Since some of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were not achieved in many countries, global leaders, through the SDGs have made a pledge to "Leave No-One Behind." Through this pledge, non-income-based inequalities (such as access to education) will be tackled and governments will attempt to ensure that marginalised groups make progress on human development indices more quickly (UN 2015; Stuart and Woodroffe 2016). Arguably, these aspects mean that development practitioners and policymakers have to deploy new innovative strategies and engage various stakeholders into the education, climate change and poverty reduction fora to enhance knowledge and implementation of the SDGs and climate change mitigation and adaptation programmes. Consequently, there is an urgent need to improve access to climate change education through different media and approaches especially to the youth and non-environment specialists (i.e. enhance climate change awareness raising and integration into school curriculums; enhance the sharing of climate change traditional and local knowledge; enhance participatory action research and social learning; and enhance knowledge-sharing and learning platforms) (IPCC 2014). A failure to improve access to climate change education at various levels may therefore exacerbate climate change vulnerability and cause many poor and marginalised communities to be left further behind.

The case studies provided demonstrate that SSA already has some established private sector led online, offline and text message based secondary school curriculum based ICT platforms that are aimed at improving the accessibility and affordability of secondary school education material and content. However, many SSA governments/countries have under-resourced educational systems (Hendrix 2017; Mambo et al. 2016), hence they are unlikely to be able to comprehensively institute the political and institutional transformations and implement policies that are required in order to mainstream climate change education is not only constrained by the lack of climate change education material and content but also by a lack of new innovative modalities that can support national governments to develop and deliver pertinent climate change education material and content to secondary schools and the youth.

Arguably, the issue of developing and delivering climate change education to secondary schools can be addressed by stakeholders utilising innovative governance systems such as polycentric climate change governance systems, as a means to improve access to ICT education platforms for climate change education. This can therefore enable non-state actors to take an active role in supporting national governments in developing and delivering ICT based climate change education to secondary schools. This follows that measures for coping with climate change may be enhanced by taking a polycentric approach at multiple local, regional and national levels involving different stakeholders rather than focusing on single top-down policies (Scrieciu et al. 2015). Ostrom (2008, 2009, 2010), stated that polycentric governance is characterised by an organisational structure where multiple independent actors mutually order their relationships with one another under a general system of rules. Polycentric systems can function independently or form an interdependent system of relations in order to address collective action problems, free-rider problems and social dilemmas such as climate change education, capacity building, mitigation and adaptation (Ostrom 2008, 2009, 2010). Arguably, with various improvements in the ICT sector such as cheaper mobile phones and increased internet penetration there are now great opportunities to utilise polycentric governance approaches to promote climate change education and entrepreneurship education in different learning environments at optimal cost. To expound on this further, some non-state actors are innovating new ways to which polycentric governance systems can be utilised to promote climate change education and sustainable development. For example, the Beneficiary-Led Climate Change Resilience Building Programme (BLCCRBP) in Malawi demonstrates how polycentric governance approaches may be used to facilitate climate change and entrepreneurship education in secondary schools (SOO 2017).

Microfinance is regarded as a development tool that provides financial services (i.e. credit, savings and insurance) and other complementary services such as skills education and training, youth empowerment, disaster risk management, renewable energy deployment and advice on agricultural practices to marginalised and rural populations (Ksoll et al. 2016; Moore 2015; Hogarth 2012; Agrawala and Carraro 2010). In the BLCCRBP, a microfinance institution has adapted its business model to include providing climate change education and entrepreneurship specifically to secondary schools to respond to the shortfall in strategies and programmes for empowering secondary school students on climate change issues.

Using a polycentric governance approach, the BLCCRBP aims to mainstream entrepreneurship and climate change studies into secondary schools and tertiary education institutions by creating and mentoring 300 "Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Clubs" at secondary schools and tertiary education institutions, and providing them with a Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Education Course for them to pursue through e-learning and m-learning modalities (Chirambo 2017). The BLCCRBP's polycentric approach focuses on empowering each climate change and entrepreneurship club to be able to identify the factors that increase climate change vulnerability in their communities and enable them to develop appropriate responses. It can therefore be anticipated that all the participants of the climate change and entrepreneurship clubs will be in a better position to develop business plans, use various financial services, and create social enterprises that can improve climate change agency and reduce their communities' climate change vulnerabilities.

Figure 1 provides a schematic diagram of a polycentric climate change and entrepreneurship education framework on which the BLCCRBP is based on. The diagram illustrates how a Project Implementer/non-state actor can get technical support, grants and social/impact investments from external sources in order to develop, teach and distribute climate change education content and material. On the other hand, participating secondary schools form climate change clubs in order to enable constructive dialogue and tutoring between the students, teachers and Project Implementers. The Project Implementers can use their own climate change education content and material, and also direct the students to appropriate content and material that is available from other online, offline and text message based e-learning and m-learning platforms.

Whilst the implementation of the BLCCRBP is still in its infancy hence its impacts cannot yet be evaluated, the programme is still useful in demonstrating how non-state actors such as microfinance institutions can adapt their business models in order to promote climate change education and training. An area for further research may be to evaluate the BLCCRBP to determine its ability to empower students in terms of climate literacy.



Fig. 1 Polycentric climate change and entrepreneurship education framework Source Author

Conclusion

The challenges for enhancing climate change education in developed countries and developing countries differ. In developed countries, there is a proliferation of various kinds of climate change information available online through learning platforms and other structures. The material is also readily accessible as the countries have good ICT infrastructure. In the developing world, there is low content on pertinent climate change information available through ICT platforms, and the situation is made even more challenging due to the poor ICT infrastructure prevalent in most developing countries. However, various stakeholders have made various initiatives to complement government investments in the education sector by implementing and developing various e-learning and m-learning platforms that improve the availability and accessibility of course material and exam material for secondary school students and secondary school curriculums. Unfortunately, most of these platforms do not contain specific climate change education content and material since climate change education is not included in many school curriculums.

Improving climate literacy systems and socio-economic institutions in SSA faces many challenges, hence there could be merits in integrating climate change education with other subjects that promote innovation and agency such as entrepreneurship. Moreover, promoting climate change education and entrepreneurship education at secondary schools to empower the youth on climate change issues through various e-learning and m-learning platforms can ensure that "no-one is left behind" since this strategy will not only improve education on climate change but can also enable climate change challenges to be turned into opportunities for creating jobs and reducing marginalisation in pursuit of the SDGs. This can be attributed to the notion that improving knowledge on climate change can enable the youth to be more knowledgeable about society and human development processes, as well as enable them to take pro-active roles in developing strategies and social enterprises that can facilitate the development of appropriate anticipatory adaptation and mitigation options to avert the adverse impacts of climate change.

Many governments might delay in introducing climate change education in secondary schools and government investments in educational systems might be inadequate to ensure the attainment of the SDGs by 2030. Consequently, what is currently important is for various non-state actors to step up their efforts to popularise the use of ICT modalities as a means to address the gaps in the availability of climate change education material and content, and lack of implementation modalities or governance systems that can complement government efforts to develop and deliver pertinent climate change education material and content to secondary schools and the youth. Once this is achieved, SSA will be on a good trajectory to have the youth and secondary school students as agents that can facilitate sustainable development as they will, from an early stage, be equipped with the knowledge and awareness of the behavioral and cultural changes that they need to make in order to enhance climate change resilience.

References

- Agrawala, S., & Carraro, M. (2010). Economic aspects of adaptation to climate change assessing the role of microfinance in adaptation. Paris: OECD.
- Ajufo, B. I. (2013). Challenges of youth unemployment in Nigeria: effective career guidance as a Panacea. *African Research Review*, 7(1) Serial No. 28, 307–321.
- Alexandru, A., Ianculescu, M., Tudora, E. and Bica, O. (2013). ICT challenges and issues in climate change education. *Studies in Informatics and Control*, 22(4), 349–358.
- Amanchukwu, N. R., Amadi-Ali, T., & Ololube, P.N. (2015). Climate change education in Nigeria: The role of curriculum review. *Journal of Education*, 5(3), 71–79.
- Asongu. S., & Nwachukwu, J. C. (2017). Mobile phones in the diffusion of knowledge and persistence in inclusive human development in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Information Development*, 33(3), 289–302.
- Asongu, S. A., & Le Roux, S. (2017). Enhancing ICT for inclusive human development in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 118(C), 44–54.
- Baah-Boateng, W. (2013). Determinants of Unemployment in Ghana African Development Review 25(4), 385–399.
- Brown, T. H. (2003). *The role of m-learning in the future of e-learning in Africa*? In Presentation at the 21st International Council for Open and Distance Education (ICDE) World Conference (June 2003), Hong Kong.
- Chirambo, D. (2017). Polycentric climate change governance in Malawi. *Blog on business fights poverty published on January 6, 2017*. Retrieved March 11, 2017, from http://community. businessfightspoverty.org/profiles/blogs/polycentric-climate-change-governance-in-malawi.

- Efe, A. J. (2014). Entrepreneurship education: A Panacea for unemployment, poverty reduction and national insecurity in developing and underdeveloped countries. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 4(3), 124–136.
- Eneza Education. (2017). About us. Retrieved March 11, 2017, from http://enezaeducation.com/ about-us/
- Fatoki, O. (2016). The obstacles to the use of information and communication technologies by female informal traders in South Africa. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 49(3), 303–306.
- GOM (Government of Malawi). (2013a). Malawi's Strategy on Climate Change Learning. Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Management, Lilongwe.
- GOM (Government of Malawi). (2013b). Malawi's National Climate Change Investment Plan. Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Management, Lilongwe.
- Gupta, S., Beninger, S., & Ganesh, J. (2015). A hybrid approach to innovation by social enterprises: Lessons from Africa. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 11(1), 89–112.
- Gutiérrez, J. G., & Baquero, J. E. G. (2017). New cross-proposal entrepreneurship and innovation in educational programs in third level (tertiary) education. *Contaduría y Administración 62*, 239–261.
- Hendrix, C. S. (2017). The streetlight effect in climate change research on Africa. Global Environmental Change, 43, 137–147.
- Hogarth, J. R. (2012). Promoting diffusion of solar lanterns through microfinance and carbon finance: A case study of FINCA-Uganda's solar loan programme. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 16, 430–438.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2014). Summary for policymakers. In: C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, & L. L. White (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY.
- Iyigün, N.Ö. (2015). What could Entrepreneurship do for sustainable development? A corporate social responsibility-based approach. *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 195, 1226–1231.
- Ksoll, C., Lilleør, H.B., Lønborg, J.H., & Rasmussen, O.D. (2016). Impact of village savings and loan associations: Evidence from a cluster randomized trial. *Journal of Development Economics*, 120, 70–85.
- Liao, H., & Lu, H. (2008). The role of experience and innovation characteristics in the adoption and continued use of e-learning websites. *Computers and Education*, 51(4), 1405–1416.
- Mambo, M. M, Meky, M. S., Tanaka, N., & Salmi, J. (2016). Improving Higher Education in Malawi for Competitiveness in the Global Economy. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Moore, K. (2015). Fostering economic opportunities for youth in Africa: A comprehensive approach. *Enterprise Development and Microfinance*, 26(2), 195–209.
- Musarurwa, C. (2012). Climate change education in the era of sustainable development: What can universities do? *Asian Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 1(2), 46–52.
- Mutasa T. (2016). Curriculum reforms: Essential tool for effective implementation of climate change adaptation strategies. *Climate Strategies*. Retrieved July 13, 2017, from http:// climatestrategies.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Tatenda-Curriculum-Reforms-for-Climate-Adaptation-Strategies.pdf
- Niang, I., Ruppel, O. C., Abdrabo, M. A., Essel, A., Lennard, C., Padgham, J., & Urquhart, P. (2014). In: V. R. Barros, C. B. Field, D. J. Dokken, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea & L. L White (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1199–1265.

- Ostrom, E. (2008). Polycentric systems as one approach for solving collective-action problems. Available at http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1304697.
- Ostrom, E. (2009). A Polycentric Approach for Coping with Climate Change. World bank policy research working paper series 5095. Washington, DC. Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/ abstract=1494833.
- Ostrom, E. (2010). Beyond markets and states: Polycentric governance of complex economic systems. *American Economic Review*, 100, 1–33.
- PDL (Padziwe Digital Library). (2017). *Our work*. Retrieved March 11, 2017, from http://www.padziwe.com/index.php.
- Prinsloo, P. (2016). (Re)considering distance education: exploring its relevance, sustainability and value contribution. *Distance Education*, *37*(2), 139–145.
- RDL (Ruzivo Digital Learning). (2017). *About Ruzivo digital learning*. Retrieved March 11, from https://www.ruzivodigitallearning.co.zw/about/.
- Scrieciu, S. S., Barker, T., & Ackerman, F. (2015). Pushing the boundaries of climate economics: critical issues to consider in climate policy analysis. *Ecological Economics*, 85, 155–165.
- Shasha Network (2017). About us. Retrieved March 11, 2017, from http://www.shashaiseminar. com/about-us/
- SOO (Seeds of Opportunity). (2017). Introduction to the beneficiary-led climate change resilience building programme (BLCCRBP). Retrieved March 11, 2017, from http://seedsofopportunity. org/activities-programmes/beneficiary-led-climate-change-resilience-building-programmeblccrbp/.
- Stuart, E., & Woodroffe, J. (2016). Leaving no-one behind: Can the sustainable development goals succeed where the millennium development goals lacked? *Gender & Development*, 24(1), 69–81.
- Tenzer, H., & Pudelko, M. (2015). How partnerships between African and European entrepreneurs can support the UN Post-2015 development Agenda. *African Journal of Management*, 1(3), 244–256.
- Timothy, M, Oladunjoye, J. A., & Agu, E. O. (2016). Comparative study of e-learning experiences: A case study of nigeria, south africa and united states. *International Journal of Grid and Distributed Computing*, 9(10), 161–172.
- UN (United Nations). (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. United Nations, New York.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). (2014). Understanding community resilience: Findings from community-based resilience Analysis (CoBRA) assessments. Nairobi: UNDP.
- UNECA (United Nations Economic Commission for Africa). (2014). Assessing Progress in Africa Toward the Millennium Development Goals: MDG Report 2014-Analysis of the Common African Position on the Post-2015 Development Agenda.
- UNECA (United Nations Economic Commission for Africa). (2015). MDG Report 2015: Assessing Progress in Africa toward the Millennium Development Goals. United Nations Economic Commission for Africa, Addis Ababa.
- UNESCO. (2010). Climate change education for sustainable development. Paris: UNESCO.
- WEF (World Economic Forum). (2014). Outlook on the Global Agenda 2015. World Economic Forum. Geneva.
- Wibeck, V. (2014). Enhancing learning, communication and public engagement about climate change—some lessons from recent literature. *Environmental Education Research*, 20(3), 387–411.

E-Learning as Tool to Feed the World

Aafke Schaap

Abstract Malnutrition is still a major issue in the developing world. Education and sustainable agriculture can be seen as key links in overcoming malnutrition. Both can be combined in e-learning technologies, a popular method in developing countries. Implementation of e-learning could provide great contribution in improving education for sustainable agriculture in developing countries. E-learning has conditions that contribute to the implementation and success of e-learning. The aim of this chapter is to assess if the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) addresses e-learning conditions adhering to scientific findings in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide-Piloted in Asia-Pacific Countries'. This research tries to answer the following question: Does the FAO address e-learning conditions according to scientific findings in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'? If so, which conditions are addressed? This will be assessed by a literature review which provides a theoretical framework. Within this framework, the selected FAO document is reviewed. The results demonstrate that the FAO takes all conditions into account, except two. The focus of the FAO in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' is course content, system (and internet) quality and equality in education. Interpretation of the results show that the FAO focusses on e-learning conditions of a technical nature, or those that are close to other goals of the United Nations. This research provides a preparatory analysis for evaluation of e-learning strategies implemented by the FAO.

Keywords Distance learning • Climate literacy • E-learning conditions Strategy assessment • Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Sustainable agriculture • Developing countries

A. Schaap (🖂)

in Climate Change Education, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_4

Assessment of e-learning conditions addressed in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' of the FAO for distance learning in sustainable agricultural development in developing countries.

Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands e-mail: aafke.r.schaap@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), Climate Literacy and Innovations

Introduction

Global action is needed to combat hunger and malnutrition; the number one cause for health issues worldwide (World Food Program 2017). Especially in developing countries this "continues to be a major health burden" (Müller and Krawinkel 2005, p. 1). "Although undernourishment has been on the decline in both relative and absolute terms, nearly 800 million people are still affected by chronic hunger today" (Van Der Meijl et al. 2017, p. 7). This chapter focusses on distance learning in order to contribute to fight against hunger and malnutrition. Distance learning includes e-learning technologies. Sustainable development could provide a contribution in combatting hunger by improving sustainable agriculture. The conditions of e-learning implementation are discussed, which are critical for successful implementation. The discussed statement for this chapter is whether the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' of the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) addresses necessary e-learning conditions found and proved in scientific literature. More specifically, this chapter attempts to answer the stated question: Does the FAO address e-learning conditions according to scientific findings in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'? If so, which conditions are addressed?

The stated research question combines two key links in fighting hunger and improving sustainable development: sustainable agriculture (Farming First 2009) and education (Gartner 2010). Agriculture should be sustainably practised in the next decade "to sustainably produce more food from less land through more efficient use of natural resources and with minimal impact on the environment in order to meet growing population demands" (Hobbs et al. 2008, p. 1). Education (for adults) contributes to technological and social development and empowers the poor, which makes investments in education indispensable for developing regions (Duveskog 2013).

These two key links, sustainable agriculture and education, can be combined in e-learning technologies. E-learning is a solution for filling the knowledge gap between theory and practice by establishing a connection between these (Cooper and Spencer-Dawe 2006). This education method is suitable for the development of sustainable agriculture as "it has the capacity to enhance learning and expand access to education and training in agriculture and natural resource management at the global, regional and local levels" (Atkinson and Rao 2006, p. 155). Promising results of e-learning can already be seen in healthcare education (Cooper and Spencer-Dawe 2006) and in developing countries (Sife et al. 2007). E-learning has multiple advantages: great information access and communication via ICT, increasing teamwork and partnership, and great cost-benefit by teaching large numbers of students. E-learning can also easily incorporate pedagogical improvements, using graphic design, simulations and virtual experiences (Sife et al. 2007; Welsh et al. 2003).

Although e-learning is a widely accepted method, it still faces some challenges. Examples of these challenges are lack of technical support, lack of interaction and lacking ICT skills (Sife et al. 2007). To tackle these challenges it is necessary to clarify the conditions for e-learning implementation.

E-learning education for sustainable (agricultural) development is implemented by The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). "The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2000) asserts that "information and knowledge play a key role in ensuring food security and sustainable development"" (Munyua et al. 2009, p. 4.). The FAO has their own e-learning platform and e-learning policy, which focusses on managing and supporting sustainable use of natural resources (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016).

'The E-agriculture Community of Expertise' is a part of the e-learning platform (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, E-learning centre 2017a). This is a "global initiative to enhance sustainable agricultural development and food security by improving the use of information, communication, and associated technologies in the sector" (Mangstl and Division 2008, p. 5). The term e-agriculture is globally understood as the interaction between ICT and agriculture.

The 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide—Piloted in Asia-Pacific Countries' of the FAO and International Telecommunication Union (2016) is selected for assessment done in this research. This document is suited for this assessment because it is an important document for e-agriculture development: it leads in the development of new ICTs in agriculture and it is one of the newest guides provided by the FAO and International Telecommunication Union (2016).

The short term impact of this research is that it clarifies which conditions and to what extend the FAO addresses scientifically proved e-learning conditions in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'. This research is important because previous research has shown that the lack of appropriate ICT policies hinders further development of ICTs in agriculture (Munyua et al. 2009). This research tries to clarify what conditions are necessary for appropriate e-learning implementation and their related policies. Follow up research could provide an overview of to what extend the FAO has an effective 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'. On the long term, the impact of this research should be that e-agriculture development brings us a step closer to the development of sustainable agriculture and thereby closer to the eradication of malnutrition.

This chapter is structured as follows; the used definitions will be discussed, followed by the methodology and theoretical framework. After the theoretical framework, the results will be presented, followed by the discussion and conclusion.

Defining Concepts

The following paragraphs will describe some of the common definitions with regards to the subject of this chapter.

Conditions

In this research conditions are seen as the circumstances or factors which affect e-learning. This influence can be either negative or positive. The conditions are built up from associated factors. A factor is the concept, which is given direction by the condition. Conditions can contribute to successful e-learning, which can be seen as the development of an interactive education system, which serves its goal (Zhang et al. 2004; Andersson and Grönlund 2009).

E-learning

Welsh et al. (2003) describe e-learning as follows: "E-learning can be defined as the use of computer network technology, primarily over an intranet or through the internet, to deliver information and instruction to individuals" (Welsh et al. 2003, p. 246). Where Pagram and Pagram (2006) state:

"E-learning is a much used and misused term. Kurtus (2004) states that e-learning is a catch —all term that covers a wide range of instructional material that can be delivered on a CD-ROM, over the Local Area Network (LAN), or on the Internet. It includes Computer-Based Training (CBT), Web-Based Training (WBT), Electronic Performance Support Systems (EPSS), distance or online learning and online tutorials." (p. 2.)

All these methods will be taken into account in this research since it is not clear which e-learning method is most commonly used by the FAO in developing countries or in (sustainable) agriculture.

Methodology

This research is carried out by a literature review followed by an assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' of the FAO. A literature review will be used to design a theoretical framework which can be applied on the selected FAO document. This review provides a clear overview of the scientific findings and ideas of e-learning conditions. The assessment will answer the stated research question. This method is due to time and financial constraints the most achievable method. Used methodologies in previous and similar research are mainly based on literature reviews (Atkinson and Rao 2006; Munyua et al. 2009; Raab et al. 2002; Sife et al. 2007), some in combination with quantitative analyses. Other authors based their research on participatory methods, interviews or reviews in combination with desk reviews (Behrman et al. 2004; Mangstl and Division 2008; Pretty 1995; Zhang et al. 2004) and the Delphi Method (Bhuasiri et al. 2012). E-learning conditions are rarely researched, this makes a literature review a suitable method to use.

Firstly, the general ideas about e-learning will be collected. These will be shortly described in the introduction and background section. Subsequently the specific ideas about e-learning conditions will be collected. This shall be done by literature research. The articles used in this research were found using Scopus and Google Scholar. Fourteen articles have been selected; all are peer-reviewed articles. These articles have been reviewed. They researched and described factors and conditions regarding e-learning technologies and implementations for e-learning conditions. For the theoretical framework nine articles were selected. This selection is based on the interface with e-learning conditions, not the adaptation process to e-learning. Selection criteria that were taken into account are based on e-learning in combination with one of the following concepts: conditions, factors, education, ICTs, criteria and success. Therefore it was important to take the definition of e-learning conditions, as described in the section 'defining concepts', into account. Originating from these selection criteria nine articles have been selected and reviewed for the theoretical framework.

The selected articles did not provide theories, however they did provide multiple frameworks with conditions, factors or criteria which data is collected by several methods, as described above. Conditions, factors and criteria are used, because they can be brought back to e-learning conditions.

The created theoretical framework in this research is based on the factors and conditions mentioned by Bhuasiri et al. (2012). This article was chosen as basis for the framework because this overview was the most extended and general overview of conditions found in the literature. Furthermore it is the most referenced article found in the used compass.

The other selected articles have been reviewed and the factors, conditions or criteria are compared to the conditions mentioned by Bhuasiri et al. (2012). Matching conditions are added to the framework and categorized under the corresponding conditions of Bhuasiri et al. (2012). Only the conditions which are supported by Bhuasiri et al. (2012) and one or more articles are used in the final framework to improve the reliability of the framework.

To answer the research question a policy or strategy assessment is needed. The assessment will be based on the created theoretical framework. The FAO 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' will be analysed by the appearance of conditions formulated in the theoretical framework. The results section will describe which conditions met the conditions formulated in the theoretical framework and how these are formulated in the FAO document. This research translates scientifically proven e-learning conditions and how they are addressed in practice in a strategy guide. These results will answer the formulated research question.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical frame based on the findings of Bhuasiri et al. (2012), identifies the success factors of e-learning in developing countries "that influence the success of e-learning systems" (Bhuasiri et al. 2012, p. 843). These factors are retrieved "from
the literature and compares the relative importance among two stakeholder groups in developing countries, ICT experts and faculty" (Bhuasiri et al. 2012, p. 834). These elements are divided into six dimensions and the related factors. The most important dimension is seen as *learners' characteristics* for ICT developers, where *infrastructure and system quality* were the most important from a faculty perspective (Bhuasiri et al. 2012). The implementation of these success factors should lead to a better learning system in developing countries. The findings of Bhuasiri et al. (2012) are presented in Table 1. Notable is that Bhuasiri et al. (2012) give a broad variety of clear defined factors. It seems a sufficient overview of success factors in developing countries in e-learning implementation. Both technical, motivational, pedagogical as quality aspects are taken into account.

The other selected articles, which are used in the theoretical framework, are shortly summarized before using their findings: Firstly, Sun et al. (2008) investigate the critical factors of e-learning: "results revealed that learner computer anxiety, instructor attitude toward e-learning, e-learning course flexibility, e-learning course quality, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and diversity in assessments are the critical factors affecting learners' perceived satisfaction" (p. 1183). Secondly, Johnson et al. (2008) show that factors related to course performance, course satisfaction and course instrumentality are useful for the creation of successful e-learning environments. Thirdly, Zhang et al. (2010) shows that: "some factors of perceived innovative attributes, such as cost, quality, agility, schedule control, certification of degree, personal demands and so on" (p. 1428), have an influence on the e-learning conditions. Fourthly, Rajesh (2003) finds that ICTs related problems are focussed around: socio-political factors, human and administrative factors, economic factors and technical factors. Furthermore, the paper of Sife et al. (2007) "discusses new learning and training technologies considering their pedagogical, cost and technical implication" (p. 57). Also, Valsamidis et al. (2011) designed a framework with conditions "for applying e-learning to agriculture. It may be applied to three different stages of educational process: (i) platform development, (ii) courses development and delivery, (iii) platform and courses evaluation" (p. 373). Followed by Blass and Davis (2003), they propose a set of criteria to consider when designing an e-learning environment. These criteria focus of whether and how the implementation of e-learning should take place. Finally, Lim et al. (2007) researched both the determinant of effective online training and the variables affect learning performance and transfer performance.

Table 1 shows which authors' criteria, factors and conditions found agree with the stated dimensions and factors of Bhuasiri et al. (2012).

All factors (and thereby the related conditions) are supported by a wide range of authors. For this reason all conditions determined by Bhuasiri et al. (2012) are used in the final theoretical framework. Table 2 shows the related condition of each factor. The conditions defined in table 2 are inspired by the conditions of Bhuasiri et al. (2012).

| Dimensions [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Factor [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Reviewed literature | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Learners' characteristics | Computer self-efficacy | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Sife et al. (2007), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| | Internet self-efficacy | Blass and Davis (2003), Sife et al. (2007), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| | Attitude toward e-learning | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Sife et al. (2007), Sun et al. (2008), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| Instructors' | Timely response | Blass and David (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| characteristics | Self-efficacy | Blass and Davis (2003), Sife et al. (2007), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| | Technology control | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Sife et al. (2007) Sun et al. (2008), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| | Focus on interaction | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| | Attitude toward student | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| | Interaction fairness | Blass and Davis (2003), Rajesh (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011) | | | | | | |
| Institution and service quality | Computer training | Blass and Davis (2003), Rajesh (2003), Sife et al. (2007) | | | | | | |
| | Program flexibility | Blass and Davis (2003), Rajesh (2003), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| Infrastructure and system quality | Internet quality | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Sife et al. (2007) | | | | | | |
| | Reliability | Blass and Davis (2003), Rajesh (2003), Sife et al. (2007) | | | | | | |
| | Ease of use | Blass and Davis (2003), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Sun et al. (2008), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| | System functionality | Blass and Davis (2003), Johnson et al. (2008), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Sife et al. (2007), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| | System interactivity | Blass and Davis (2003), Johnson et al. (2008), Rajesh (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | | | |
| | System response | Blass and Davis (2003), Sife et al. (2007) | | | | | | |

Table 1 Represented factors and conditions found in the literature, summarized on the basis of Bhuasiri et al. (2012)

(continued)

| Dimensions [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Factor [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Reviewed literature | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Course and information quality | Course quality | Blass and Davis (2003), Johnson et al. (2008), Lim et al. (2007), Sun et al. (2008), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | |
| | Relevant content | Blass and Davis (2003), Johnson et al. (2008), Lim et al. (2007), Rajesh (2003), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | |
| | Course flexibility | Johnson et al. (2008), Sun et al. (2008), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | |
| Extrinsic motivation | Perceived usefulness | Johnson et al. (2008), Sife et al. (2007), Sun et al. (2008), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | |
| | Clear direction | Johnson et al. (2008), Sife et al. (2007), Valsamidis et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2010) | | | | |

Table 1 (continued)

Table 2 Theoretical framework of e-learning conditions derived from the literature, dimensions and factors by Bhuasiri et al. (2012). Formulated conditions are inspired by Bhuasiri et al. (2012) and multiple other authors used in the framework

| Dimension [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | No. | Factor [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Condition [inspired by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | | | |
|---|-----|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Learners' characteristics | 1. | Computer self-efficacy | Learner is able to use the computer to complete certain task | | | |
| | 2. | Internet self-efficacy | Learner is able to use internet to complete certain task | | | |
| | 3. | Attitude toward e-learning | Learner has a positive impression of e-learning | | | |
| Instructors' characteristics | 4. | Timely response | Instructor responds in a certain time span to question of learner | | | |
| | 5. | Self-efficacy | Instructor is able to successfully perform certain tasks | | | |
| | 6. | Technology control | Instructor can control instructional presentation | | | |
| | 7. | Focus on interaction | There is exchange (educational and social) between instructors and learners and among learners | | | |
| | 8. | Attitude toward student | Instructors provide various forms and methods to contact the students | | | |
| | 9. | Interaction fairness | Learner is feeling equally treated throughout the online learning environment | | | |
| | | | (continued) | | | |

| Dimension [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | No. | Factor [by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | Condition [inspired by Bhuasiri et al. (2012)] | | | | | |
|---|--|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Institution and service quality | 10. | Computer training | Occurrence of specialized instruction and practice for computer skills | | | | | |
| | 11. | Program flexibility | E-learning course is flexible to serve learners' needs | | | | | |
| Infrastructure and system | 12. | Internet quality | There is access to internet and the quality is sufficient | | | | | |
| quality | 13. | Reliability | Information is accurate, dependent and consistent | | | | | |
| | 14. | Ease of use | The system is usable without need too much effort | | | | | |
| | 15. | System functionality | The e-learning system is functional for the purpose of instructions and assessments | | | | | |
| | 16. | System interactivity | The system is interactive | | | | | |
| | 17. | System response | The system responds in certain time between user action and feedback received from system | | | | | |
| Course and information | ourse and 18. Course quality formation | | The quality of writing, images, video or flash meets accepted standards | | | | | |
| quality | 19. | Relevant content | The provided material (information, course, content and services) meets certain standards | | | | | |
| | 20. | Course flexibility | The course is flexible to adapt in working, learning and commuting hours | | | | | |
| Extrinsic motivation | 21. | Perceived usefulness | The e-learning course is enhancing learners learning performance | | | | | |
| | 22. | Clear direction | E-learning system is free of confusion of ambiguity | | | | | |

 Table 2 (continued)

Results

The results are derived from the theoretical framework applied on the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'. The 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' is assessed according to the conditions described in the theoretical framework.

As stated in the introduction the assessed report is the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide—Piloted in Asia-Pacific Countries' of the Food and Agriculture Organization. This report gives a broad overview of the implementation of e-learning strategies in developing countries. It describes in detail the implementation phases of ICTs in agriculture and gives a starting point for implementation. Therefore this document is perfectly suited for this line of research, because conditions can be derived from the detailed information given about the implementation phase of e-agriculture. Only two parts of this documents describe the implementation phase of e-agriculture 'Part 1: Establishing a National E-agriculture Vision' and 'Part 2: Developing a National E-agriculture Action Plan' (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016). Part 3 of the strategy guide describes monitoring and evaluation, which is not relevant for this research.

The 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' notes that in general economic growth is important for reducing malnutrition as long as it is inclusive. Investing in agriculture is a great opportunity for farmers and: "In fact, agriculture is around four times more effective at raising incomes among the poor than other sectors" (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016, p. 4).

The results derived from the FAO document will be presented in accordance with the conditions presented in the theoretical framework. Tables 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 shows the conditions and the related findings, followed by the corresponding page number in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'.

The conditions found in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' are presented and described in tables 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8. Goals and challenges have been added to the results presented in the table, because goals and challenges may be related to the associated condition. As can be derived from tables 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, most conditions are supported in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'. Although, not all conditions are clarified or represented that often. Only the factors 'attitude towards student' (Table 4, 8.) and 'clear direction' (Table 7, 22.) and their related conditions are not represented in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'.

Interpretation of the results shows that the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' focusses mainly on: well-designed e-learning course, access and capability of the course and equity in the extension of the e-agriculture courses. These conditions are addressed most specifically (see mainly tables 6 and 7). It cannot be said that some conditions are marked as more important than others by the FAO; the number of support in the FAO document of a certain condition cannot be seen as weight. The only conclusion which can be drawn is that the FAO mentions some conditions more often than others. This suggests that these conditions are taken more often into account. A possible explanation of f.i. the related condition of the factor 'equity' is mentioned more often, could be other goals of the FAO; such as empowering women (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Millennium Development Goal 3: Promote gender equality and empower women 2017b).

Another explanation for the FAO's focus and the found conditions (well-designed e-learning course, access and capability of the course) can be that the FAO focusses mainly on infrastructural conditions. Without taking these conditions in account, the whole e-agriculture project would not exist. Follow-up research or an evaluation of the e-agriculture project, could possibly give more insights about the social/pedagogical conditions addressed by the FAO.

A possible explanation for the missing conditions is that:

[&]quot;components are not required to be defined in detail at this stage. It may also unnecessarily constrain the way in which these components can be realized physically. The implementation plan will determine the detailed requirements and design of these components. Other e-agriculture components will likely be identified during this step, for example components such as policy, standards and information protection. They should be noted as they are

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: |
|--------------------------------------|-----|--|
| Learners' characteristics | 1. | Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37); Digital literacy and capability of farmers to harness ICTs (53); Digital literacy and human capacity development (71); Enable farmers to electronically access appropriate agricultural services directly without the need for an extension agent (83); Smartphone and desktop applications (6); E-agriculture skills and competencies that agricultural—workers require (91); Not taking an inclusive approach with ICTs—attention to differently abled, semiliterate/illiterate users (106). |
| | 2. | Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37); Digital literacy and capability of farmers to harness ICTs (53); Equity and accessibility of information services (53); Digital literacy and human capacity development (71); Enable farmers to electronically access appropriate agricultural services directly without the need for an extension agent (83); E-agriculture skills and competencies that agricultural workers require (91); taking an inclusive approach with ICTs—attention to differently abled, semiliterate/illiterate users (106). |
| | 3. | Mass media outlets may be the only means by which the general public is informed and influenced about it, so these outlets are particularly important if a high public profile is sought (37); Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37). |

Table 3 Results of assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' (FAO and InternationalTelecommunication Union 2016) for the associated conditions of the dimension 'Learners'characteristics'

identified, and considered when analysing that specific component" (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016, p. 85).

Bhuasiri et al. (2012) describe two dimensions as the most important: learners' characteristics (Table 3) and infrastructure and system quality (Table 6). This includes the following factors and related conditions: computer self-efficacy, internet self-efficacy, attitude towards e-learning, internet quality, reliability, ease of use, system functionality, system interactivity and system response. As can be seen in Tables 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8. The results in this research correspond with Bhuasiri

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Instructors' | 4. | - Timeliness of services (76). | | | | | |
| characteristics | 5. | Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37). | | | | | |
| | 6. | Digital literacy and human capacity development (71); Smartphone and desktop applications (85); Not taking an inclusive approach with ICTs—attention to differently abled, semiliterate/illiterate users (106). | | | | | |
| | 7. | Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37); Interaction with experts (76). | | | | | |
| | 8. | x | | | | | |
| | 9. | Awareness of gender aspects and the changing role of women and youth in ensuring food security and using ICTs (29); Women and young farmers to ensure representation of women and youth (32); Equity and accessibility of information services (53); Marginalization of women with respect to ICT use in agriculture (106). | | | | | |

Table 4 Results of assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016) for the associated conditions of the dimension 'Instructors' characteristics'.

et al. (2012) findings. An explanation can be that in e-agriculture application, both faculty and ICT developers are concerned.

The e-agriculture strategy document mainly discusses the phases of managing teams and stakeholder engagement, and infrastructural issues. The found conditions cannot be seen as practically feasible and are mainly a recommendation for further practice and the decision making process.

Discussion

The results of this research has some weaknesses. The first weakness is the high level of interpretation in the way in which results are obtained. Everybody could possibly connect the conditions of the theoretical framework and the results of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' assessment differently. This level of interpretation would be less if the results were derived from a statistical method. This research in combination with a survey among e-agriculture users would provide less interpretable results. Although this seems a better method, the aim of this research is to

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: |
|--------------------------------------|-----|---|
| Institution and service quality | 10. | Group forums and workshops wherever practical to facilitate participation by a larger group of stakeholders (42); Digital literacy and capability of farmers to harness ICTs (53); Digital literacy and human capacity development (71); Enable farmers to electronically access appropriate agricultural services directly without the need for an extension agent (83); E-agriculture skills and competencies that agricultural workers require (91); Education and training (development, integration or changes to existing curricula) required to develop an e-agriculture-ready workforce (91); Not taking an inclusive approach with ICTs—attention to differently abled, semiliterate/illiterate users (106). |
| | 11. | Mass media outlets may be the only means by which the general public is informed and influenced about it, so these outlets are particularly important if a high public profile is sought (37); with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37); Access to agricultural information (75); Accessibility to information and services (76); Not taking an inclusive approach with ICTs—attention to differently abled, semiliterate/illiterate users (106); Content that is no longer required is maintained rather than deleted, and referred to as potential future directions for e-agriculture (115). |

Table 5 Results of assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' (FAO and International Telecommunication Union, 2016) for the associated conditions of the dimension 'Institution and Service quality'

map the conditions mentioned by the FAO, taking a survey into account would give an evaluation of the project.

Furthermore the aim of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' is broader than the conditions derived from the theoretical framework. The FAO focuses on control of e-agriculture development and the best methods to implemented several phases of the process. The conditions presented in the theoretical framework are focused on a more practical and pedagogical implementation of e-learning.

The theoretical framework sums up scientifically proven conditions of e-learning. Although they are proven, it may be that some conditions are different in other situations. Whether content is relevant or not depends on the case.

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Infrastructure and system quality | 12. | Current ICTs and e-agriculture environment (26); Mobile network operators (MNOs)/telecommunication service providers (TSPs) with e-agriculture services (32); Mobile network operators/TSPs (33); Equity and accessibility of information services (53); Improve the profitability of agricultural products and services through efficient logistics, universal and connected ICT infrastructure, better market access (55); Availability, incident, access and service-level management (81); Mobile, fixed and satellite networks (84); Internet (84); Inadequate penetration of ICT network (e.g. broadband, sensing networks, IT solutions) (106); Poor ICT and e-agriculture infrastructure (106). | | | | | |
| | 13. | Increase the availability, accuracy and speed of information relating to agriculture sector to the stakeholders (55); Security standards, network and Interoperability standards, and cloud security standards. For example, ITU-T X Series and Y Series recommendations (87); All e-agriculture services providing agronomic information services are being information to farmers adhere to the AGROVOC provided by several actors (including the standard (88); Weather station information, production information and demand, historical data about land quality, land ownership, and content relating to agricultural practices (89). | | | | | |
| | 14. | Communications with other key groups should be designed according to their level of interest, expertise and support (37); Accessibility and inclusivity problems due to the diffusion of inappropriate ICT (106). | | | | | |
| | 15. | Accessibility and inclusivity problems due to the diffusion of inappropriate ICT (106); Equity and accessibility of information services (53); Increase the availability, accuracy and speed of information relating to agriculture sector to the stakeholders (55). | | | | | |
| | 16. | Interaction with experts (76); Interactive voice response systems (IVRS) (84); Platform-level interconnectivity, and Inter-Cloud interoperability. Financial services interoperability. For example, ITU-T X Series and Y Series recommendations (87); Accessibility and inclusivity problems due to the diffusion of inappropriate ICT (106). | | | | | |
| | 17. | Timeliness of services (76); Accessibility and inclusivity problems due to the diffusion of inappropriate ICT (106); | | | | | |

Table 6 Results of assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' (FAO and InternationalTelecommunication Union 2016) for the associated conditions of the dimension 'Infrastructure andSystem Quality'

| Table 7 | Results | of | assess | ment | of th | e 'E | E-agriculture | e Strategy | Gui | ide' | (FAO | and | Internati | onal |
|-----------|-----------|-----|--------|-------|-------|------|---------------|------------|-----|------|-------|------|-----------|------|
| Telecom | municatio | on | Union | 2016) | for | the | associated | conditions | of | the | dimen | sion | 'Course | and |
| Informati | on Quali | ty' | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: |
|--------------------------------------|-----|---|
| Course and Information quality | 18. | Academia (agricultural universities) (32); Increase the availability, accuracy and speed of information relating to agriculture sector to the stakeholders (55); Capture and sharing of agricultural information among agricultural services' providers (71); Facilitate free and open sharing of information and knowledge generated by public institutions (72); Applications platforms e.g., Content Management Systems (85); Although not a government standard, GSMA' mAgri's Guidelines for creating agricultural VAS content56 are a relevant example; and Direct2Farm content management guidelines (87). |
| | 19. | Academia (agricultural universities) (32); Increase the availability, accuracy and speed of information relating to agriculture sector to the stakeholders (55); FAO's Agricultural Information Management Standards (AIMS) (55); Clearly defines the content sources and standards (70); Capture and sharing of agricultural information among agricultural services' providers (71); Facilitate free and open sharing of information and knowledge generated by public institutions (72); Applications platforms e.g., Content Management Systems (85); Open access to data and big data analysis (85); Agricultural knowledge resources (85); There are also challenges of data collection through sensors and integration of this information into existing databases and application platforms (85); Supports standards, technology and good practices for open access and open data in the agricultural domain, geospatial and sensor data, metadata standards, such as Meaningful Bibliographic Metadata (M2B), data set compatibility for cross-platform sharing, and open access date (87); Weather station information, production information and demand, historical data about land quality, landownership, and content relating to agricultural practices (89). |
| | 20. | Facilitate free and open sharing of information and knowledge generated by public institutions (72); Applications platforms e.g., Content Management Systems (85); Content that is no longer required is maintained rather than deleted, and referred to as potential future directions for e-agriculture (115). |

| Dimensions (Bhuasiri et al. 2012) | No. | Appearance in 'E-agriculture strategy guide' as: |
|--------------------------------------|-----|--|
| Extrinsic motivation | 21. | Weather alerts, good agricultural practices, and market price information personalized alerts and suggested actions based on weather, timing, crop and land quality. M-learning platforms; SMS, MMS, mobile applications (apps); Voice messages, video messages, and disaster warning systems agriculture portal (89). |
| | 22. | X |

Table 8. Results of assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide' (FAO and International Telecommunication Union 2016) for the associated conditions of the dimension 'Extrinsic Motivation'

The result of this research cannot be compared with results of other studies, because the subject is focussed specifically on the assessment of the FAO report. Although, the results of this report focus on infrastructural/technical conditions, where most research concerning e-learning conditions is focussed on social/ pedagogical conditions. This makes it hard to place this research in a broader context. Research focussing on the implementation of e-learning and the related conditions should provide a more inclusive framework for as well technical and pedagogical conditions.

Even though this study shows some weaknesses, it gives a sufficient overview of important e-learning conditions addressed by the FAO.

Conclusion

This research used a theoretical framework of e-learning conditions to distinguish the addressed conditions in the FAO's 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'. The results can be a contribution to further development and evaluation of e-learning technologies. The stated research question: 'Does the FAO address e-learning conditions according to scientific findings in their 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide'? If so, which conditions are addressed?' is answered by an assessment of the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide-Piloted in Asia-Pacific Countries'. The analysis shows that all found conditions (computer self-efficacy, internet self-efficacy, attitude toward e-learning, timely response, self-efficacy, technology control, focus on interaction, interaction fairness, computer training, program flexibility, internet quality, reliability, ease of use, system functionality, system interactivity, and system response) are addressed in the 'E-agriculture Strategy Guide', except two conditions (attitude towards students, and clear direction). This means that the FAO addresses conditions according to scientific findings. The focus of this document is on the conditions: quality of the course, internet access and capabilities of the system, and the equality of interaction (empowering women and the rural poor). An explanation for the focus of the FAO on certain conditions could be other goals of the FAO and the importance of infrastructure for setting up an e-learning system. Although the FAO focusses mainly on more technical conditions, scientific literature discusses many pedagogical and social conditions for e-learning. The main arguable comment on this assessment is the high level of interpretation. This research gives only a direction for further conclusions towards e-agriculture implementation and the conditions the FAO should focus on. This study shows that the FAO takes scientifically proved e-learning conditions into account in the 'E-Agriculture Strategy Guide' in regard with developing sustainable agriculture education in developing countries.

References

- Andersson, A., & Grönlund, Ä. (2009). A conceptual framework for E-learning in developing countries: A critical review of research challenges. *Electronic Journal of Information Systems* in Developing Countries, 38(8), 1–16.
- Atkinson, A. D., & Rao, S. (2006). Can e-learning support agricultural development in developing countries. World Agroforestry into the Future, chapter 19, 155–162.
- Behrman, J. R., Alderman, H., & Hoddinott, J. (2004). Hunger and malnutrition. Copenhagen Consensus—Challenges and Opportunities, 1–58.
- Bhuasiri, W., Xaymoungkhoun, O., Zo, H., Jeung, J., & Ciganek, A. P. (2012). Critical success factors for e-learning in developing countries: A comparative analysis between ICT experts and faculty. *Computers & Education*, 58(2), 843–855. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2011.10.010.
- Blass, E., & Davis, A. (2003). Building on solid foundations: Establishing criteria for e-learning development. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 27(3), 227–245. doi:10.1080/ 0309877032000098662.
- Cooper, H., & Spencer-Dawe, E. (2006). Involving service users in interprofessional education narrowing the gap between theory and practice. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 20(6), 603–617.
- Duveskog, D. (2013). Farmer Field Schools as a transformative learning space in the rural African setting. Diss. (sammanfattning/summary) Uppsala : Sveriges lantbruksuniv., Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae, 2013(47), 1652–6880.
- FAO and International Telecommunication Union. (2016). E-Agriculture Strategy Guide Piloted in Asia-Pacific countries. From: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5564e.pdf
- Farming First. (2009). Principles. Farming First—A global coalition for sustainable agriculture development. Retrieved at April 28, 2017, from Farming First: https://farmingfirst.org/ principles/.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2017a). *E-learning centre*. Retrieved at April 28, 2017, from Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: http://www.fao.org/elearning/#/elc/en/home.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2017b). *Millennium Development Goal* 3: Promote gender equality and empower women. Retrieved at April 28, 2017, from Sustainable Development Goals: http://www.fao.org/sustainable-development-goals/mdg/goal-3/en/.
- Gartner, D. (2010, July 30). Achieving the Millennium Development Goals: Education is the Key Missing Link. Retrieved at April 28, 2017, from Brookings: https://www.brookings.edu/ opinions/achieving-the-millennium-development-goals-education-is-the-key-missing-link/.
- Hobbs, P. R., Sayre, K., & Gupta, R. (2008). The role of conservation agriculture in sustainable agriculture. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, (July 2007), 543–555. http://doi. org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2169.

- Johnson, R. D., Hornik, S., & Salas, E. (2008). An empirical examination of factors contributing to the creation of successful e-learning environments, 66, 356–369. doi: http://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijhcs.2007.11.003.
- Lim, H., Lee, S., & Nam, K. (2007). Validating E-learning factors affecting training effectiveness, 27, 22–35. doi: http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2006.08.002.
- Mangstl, A., & Division, C. B. (2008). Emerging issues, priorities and commitments in e-agriculture. Agricultural Information Worldwide, 1(1), 5–6.
- Müller, O., & Krawinkel, M. (2005). Malnutrition and health in developing countries, *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 173(3), 2000–2003.
- Munyua, H., Adera, E., & Jensen, M. (2009). Emerging ICTs and their potential in revitalizing small-scale agriculture in Africa. Agricultural Information Worldwide, 2(1), 3–9.
- Pagram, P., & Pagram, J. (2006). Issues in e-learning: A Thai case study. *Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries*, 26(6), 1–8.
- Pretty, J. N. (1995). Participatory learning for sustainable agriculture. *World Development*, 23(8), 1247–1263.
- Raab, R. T., Ellis, W. W., & Abdon, B. R. (2002). Multisectoral partnerships in e-learning a potential force for improved human capital development in the Asia Pacific. *Internet and Higher Education*, 4(3–4), 217–229.
- Rajesh, M. (2003). A study of the problems associated with ICT adaptability in Developing Countries in the context of Distance Education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 4(2), 1–10.
- Sun, P., Tsai, R. J., Finger, G., & Chen, Y. (2008). What drives a successful e-Learning? An Empirical Investigation of the Critical Factors Influencing Learner Satisfaction, 50(4), 1183–1202. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2006.11.007.
- Sife, A., Lwoga, E., & Sanga, C. (2007). New technologies for teaching and learning: Challenges for higher learning institutions in developing countries. *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology (IJEDICT)*, 3(2), 57–67.
- Valsamidis, S., Kazanidis, I., Petasakis, I., & Karakos, A. (2011). A framework for E-learning in agricultural education. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Sustainable Agri-Production and Environment (HAICTA 2011), 373–384.
- Van Der Meijl, H., Ruben, R., & Reinhard, S. (2017). Towards an inclusive and sustainable economy. *Wageningen: Wageningen University & Research*, 1–44.
- Welsh, E. T., Wanberg, C. R., Brown, K. G., & Simmering, M. J. (2003). E-learning: Emerging uses, empirical results and future directions. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 7(4), 245–258.
- World Food Program (2017). Zero Hunger. Retrieved at April 28, 2017, from World Food Program: http://www1.wfp.org/zero-hunger.
- Zhang, D., Zhao, J. L., Zhou, L., & Nunamaker, J. F. J. (2004). Can e-learning replace classroom learning? *Communications of the ACM*, 47(5), 74–79.
- Zhang, L., Wen, H., Li, D., Fu, Z., & Cui, S. (2010). E-learning adoption intention and its key influence factors based on innovation adoption theory. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, 51(11–12), 1428–1432. doi:10.1016/j.mcm.2009.11.013.

Online Communities of Practice Empowering Members to Realize Climate-Smart Agriculture in Developing Countries

Maria Nuutinen and Walter Leal Filho

Abstract Communities of practice are networks where individuals share the same interest and the will to learn together on the same domain through regular communication. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) has facilitated and provided online learning opportunities to 12 climate-related communities since 2012. Their objective is to speed up knowledge-sharing, innovation and the uptake of sustainable, climate-smart agricultural practices. Based on members' feedback and online monitoring results, the structured learning events and messages in the communities' online fora (email-based discussion fora, webinar platform and a group on social media) between 12,500 members have helped the members and their colleagues and organizations to solve problems related to climate and food security. To allow development organizations to reply to the needs of practitioners and the challenges that climate change poses to food security and rural development in a timely manner, stakeholder involvement and the "crowd-sourcing" of information is vital. The use of various online fora and platforms, as well as different methods for facilitating communities' exchanges, has revealed several points that educator designing and conducting e-learning could benefit from, allowing for more efficient learning opportunities as a contribution to sustainable transformation of societies. In this chapter, an analysis of the bottlenecks and possibilities of how online communities could benefit a larger group of stakeholders is performed, and the capacity development methods improved for stronger impact are outlined. This chapter also introduces the challenges seen in implementing the concept of online communities of practice, as well as related capacity development methods, outlining technical

M. Nuutinen (🖂)

W. L. Filho

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations—FAO, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy e-mail: maria.nuutinen@fao.org

Research and Transfer Centre, Sustainable Development and Climate Change Management, Hamburg University of Applied Sciences, Ulmenliet 20, D-21033 Hamburg, Germany e-mail: walter.leal2@haw-hamburg.de

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_5

and non-technical components. Finally, the elements that should be considered, for successfully using online fora for more efficient social learning, are listed.

Keywords Online community of practice • Capacity development Climate-smart agriculture • Facilitation • Development • ICT food security Rural communities

Introduction

Online communities of practice have been expected to contribute to solving challenges related to climate change and the learning challenges that development practitioners, smallholder farmers, herders, fishers and foresters are facing around the globe. The challenge for developing capacity includes not only the need to adapt to the new kinds of changes in the long-term weather patterns, but also the need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, following the international commitments many countries have signed, to limit climate change.

Communities of Practice (CoPs) have been defined as: "groups of people sharing a concern or a passion for something they do and learn to do it better as they interact regularly" (Wenger 1998). To be able to function, according to Wenger, a community of practice needs: the domain, the members and the practice. In recent years, new concepts, such as 'networks of practice' (Teigland 2003), or 'electronic' or 'virtual network of practice' (see e.g. Wasko et al. 2004) have been proposed, to capture the new forms of communities exchanging on an ever-expanding variety of platforms on the internet. As the term 'network' indicates, these groups can be more "informal, naturally occurring" (Teigland 2003), as well as "geographically separate, but still share work-related practices" (Vaast 2004 in Hildreth and Kimble 2004). As the term 'communities of practice' is still the most used, and as the studied online communities facilitated by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) use this term, the writers use it also in this study.

The number of organizations and individuals willing to start new communities for specific challenges is expanding rapidly (based on a personal observation in e.g. agencies within United Nations, and popular social media fora, such as Facebook, LinkedIn group as well as exchanges with colleagues working on knowledge management) as the benefits of social learning is proved by several organizations, especially in the private sector (Wenger and Snyder 2000; see also: Cambridge et al. 2005). The domains are often complex or require innovation, therefore benefitting from knowledge of different types of experts and combining information from different levels (e.g. field, regions, national, international). As an exchange network of practitioners, communities of practice have potential to speed up access to relevant guidance and information, shared learning, innovation and knowledge exchange on climate-related matters, increase longer-term networking, and improve access to interdisciplinary, collegial support and stronger collaboration for more efficient actions, and finally, sharing best practice across geographical distances effortlessly. In addition, communities of practice have already played a role in raising creative problem solving and effectiveness of different kind of organizations (see e.g. the examples in Wenger and Snyder 2000). In the FAO communities, the social learning process has shown to enhance understanding and shared definition of key concepts that can support climate change action in different sectors.

However, the activity of many online communities of practice has declined: many have been struggling to function effectively, and to achieve their goals (that in most cases the communities define themselves) for multiple reasons. Several of FAO's 12 online communities of practice created to support practitioners working on different aspects of agriculture sectors (crop, livestock, forestry, fisheries and aquaculture) and climate change have been active and growing ever since the launch of the first one in 2012 and carry on with innovative content sharing and learning (Swennhuis and McCaffrey 2016). Starting with 40 members and one single community, the communities now reach over 12,500 members from over 144 countries (not all members indicate their country); including from a wide range of key organizations in the agriculture, climate and development sector functioning in local, national, regional and global levels as well as main stakeholder groups. The studied communities use three different online platforms: one for emails, second for social media and a third one for webinars and are made visible on FAO web pages as well as partners' sites.

As examples of learning activities, between March 2012 and May 2017 the membership of these communities have benefitted from 17 online learning events, including email-based and structured discussions and over 70 expert presentations on topics ranging from gender and climate-smart agriculture to lifecycle analysis of livestock sector's environmental impact. These presentations have been moderated by FAO's organizing team, and specifically prepared for the learning events. The presentations have been prepared by experts in each topic, both from various development organizations (approximately 40% of them working at FAO), private sector actors, researchers, and some members of the community of practice. Many expert presenters have also became and remained members of the communities after the events. Feedback from members has been very positive and, as a proof of communities' utility, the amount of members leaving communities remains very low (less than 40 persons per year). Based on membership monitoring data, members also keep on participating in learning events and join other sub-communities, indicating also this way their satisfaction with the way the communities function.

The communities' membership grows especially prior, during and after learning events. Also, new members seem to find the community both through FAO's online dissemination and by invitations from other members.

Study Design

The study has been conducted through participatory action research, learning by doing, combining qualitative and quantitative analysis of survey results with the members as well as online learning event discussions. The research data of this study consist of exchanges with 12,500 members within 12 different communities, as well as coaching and training sessions with colleagues wishing to set up communities and/or organize online seminars (or 'webinars'). The data has been gathered through webinars (polls, chats), online surveys and questionnaires, social media, web sites and email (monitoring data e.g. on number of clicks to links), coaching sessions (e.g. through instant messaging applications, such as Skype discussions) and interviews with fellow facilitators and moderators between March 2012 and July 2017. The article is partly based on analysis conducted for a publication *Guidebook for online facilitators. Sharing experiences from climate change and agriculture communities of practice* (FAO 2016), and developed further in this text to cover the distance learning aspects with new data based on new learning events and larger group of community members.

Components of Online Community Learning

The learning process of online communities of practice can be analysed through three main components:

- 1. Capacity development through online communities
- 2. Facilitation components
- 3. Technical components

To conclude, writers would like to suggest some elements for further development in order to reinforce the learning results and the overall impact of online communities of practice.

Capacity Development Through Online Communities

Figure 1 shows the factual process how a member of the FAO-facilitated climate communities can take part in a learning event, if he/she chooses to do so. The actual event usually lasts a bit over two weeks, and consists of one to two webinars and facilitated email-discussion with structuring questions. The objective of the questions is to drive the email-based discussion toward conclusions and entice members to take practical action in their day-to-day work. Figure 2 showcases feedback collected from members in regards their preferred means of exchanging prior to a specific learning event. Rather surprisingly, email-based exchanges are preferred by almost 2/3 of the respondents, whereas only 45% prefers attending the webinars.



Fig. 1 Example of an online learning event's learning path from a members' perspective—an ideal case. *Source* Maria Nuutinen, FAO (2017)



Fig. 2 Responses of community members regarding their preferred means of participation in an online learning event of the community of practice. Please note that the enrolled participants could pick several options. N = 267. *Data* Maria Nuutinen, FAO, collected through a Google form

Lack of time available is the most common limiting factor that the participants report through the feedback forms as reasons why they have not taken part in the event. Also, if the member feels that the content is not appropriate for his/her level of expertise, the member will most likely stop following the exchanges related to the event. In some cases, very motivated members contribute in shifting the event's focus toward a topic that interests them more and suggest a new angle or more complex problematic to other participants. As an example, in the latest learning event on irrigation and climate-smart agriculture, most exchanges were sparked by member's question of potential maladaptation caused by irrigation.

Capacity Development

Capacity development can be defined in very many ways but has been mainstreamed in the international development agencies' work in the past decennia. Within FAO, the definition used is as "in international development, capacity is seen as "the ability of people, organizations and society as a whole to manage their affairs successfully" (FAO 2010: Corporate strategy on capacity development). For FAO's work as a United Nations organization, this capacity should help countries in achieving their development objectives, such as the Sustainable Development Goals as well as the national development plans. The Corporate strategy further defines:

'Capacity development' is the "process whereby people, organizations and society as a whole unleash, strengthen, create, adapt and maintain capacity over time". (...) It is a complex, non-linear and long-term change process in which no single factor (e.g. information, education and training, technical assistance, policy advice etc.) can by itself be an explanation for the development of capacity.

FAO 2010

This definition matches well how the social learning through CoPs work with their focus on learning over a longer period of time, forming a part of the development of their environments, organizations and their individual skills, knowledge and ways of working.

Dimensions of Capacity Development

For learning and developing capacity, online communities are a tool with great potential to achieve benefits within the three dimensions of capacity development: the enabling environment, within organizations and individuals (FAO 2015). In terms of enabling environment, online communities can help in creating an enabling environment through engagement of large group of stakeholders who are working on similar subjects, for example agriculture sectors and climate change, and help in creating a beneficial environment for these capacities to develop, such as "capacities to formulate and implement policies and lead policy reform", as well as governance, and incentives (FAO 2010). At the organizational level, the CoPs can structure information, and function as part of the institutional memory, making key content accessible to new staff e.g. through the email-based fora's library

function. The individual level, all members can use the knowledge and information shared via the CoP to develop their understanding and capacity.

Means of Online Learning

Within the studied CoPs in FAO, online learning consists of:

- email-based forum called "Dgroups" of the online communities of practice where any member can post questions, suggest discussion topics and other concerns (moderated) (Dgroups Foundation 2017);
- 2. webinar space (Adobe Connect) with expert presentations, polls, questions and answers sessions and collection of take-home messages and feedback;
- 3. Social media group on LinkedIn (see through: http://bit.ly/micca_linkedin)
- 4. facilitated and structured discussions through online fora (Dgroups and LinkedIn or partner's forum); and
- 5. sharing and receiving key knowledge materials in a variety of formats, such as e-learning courses, training guides or videos through online fora (ibid.).

Box: About Dgroups communities

Each community on the Dgroups platform (www.dgroups.org) is accessible with a password to people who have filled in the membership request form, and who have been approved. All messages sent to a community-specific email address are accessible to all members, after they have been moderated, like in any email-list. The messages sent to the Dgroup community, can also be delivered to members' mailboxes, at the frequency they wish to receive them. In addition to the message function, a Dgroups community shows in the same way as most online fora the list of members, discussion threats, a library, a calendar, and allows the moderators to use some community monitoring tools. The Dgroups platform itself is managed by an independent foundation through its steering committee.

For more information: www.dgroups.info/about-dgroups

All the online fora (1–5 listed above) are moderated and facilitated by FAO's facilitating team with occasional external professionals. As can be seen in the Fig. 2 from the enrolments of a learning event called "Irrigation in climate-smart agriculture—challenges and responses", which took place in June 2017, the biggest share of enrolled participants are especially interested in joining the webinars, receiving webinar summaries and recordings and participating in the e-mail-based facilitated discussions on the Dgroup forum.

The content of the tens of webinar sessions can be accessed through the FAO web site (See e.g. FAO 2012–2017 www.fao.org/in-action/micca/resources/learning) as well as the corporate YouTube channel.

FAO has used this method of combining various online for a and sources of information mainly for adult capacity development purposes in the agriculture, land use and forestry sectors in the developing countries. Making content available on

several ways allows accessing the information also with low-bandwidth internet connection and choosing between different ways of engagement. Students form a large share of the members, and frequently request support from other members for definition of their study topics, for collection of data or recommended literature. Given the age (over 5 years) of the communities of practice, some of the early members who joined the first community focusing on climate change mitigation in agriculture, might have followed the exchanges throughout their studies, and be now in the beginning of their professional career.

Senior-level members form an important part of the communities (based on the results of enrolment forms, and the LinkedIn group's monitoring data). They tend to share results of projects and advise less experienced members. Policy-makers and higher-level public officers tend to send thank you emails to the facilitators noting that the materials shared have been useful for them, but they do not necessarily email the communities directly. As the communities host also high number of people from different academia and research organizations, the members often benefit from messages about most recent study results. Altogether, this interconnectedness of different stakeholder groups has the potential to increase the quality of content, as well as the trust and appreciation between different groups. Based on exchanges with national focal points of a UNDP-FAO project focusing on integrating agriculture sectors into National Adaptation Plans (NAPs), difficulties in collaboration and coordination between different ministries, sectors as well as local, sub-national and national levels is often an important barrier to efficient climate change adaptation planning and budgeting (private exchanges during project's workshop, April 2016, FAO headquarters, Rome, Italy). Therefore, in the long-run, similar online communities that can allow for good exchanges and coordination, have the potential to improve the results of members' work at different levels.

Challenges of Online Communities

Using online communities of practice for transforming agriculture (or other sectors) in the changing climate is a rewarding but also a challenging task (see e.g. for: Tarzimi et al. 2006). Based on the FAO team's experience, there are three main challenges that communities face:

- 1. challenges of online environment for pedagogy and attention;
- 2. competing for members' time;
- 3. creating a shared understanding of complex concepts in a wide range of contexts; and
- 4. technical difficulties related to ease usability of online fora. (FAO 2016).

While the second and the third challenge impact the possibilities how the community's members can engage in learning activities, the challenge of creating a shared understanding of key concepts requires often more time and effort both from the participants as well as the facilitating team.

Challenge for Pedagogy and Attention

Webinars can be good means of conveying new information that does not necessarily require a lot of training to be integrated in the learners' day-to-day work. Participants can attend webinars from any device with a fairly good internet connection (512 Kbps for webinar attendees, wired connection is recommended in most cases, mobile data being too weak, see for: Adobe 2017), and organizers do not need to cover travel expenses. Compared to e-learning courses or Massive Open Online Courses (MOOC), webinars are a more agile tool: they can be prepared quicker, and they provide opportunities for synchronized exchanges between participants, therefore adding to the 'official' content shared by the organizers. In addition, content can be easily adapted to the rapidly evolving climate knowledge.

The FAO facilitating team records the webinars, and shares recordings e.g. via social media video sites, and communities, extending the amount of users that can benefit of their content. It is possible to monitor to some extend the participation to the webinar and participants' learning results, but in the end, it is up to the participant how much attention he/she is willing or able to give to the session.

As participants often attend webinars from their offices, or at least from their computers, it can be often observed that their attention drifts easily to emails or other tasks awaiting. As nor the speakers nor listeners are visible to others in most FAO webinars (in order to reduce the bandwidth required, that increases with video broadcast), there is less social pressure to attentively listen to the presenters compared to traditional seminars. In the analysed communities, learning through webinars is voluntary and no certificates are given to participants. The FAO team has experimented with various approaches detailed below possibilities to increase the attention given by the participants for improving learning results.

The FAO facilitating team has developed a participatory approach of organizing the learning events. It starts with the enrolment phase and its survey, allows collecting data on participants' capacity development and learning needs, wishes and questions, and combining them to the expert steering group's recommendations and vision, in order to cater focused, inspiring and useful content. To maintain attention, email messages as well as webinar presentations and speeches are kept to the point, short and engaging. The webinar sessions often include various polls and questions and answer sessions, as well as an opportunity to give feedback. These participatory sections have a true purpose (e.g. of collecting information on field experience, understanding members' views or recommendations, and combining the summaries of the event) and they rhythm the events and sessions on different fora.

Since 2015, the webinar organizers have also sought to further develop the learning path to improve the capacity development results. This has meant closer integration of email-based exchanges and webinars, as well as more structured webinars with interactive parts in webinars. The webinar facilitators have also asked participants to define their own learning objectives and requested at the end of the session and each learning event the participants to evaluate if they have reached their own objectives. Through these approaches the facilitators have noticed that the

amount of participants remaining in the webinars until their end and participating in the final polls has increased.

For assessing systematically learning results, the next step would be to test participants' knowledge in a more systematic manner, adding to the result of self-assessments.

Joint Definition of Concepts for Climate Literacy

Climate change impacts sectors directly depending on weather conditions and related natural resources. To be able to interpret climatic impacts and prepare for them, climate literacy should be urgently increased especially within actors in the agriculture sectors.

Communities of practice aim at supporting their members in developing climate literacy as part of its capacity development. Joining to the FAO-facilitated communities is free of charge. New members find the communities mostly through colleagues, social media and newsletters, that keep the flow of joining members constant. Online learning events increase the membership significantly. Moderators scan through the reasons the new members indicate for joining the email-based network or the community on social media. Most new members indicate that they are working or studying something related to the community's domain and wish to learn more. The members are not required to work or certificates of studies on climate change or agriculture, but because of the character of exchanges, people who are not engaged in this domain, will not remain in the fora for long.

Prior to start of learning events, the facilitators aim at sharing background information sources via email. These background materials, articles, videos, publications, often offer basic definitions of key terminology to be used and are chosen to cater relevant information to members with different levels of experience on the topic. In addition, the facilitators regularly forward to the list information of opportunities for strengthening understanding of the basis of climate or food security literacy, for example courses from World Bank's Open Learning Campus, or other MOOCs. The FAO facilitation team monitors frequently the activity of the communities, including expressed views and opinions in the emails, surveys and during webinars. The monitoring allows having a basic understanding of how members define and comprehend climate change as a phenomena, and what are the main challenges as well as the solutions they have identified to effectively adapt to and mitigate climate change.

As an example of joined concept definition within a community, during several events in 2014 and 2015, a large share of participating members wanted to spend considerable time to define the concept 'climate-smart agriculture'. During an event focusing on the implementation of the climate-smart approach at the field level, the facilitators suggested this definition to the concept, trying to summarize different aspects that members suggested, e.g. clearly articulating how agroecology and climate-smart agriculture are related to each other. The facilitators then drafted a

definition proposal that formed the basis for the following exchanges. In addition to offering additional information sources, the FAO-facilitators summarise regularly the discussions and main content of the learning events building the institutional memory and making the core knowledge exchanged and generated more easily available. Referring back to previous learning event recordings and summaries accessible through the various fora (Dgroups library and dissemination emails, web sites, social media) allows also new members to benefit of the previous events' results.

I've been able to see the arguments of people coming from various perspectives and this has helped me to frame my perspectives which I have in turn used to influence my organisation at several levels.

- Member of a FAO-facilitated community of practice to the project evaluators.

(Swennhuis and McCaffrey 2016.)

In terms of climate literacy, the 17 online learning events and webinars have increased the practical understanding of the members, based on the received feedback, and what can be observed during the evolvement of exchanges. This understanding is not only about concrete ways how the climate change impacts their work and environment, but also their understanding of what and how they can adapt better to the changes and mitigate climate change.

In addition, based on members' feedback, peer support has empowered them. This strengthening of community members' agency is one of the main outcomes of the CoPs.

Skills Developed

Developing skills forms part of capacity development. In addition to technical skills and knowledge related to climate change and agriculture sectors, such as irrigation, conservation agriculture or agroforestry, the exchanges through the online community platforms develop other, more functional capacities, sometimes defined as 'soft skills', often vital for getting things done in the climate field. These skills and capacities can include: networking and partnering skills; helping groups to achieve their results, or 'facilitation' skills; ability to raise interest of other stakeholders on a particular issue; write engaging and concise text; train language skills (most of the exchanges in FAO-facilitated communities are held in English, Spanish or French); and create understanding of related fields. In the final evaluation of the MICCA project, members expressed their views on the main benefit and value of the community/communities of practice to them to the independent evaluators:

I have benefited more from the links shared by colleagues than the discussions. Some of the links shared have been wonderful and have provided fresh insights for my work. I look forward to applying these in my work.

MICCA is an ideal platform to share news, post, helps that are based on the common subject thematic.

Even I am not able to actively participate as much as I would like to, I enjoy reading the many relevant and inspiring comments. I find this approach more efficient, to get a little portion every day... I really enjoy being part of this community!

- Three members of FAO-facilitated communities of practice.

(Swennhuis and McCaffrey 2016.)

Regarding the learning processes, the evaluators concluded that: "for many, the primary value of the CoP discussions are in the information shared." (Swennhuis and McCaffrey 2016).

As an example of learning on subjects outside the previous area of expertise, for the community of practice on Agriculture sectors and climate change, consisting of over 3700 practitioners, students, members of academia, policy makers and private sector (data from August 2017), the learning events focusing on policies have often been most challenging, as only a minority of the members work with policy processes (as can be seen in the Fig. 3). Still, the members of the community of practice have underlined that it is useful for them to get to know the policy area that influences their work often in a very direct manner.

F. Background: I am already involved in activities related to rural advisory services and/or climate change and agriculture sectors through...

314 responses

| a) through polic | | | -54 (17.2 | !%) | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|---------|-------------|------------|-------------|-----|-----|-------------|--|--|--|--|
| b) working as a | | -51 (16.2%) | | | | | | | | | |
| c) designing R | | -50 (15.9%) | | | | | | | | | |
| d) through form | | | -51 (16.2% |) | | | | | | | |
| e) through a civ | | | | -68 (21.7%) | | | | | | | |
| f) through privat | | -35 (11.1 | %) | | | | | | | | |
| g) doing advoc | | -48 (15.3%) | | | | | | | | | |
| h) through studi | | | | | | | 138 (43.9%) | | | | |
| i) working with | | | | -67 (21.3%) | | | | | | | |
| j) as a develop | | | | 72 (22.9% |) | | | | | | |
| k) as an extens | - | 26 (8.3%) | | | | | | | | | |
| I) I'm not involv | | -29 (9.2%) | | | | | | | | | |
| Other | —18 (5. | 7%) | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 20 | 40 | 60 | 80 | 100 | 120 | | | | | |

Legend:

a) through policy processes, e.g. planning and budgeting for Rural Advisory Services (RAS)

- b) working as a civil servant
- c) designing RAS and training extension agents
- d) through formulation of national climate plans and actions (e.g. National Adaptation Plans, NAPs,
- or Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions, NAMAs)
- e) through a civil society organization
- f) through private sector activities, e.g. providing RAS services
- g) doing advocacy or communications
- h) through studies or research activities
- i) working with an intergovernmental organization
- j) as a development practitioner working on RAS and/or climate change
- k) as an extension service agent

1) I'm not involved yet

Fig. 3 Only 17% of 314 enrolled participants to the webinar enabling advisory services for climate-smart agriculture were working on policies. N = 314. *Note* Participants could choose several options. *Source* Enrolment form: webinar "Enabling advisory services for climate-smart agriculture" FAO (2017). *Data* Maria Nuutinen, FAO, collected using Google Forms

Facilitation Components

The importance of organic, fostering and sensitive facilitation is often highlighted over technological concerns (see e.g. Hearn and White 2009). Facilitator and moderator have complementary roles in helping the members of the community of practice in reaching their goals. Figure 4 describes the differences as identified by the FAO team working with the communities, and lists common tasks performed by the two. Sometimes one person can play the two roles.

Facilitator's questions can help participants and the community as a whole to reach their learning objectives. These facilitating questions (see for more, e.g. in FAO 2016, pp. 21–30) do in best cases take the participant through a learning path, and at the end, he/she has defined how to use the lessons learned in practical action.

Technical Components

In the agriculture sectors especially, the challenge of providing easily accessible and relevant climate-related information tailored for different stakeholders is staggering. In addition to the fact that farmers, herders, foresters and fishers, and people working on the value chains, are so geographically dispersed compared to practitioners in cites makes the task even more challenging. Yet, they are the ones needing the climate-related information the most. The main target audience of the studied communities are the people planning development work, and working with thein the development context to support them with this task of addressing climate change and food security together.

| ×. | ŤŴ |
|--|---|
| MODERATOR | FACILITATOR |
| Guides and helps members in the usage of the forum/ fora, the netiquette and with the rules of engagement | Provides equal opportunities for members to share their different viewpoints to be shared |
| Manages the membership | Observes the content, style and rhythm of the interactions |
| Manages the settings of the forum as needed | Must be familiar with the topic (knowledgeable with current issues, interventions and research) and the types of actors engaged |
| Maintains a rhythm of activities: e.g. approves messages to the email list 2–3 times a day on working days | Takes a proactive role in taking the discussion forward |
| Monitors and reports on the development of membership and activities | Continually assesses: what is needed now? What is the atmosphere in the community? |
| | Thinks: what question would spur ideas sharing? Is there a member whose involvement would be especially useful at this point? |
| | Contacts members and request inputs or consultations |

Fig. 4 Differences between moderator's and facilitator's tasks in FAO online communities of practice. *Source* In FAO (2016), Maria Nuutinen

There are specific benefits and challenges in the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)—especially when considering how to reach different geographically dispersed groups. To those who can connect to internet, social media channels, a webinar or an email list, the online channels can deliver relevant knowledge faster than a publication. Still, online exchanges have their limitations, and means to structure visually the exchanges in a comprehensible manner should be developed further, especially to allow all stakeholder groups' engagement. Making online fora more user-friendly, through allowing for the visual structuring of exchanges (e.g. through tagging with key words, and powerful search engines within the fora, would be essential for helping CoP members to find the relevant information.

Though internet connection issues have hugely improved, with the 67% of the youth (15–24) is using internet in developing countries and 30% in least developed countries (see for: ITU 2017; in comparison to: World Economic Forum 2015; UN News Centre 2015), since the start of the work in 2012 still approximately 2% of participants e.g. to webinar sessions report that they either can assist fully in the session. In the developing country context, the email-based exchanges of the communities that can be accessed also through simple cell phones with mobile data connection, can help in reaching and engaging some of the less connected regionsand potentially more climate-vulnerable benefiters. ITU reports (2017) that the mobile-broadband subscriptions have increased in least-developed countries by over 50% between 2012 and 2017, though still only a bit more than 20% of inhabitants have a mobile-broadband subscription. In all developing countries combined, approximately 50 out of 100 inhabitants have a mobile-broadband subscription in 2017 (estimates, ITU 2017). An important digital gender gap exists globally (ITU 2017), and is also reflected in the FAO-facilitated communities participation rates: in general terms, female participants form approximately 40% of the participants.

Technical content of the FAO online learning events depends on the involvement of experts. In best cases, the experts have engaged in three ways: first, advising in the focus of the whole learning event, secondly in giving webinar presentations and finally in replying other members' questions both during the webinars and through the email-based discussions. The facilitator of the event needs to keep in mind the different levels of knowledge and experience that the members have, and keep the exchanges both comprehensible and interesting to most members.

Monitoring and Improving

Social media and online learning platforms, such as Moodle, give efficient tools to structure the learning path and monitor learners' activities and contributions. For documenting and showcasing communities' impact and efficiency, our team has used monitoring tools both for the accessing online documents, sites and fora. Additionally, the focus and the quantity of the participants' inputs can be monitored through platforms' key word search, and seeing which discussion topics and questions have sparked most replies with more content suggestions and advise. One challenge is to decide which things to monitor, how often, and what not, as the

activity of the communities is sometimes intense, and monitoring should not be the main focus of the moderator. The FAO guidebook gives suggestions on where to focus in the chapter Monitoring, evaluation and reporting on communities of practice (FAO 2016).

Elements for Further Development

Integration of Existing Communities and Online Courses

To FAO team's experience during e-learning courses and MOOCs, the social aspect that makes people engage in processes more fully, are often very limited. Platform developers have made attempts to bring in more social engagement features, such as group discussion or tasks, but at the same time it cannot be expected that participants would develop strong social relations with people they engage with for some weeks only (see for sites of MOOC providers, such as edX; Coursera, World Bank). Given that learning is in most cases a social process (for more on social systems on learning: Wenger 2012), it could be beneficial to test further integration of existing communities of practice and more structured learning courses. For organizers of these learning opportunities, the curricula design might require more flexibility and collaboration with facilitators together with pedagogues.

Development of Online Platforms and Structuring Information

The content shared on online communities is often hard to search. Summaries of discussions, learning events and webinars are an important step in making the main content easily available, but often the exchanges still reflect the real-life communications in its fragmented nature. Online platforms have possibilities to develop further to better highlight the main content exchanged in different groups.

Results and Conclusions

According to the experiences gathered as part of the project, the main elements to achieve good learning results that satisfy members of the online communities and address challenges are:

1. dedication of sufficient human and financial resources allocated to support the facilitation and moderation of the communities and the organization of learning events;

- 2. clearly defining the key concepts at hand, the focus and domain of the community with its members;
- 3. choosing easy-to-use online forum (that the members and target audience for new members is using already or can learn to use) or fora
- 4. taking into consideration the objectives and the needs of the target audience; and
- 5. engaging topical experts (e.g. leading professionals in partner organizations, researchers willing to share their results) to actively contribute to the community's exchanges.

These element cater for developing capacity at different levels, ensuring that the maintenance and facilitation as well as technical content and ICT solutions are accessible.

To conclude, there is a growing interest towards using online communities of practice for finding solutions to climate-related challenges, and this should be encouraged. The facilitator has a fundamental role in balancing between participatory approach and actions, which focus exchanges toward topics that really matter.

To develop further the online communities as social learning systems, it would be recommended to find ways to integrate e-learning opportunities, such as MOOCs and online communities of practice. As a second, additional way ahead, interlinking the ecosystems of different online communities more effectively would be beneficial in solving multidisciplinary issues, such as climate change. In addition, online platform developers should aim at more developed ways to showcase better the main content developed and shared within online communities in a structured and concise manner. The improved social learning systems could help ensuring that information and knowledge were increasingly benefitting not only the community members, but through their work, societies and the global community as a whole.

References

- Adobe. (2017). Adobe Connect technical specifications and system requirements. Retrieved from https://helpx.adobe.com/adobe-connect/tech-specs.html.
- Cambridge, D., Kaplan, S., & Suter, V. (2005). Community of practice design guide—A step-by-step guide for designing and cultivating communities of practice in higher education. Retrieved from https://library.educause.edu/resources/2005/1/community-of-practice-designguide-astepbystep-guide-for-designing-cultivating-communities-of-practice-in-highereducation.
- Dgroups Foundation. (2017). About Dgroups. Retrieved from https://www.dgroups.info/about-dgroups/.
- FAO. (2010). *Corporate strategy on capacity development*. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/ a-k8908e.pdf.
- FAO. (2012–2017). Learning events organized by the mitigation of climate change in agriculture (MICCA) programme. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/in-action/micca/resources/learning/.
- FAO. (2015). *Learning module 1 on capacity development—basic principles*. Rome. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/capacity-development/resources.

- FAO. (2016). Guidebook for online facilitators: Sharing experiences from climate change and agriculture communities of practice. http://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/aa5d4a46-2d52-45de-ab58-28954281bf20/.
- FAO. (2017). Enrolment form: Webinar "Enabling advisory services for climate-smart agriculture". Retrieved from https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/ 1FAIpQLSdTYjdYx7II0fPGKkXr8eEkM7ns2rmLI90Ng7VyswIocdvVvw/ viewform#responses.
- Hearn, S., & White, N. (2009). Communities of practice: Linking knowledge, policy and practice. ODI Background Notes: UK, November 2009. Retrieved from http://www.odi.org/sites/odi. org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/1732.pdf.
- ITU, (2017). ICT facts and figures 2017. Retrieved from http://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/ Documents/facts/ICTFactsFigures2017.pdf.
- Swennhuis, J., & McCaffrey, M. (2016). Final review of "Making agriculture part of the solution to climate change. Building capacities for Agriculture Mitigation Programme GCP/GLO/270/ MUL" Final report. FAO, Rome, Italy, January 25, 2016.
- Tarzimi, H., Vreede, G., & Zigur, I. (2006). Identifying challenges for facilitation in communities of practice. Retrieved from http://dissident.typepad.com/my_weblog/files/identifying_ challenges_for_facilitation_of_cops.pdf.
- Teigland, R. (2003). *Knowledge networking: Structure and performance in networks of practice*. Stockholm: Stockholm School of Economics.
- UN News Centre. (2015). Billions of people in developing world still without Internet access, new UN report finds, September 21, 2015. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp? NewsID=51924#.WZbnglUjFyw.
- Vaast, E. (2004). The Use of Intranets. The missing link between communities of practice and networks of practice. In Hildreth, & Kimble (Eds.), *Knowledge networks: Innovation through communities of practice hardcover— February 28, 2004.* Retrieved from https://books.google. co.uk/books?id=TrDS5ZmBIHIC&dq=Hildreth+and+Kimble.
- Wasko, M. M., Faraj, S., & Teigland, R. (2004). Collective action and knowledge contribution in electronic networks of practice. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems (JAIS)* Special Issue on Theory Development, 5(11–12), 2004.
- World Economic Forum. (2015). Alice Truong: The state of internet connectivity around the world, December 07, 2015. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2015/12/thestate-of-internet-connectivity-around-the-world.
- Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity. In J. S. Brown, (Ed.), *Learning in Doing: Social, Cognitive and Computational Perspectives*. UK: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Wenger, E. (2012). Communities of practice and social learning systems: The career of a concept. Retrieved from http://wenger-trayner.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/09-10-27-CoPs-andsystems-v2.01.pdf.
- Wenger, E., & Snyder, W. M. (2000). Communities of practice: The organizational frontier. In Harvard business review: Leading teams. Issue: January–February 2000. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2000/01/communities-of-practice-the-organizational-frontier.
- Wenger, E., McDermott, R., & Snyder, W. M. (2002). Cultivating communities of practice: A guide to managing knowledge. Cambridge, USA: Harvard Business School Press.

Tertiary Education Knowledge and Standards in Sustainable Development: A Crisis for the Democratic Republic of the Congo

Eva A. McNamara, Melaine Kermarc, Joseph Zambo Mandea and Glenn Bush

Abstract This paper presents a case study to stimulate debate and action concerning the lack of capacity to plan and manage development sustainably in the Équateur province of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC). The case study examines environmental literacy of higher education students enrolled in programs focused on rural sustainable development in the context of human resource needs to effectively implement complex sustainable development programs financed through international climate change initiatives. Written surveys of students and teachers and semi structured interviews with key informants in a higher institute of education's administration revealed low comprehension of key environmental issues in the region (climate change, deforestation impacts), low French literacy, and limited access to teaching and learning materials as well as the Internet. Overall, this case study illustrates those immediate interventions which are needed to avert a current crisis in the ability of the DRC to scale up planned sustainable development programs. Curriculum revisions and improved access to current information and training methods are especially needed in order to create a foundation for sustainable development within the country.

Keywords Democratic Republic of Congo · Sustainable development Higher education · Tertiary education · Environmental literacy Institutional capacity building · REDD+ · Deforestation · Decentralization Climate change · Knowledge transfer · Internet access

J. Z. Mandea

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

E. A. McNamara (🖂)

Graduate Institute of International Development and Applied Economics, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6UA, UK e-mail: emcnamara@whrc.org

E. A. McNamara \cdot M. Kermarc \cdot G. Bush Woods Hole Research Center, Falmouth, MA 02540, USA

Coordination Nationale REDD: Ministre de L'Environnement et Développement Durable, Mbandaka, Democratic Republic of the Congo

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_6

Introduction

Development does not start with goods; it starts with people and their education, organization, and discipline. Without these three, all resources remain latent, untapped, potential.

Schumacher (1973, p. 117)

This case study focuses on students in the province of Équateur in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) enrolled in tertiary education programs focused on sustainable development and the environment.

The quality of their work supporting rural development projects while maintaining natural resource stocks, and especially forests, is inextricably linked to national and international sustainable development initiatives, as well as large investment programs such as REDD+ (Reduction of Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in developing countries plus the sustainable management of forests, conservation of forest carbon stocks and enhancement of forest carbon stocks). This program aims to compensate actors providing a conservation service of forest resources, whether they be state actors, civil society or private entities. This compensation can be in the form of direct financial payment or in the form of sustainable development activities such as agricultural extension or social infrastructures. Regardless of the benefit-sharing program put in place in the context of REDD+, development practitioners implementing these projects are required to master both best practices in the development realm as well as have a comprehensive understanding of natural resource management. There is currently no academic literature exploring the environmental literacy of these students, the quality and subject matter of the national environmental and sustainable development tertiary programs within the DRC, the institutional capacity of tertiary institutes in Équateur, their ability to access information, or their ability to stay up to date with new and important research happening at institutes and universities around the world.

In order to inform projects and programs looking to build capacity and increase environmental literacy as it pertains to sustainable development and climate change mitigation and adaptation, this study was undertaken to better understand (1) If higher education students in the sustainable development field are equipped with the basic knowledge of fundamental environmental concepts that will allow them to contribute to environmental programs like REDD+ and sustainability-based development initiatives and (2) What are the barriers to obtaining a relevant and current education in this field, and how can these barriers best be alleviated?

While this case study is small, the results of the survey were used by a pilot REDD+ project to design sustainable development activities that would best suit the needs of the staff and students at the surveyed university. The discussion includes information about how this was done, and highlights the complexity of facilitating information transfer in the context of the DRC. We focus our conclusions on the importance of these programs being improved in a participatory manner and how capacity building and knowledge transfer for sustainable development can only be supported and sustained if projects and programs set up to improve sustainable

development education are flexible enough to adapt to provide individualized and targeted resources when needed.

Literature Review

Tertiary Education (TE) and Sustainable Development

There is no, "one size fits all" when it comes to how a community can achieve sustainable development (Khelghat-Doost et al. 2011). However, universities can play an important role in building human capital by helping develop capable community leaders, managers, and educators (Ketlhoilwe and Maila 2008; Khelghat-Doost et al. 2011). Since the early 1990s several international agreements have been put in place, which

...acknowledge that the role of [Institutes of Higher Education] can be categorized into three groups. The first is that higher education has a role to play in helping students gain awareness of the world in which they live. The second, an understanding of the way in which multifaceted economic, social and environmental processes interact with each other (including the contribution individuals make to these processes) and lastly, familiarity with the perspectives of other societies and cultures on these issues.

Khelghat-Doost et al. (2011, p. 111)

Higher education institutions have been identified as necessary leaders in the sustainable development movement. Knowledgeable experts, research facilities, modern infrastructure, and students from diverse populations with diverse interests make universities a unique place for sustainable development initiatives to grow and flourish (Khelghat-Doost et al. 2011). Additionally, "Institutes of Higher Education appear to be appropriate candidates for assuming the sustainable development leadership and becoming center points of coordination between different actors and members of society (NGOs, individuals, private sector, etc.) in achieving sustainable development goals," (Khelghat-Doost et al. 2011, p. 115). This does not come as a surprise, as a 1994 report form the World Bank noted:

Higher education is of paramount importance for social and economic development. Institutions of higher education have the main responsibility for equipping individuals with advanced knowledge and skills required for positions of responsibility... estimated social rates of return of ten percent or more in many developing countries also indicates that investments in higher education contributed to increase in labor productivity and to higher long term economic growth essential for poverty alleviation.

World Bank (1994, p. 1)

However, while sentiments about the value of tertiary education seem not to have shifted dramatically since the 1990s, funding from the Inter-American Development Bank and African Development bank dropped from 129.7 million and 520.8 million respectively between 1990 and 1999 to 8.8 million and 52.5 million USDs between

2000 and 2005. And this decrease in funding has not gone unnoticed. In the World Bank Group Education Strategy 2020 it is acknowledged that since 2000 "the share of education funding for tertiary education and vocational education has declined, while the share of "general education" funding—which benefits several education levels—increased" (World Bank 2011, p. 48). This decrease in funding for TE is presented as a positive, and it is clear from the rhetoric of the report that basic education (pre-primary, primary, and low secondary levels) is considered to be a more valuable societal investment than tertiary education.

This situation is paradoxical, as it is estimated that, "if Africa could increase the tertiary education stock of its population by one additional year (averaged over the whole population) the GDP per capita growth rate in Africa would rise by 0.24 percentage points in the first year" (Bloom et al. 2006, p. 7). Coupled with the fact that increased rates of tertiary education promote a faster adoption of modern technologies, "this higher rate of technological growth [...] may boost incomes by roughly 3 percent after five years and by 12 percent eventually" (Bloom et al. 2006; p.7).

In addition to these cuts, conflicting interests abound regarding how these funds are distributed—much development aid money earmarked for TE is actually channeled through universities in developed countries, as "technical assistance" has historically been more valued than in-country capacity building at the tertiary level. This is illustrated not only by the substantial aid funding many American universities receive to train developing country nationals but also by the Department of International Development's (DFID) funding of research for developing countries in UK universities (Kapur and Crowley 2008), as well as their scholarship offerings to developing country nationals. However, 2003 study showed that only about 40% African nationals who went to the USA to pursue PhDs returned to their country of origin (Gupta et al. 2015), suggesting that encouraging studying abroad may not greatly contribute to capacity deficits within developing countries.

Donors are not unaware of the benefits of TE—a rigorous literature review funded by DFID in 2014 concluded that although more studies about TE's impacts on development are needed, there is

...evidence to suggest that TE may provide greater impact on economic growth than lower levels of education...TE provides a range of broader, measurable benefits to graduates, relating to health, gender equality and democracy, among other areas. In addition, it contributes to the strengthening of institutions, and the forming of professionals in key areas, such as education and healthcare. The diverse functions of the university, in addition to its direct impact on economic growth, should be acknowledged and supported.

Oketch et al. (2014)

Contrarily to this report, DFID's research and development website advertises their current research (being done within UK universities) which focuses on reducing corruption and improving governance (DFID 2015)—which could possibly be improved by funding higher education facilities abroad and not at home. According to Bloom et al. (2007) there are significant positive correlations between corruption, rule of law, and quality of bureaucratic institutions (general governance indicators) and a country's higher education enrolment rates. Despite this, facilities

in developing countries, especially in Sub-Saharan Africa, remain largely neglected (Kapur and Crowley 2008), while governance focused programs carried out by development organizations abound.

Despite the ever-growing span of research initiatives being undertaken in higher education facilities around the world, much needed research that is specific to the needs of developing countries is not being sufficiently undertaken. Agricultural research, for example, is often more helpful for industrial farmers, and not particularly advantageous for small-scale farmers living in poverty. Even in the cases where research is specific, the transfer and application of this knowledge is often done poorly, inappropriately, or not at all. The most practical remedy to this situation is the investment in higher education facilities within developing countries in order to build capacity to not only help students develop hard skills, but also to provide an environment where innovative research is encouraged, supported, and highly applied (Kapur and Crowley 2008).

Tertiary Education as a Vector for Sustainable Development in DRC

In the DRC there is a great need for workers who are highly and specially trained, as well as critical and creative in their approaches to problem solving, as sustainable development needs to be highly contextualized and specific depending on resources, population and needs. The university has often championed as a promoter of middle class growth, which has been seen to have a positive impact on the organization of institutions (Kapur and Crowley 2008). Income inequality is high in the DRC, and the development of a middle class, perhaps aided by better access to quality degrees, could be a catalyst for sustainable development.

In the most recent Growth and Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper (GPRSP) for the DRC, Pillar 1 of the report, entitled 'Strengthening Governance and Peace', it is emphasized that there is a great need for capacity building among leaders in order to address poor governance issues and corruption (IMF 2013). Tertiary education does just this—it educates future leaders about the needs of their countries and gives them the skills to tackle these problems.

While there is no available data available about the returns of higher education in the DRC, a recent study done in the neighboring Republic of Congo found convex returns to education, highlighting significantly higher returns in income levels from tertiary and secondary education than primary education (Kuepié and Nordman 2015). In the DRC, a context of "extremely limited capacity" (Aquino and Guay 2013, p. 74) of the government to implement projects and programs at national and local levels, capable professionals are in high demand. However, in 2012 it was estimated that out of the 9000 young people who exit Congolese universities each year, less than 100 find a job for which they are not overqualified. This is most likely due to the inconsistent quality of educational facilities in the country, and the fact that foreign qualifications are more highly considered by employers (OECD et al. 2012).

Currently in the agricultural sector, which in Équateur will need to be involved in sustainable development initiatives as agriculture is both a cause of deforestation in the province but also a high potential economic sector given its perfect climate for crops like palm oil (Woods Hole Research Center 2007), qualifications are generally low and most junior staff hold only bachelor degrees or lower while senior staff approaches retirement age (Ragasa et al. 2014).

Tertiary Education in Equateur

Équateur is the poorest province in the DRC and suffers from high political instability (IMF 2013). Équateur's graduates will be vital to the future of a province whose economy is, and most likely will continue to be, based heavily on the exploitation of its natural resources. Therefore, it is pertinent that graduates have adequate levels of environmental literacy (EL)—specifically an understanding of environmental degradation and sustainable resource management in order to foster an economic development that is environmentally sustainable for future generations.

While research has exposed the necessary corruption of teachers within the DRC education system (Brandt 2014), there is no literature about the actual content of the national curriculums nor about the TE sector in Équateur. While universities in more developed cities such as Kinshasa and Kisangani are able to benefit from partnerships with international universities and NGOs, more remote provincial universities in the DRC have been largely ignored.

Additionally, travelling to the provincial capital of Mbandaka is arduous and expensive, making Équateur province generally an undesirable place to be, as many goods and services as well as basic utilities such as electricity and running water are not widely available. While there is no available literature on the TE sector in the province, the findings of a study from Brandt (2014) on primary education can be extrapolated to the university level to highlight the unwillingness of teachers to travel to remote provinces and the difficulties that institutions have in finding qualified staff.

Study Context

The DRC, Equateur Province, and Its Forest

The DRC covers over 2.4 million square kilometers of land of which about 63% is forested (FAO.org 2017). Conflict and political mismanagement over the past decades have severely hindered development, and the DRC currently ranks 186 out of 187 on the human development index (UNDP 2015). Located in the northwest of the DRC and with a population of roughly 9 million, Équateur is the poorest
province in the country, and about 93.6% of the population is estimated to be living in extreme poverty (UNDP 2009). It is important to note that this paper refers to the statistics available for the old province of Équateur, however it has been divided into five smaller provinces as of 2015. The province sits in the heart of the Congo Basin, and contains about 25% of the country's forested land. Several years of relative stability and a booming population are beginning to put more pressure on these forests, and low access to electricity (estimated around 1%) (UNDP 2009) and limited economic opportunities—the informal economy accounts for about 95% of family incomes within the province (UNDP 2009)—mean that the growing population, especially in rural, isolated areas, must increasingly turn to the forest for their livelihoods (Milburn 2014). Already in Équateur an estimated 90% of the population depends directly on the forest and its resources for food, fuel and medicinal plants, and often sell excess or high value goods to garner a monetary income (CPP-CAD 2009). It is estimated that between 2001 and 2013, 1.2 million hectares of land were deforested in the province alone (Walker 2015).¹

Équateur province has a young population, with over 57% of its inhabitants below the age of 20 and an average age of 21 (UNDP 2009). While population growth has slowed in the DRC in recent years, it is still comparably high even for sub-Saharan Africa, averaging about 3.1% growth in 2015 (World Bank 2016). Deforestation in the DRC is caused primarily by shifting agricultural practices (Russell et al. 2011; Potapov et al. 2012; Woods Hole Research Center 2007), as well as by charcoal production driven by the needs of growing urban populations (Potapov et al. 2012). Deforestation alone is estimated to cause a rise in temperature of around 0.7 °C, with some spots reaching 1.258 °C warming by the middle of the century (Akkermans et al. 2014). Additional warming caused by other factors, coupled with an average rainfall decrease of 5–10% (Akkermans et al. 2014) will further challenge the livelihoods of the people of Équateur.

The DRC government has adopted an integrated REDD+ program framework that acknowledges that the protection and conservation of forest resources is a complex issue that needs multi-sectorial and ministerial communication, participation, and collaboration to be successful and sustainable. These integrated programs will be based in areas identified as "high risk" areas for REDD+, such as Équateur, and the framework recognizes that REDD+ must include efforts to support and stimulate sustainable development as well as address direct and indirect drivers of deforestation (Fond National REDD+ 2015). In 2006, the DRC government adopted the idea of decentralization in their national constitution to help the country develop by allowing more localized governance structures to focus on regional needs and potential, and giving them "administrative freedom and managerial autonomy with regard to their economic, human, financial and technical resources" (Cabinet of the President of the Democratic Republic of Congo 2006). A similar route has been taken with the development of the national REDD+ framework policy—although the general

¹This estimation is based on data extracted from Baccini et al. (2012)'s global carbon data set in order to look more closely at deforestation rates within the province

framework and investment plan has been developed at a national level, REDD+ provinces will be required to develop their own strategies depending on contextual issues, institutions and available resources, as illustrated by the Mai Ndombe Emission Reduction Program (Ministry of Environment, Conservation of Nature and Tourism 2014). Équateur's vast forest resources, hotspots of deforestation, and high poverty rates mean that the national REDD framework considers it a "high risk" area for increased deforestation. Both the country's GPRSP for 2011–2015 and the province's own most recent development plan from 2010–2015 cite REDD+ as a key monetary investment in their hopes of achieving a sustainable development as well as conserving their forest resources (CCP-CAD 2009; IMF 2013).

For Équateur, given its year-round growing season and a large potential local and regional market, this process could focus on rehabilitating degraded lands to be used for agriculture, as well as encouraging REDD+ friendly practices like crop rotation and agroforestry. However, the success of REDD+ projects depends on more than developing a logical framework. The DRC REDD+ Investment Plan for 2015–2020 has identified that their first window of funding must address the need for capacity building, as capacity deficits are a risk to a decentralized REDD+ structure. The plan notes that "capacity building of local and national institutions to better manage space and natural resources" are a key to laying "the foundations for a harmonious and sustainable development of the country" (Fond National REDD+ 2015).

While there are a number of capacity building initiatives going on within the DRC, there are few that are directly involved with agricultural training institutes and/or tertiary education institutions (Ragasa et al. 2014). The DRC's tertiary education framework has not seen thorough reform since 1971, although several reports have been produced identifying problems as wells as possible interventions (Table Ronde de l'Education en République Démocratique du Congo «Vers une stratégie pour une Education de qualité pour Tous»-Rapport General 2004; Cellule Technique pour les Statistique de l'Education (CTSE) 2009). New programs addressing environmental issues and sustainable development have been put in place in the last decade, however there is little information available that explores what exactly students in these programs are learning about the environmental state of their country, the threats and causes of climate change, and sustainable development theory. Given that institutional capacity building has been recognized as essential to the success of REDD+ within the country, it is important that the role of the university in building human capacity, producing relevant and sound research, and training citizens be considered as a valuable investment in encouraging sustainable development in the DRC.

Study Site: L'Institut Supérieur de Développement Rurale Mbandaka (ISDR-MDK)

L'Institut Supérieur de Développement Rurale Mbandaka (ISDR-MBK), or the Higher Institute of Rural Development in Mbandaka, is a higher education institute located in Mbandaka, the capital of Équateur province. The institute offers both *graduat* and *licence* courses (modeled after the old Belgian system), of three and two years respectively. The first year of *graduat* is a general year, after which students can choose their course of study from five options; social organization (OS), rural enterprise development and management (GDER), rural planning (PR), rural administration (AR), and Environment and Sustainable Development (EDD).

At the time of the study, ISDR-MBK had a total of 30 educators, 2 of whom were professors. The remaining 28 make up the 'scientific body'—some of who are assistant teachers and others who are 'chefs de travaux', teachers who supervise practical work. The professors are mainly responsible for teaching the *licence* students while the remaining teachers teach the *graduat* level courses.

In the 2014–2015 school year, ISDR-MDK had a total of 1,253 students, 1,074 *graduat* and 179 *licence*. While female students account for about 40% of *graduat* students (higher than both the national and provincial averages), they only make up about 28% of the *licence* course. As of 2014, according to their own records, ISDR-MDK had awarded degrees to 2781 students. Numbers of students receiving diplomas decreased severely during the period between 1993 and 2007, with the number of graduates falling to a low of 7 in 2001, most likely due to conflict within the country.

The ISDR-MDK campus is made up of several buildings; offices for administration, living quarters for students, and classrooms containing only desks and chalkboards. During an interview with the Director General of the institute he noted that theft is rampant, and the few valuable teaching resources (including computers) they receive are usually stolen, as security resources are insufficient. The library is a single room and contains primarily theses written by previous students. Most of the few books date back to the Belgian colonial era, including agricultural volumes written in the 1950s. During an informal conversation the librarian remarked that until the conflict in 2000 many students did come to use the library, but after that interest and quality of the work declined. The campus does not have Internet access.

ISDR-MDK's main missions, according to the 'Guide to Discovering ISDR Mbandaka' (Institut Supérieur de Développement Rural de Mbandaka 2015), are:

- To provide formative training to create professionals able to work in the most diverse areas of national life. As such, ISDR-MDK provides teaching for those enrolled in its programs designed to foster the emergence of new ideas and skills development.
- 2. To organize basic scientific research oriented towards the specific problems of the Democratic Republic of Congo, taking into account new techniques and technology in the world.

In order to achieve these two objectives, they must:

- Train Rural Development Technicians (TDR), specifically men and women capable of arousing, accompanying, planning, supporting and encouraging human, economic, and social development of rural communities;
- Collaborate in the study of human, economic and social-organization faced in rural areas;
- Establish a varied and complete documentation about all aspects of rural life.

Additionally, the guide goes on to note that all students will graduate well versed in five topics: agriculture, fisheries management, agro-pastoralism, biotechnology/ appropriate technology, and environmental/biodiversity ecosystems. All students are to attend weekly field trips to organizations and businesses during their first year, cultivate their own small agricultural plot each year, spend at least ten days working and observing life in rural villages during their second year, and do a two or three-month internship with a local public or private non-governmental organization (NGO) during their final year to gain work experience.

While there were several higher education institutes in Mbandaka very willing to participate in this research, the decision was made to work with ISDR-MBK exclusively due to time and cost constraints. Only two institutions in the city offer environmental courses (ISDR-MBK and the University of Mbandaka). ISDR has the best reputation locally in terms of academics, is the older of the two, and is primarily focused on training rural development technicians.

Method

Evaluating Environmental Literacy

In order to evaluate the student's current environmental literacy (EL) levels, the EL Evaluation Instrument (ELEI), designed to help higher education institutes to "better understand [their] current impact before investing heavily in change" (Shephard et al. 2013, p. 477) in terms of education for sustainability was used as a model for the written survey done at ISDR. The ELEI was designed to help "academic departments to better understand the degree to which they are fostering this attribute in their undergraduate teaching and the degree to which our undergraduate cohorts possess it" (Shephard et al. 2013, p. 478).

Given that the students at ISDR are being trained in rural development issues, which in the case of Équateur overlap significantly with environmental issues, an environmental literacy survey was a logical starting point for understanding larger capacity deficits within the institution. The example ELEI developed by Shephard et al. (2013) was used as a basis for the EL survey, but multiple-choice questions that more specifically addressed environmental problems in Équateur were also

added. Shephard's ELEI was designed in collaboration with the North American Association for Environmental Education (NAAEE), a recognized institution that has been working over many years to design instruments to assess the level of student's EL. It is important to note here that their ELEI was designed to be efficient to distribute, meaning that tests were graded by machine and students were asked to respond to the multiple-choice questions and also give their 'confidence level'. This was impossible to replicate in Mbandaka—there are no grading machines available. Additionally, based on the tryout of the survey the format was also considered foreign to students, so additional questions about confidence in their answers were deemed unsuitable for the context and may have hindered response rates. All surveys were filled out anonymously.

Nine multiple-choice (MC) questions were included on the student surveys. Two questions were included as "test" questions, which focused on very recent government information and research addressing local deforestation and agricultural issues. The purpose of including these questions was to see whether or not this relatively new data, which is of direct concern to sustainable development actors in the region, was being effectively communicated to these university students within the environmental and development sector. The performance on these questions was hypothesized to be low in comparison to the more general knowledge questions. The general knowledge questions included several taken from Shephard's ELEI, however given that those questions were designed for university students in New Zealand and Australian in 2012, it was necessary that additional questions be developed that would be more appropriate in a rural, rainforest context (i.e. replacing questions about fracking with questions about forest resources).

All questions were developed, selected, and/or modified in partnership with the National REDD Coordination's Provincial Focal Point for Équateur, as well as the Project Manager of Projet Équateur, a pilot REDD+ project based in Mbandaka, in order to ensure that questions and vocabulary were appropriate for students, as well as correctly reflected environmental knowledge relevant to the sustainable development of the province. Administration officials at ISDR were also given the questions in advance for review, and offered advice for modifications and the mode of distribution to ensure that the structure of the survey would not hinder the students' ability to perform in a way that accurately reflected their level of knowledge. A pre-test was also run with local environment and sustainable development professionals to ensure the difficulty level reflected professional standards. According to the ISDR brochure, graduating students should not only understand basic ecological systems, but also be able to bridge gaps between social and environmental issues. Thus, the survey, although not considered to have a high level of difficulty, touched on a number of basic ideas and concepts related to these issues within the province and country.

Data Collection

Students surveyed in July of 2015 were in their final years of their course at ISDR-MBK, hereafter referred to as L2 (*Licence* year 2) and G3 (*Graduat* year 3). A disproportionate stratified random sampling method was used to select 40 students from official class lists. The G3 students were chosen exclusively from the EDD option, and the L2 students, as there were only 13 students enrolled in the EDD option total, chosen from all five course options. A total of 32 surveys were collected from 12 female and 20 male students (a response rate of 80%) over a period of two days.² All 20 teachers and professors at ISDR-MDK were invited to fill out the survey. A total of 12 surveys were completed, 11 by teachers and 1 by a professor, for a response rate of 60%. All surveys were completed anonymously.

Student surveys included demographic questions, the modified ELEI, as well as questions about future goals, their opinions of the quality of their education, Internet use, and changes they might like to see at ISDR. Educator surveys included back-ground questions, questions about internet use and teaching materials as well as the portion of the ELEI used to measure environmental sentiments, not knowledge (including the environmental knowledge component could have been potentially insulting to the educators). Semi-structured interviews were also carried out with administration. ISDR-MBK shared their official course lists as determined by the Ministry of Education Superieur et Universite (MESU) as well as their enrollment and graduation statistics and information brochure. Government documents from the MESU website and partner NGOs concerning tertiary institutions were also consulted, however reports were not current and the website has since gone offline.

Surveys and interviews were conducted in French, as French is the national teaching language in DRC. ISDR-MBK is a public institution and classes, administrative information, and library materials are in French although regional dialects are widely spoken throughout the country.

Results

Descriptive Results

In order to gain a more general demographic understanding about those surveyed, student participants were asked to answer questions about their age, gender, and grade level. These results are displayed in Table 1. Educators surveyed were asked

²While the survey was initially to be given on one day, an additional day was added as many selected students, especially females in the *licence* course were unable to attend (they normally attended evening classes at the institute as they worked during the day). Other students selected could not attend as they had already finished their classes and coursework and had returned home to other cities.

| Total | Age | # of | # of | Number of | Number of | L2 | G3 |
|-----------|---------|----------|----------|-----------|-----------|---------|---------|
| surveys | range | male | female | L2 | G3 | average | average |
| collected | (years) | students | students | students | students | age | age |
| 32 | 22–58 | 20 | 12 | 13 | 19 | 28 | 27 |

Table 1 Descriptive results for students surveyed

Source Own data

Table 2 Descriptive results for educators surveyed

| # of educators surveyed | Age range (years) | Average age | Number of years teaching (range) | Average number of years teaching | Male | Female | Teachers | Professors |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|----------------|---|---|------|--------|----------|------------|
| 12 | 43-60 | 53 | 4-32 | 15 | 12 | 0 | 11 | 1 |

Source Own data

similar questions, as well as how long they had been teaching and if they were considered teachers or professors. These results are illustrated in Table 2.

Test Item Analysis

Before looking into scores further, all numerically scored questions were looked at through quantitative analysis in order to determine if any of the questions were inappropriate for the audience. Results of this analysis are shown in Table 3. For this analysis Difficulty Index (Df) and Discrimination Index (Dc) were used. The Df reports the difficulty of a question on a scale of 0.0-1.0, and the ideal item difficulty for a four alternative multiple choice test is considered by Thompson and Levitov (1985) to be halfway between a pure guess (0.25) and all answering correctly (1.0), or 0.625. The Dc is a measure of a question's ability to differentiate between students who average higher scores overall and students who average lower scores (Colbert 2001). It is measured on a scale of -1.0 to 1.0. Negative scores indicate that more students who scored lower overall answered the question correctly, while scores above 0 indicate that more students who scored higher scoring students struggled with a question, signifying that its wording or format may be flawed.

Difficulty Levels

Difficulty level was appropriate (<0.7 and >0.3) for all questions except MC1(0.72), MC3(0.84), MC4(0.03) and MC5(0.25).

| Table 3 Test ite | Test item analysis | Question | Ns or Σc | Df | Dc |
|------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|----------|------|------|
| | | Multiple choice 1 (MC1) | 23 | 0.72 | 0.33 |
| | | Multiple choice 2 (MC2) | 17 | 0.53 | 0.44 |
| | | Multiple choice 3 (MC3) | 27 | 0.84 | 0.33 |
| | | Multiple choice 4 (MC4) | 1 | 0.03 | 0.11 |
| | | Multiple choice 5 (MC5) | 8 | 0.25 | 0.22 |
| | | Multiple choice 6 (MC6) | 13 | 0.41 | 0.67 |
| | | Multiple choice 7 (MC7) | 13 | 0.41 | 0.56 |
| | | Multiple choice 8 (MC8) | 18 | 0.56 | 0.44 |
| | | Multiple choice 9 (MC9) | 15 | 0.47 | 0.11 |
| | | Source Own data | | | |
| | | | | | |

 N_s = Number of successful students

 $\Sigma_{\rm c}$ = Sum of total credits

 $D_f = Difficulty Index$

 D_c = Discrimination Index

Discrimination Index

All questions scored positively on the discrimination index, indicating that students in the top 27% of overall scores did answer more questions correctly than those students who scored in the bottom 27%, signifying that questions were appropriately structured and used accessible language.

Multiple Choice Environmental Literacy Questions

The average score on this section of the test was 47%, including all nine questions. Without the two "test" questions, the average score overall rose slightly to 53%. All score frequencies are illustrated in Fig. 1.

When not including the "test questions", which most students performed poorly on, significant differences were seen between average multiple-choice questions section response rates of those of different genders as well as students in different grade levels. Score frequencies by gender and grade level are illustrated in Fig. 2. Two-sample t-test revealed that *graduat* students (median score 41.1%) scored significantly lower than higher level *licence* students (median score 66%); (t = -3.21, df = 22, p < 0.01). Another two-sample t-test also showed that male students (median score 59%) scored significantly higher than female students (median score 42%); (t = 2.51, df = 30, p < 0.05).

A one-way anova analysis of variance showed that age range had no significant impact on overall multiple-choice scores (F(2, 27) = 0.84, p > 0.05).



Fig. 1 Score frequencies (not including "test" questions) for student multiple choice section

Opinion and Behavioral Questions

Out of all the students, most expressed satisfaction with the quality of their education. When asked if they thought ISDR-MDK was preparing them successfully for a career as a rural development worker only two students responded no, while 28 (88%) responded yes (2 did not respond).

However, when asked if there were classes not offered at ISDR-MDK that they would like to take, 22 students (69%) responded yes. Of the responses, the following classes were most mentioned.

- 1. Ecology (6 mentions)
- 2. Sociology (3 mentions)
- 3. Project Management (3 mentions)
- 4. English (3 mentions)

Students were also asked if they used the Internet, and 23 students (72%) reported that they did, most commonly from their smartphones or at the cyber café. Several students indicated that Internet credit was expensive.

All students except one reported having heard about climate change somewhere, most commonly in class at ISDR (15 mentions), at the conference hosted on World Environment Day at ISDR hosted by the provincial REDD+ focal point and Projet Équateur (11 mentions), on the radio (11 mentions), on television (6 mentions), or on the internet (5 mentions).



Fig. 2 Correct answers rates to "environmental knowledge" multiple choice question based on grade level and gender

Open Response Educator Surveys

Educators were asked a number of questions about their experiences at ISDR-MDK, their own education, and their views on the development of the province. When asked what they thought the biggest challenges to sustainable development in Équateur were, the overwhelming response was that poor management of natural resources and environmentally degrading practices would be the hardest to overcome. Also mentioned were poor governance, the mentalities of the population, and poverty.

The educators responded that they viewed ISDR-MDK as an institution for training development technicians to be able to work doing outreach and capacity building in the DRC. The majority of educators indicated that their students were being trained so that they would be able to help educate rural populations about environmental issues, as well as help them develop and learn alternative, less ecologically harmful practices, especially in regards to agriculture.

Educators surveyed taught between 1 and 5 courses. While most of the courses they listed were in the official curriculum, several were not. These classes included one on HIV/AIDS (currently being taught by two of the educators), a class called "Sanitation, Hygiene and Environment" and a final entitled "Appropriate Technologies".

When asked how they develop the lessons for their classes, most educators simply listed the challenges they face when doing so. These challenges were

- 1. Lack of Library/Teaching Resources (6 mentions)
- 2. Low salary (3 mentions)
- 3. Limited Teaching Hours (these are determined by the state and inflexible) (3 mentions)
- 4. Lack of Further Training (2 mentions)

When asked where they get material for teaching, the most common responses were:

- 1. Library (both personal and otherwise) (8 mentions)
- 2. Internet (5 mentions)

Educators were also asked to list any challenges that they have when teaching their students, these challenges were:

- 1. Ability to do practical/field work with students (limiting factors included lack of transport and funds) (5 mentions)
- 2. Students unable to communicate adequately in French (4 mentions)
- 3. Inadequate teaching materials/internet access (4 mentions)
- 4. Low level of students due to poor primary and secondary schooling (3 mentions)

Many of these complaints were echoed throughout answers to other questions, and when asked how they evaluated their students, three educators indicated that because the level of their students is so low, and because students have little or no access to reading materials, exams and assignments are "modified" so that they can be "achievable". Two educators also indicated that corruption at the primary and secondary levels leads to students receiving passing marks despite not having the necessary skills and knowledge to do so.

Although several educators responded that their access was limited due to high costs, 8 educators reported using the Internet two or more times per week, with the remaining 4 indicating that they did not or rarely used the Internet.

All but one educator reported speaking about climate change in their courses.

Discussion

Environmental Knowledge

Based on results from open-response and multiple-choice questions, it is clear from response rates that most students surveyed have generally low levels of environmental literacy, but a few have managed to master basic environmental concepts despite limited access to resources.

The differences in score between grade levels could be due to work experience, as administration noted that *licence* students are required to have several years of experience in the development and/or agricultural sector before they are admitted to the program. Regardless, it is concerning that there is such a difference in knowledge between the two classes concerning basic concepts, especially as *graduat* students were in their final year and about to start their working careers.

Gender inequality is a much-discussed issue in the DRC, however the significant differences in score between females and males attending the same courses suggest that even when women are given access to higher education, they are not receiving the same benefits. This could be due to a number of factors, including more time spent taking care of household necessities (childcare, cooking, cleaning, etc.) instead of focusing on schoolwork, or perhaps may have something to do with the fact that ISDR's teaching staff is all male. Further research is needed to understand this issue, however interventions at the university level must be aware of educational issues surrounding gender even within educational institutions.

Educational Barriers

Overall the survey offered much insight into the workings of ISDR and the challenges that educators, students, and administrators face. Poor language skills and low general knowledge levels seem to hinder students in their performance as well as pose a great challenge to educators. Administrative financial barriers as well as state-designed courses and curriculums mean that educators are limited in how much time and funds they can invest into their teaching, as well as how much practical training they can provide to students. When asked for a list of the courses offered, ISDR-MDK provided the national curriculum, a list of classes that should be taught every year by each rural development institute (there are currently four other ISDRs in Goma, Bukavu, Mbeo Bandundu, and Uvira, in addition to Mbandaka). It also includes the hours that should be allocated to theoretical and practical teaching. Classes that students had expressed a desire to take (specifically English and project management) were listed in the national curriculum, which reflects that ISDR-MDK does not have the means and/or educators necessary to uphold national curriculum standards. Staff ranged in age from 43 to 60, and had been teaching from 4 to 32 years. Several teachers noted that they have not had access to continued training, which means that their teaching materials and personal knowledge of environmental issues may not be current. Incidentally, the Director General also acknowledged that they have had a difficult time recruiting educators because they cannot guarantee that their salaries will be paid.

While there is little literature on the subject, recent research done in the DRC suggests that educators who do not receive adequate pay often depend on "motivation fees" from students. Although a teacher may not formally ask students for money, students will often give money to their teachers and expect rewards (i.e. higher/passing grades) in return (Brandt 2014). This would account for some students at ISDR-MBK being unable to read, write and speak fluently in French despite having received marks high enough to be accepted into the institute.

Putting Information Transfer into Context

While the results of this survey highlight important gaps in information access, addressing these issues on the ground is still a challenge, despite the large amount of open access information and courses available on the Internet. This survey was given in July of 2015, and the following summer a digital library, complete with Internet access and a large database of open access information, was installed on ISDR's campus. While this may address some of the lack of available resources, it does little to address French literacy levels, and there were many other challenges that came to light during the installation. Most notably:

1. How to Acquire, Use, and Service Computers and the Internet

Given the isolated nature of ISDR, all Congolese contractors capable of installing a solar system at the university were not locally based. This led to delays in installation and servicing. Lack of local technicians and the complexity of procurement procedures from international donors are a hindrance to projects like these, especially if the project intends on hiring and engaging local businesses.

2. Securing Expensive Equipment

During the first month of the library's installation there were two attempted break-ins reported by ISDR staff. ISDR does not have the monetary means to hire security guards, and so the building had to be reinforced to ensure the materials could be stored safely.

3. Computer Literacy of Staff and Students

This survey highlighted that most of the staff and students access the Internet from their mobile phones. When the library staff was introduced to the laptop database of learning materials, many of them struggled to use the computers. Training can address these issues, but most preferred to use the tablets.

4. Unreliable Internet Connections and Limited Bandwidth

ISDR now has access to the Internet via a satellite system, but Internet is often unreliable due to overhead clouds. The decision was made to also provide an offline database of materials that could provide some information even without Internet access. Additionally, a limited number of providers means that bandwidth is costly and limited, so sites that use video or similar interactive features may not work in this context. While there are many sites that provide free interactive courses, they do not work well in this environment. To address bandwidth limitations, ISDR staff and students are not supposed to download items without permission from the head librarian, as downloads slow Internet access for the whole library.

5. Internet Literacy and Trusted Information

While not solely an issue in this context, the ability to scrutinize information on the Internet is a valuable life skill that is not often attained without training. Additionally, advertisements based on IP addresses near ISDR often contain viruses and malware, or are adult themed in nature. Therefore, aside from restricting access to inappropriate and unsafe content, it is paramount to train students and staff to identify secure and reliable online content.

Conclusion

Present approaches to vocationally orientated capacity building through programs such as REDD+ focus on offering key workers limited "on the job training" to develop novel skills and experiences, such as participatory forest management, land use planning, and carbon monitoring training. Wide-scale sustainable development practices will not become best practice unless there is a serious overhaul of the broader tertiary education system. This is in terms of both theory, e.g. curriculum design, and practice, e.g. tertiary education management, access to information resources and networks. Tertiary and technical schools are responsible for training future leaders and workers in all sectors, and graduates are essential to the success of decentralized REDD+ programs and other sustainable development initiatives, especially in remote and highly impoverished provinces like Équateur. The university structure offers an excellent opportunity for formal capacity building through already existing institutions managed and attended by DRC citizens, but the specific challenges of students and staff will need to be carefully considered and addressed.

This study utilizes a case study of a single tertiary education establishment in an inaccessible province, perhaps the poorest and least developed of all regions in the DRC. As such, the conditions experienced perhaps represent a worst-case scenario. As noted earlier, in universities in Kinshasa and Kisangani there have been some efforts to support improvement in teaching and training. However, the range of issues described in this case study are relevant in a general sense to the DRC and there remains a systematic underinvestment in training and education in all sectors in the DRC.

The survey results show clearly that at present ISDR is not preparing students to be effective rural development practitioners. Teaching staff face numerous challenges in rectifying knowledge gaps and capacity deficits, including their own, due to lack of financial, material, and information resources. Sustainable development at scale in Équateur will not be possible without serious and sustained financial and technical support to reform and recapitalize the national tertiary education infrastructure. Based on the size of Équateur province alone (which has an estimated population of about 9 million people), hundreds, if not thousands, of environmental and development professionals will be needed to scale up sustainable development programs at the provincal level, let alone nationally. This represents an immediate crisis in terms of realizing ambitious policy objectives such as the national REDD+ investment program. The levels of funding for rural development that are presently being committed are laudable, however there are presently insufficient adequately trained individuals to manage those funds productively. In the DRC, zero net deforestation by 2030 will not be attainable without systematically and rapidly addressing the educational needs and capacity deficits of tertiary institutions and their sustainable development and environmental experts in training.

Acknowledgements This study was carried out with funding from the Congo Basin Forest Fund and the University of Reading's Stanley Howard Hodgkin graduate scholarship program. The Woods Hole Research Center's Projet Équateur provided invaluable logistical and technical support while in the DRC. Thank you also to Amanda Poston, Emmanuel Kabemba, Raymond Achu Samndong, and all the staff and students at ISDR.

References

- Akkermans, T., Thiery, W., & Van Lipzig, N. (2014). The regional climate impact of a realistic future deforestation scenario in the Congo Basin. *Journal of Climate*, 27(7), 2714–2734.
- Aquino, A., & Guay, B. (2013). Implementing REDD+ in the Democratic Republic of Congo: An analysis of the emerging national REDD+ governance structure. *Forest Policy and Economics*, *36*, 71–79.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S., Walker, W., Laporte, N., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., et al. (2012). Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(3), 182–185.
- Bloom, D., Channing, D., & Chan, K. (2006). Higher Education and Poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa. *International Higher Education*, 45, 7.
- Bloom, D. E., Hartley, M., & Rosovsky, H. (2007). Beyond Private Gain: The Public Benefits of Higher Education. In: J. J. F. Forest & P.G. Altbach (Eds.), *International Handbook of Higher Education* (Vol. 18). Dordrecht: Springer. Springer International Handbooks of Education.
- Brandt, C. (2014). Teacher's struggle for income in the Congo (DRC) between education and remuneration. Research M.Sc. International Development Studies. University of Amsterdam.
- Cabinet of the President of the Democratic Republic of Congo. (2006). *Constitution de la République Démocratique du Congo* (p. 11). Kinshasa: Journal Officiel de la République Démocratique du Congo.
- Cellule Technique pour les Statistique de l'Education (CTSE). (2009). Annuaire Statistique de l'Enseignement Supérieur et Universitaire - Année Académique 2008-2009U. Projet d'Appui au Secteur de l'Education (PASE) Composante II: Système D'Information pour la Gestion de l'Education (SIGE). [online] Kinshasa. Available at: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/ bitstream/handle/2152/4665/3753.pdf?sequence=1. Accessed July 10, 2015.
- Colbert, M. (2001). *Statistical analysis of multiple choice testing*. Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama: Air University.
- Comité Provincial de Planification et de Coordination des Actions de Développement (CCP-CAD). (2009). *Plan Quinquennal de Développement de la Province de L'Equateur 2010-2014*. Ministere du Budget, du Plan, et des Finances.
- Coordination Nationale REDD+. Plan D'investissement REDD+ (2015–2020). Kinshasa, DRC: Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2015 (Print).
- DFID. (2015). Research at DFID—Department for International Development—GOV.UK. Gov. uk. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-internationaldevelopment/about/research#who-we-work-with-on-research-projects. Accessed July 4, 2015.
- Fao.org. (2017). FAOSTAT. Available at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#country/250. Accessed July 8, 2017.
- Fond National REDD+ (2015). Plan d'investissement REDD+ (2015-2020). Kinshasa.
- Gupta, D., Nerad, M., & Cerny, J. (2015). The road home: Exploring the choice to stay or return of international Ph.D's. *International Higher Education*, 31, 15–16.
- IMF. (2013). Democratic Republic of the Congo: Poverty reduction strategy paper 2011–2015. IMF Country Report No. 13/226. Washington: International Monetary Fund.
- Institut Supérieur de Développement Rural de Mbandaka. (2015). *Guide et Découverte de l'ISDR/ Mbandaka*. Mbandaka: Institut Supérieur de Développement Rural de Mbandaka.
- Kapur, D., & Crowley, M. (2008). Beyond the ABCs: Higher education and developing countries. SSRN Electronic Journal.
- Ketlhoilwe, M., & Koketso, J. (2013). Developing capability and agency through a poverty-reduction approach to community education and sustainability in Botswana. *Southern African Journal of Environmental Education*, 29(2012/2013).
- Ketlhoilwe, M., & Maila, M. (2008). Exploring issues of relevance and quality in the context of a university programme. *Southern African Journal of Environmental Education*, 25(2008), 132–148.

- Khelghat-Doost, H., Abidin Sanusi, Z., Firdaus Dato' Tunku Fariddudin, T., & Jegatesen, G. (2011). Institutions of higher education and partnerships in education for sustainable development: Case study of the Regional Center of Expertise (RCE) Penang, Malaysia. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 4(3), 108–117. Available at: http://www.ccsenet.org/jsd. Accessed April 12, 2016.
- Kuepié, M., & Nordman, C. (2015). Where does education pay off in Sub-Saharan Africa? Evidence from two cities of the Republic of Congo. Oxford Development Studies, 44(1), 1–27.
- La Cellule Technique Pour les Statistiques de l'Education (CTSE). (2009). Annuaire Statistique de L'Enseignement Superieur et Universitaire: Annee Academique 2008–2009. Kinshasa.
- Milburn, R. (2014). The roots to peace in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Conservation as a platform for green development. *International Affairs*, *90*(4), 871–887.
- Ministry of Environment, Conservation of Nature and Tourism. (2014). Summary: Maï Ndombe Emission Reduction Program, DRC. Kinshasa. Available at: https://www. forestcarbonpartnership.org/sites/fcp/files/2014/MArch/DRC%20Summary%20English.pdf. Accessed July 4, 2017.
- OECD, UNDP, UNECA. (2012). African economic outlook, Congo, Dem Rep (p. 2). African Development Bank. Available at: http://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/ Publications/Congo%20Democratic%20Republic%20Full%20PDF%20Country%20Note.pdf. Accessed April 27, 2016.
- Oketch, M., McCowan, T., Schendel, R. (2014). *The impact of tertiary education on development. Education rigorous literature review* (123 pp.). London, UK: Department for International Development (DFID).
- Potapov, P., Turubanova, S., Hansen, M., Adusei, B., Broich, M., Altstatt, A., et al. (2012). Quantifying forest cover loss in Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2000–2010, with Landsat ETM+ data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 122, 106–116.
- Ragasa, C., Babu, S., & Ulimwengu, J. (2014). Institutional reforms and agricultural policy process: Lessons from Democratic Republic of Congo. *Agricultural and Food Economics*, 2(1).
- Russell, D., Mbile, P., & Tchamou, N. (2011). Farm and forest in Central Africa: Toward an integrated rural development strategy. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry*, 30(1–2), 111–132.
- Schumacher, E. F. (1973). Small is beautiful: Economics as if people mattered (p. 117). Harper & Row Inc.
- Shephard, K., Harraway, J., Lovelock, B., Skeaff, S., Slooten, L., Strack, M., et al. (2013). Is the environmental literacy of university students measurable? *Environmental Education Research*, 20(4), 476–495.
- Summary: Maï Ndombe Emission Reduction Program, DRC. Forest Carbon Partnership Facility. N.p. 2016. Web, April 20, 2017.
- Table Ronde de l'Education en République Démocratique du Congo «Vers une stratégie pour une Education de qualité pour Tous»—Rapport General. (2004). In *Table Ronde de l'Education en République Démocratique du Congo*. Kinshasa. Available at: https://repositories.lib.utexas. edu/bitstream/handle/2152/4665/3753.pdf?sequence=1. Accessed May 10, 2015.
- Thompson, B., & Levitov, J. E. (1985). Using microcomputers to score and evaluate test items. Collegiate Microcomputer, 3, 163–168.
- UNDP, (2009). Pauvreté et Conditions de Vie des Ménagés. Province de l'Equateur: Profil Resume. Kinshasa: UNDP. Available at: http://www.cd.undp.org/content/dam/dem_rep_ congo/docs/povred/UNDP-CD-Profil-PROVINCE-Equateur.pdf. Accessed July 4, 2016.
- UNDP. (2015). Human development reports, DRC. Hdr.undp.org. Available at: http://hdr.undp. org/en/countries/profiles/COD. Accessed July 6, 2016.
- Walker, W. (2015). Biomass losses in the Democratic Republic of the Congo.
- Woods Hole Research Center. (2007). Reducing CO₂ emissions from deforestation and degradation in the Democratic Republic of Congo: A first look. Bali, Indonesia: Woods Hole Research Center. Available at: http://whrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/WHRC_ REDD_Congo.pdf. Accessed March 6, 2017.

- World Bank, (1994). Higher education: The lessons of experience. Development in practice. Washington DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EDUCATION/Resources/278200-1099079877269/547664-1099079956815/HigherEd_lessons_En.pdf. Accessed July 3, 2015.
- World Bank. (2011). Learning for all investing in people's knowledge and skills to promote development: World Bank group education strategy 2020. Washington D.C.: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Available at: http://siteresources. worldbank.org/EDUCATION/Resources/ESSU/Education_Strategy_4_12_2011.pdf. Accessed July 24, 2015.
- World Bank. (2016). Congo, Dem. Rep. |Data. Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/country/ congo-dem-rep. Accessed July 11, 2016.

Food and Sustainability: An Emerging Subject in Sustainable Environmental Sciences Education Applying to the e-Learning Environment

Ana Pinto de Moura and Luísa Aires

Abstract The global food system makes a significant contribution to climate change, affecting greenhouse gas emissions and other major environmental impacts, along the entire food chain. Individual food consumption is an important part of the production-consumption chain, because consumers make the final choice of the goods and services they consume, and their lifestyles determine how they influence sustainability practices. Simultaneously, there is an increasing concern for the environment issues and an increasing demand for naturalistic icons or organic production, free-range farming and unadulterated processing. This work addresses the imperative to address sustainability in food consumer sciences education, due to the multidisciplinary nature of consumer food studies, by applying online education programmes. The rational for e-learning approach is the fact that, advances in information and communication technologies have had a tremendous impact on the format and on the approaches to teaching and learning.

Keywords Activity theory • Diet • Environmental impact • Food safety, food security • Public health

The Relevance of "Food Dimension" for Sustainable Consumption

Food, health and environment are dimensions that are interchangeable (Loo et al. 2017). The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO 2012a, p. 7) considers health aspects to be linked with sustainability in the context of food

A. P. de Moura (🖂)

L. Aires

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

GreenUP/CITAB-UP & LAQV/REQUIMTE, DCeT, Universidade Aberta, Rua do Amial, 752, 4200-055 Porto, Portugal e-mail: apmoura@uab.pt

CEMRI, DEED, Universidade Aberta, Rua do Amial, 752, 4200-055 Porto, Portugal e-mail: laires@uab.pt

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_7

and defines sustainable diets as: "diets with low environmental impacts which contribute to food and nutrition security and to a healthy life for present and future generations. Sustainable diets are protective and respectful of biodiversity and ecosystems, culturally acceptable, accessible, economically fair and affordable; nutritionally adequate, safe and healthy; while optimizing natural and human resources".

In fact, during the last two decades, there has been a widespread of consumer concern and distrust over food products and production methods in the agriculture and in the food industry. These attitudes tend to be reinforced by the absence of face-to-face contact between buyers and sellers during the process of food selection, leaving the burden of assessing product quality entirely in the consumers' hands. Shopping under these circumstances is a stressful activity, while the lack of trust in agricultural and industrial methods of production and food quality gives rise to feelings of uncertainty and insecurity (Cunha and Moura 2004). In this context, there has been an interest in the "return to nature", remerging new food production/ consumption patterns, following a sustainable consumption approach based on the environmental, nutritional and/or health qualities and ethical concerns (Murdoch and Miele 1999), such as: (i) food preferences (meat consumption), (ii) organic foods, (iii) local foods, and (iv) food waste concern.

The purpose of this paper is to describe the most important food consumption patterns that downside the globalization process, evaluate the main challenges related to them and discuss their impact on sustainable consumption. This analysis may contribute to the development of sustainable environmental sciences courses by incorporating the sustainable food consumption perspective in their curricula. The emergency of applying e-learning is considered, taking into account that e-learning is becoming widely accepted in formal and non-formal education proving to have the potential to be effective in expanding education for sustainability (Azeiteiro et al. 2015).

New Trends in the Food Consumption

Food Preferences: Meat Consumption

Over the past decades, rapid changes in diets and lifestyles have occurred with industrialisation, urbanisation, economic development and market globalisation. All these drivers promote the process of diet Westernization among other cultures/ countries, namely towards upper-to middle-income developing economies (Drewnowski and Popkin 1997), and even in populations having rich and deeply rooted culinary traditions, such as Japan (Morinaka et al. 2013) or Southern Europeans countries (Varela-Moreiras et al. 2010). This dietary pattern, belonging to the common eating habits in developed countries of Western Europe and the United States of America of America, is characterized by a high consumption of red

meat, refined grains, processed meat, dairy products, processed and artificially sweetened foods, and salt, with minimal intake of fruits, vegetables, fish, legumes, and whole grains (Cordain et al. 2005).

In fact, the available food consumption of meat is increasing, with the biggest increases couriers in developing countries. Developing countries between 1969/ 1971 and 2005/2007 have accounted for a large share of this increase in food consumption per capita (kcal/person/day) from 11 to 28, contrasting with the 63 to 80 increase for industrial countries over this period (FAO 2006). In addition, the most developing countries especially in China and Brazil have largely completed the transition to animal products: meat and livestock products (eggs and dairy foods). On other hand, in both developing and industrial countries (including again China) the consumption of pulses, roots and tubers between declined between 1963 and 2003 (Kearney 2010). There is also a great consensus in the scientific community about changing the Western diet to have a positive outcome for both people's health and environment (Friel et al. 2009).

Diets that increase the risk of many chronic non communicable diseases (NCDs), which mainly comprise cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases, obesity, and osteoporosis, are relatively high in total fat, saturated fats, sugar, salt, alcohol, refined grains and foods of animal origin, whereas diets that protect against chronic diseases are relatively high in minimally processed grains, legumes, fibre, vegetables, fruits and foods of plant origin (Popkin and Du 2003). Reducing intake of meat (particularly red meat), dairy products and eggs in high income countries will promote significant health benefits, as diets rich in saturated fats (primarily from higher meat and milk consumption) are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases and stroke, colorectal cancer and diabetes (Pan et al. 2012).

On the other hand, meat tend to have higher environments impact due to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and their inefficiency of production. According to FAO, the livestock production is estimated to be responsible for 18% of the global emission of GHG (a higher share than transport sector), promoting global warming temperatures, with the main contributor being CH₄ from enteric fermentation, N₂O from manure and fertilizer, and CO₂ from land use change and agriculture energy use (Steinfeld et al. 2006). Raising and feeding livestock introduces an additional trophic level in the food chain, and each trophic level leads to losses of energy and nutrients, reducing the efficiency of the production (Nemecek et al. 2016). In this context, ruminants (cattle, sheep and goats) account for a large share of total livestock emissions, because they are less efficient in converting feed into useful products than monogastrics, like pigs and poultry. Moreover, livestock is by far the single largest land use sector in our planet, as it accounts for 70% of global agriculture land, and 30% of the global land surface, contributing as a key factor in deforestation and land degradation, particularly in Latin American (Steinfeld et al. 2006). As livestock production intensifies, it depends less on locally available feed resources (e.g. unconsumed portions of household food, crop residues) but increasingly on feed concentrates (cereals, oil seeds), that are traded domestically and internationally, leading to an intensification of the existing cropped area (Thornton 2010). Moreover, livestock production is a key player in increasing water use, accounting for over 8% of global human water use, mostly for the irrigation of feed crops. It is also considered the largest agricultural source of water pollution, mostly from animal waste, antibiotics and hormones and fertilizers and pesticides used for feed crops. All these factors contribute to the livestock sector being the leading player in the reduction of biodiversity.

Different studies suggested that respecting the dietary recommendations for a healthy diet would reduce the overall environmental impacts in developed countries particularly in terms of GHG emission and land use. The change would imply a reduction of meat consumption and would lead towards a plant-based diet (Davis et al. 2010; Westhoek et al. 2014). Nevertheless, the environmental impacts of plant-based food items may vary according to growing practices and climatic conditions.

Organic Foods

Organic agriculture is a production management system that uses methods safeguarding the environment from some production stages trough handling and processing. It favours renewable resources, recycling and returning nutrients to the soil found in waste products. With regard to livestock, organic agriculture places particular emphasis on animal welfare and the use of natural foodstuffs. Under the organic system, the focus is on maintaining and improving the overall health of individual farms' soil-microbe-plant-animal system (following a holistic approach), which affects present and future yields (IFOAM 2008). As result, the emphasis in this process is on using the environment's own systems for controlling pests and diseases in growing crops and rearing livestock thus avoiding the use of synthetic pesticides, herbicides, synthetic fertilisers, growth promoters and gene manipulation, as well as the prophylactic use of antibiotics and the zootechnical use of hormones. That is, the resource "nature" is manipulated to encourage processes, which help raise and maintain farm productivity. Concisely, what differentiates organic agriculture from other non-organic agricultural production methods is the focus on management. In organic agriculture, management is directed towards preventing problems, while stimulating processes, which assist in nutrition and pest management (FAO 1998). This means that organic agriculture has generically beneficial impacts on the environment and animal welfare compared to conventional agriculture. It demands lower energy requirements and gives a clear benefit for biodiversity on agricultural land (Tuomisto et al. 2012). The main challenge in organic agriculture is to increase yields without causing harm to the environment. Since its yields tend to be lower, it means that more land is needed to produce the same amount of food. The main reason for low yields in organic farms are soil nutrient deficiencies and problems with pests, diseases and weeds (Tuomisto et al. 2012).

Focusing our analysis on the European continent, organic food and farming has continued to grow across Europe. Since 1985, in Europe, the total area of land under organic production increased from 0.1 million to 12.7 million hectares by 2015 (which is 25% of the world's organic agriculture land), and in the EU-28 it increased to 11.2 million hectares, an increase of 7.8% over 2014. Within the EU, organic farming is regulated by the European Council Regulation No 834/2007 (EC 2007), which sets the basis for national standards in the EU. All organic producers are inspected by organic inspection bodies, which may be private or managed by government. Retail sales of organic products totalled around 29.8 billion euros in 2015, an increase of 13% over 2014. Within the EU-28, retail sales of organic products totalled approximately 27.1 billion euros, an increase of 12.6% over 2014. The highest per capita consumption in the world with more than 170 euros is found in Switzerland, Denmark, Luxembourg and Sweden (Willer and Lernourd 2017).

Burning in mind these data, a question is imposed: what are the main drivers that motivate Western consumers, particularly Western European consumers for organic food consumption? It is generally accepted that the market of organic products is driven by three primary consumer concerns: (i) concern for personal health (the way that food is related to health), (ii) consumer fears regarding conventional food safety (linked to the health concern), and (iii) concern for the environmental and animal welfare (Cunha and Moura 2004). Even though some studies point out that there is significant motivation to buy organic food on environmental or ethical grounds, most researchers indicates that the consumption of organic foods is related to a decreasing confidence in the quality of conventional foods, perceived by consumers as "unnatural", and the increasing concern for health (Magnusson et al. 2003).

The health public concern is part of a widespread anxiety among consumers about the quality of food one eats. Even through there is food safety control, systems and legislation have been put in place throughout the EU to minimize the risk to consumers' health (Mil-Homens et al. 2016). Since the middle 1980 s, most Western European countries have faced various food safety incidents that have led to increasing public unease about health and safety of modern methods of production (Cunha et al. 2010). Food hazards amplified by the media (Kasperson et al. 2003) could be directly related with food crisis (e.g. BSE in cows, avian flu) or lifestyle hazards, such as eating disorders (Moura and Cunha 2009). European consumers may perceive a reduction in pesticide residue risk associated with substituting conventionally grown products by organically grown ones, reflecting an increased health benefit (Saba and Messina 2003).

Local Foods

The term "local food", "local food system" or "short food supply chain" compasses different dimensions. It is a geographical distance between food producers and consumers. It is also a political-social concept, in the sense that it represents a counter movement to the dominant trend toward larger scale, industrial-like farm operations, considering the modern food system (Peters et al. 2008). According to this argument, local food systems are also related to small farms that are linked to the community through social and economic relationships, in the sense to bring farmers and consumers together (Hughes et al. 2007). This enables consumers to connect with the place of production, people involved and methods of production used, providing increasing public awareness, knowledge and understanding of issues related to how foods are produced and signals related to the origin of the food product (Lapping 2004). The link between the food product and a geographic area or region of origin has been an increased interest in Europe essentially by the increasing policy support, particularly within the EU, and the fact that European consumers look for products that are authentic (Ribeiro et al. 2016).

Consumers buy local food products at farmers' markets or places that are physically proximate to the farmer, as they are perceived to have a higher quality (because they are fresher) and less processed, to be more healthy and nutritious (because of shorter travel distances), to have a better taste (reinforcing their perceived natural content and authenticity), to support the vitality of rural areas by providing an ever-growing multiplier effect within the local economy; and to have an environmental friendly production process (Lee and Kader 2005; Selfa and Qazi 2005; Zepeda and Le 2006).

In fact, one of the potential social benefits of local food systems arises from transportation cost savings. Local food can serve as a substitute for food shipped from often distant countries or regions, therefore reducing "food miles". The reduction of food travel distance allows the reduction of fossil fuel energy use, accompanied with declines in greenhouse emissions such as CO₂, and environmental pollution (Pirog and Rasmussen 2008). Nevertheless, other factors affect the impact of transportation on greenhouse emissions, rather than transport distance, such as the mode of transport or the type of transport (cooled or uncooled). For example, CO₂ emissions are slightly higher for fruits and vegetables transported using air freight, whereas fruits and vegetables traveled by sea have a lower emissions ratios, even for long-distance travel, because this is a highly energy-efficient method of moving goods (Saunders and Hayes 2007). Moreover, other contributions to energy use and emissions, other than transportation, may be important to assess the overall impact of local food systems (farm inputs, farm production, processing, distribution, consumption and disposal). In this context, provenance and the mode of agriculture production assumes particular relevance. When using the total life cycle of GHG emissions for different vegetable supply chains, higher emissions in food transport (long-distance travel) coupled with low emissions in food production (open field) may in some cases net lower GHG mission when compared to lower emissions in food transport (locally grown) coupled with higher emissions in production, due to temperature-controlled greenhouse using fossil fuels, particularly for cold countries, as greenhouses in colder climates need to be heated (Chen et al. 2016).

Food Waste Concern

According to the FAO, one-third of all edible food produced for human consumption is wasted or otherwise lost from the food chain per year, or about 1.3 billion tonnes (Gustavsson et al. 2011). The food wastage is particularly severe in industrialized countries: following the FAO's food balance sheet for 2007, food waste in North America and Europe is about 95–115 kg/capita/year, whereas in South/Southeast Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa it is 6–11 kg/capita/year (Gustavsson et al. 2011).

Furthermore, rising population levels combined with shifting dietary patterns in emerging economies will put increasing pressure on the global food supply, as more food is necessary to feed more people. The United Nations predicts that the world population will reach 9.6 billion by 2050 (UN 2012) and this growth will require at least a 70% increase in food production, excluding crops used for biofuels (FAO 2009) or a more efficient use of natural resources and food production (EC 2014). In this context, food waste generation is particularly an ethical issue. Wasting food means missing opportunities to feed the growing world population (FAO 2012a), and the consumption of scarce resources (like land, water and energy) used in the production, processing, distribution and the consumption of food (Bräutigam et al. 2014). In turn, this, leads to diminished natural ecosystems and the services that they provide (Hall et al. 2009).

Although food waste occurs along a food supply chain in both developed and developing countries (Parfitt et al. 2010), different strategies are needed to tackle food waste in these countries (Gustavsson et al. 2011). In developing countries, food waste arose mostly during the early and middle stages of the food chain (production, harvest, processing, storage and transportation stages), due to lack of infrastructure within the food chain, and lack of knowledge or investment in technologies (FAO 2012b). By contrast, in developed countries, food is to a significant extent wasted in both retail and consumption stages, both in households and food services (Monier et al. 2010). For example, considering the whole food supply chain, with the exception of agricultural production, the generation of food waste across the EU-27, based on the EUROSTAT database, in 2006, accounted for 89 million tonnes, corresponding to 181 kg/capita (Monier et al. 2010). The consumption stages (household activities and food and beverage service sector) generated 56% of all the food waste produced by food value-adding chain, with a higher proportion of avoidable food waste. This approach is particularly important when taking into account the increasing consumption of food away from home in the last decades in Western countries, due to modern lifestyles and time (Moura and Cunha 2005). Different factors may explain the avoidable food waste (edible food by the majority of people). At home, with too much food being cooked, prepared, served or damaged during this processing, and the expiration date label (Quested and Johnson 2009). In food services, consumers' distaste for given menu items, and overproduction due to inaccurate forecasting of consumers demand (Oliveira et al. 2016).

The significant quantity of food waste generates substantial amounts of GHG emissions, promoting climate change. Methane (CH₄) is produced when food waste decomposes under anaerobic conditions in food waste landfills (Buzby and Hyman 2012). Even though, there are clear indications of a shift away from landfilling towards preferred waste management approaches in the EU, 50% of biodegradable waste or bio-waste generated in the EU-27 in 2010, was still landfilled (EEA 2013). Food waste generated within the EU-27 during 2006, generated GHG emissions equivalent to 170 million tonnes of CO₂, considering the full life cycle of food, from the agricultural sector to the final consumer. Due to increasing quantities of food waste, emissions estimates for 2020 rise to about 240 million tonnes of CO₂ equivalent gases being released (Monier et al. 2010). That baseline value represents approximately 3% of total EU-27 emissions in 2008 and is close to the total GHG emissions of Romania or of the Netherlands in 2008.

Food, Sustainability and Education: The e-Learning Food Consumption and Environment Module Approach

Food consumption is one of the private consumption areas that has the largest impact on the environment, as one third of households' total environmental impact, including energy and land use, water and soil pollution and GHG emissions, is related to food and drink consumption (EEA 2005).

In this context, education for sustainability plays a particular role in achieving more sustainable food consumption patterns as students acquire these skills and apply to their daily lives (Luppi 2011).

With many advances in information and communication technologies there have been tremendous impacts on the format and on the approach to teaching and learning, most notably in terms of online education programs (Hay et al. 2004). Online education provides students an alternative method of study facing individuals' busy lifestyle, allowing students to be able to proceed at their own pace and identify their own personal course timeline (Shanley et al. 2004). E-learning offers a great number of opportunities of interaction and decision-making, based on flexibility of format and easy access to knowledge, as well as engagement within the learning process (Aires et al. 2014).

For the academic year of 2010/2011, the Food Consumption and Environment module took place in the context of e-learning as in M.Sc. in Participation and Environmental Citizenship course offered by Universidade Aberta (UAb), the only public distance learning higher education institution in Portugal in the area of online and advanced e-learning (Azeiteiro et al. 2015). It was a formal course, organized according to the European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System (ECTS), and with the virtual pedagogical model of UAb (Pereira et al. 2007). In this context, the forum was used to allow for asynchronous exchanges: teacher guidelines, questions

posed by students and discussion. The open source Moodle (http://elearning.uab.pt/) was the course platform solution used in all UAb's courses.

The module was taught completely in e-learning mode and was organised in a set of topics, each of them developed in a two to four week period. Generally, each topic was associated to one learning task. The teaching and learning method used engages the student in active learning of concrete and critical problems that are real. This is achieved through the inclusion of a number of activities with accompanying teacher such as: surveys, quizzes, assignments compulsory discussion groups and searching on the internet to access online databases (Moura et al. 2010). Support materials included the teacher's slide presentations and original documents, scientific papers, research papers and internet websites. The continuous assessment component (obtained through the e-activities) is weighted at a minimum of 60% of the entire module evaluation.

The Food Consumption and Environment programme intents to cover the environment "hot spots", according to the academic literature review presented previously, covering the following topics:

- The complexity of "global food system". Its approach was to emphasise the diversity of actors and their interactions along the food chain and the markets where the product is exchanged.
- *The perception of food safety*. In this case, fears about a given food create adversely short-effects on preferences and consumption of that particular food.
- The individual food choice criteria. The main food choice determinants were identified which range in scope from sensory and psychological preferences to practical reasons (convenience, price, variety) and personal concerns (wellbeing, self-expression, sustainability) (Moura and Cunha 2005).
- Sustainable food consumption: drivers and barriers. The major environmental impacts of food consumption were considered: waste generation, recycling, personal transport, residential energy use for preserving and preparing food, and food preferences.
- The new food choice and consumer paradigms. Students were asked to contrast one sustainable food product (organic foods and traditional food products) and one unsustainable food product perceived by consumers (genetic modified foods). This was a work team activity.

Activity Theory: A Framework for Online Learning

The aim of this study was to explore how well students responded to the task proposed by the teacher to achieve its outcome, which resulted from students dynamics of online communication during the group work forum. For this, the *subject* (the students) was motivated by the need to transform an *object* (a problem

or idea) into its desired *outcome* (a reflection report about a real food safety incident from a press release), by carrying out a series of actions that are mediated by *tools*. This approach has a framework called the activity theory (AT). The application of the AT for better understanding the social structure of online environments follows Engeström (1999) and Baran and Cagiltay (2010) approach. Within AT, the student is not analysed separately but rather in a social context while interacting with other students and the teacher. AT was initially developed by Leontiev. Its original framework it was founded in the Vygotkian concept of mediation, mainly in the triangle: subject, object and tool (Fig. 1). Engeström (1999) later advocates new AT generations. In the second AT generation the author argues that the focus of mediation is the relationship of the expanded basic Vygotsky triangle and the relationships of other components of the activity system - communities, rules, and division of labour, a model to represent the human system activity (Fig. 1). Later Engeström (1999) expands the third AT generation with dialogue.

The different items of the triangular model applied to the topic "perception of food safety" are presented subsequently in order to better understand the relationships between each item to mediate the interactions (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Designing a topic of e-learning activity system. *Source* Adapted from Baran and Cagiltay (2010), Blin and Munro (2008)

Items of the Triangular Model

Subject

In 2010/2011, a student group of 12 students (58% men), average age of 47.7 \pm 8.5 years, from Portugal and from Portuguese-speaking African countries (Mozambique and Cape Verde) were enrolled in this module with a diverse academic background, coming from disciplines such as engineering, environmental sciences, humanities (geography), life sciences (nursing) or social sciences (Table 1).

Object

The purpose of this task was to develop and assess students' perceptions of food safety incidents, considering the role of different agents of the food chain: the food company, the Portuguese food regulator and the consumer. In this case, fears about a given food create adversely short-effects on preferences and consumption of that particular food, and it would be interesting to confirm if there is some similitude of individual students' behaviour regarding a proxy food crisis situation.

The task proposed to students was from a real press release developed in July 2007. The news article communicated that some lots of a dairy product from a leader brand, target to children, were removed from the market because there was a probability that one of his additive (the guar gum) could be contaminated with two substances: dioxins and pentachlorophenol. It also communicated on the news article that the national regulatory authority did not assign an imminent risk to the consumers' health, since the amount of additive present in the food in question was

| Student code | Gender | Age (years) | Academic degrees (Higher Diploma) | Residential area | |
|--------------|--------|-------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|
| P1 | Male | 47 | Sociology | Cape Verde | |
| P2 | Female | 39 | Environmental Health | Central region of Portugal | |
| P3 | Male | 43 | Safety Engineering | Central region of Portugal | |
| P4 | Female | 55 | Physics and Chemistry | Central region of Portugal | |
| P5 | Male | 51 | Nursing | Central region of Portugal | |
| P6 | Female | 33 | Public Relations | Azores (Island, Portugal) | |
| P7 | Female | 53 | Geography | Central region of Portugal | |
| P8 | Male | 42 | Social Sciences | Mozambique | |
| P9 | Male | 42 | Social Sciences | Central region of Portugal | |
| P10 | Female | 43 | International Relations | Central region of Portugal | |
| P11 | Female | 37 | Biochemistry | Azores (Island, Portugal) | |
| P12 | Female | 63 | Physics and Chemistry | Southern region of Portugal | |

 Table 1
 Characteristics of the students

low (residual presence). This task comprised two parts. Firstly, students worked in a team for a period of eight days, when they were asked to evaluate the press release placing as "experts" or as "lay people", according to the position given by the teacher. At the end, each group submitted their work in the platform.

Tools

Support materials included teacher's slide presentations and original teacher's documents, scientific publications (papers, research papers), website links, and digital video created by the teacher and produced by the UAb digital services related specifically to perception of food risk. The technologies available to produce materials included computers, generic applications such as MS Word, and the technologies to deliver them included forum posts, Moodle technologies and functionalities.

Rules and division of labour

In accordance with the virtual pedagogical model of UAb for the MSc courses, the Food Consumption and Environment module is a structuring element, the Learning Contract that acts as a mediator between the academic requirements and the students' needs and interests (Pereira et al. 2007). This document, presented to students since the beginning of the module, is structured into module objectives, topics/tasks to be developed (that are chronologically presented), competences to be acquired or developed, list of support learning materials and module assessment. In this context, the Learning Contract acts as a pedagogical tool that incorporates the *object, rules* and *tools*.

Additionally, students should considered at least three main rules defined by the teacher: (i) to interact with the other group members for the report construction; (ii) to deliver the report on time; (iii) to accomplish the number of pages imposed by the teacher.

Moreover, the team work forums were separated forums composed by two to four members and supported work in smaller groups, where members discussed the subject in private in order to elaborate their work. Students worked through notes and/or power point presentations prepared by their teacher, commented information transmitted by their colleagues via the group work forum, and understood the subject matter by helping to produce the report group.

Community

This community consist of the 12 students who participated in the Food Consumption and Environment module. They were from different academic backgrounds and place of residence.

Sub-activity System Analysis

The activity system was broken down into the following four sub-activity trials: (i) subject-tools-object; (ii) subject-division of labour-object; (iii) subject-community-object; and (iv) subject-rules-object. For this, we analyzed parts of the discussion posts exchanged by students during the group work, presenting for each sub-activity trial only one discussion from either of the four groups. The quotes used in this text were translated into English, where the brand in question was referred to as "brand XX" and the company as "food company YY". The students will be identified with a code.

Subject-Tools-Object

During the knowledge creation process, students looked at the same problem from different points of view, as students of this module came from a wide range of backgrounds, nationalities and cultures (Table 1).

The news article to be analyzed, the scientific publications, the digital video and the documents made by the teacher allowed students to better understand the subject. Moreover, the task proposed and the fact that students evaluated the press release placing as "experts" or as "lay people", brings the subject to life and provides them with opportunities to link theory to practice in order to better acquire the perception of food safety and its consequences to the food chain.

Group work 3

by P10-Tuesday, 2nd November 2010, 23:58

Dear colleagues,

Given that we have to write a report in the point of view of a "specialist", I have done a brief research about the matter that I have referred and I would like to share the collection of information with you.

Maybe some of this information can be put into our document.

I confess, that with everything I have read and heard, it is increasingly difficult to choose what to eat and what I give to eat, especially to my children.

It is difficult to run away from this involuntary ingestion of toxic materials, as we don't even have the notion of what happens in the production circuit until it reaches us consumers... I think that all of this is scary and you just need to see the kind of diseases that grow from what we eat.

But as "specialists" we have the duty to alert, don't we?

by P6—Thursday, 4th November 2010, 13:50

Hi P10,

I've already read the teacher's documents and the notes that you left of your research.

When I read the news article for the 1st time, what I immediately considered as fundamental was to understand what really is the guar gum and the pentachlorophenol in a way to figure out the dimension of the eventual problem.

Like that, during the course of today, I will research on the mutter.

Additionally, the group work forum served as an essential tool. The asynchronous exchange of knowledge across students, reinforcing a holistic approach to education where analytic skills, cross-referencing and critical thinking facilitated a critical conversation (Altomonte et al. 2016). The discussion supported dialogue between students, so that comments, information, data and links were shared. A total of 91 posts were sent to the discussion during the group work forum (Table 2).

Subject-Rules-Object

The rules announced previously were accepted and adopted by students, as they defined the process of reaching their objectives. Moreover, students were aware that the teacher could access the group work forum and follow the discussion. This may condition their participation, as their performance affects their grades. Additionally, for Master's degree students, the virtual pedagogical model of UAb achieves to promote a strong interaction and collaboration between students and teachers and recognises students as active builders of this interaction (Pereira et al. 2007).

Group work 2

by P5-Wednesday, 3rd November 2010, 22:21

Hi colleagues,

It is the first time that we will all work together. I don't know how you are, but I have been absent for a couple of days and I'm now seeing that I have a lot of work to do.

| Characteristics | Group 1 | Group 2 | Group 3 | Group 4 |
|---------------------------|-------------|-----------------|---------|------------|
| Number of members | 3 | 4 | 2 | 3 |
| Members (code) | P1, P4, P11 | P5, P7, P8, P12 | P6, P10 | P2, P3, P9 |
| Number of posts exchanged | 8 | 21 | 29 | 33 |

Table 2 Characteristics of the group work forum

I don't know your opinion, but we could schedule some deadlines for the completion of the work.

For example, we could schedule for until the 6th to read the texts and place our analysis of those texts by the 7th or 8th. In that way, we would have the 9th and 10th to elaborate our reports.

What is your opinion?

Good work.

by P5-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 12:45

Hello P12,

I think that for a "start" it will be good. However, it has been asked of us that we produce a work between 4 and 6 A4 pages.

I have already placed a proposal to be discussed and so has Manuel. I would like if you gave your opinion (and the other colleagues too) to see if we can put the work together with all contributions.

Subject-Division of Labour-Object

Generally, for the four groups, two moments were identified when students analysed the real article that considered dairy products targeted to children that were potentially contaminated with two substances. In the first moment, students intended to identify the structure of the report, by highlighting the main topics to consider in the report. Once this step was stabilized, an attempt of division of labour emerged as there was a schedule to accomplish.

Group work 4

by P3—Monday, 8th November 2010, 21:15

I have read the manual and taken some conclusions. How are we going to elaborate the work? Do we shoe all of our conclusions and someone compiles then or do we do it in parts? We have to put in our report until the 10th.

by P9—Tuesday, 9th November 2010, 09:15

I think that the nest way would be to place our conclusions and notes on the forum and then someone "compiles" them.

by P2—Tuesday, 9th November 2010, 16:54

P9, the document that you annexed could serve as an introduction, but the references are missing... could you place in the sources?

So the work will have an introduction, after that we will have to do the analysis of the news article, from the consumer point if view... what type of consumer should we be?

And should we talk in a more technical or simple manner?

Subsequently, students discussed and shared materials in order to produce and improve their group work, joining their own experience with these comments as process of a combination and socialisation. They commented on topics, criticised others' comments and sent their contributions, making their knowledge more explicit.

Group work 4 (cont.)

by P2—Sunday, 7th November 2010, 00:20

A news article of this sort can have, in y opinion, three answers from the consumers:

- trust in the brand: "so if they identity the problem and take the affected batches, it is because they possess a quality control. Maybe other brands have identical levels and they don't know (or don't say it)".

- skepticism of the product/brand: "if products for children have these contaminants, I can only imagine the rest of the products".

- neutrality: the point of view of someone that thinks that nowadays, everything is wrong (or on the contrary, that in the past there weren't so many precautions as today, and children would grow well). To this consumer, there might be a reduction in the purchase of the product, but something very slight and temporary (after all, the son actually likes so much these yogurts).

I don't know if we should explore all the possible consumer vies points in our work, or if we should choose the must consensual and approach the theme of that point of view...

by P9—Tuesday, 9th November 2010, 22:25

I don't think that the consumer was at all weakened by the matter of the "brand XX", once it was the "food company YY", that informed the authorities and removed the product from the market.

by P3-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 18:48

If I were in the shoes of the consumer, I would be in doubt about the news article and would probably stop consuming the product and try to find alternatives from other brands that inspire confidence. Here we can see the situation of the power of "decision" that is very important, but I understand and agree with P9's conclusion. Therefore, there are different possible reactions from the consumer.

by P9-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 18:55

I disagree with the choice of the two options, of considering the studies that were done but also consider that there wasn't a decrease in "food company YY" sales and the consumer will continue to buy the "brand XX" (I say this because I buy it!!)

by P2-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 22:21th

P9, I don't know if at the time that decrease in sales wouldn't have existed... even if temporary...I personally don't buy, it is a very synthetic food filled with food colourings and sugars (but if you offer my daughter one I will let her have it, I'm not that fundamentalist!)

Analysing the dynamics of the division of labour for the four groups, all members contributed for the report construction. Additionally, we identify for some groups, a salient tension during de report construction as different approaches were considered when students analysed the consumer perception regarding the food crisis announced in the news article. Nevertheless, these dualities allowed for a learning progress considering that different perspectives were put in question (Barab et al. 2002). For example, considering the group 4's progress, the report submitted contemplated two hypotheses accommodating the different students' perspectives (P2 and P3 "against" P9): (i) consumers care about the food safety incidence and they lack confidence regarding the brand in question; (ii) consumers trust the institutions and the brand, as regulatory authorities did not take unplanned actions in response to the alert received.

Subject-Community-Object

Community members were students and the teacher from the Food Consumption and Environment module. Even if these students did not search social relations, patterns of interaction or an alternative source of knowledge, at the end they may participated in the task because they wanted to complete the module and obtain a Master degree. In this sense, students within the group work forum defined together the work plan and divided consensually the tasks in order to accomplish the report, however, a sense of community among them never completed formed.

Group work 1

by P4—Tuesday, 9th November 2010, 13:11

I don't think that we are working well as a group. The deadline for the work is tomorrow and there haven't been any exchange of ideas.

I am creating a summary of the concepts that in the meantime I will place on the forum, but I would like to know what the group intends to do and in which way should the report be done.

I await for your exchange of ideas.

by P11—Tuesday, 9th November 2010, 13:24

Hello P4,

I have just placed some concepts and regulations that I think could be useful for our work, I don't know if you have already seen them? In my opinion, referring to the way in which we should create the report, we could do it in the following way:

Introduction

- food safety and its evolution in its last few years.
- the different concerns of consumers and specialists.
- talk about the new article itself.

Middle

- describe the dangers of the substances to consumers.

I cannot remind myself of anything more for the moment, I don't know, what do you think?

by P4-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 14:25

I hope that the work stands up to the challenge that has been proposed to us. Can you P11 place the work on the forum?

by P11-Wednesday, 10th November 2010, 15:11

Yes, I agree with you, I'm going them to place our work on the forum with our student number.

I also hope that it meets the demands of the proposal. See you soon.

Discussion

The relevance of the "food dimension" for sustainability policies is now widely accepted. As a result, consumers have a major role in making food chains more sustainable, by the choices they make when buying food. Consumers can reward more sustainable food production and punish less sustainable alternatives (Grunert 2011).

The Food Consumption and Environment module, delivered entirely online, may offer an opportunity to a better understanding of the major perceived influences on individual food choice and their impact on the environment, as it covers the contemporary environmental problems related to food. The Activity Theory (AT) fostered the design of an analysis model in this topic, as it describes complex interactions and learning relations. Therefore, AT appears as a relevant framework to analyse the online learning process. For this, instead of simply transmitting factual information about sustainability concepts and processes, the module's approach was twofold: to use experiential and interactive learning processes (a learner-centred approach), and to encourage the adoption of sustainability principles, ethics and values (a transformative approach), supporting the critical reflection of them (Barth and Burandt 2013). In this context, the asynchronous discussion forums, namely the group work forums, supported this learning process offering the
opportunity to deeply reflect on the topic of food consumption sustainability and gather relevant information before contributing to the discussion on the subject. Although this tool allows for sociability among the students community across long distances, a robust relationship was not formed as these members were together only to accomplish specific objectives (Baran and Cagiltay 2010). To overcome this situation, Blin and Munro (2008) proposed the use of other communication tools that demand collaboration or reflection, such as glossaries, journals, and wikis. Nevertheless, the tasks and the module were limited on time and this short time period restricted pedagogic relationships that would sustain additional live and class experience. Other informal settings, namely social networking websites (e.g. Facebook) are more oriented to increase social presence of individual members of a community (Aires et al. 2014).

References

- Aires, L., Dias, P., Azevedo, J., Rebollo, M. A., García-Perez, R. (2014). Education, digital inclusion and sustainable online communities. In: U.M. Azeietiro, W. Leal Filho, S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-learning and education for sustainability* (pp. 263–273), Frankfurt: Peter Lang. doi:10.3726/978-3-653-02460-9.
- Altomonte, S., Logan, B., Feisst, M., Rutherford, P., & Wilson, R. (2016). Interactive and situated learning in education for sustainability. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 17(3), 417–443. doi:10.1108/IJSHE-01-2015-0003.
- Azeiteiro, U. M., Bacelar-Nicolau, P., Ceatano, F. J. P., & Caeiro, S. (2015). Education for sustainable development through e-learning in higher education: experiences from Portugal. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 106, 308–319. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.056.
- Barab, S. A., Barnett, M., & Squire, K. (2002). Developing an empirical account of a community of practice: Characterizing the essential tensions. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 11(4), 489–542. doi:10.1207/S15327809JLS1104_3.
- Baran, B., & Cagiltay, K. (2010). The dynamics of online communities in the activity theory framework. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 13(4), 155–166.
- Barth, M., & Burandt, S. (2013). Adding the "e-" to learning for sustainable development: Challenges and innovation. *Sustainability*, *5*, 2609–2622. doi:10.3390/su5062609.
- Blin, F., & Munro, M. (2008). Why hasn't technology disrupted academics' teaching practices? Understanding resistance to change through the lens of activity theory. *Computers & Education*, 50(2), 475–490. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2007.09.017.
- Bräutigam, K. R., Jörissen, J., & Priefer, C. (2014). The extent of food waste generation across EU-27: Different calculation methods and the reliability of their results. *Waste Management & Research*, 32(8), 683–694. doi:10.1177/0734242X14545374.
- Buzby, J. C., & Hyman, J. (2012). Total and per capita value of food loss in the United States. Food Policy, 37(5), 561–570. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2012.06.002.
- Chen, D. M., Tucker, B., Badami, M. G., Ramankutty, N., & Rhemtulla, J. M. (2016). A multi-dimensional metric for facilitating sustainable food choices in campus cafeterias. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 135, 1351–1362. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.143.
- Cordain, L., Eaton, S. B., & Sebastian, A. (2005). Origins and evolution of the Western diet: Health implications for the 21st century. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81(2), 341–354.
- Cunha, L. M., Moura, A. P. (2004). Conflicting demands of agricultural production and environment protection: consumers' perception on quality and safety of food. In W. L. Filho (Ed.), *Ecological agriculture and food production in Central and Eastern Europe-risks associated with*

industrial agriculture (pp. 137–157). NATO Scientific Series. Berlin: IOS Press. ISSN: 1387-6708.

- Cunha, L. M., Moura, A. P., Lopes, Z., Santos, M. C., Silva, I. (2010). Public perceptions of food-related hazards: an application to Portuguese consumers. *British Food Journal*, 112(5), 522–543. doi:10.1108/00070701011043772.
- Davis, J., Sonesson, U., Baumgartner, D. U., & Nemecek, T. (2010). Environmental impact of four meals with different protein sources: case studies in Spain and Sweden. *Food Research International*, 43, 1874–1884. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2009.08.017.
- Drewnowski, A., & Popkin, B. M. (1997). The nutrition transition: New trends in the global diet. *Nutrition Reviews*, 55(2), 31–43.
- EC. (2007). Council regulation (EC) No 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products and repealing regulation (EEC) No 2092/91. Official Journal of the European Communities, L 189(1), 1–23.
- EC. (2014). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the regions—towards a circular economy: A zero waste programme for Europe, Brussels.
- EEA. (2005). Household consumption and the environment. Report No. 11, Copenhagen.
- EEA. (2013). Managing municipal solid waste—A review of achievements in 32 European countries. EE Report No 2/2013, Copenhagen.
- Engeström, Y. (1999). Activity theory and transformation. In Y. Engeström, R. Miettinen, R. L. Punamäki (Eds.), *Perspectives on activity theory* (pp. 19–38). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. ISBN-13: 9780521431279, ISBN-10: 0521431271.
- FAO. (1998). Evaluating the potential contribution of organic agriculture to sustainability goals. In FAO's technical contribution to IFOMS Scientific Conference. Mar del Plata, Argentina, 16–19 Nov 1998.
- FAO. (2006). Livestock's long shadow: Environmental issues and options. Rome: FAO.
- FAO. (2009). How to feed the world in 2050. Rome: FAO.
- FAO. (2012a). Sustainable diets and biodiversity. Directions and solutions for policy, research and action. In Proceedings of the international scientific symposium: Biodiversity and sustainable diets against hunger. Rome: FAO, 3–5 Nov 2010.
- FAO. (2012b). The role of producer organizations in reducing food loss and waste. Rome: FAO.
- Friel, S., Dangour, A. D., Garnett, T., Lock, K., Chalabi, Z., Roberts, I., et al. (2009). Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: food and agriculture. *Lancet*, 374 (9706), 2016–2025. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61753-0.
- Grunert, K. G. (2011). Sustainability in the food sector: A consumer behavior perspective. International Journal on Food System Dynamics, 2(3), 207–218.
- Gustavsson, J., Cederberg, C., & Sonesson, U. (2011). *Global food losses and food waste extent, causes and prevention*. Rome: FAO.
- Hall, H. D., Guo, J., Dore, M., & Chow, C. C. (2009). The progressive increase of food waste in America and its environmental impact. *PLoS ONE*, *4*, e7940. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0007940.
- Hay, A., Peltier, J., & Drago, W. (2004). Reflective learning and on-line education: A comparison of traditional and on line MBA students. *Strategic Change*, 13(4), 169–182. doi:10.1002/jsc. 680.
- Hughes, D. W., Eades, D., Robinson, K., Carpio, C., Isengildina, O., Brown, C. (2007). What is the deal with local food systems: or, local food systems from a regional science perspective. WP 11-2007-01, USA: Clemson University.
- IFOAM. (2008). Principles of organic agriculture: Preamble. Germany: IFOAM.
- Kasperson, J. X., Kasperson, R. E., Piedgeon, N., Slovic, P. (2003). The social amplification of risk: assessing fifteen years of research and theory. In N. Pidgeon, R. E. Kasperson, P. Slovic (Eds.), *The social amplification of risk* (pp. 13–46). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. ISBN: 9780521520447.
- Kearney, J. (2010). Food consumption trends and drivers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1554), 2793–2807. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0149.

- Lapping, M. B. (2004). Toward the recovery of the local in the globalizing food system: The role of alternative agricultural and food models in the US. *Ethics, Place and Environment*, 7(3), 141–150. doi:10.1080/1366879042000332943.
- Lee, S. K., & Kader, A. A. (2005). Preharvest and postharvest factors influencing vitamin C content of horticultural crops. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 20(3), 207–220. doi:10. 1016/S0925-5214(00)00133-2.
- Loo, E. J. V., Hoefkens, C., & Verbeke, W. (2017). Healthy, sustainable and plant-based eating: Perceived (mis)match and involvement-based consumer segments as targets for future policy. *Food Policy*, 69, 46–57. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2017.03.001.
- Luppi, E. (2011). Training to education for sustainable development through e-learning. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 15, 3244–3251. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.04.279.
- Magnusson, M. K., Arvola, A., Hursti, U., Aberg, L., & Sjoden, P. (2003). Choice of organic foods is related to perceived consequences for human health and the environmentally friendly behavior. *Appetite*, 40(2), 109–117. doi:10.1016/S0195-6663(03)00002-3.
- Mil-Homens, A. S., Moura, A. P., Cunha, L. M. (2016). Food regulations and enforcement in Portugal. *Reference Module in Food Sciences*, 1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100596-5.21099-8.
- Monier, V., Shailendra, M., Escalon, V., O'Connor, C., Gibon, T., Anderson, G., Hortense, M., Reisinger, H. (2010). Preparatory study on food waste across EU 27. European Commission (DG ENV) Directorate C-Industry, Final Report.
- Morinaka, T., Wozniewicz, M., Jeszka, J., Bajerska, J., Nowaczyk, P., & Sone, Y. (2013). Westernization of dietary patterns among young Japanese and Polish females—A comparison study. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine*, 20(1), 122–130.
- Moura, A. P., & Cunha, L. M. (2005). Why consumers eat what they do: An approach to improve promoting new responses. In D. Doyle (Ed.), *Consumer citizenship: Promoting new responses* (pp. 144–156). Harmar: Forfatterne. ISBN 82-7671-498-6.
- Moura, A. P., & Cunha, L. M. (2009). Understanding the role of printed media in the social amplification of food risk during the new millennium. In A. Klein & W. Thoresen (Eds.), *Consumer citizenship: Promoting new responses, making a difference* (pp. 144–155). Norway: Fortatterne. ISBN 978-82-7671-754-9.
- Moura, A. P., Cunha, L. M., Azeiteiro, U. M., Aires, L., Graça, P., & de Almeida, M. D. V. (2010). Food consumer science post graduate courses: Comparison of face to face versus online delivery systems. *British food Journal*, 112(5), 544–556. doi:10.1108/00070701011043781.
- Murdoch, J., & Miele, M. (1999). "Back to nature": Changing 'worlds of production' in the food sector. *Sociol Rural*, *39*(4), 465–483. doi:10.1111/1467-9523.00119.
- Nemecek, T., Jungbluth, N., Canals, L. M., & Schenck, R. (2016). Environmental impacts of food consumption and nutrition: Where are we and what is next? *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 21(5), 607–620. doi:10.1007/s11367-016-1071-3.
- Oliveira, B., Moura, A. P., Cunha, L. M. (2016). Reducing food waste in the food service sector as a way to promote public health and environmental sustainability. In: W.L. Filho, U.M. Azeiteiro, F.A. Alves (Eds.), *Climate Change and health improving resilience and reducing risks* (pp. 117–132). Switzerland: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-24660-4_8.
- Pan, A., Sun, Q., & Bernstein, A. M. (2012). Red meat consumption and mortality. Results from 2 prospective cohort studies. Archives of Internal Medicine, 172(7), 555–563. doi:10.1001/ archinternmed.2011.2287.
- Parfitt, J., Barthel, M., & Macnaughton, S. (2010). Food waste within food supply chains: quantification and potential for change to 2050. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 365, 3065–3081. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0126.
- Pereira, A., Mendes, A. Q., Morgado, L., Amarante, L., & Bidarra, J. (2007). Virtual pedagogical model: Model of Universidade Aberta for a future University. Lisbon: Universidade Aberta (in Portuguese). ISBN 978-972-674-493-1.
- Peters, C. J., Nelson, L. B., Wilkins, J. L., & Fick, G. W. (2008). Foodshed analysis and its relevance to sustainability. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 24, 1–7. doi:10.1017/ S1742170508002433.

- Pirog, R., Rasmussen, R. (2008). Food, fuel and the future: consumer perceptions of local food, food safety and climate change in the context of rising prices. Leopold Center, Iowa State University, USA.
- Popkin, B. M., & Du, S. (2003). Dynamics of the nutrition transition toward the animal foods sector in china and its implications: A worried perspective. *Journal of Nutrition*, 133(11 Suppl 2), 3898S–3906S.
- Quested, T., & Johnson, H. (2009). Household food and drink waste in the UK: A report containing quantification of the amount and types of household food and drink waste in the UK. Banbury, UK: WRAP.
- Ribeiro, A. L., Moura, A. P., Cunha, L. M. (2016). Consumer's valuation and quality perception of kid's meat from traditional "cabrito da Gralheira": Protected geographical indication. In: K. Kristbergsson, J. Oliveira (Eds.), *Traditional foods: General and consumer aspects* (pp. 17-30). New York: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-1-4899-7648-2_2.
- Saba, A., & Messina, F. (2003). Attitudes towards organic foods and risk/benefit perception associated with pesticides. *Food Quality and Preference*, 14(8), 637–645. doi:10.1016/S0950-3293(02)00188-X.
- Saunders, C., & Hayes, P. (2007). Air freight transport of fresh fruit and vegetables. Research Report No. 299, New Zealand: Lincoln University.
- Selfa, T., & Qazi, J. (2005). Place, taste, or face-to-face? Understanding producer–consumer networks in "local" food systems in Washington State. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 22, 451–464. doi:10.1007/s10460-005-3401-0.
- Shanley, E. L., Thompson, C. A., Leuchner, L. A., Zhao, Y. (2004). Distance education is as effective as traditional education when teaching food safety. *Food Service Technology*, 4(1), 1e8. doi:10.1111/j.1471-5740.2003.00071.x.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M., & de Haan, C. (2006). Livestock's long shadow—Environmental issues and options. Rome: FAO.
- Thornton, P. K. (2010). Livestock production: Recent trends, future prospects. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 365, 2853–2867. doi:10. 1098/rstb.2010.0134.
- Tuomisto, H. L., Hodge, I. D., Riordan, P., & Macdonald, D. W. (2012). Does organic farming reduce environmental impacts?—A meta-analysis of European research. *Environmental Management*, 112, 309–320. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.08.018.
- UN. (2012). World population prospects, the 2012 revision. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population estimate and projections section, Rome.
- Varela-Moreiras, G., Ávila, J. M., Cuadrado, C., del Pozo, S., Ruiz, E., & Moreiras, O. (2010). Evaluation of food consumption and dietary patterns in Spain by the food consumption survey: Updated information. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 64, S37–S43. doi:10.1038/ejcn. 2010.208.
- Westhoek, H., Lesschen, J. P., Rood, T., Wagner, S., De Marco, A., Murphy-Bokern, D., et al. (2014). Food choices, health and environment: effects of cutting Europe's meat and dairy intake. *Global Environmental Change*, 26, 196–205. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.02.004.
- Willer, H., & Lernourd, J. (2017). The world of organic agriculture statistics and emerging trends 2017. Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), IFOAM- Organics International, Bonn, Germany.
- Zepeda, L., & Le, J. (2006). Who buys local food? JFDR, 37(3), 1-11.

MOOCs—A Powerful Tool for Imparting Climate Literacy? Insights from Parleys with Students

Daniel Otto

Abstract Climate literacy is a key impetus for triggering individual behavioural and societal change. Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), at first glance, entail a multiplier effect for climate literacy as they are recognized for offering non-formal learning opportunities to a wider audience. However, throughout the recent years MOOCs have been under manifold criticism from various corners challenging their educational value. A remedy for shedding light on the question whether MOOCs are a powerful tool for climate education is to bring in the students' perspectives on and experiences with MOOCs. These findings disclose the recipients' perceptions and give empirical evidence to assess the incorporation of non-formal learning into the students' learning context. Empirically, the chapter is based on 35 interviews conducted with students who participated in an English-speaking MOOC about interdisciplinary perspectives on climate change. The interviewed students represent a variety of different nationalities and academic backgrounds. During the semi-structured interviews, the students revealed diverse reasons for their participation in the MOOC, multiple learning outcomes and manifold opinions regarding the use of the MOOC in their personal learning context. This allows concluding that, albeit MOOCs are a promising tool for climate change education, they require a deeper understanding by incorporating the students' perspective.

Keywords Climate literacy • MOOCs • Climate change • Distance learning Interdisciplinarity • Students • Climate education

D. Otto (🖂)

Department of Political Science, Interdisciplinary Distance Studies of Environmental Sciences, FernUniversität in Hagen, Universitätsstraße 33, 58084 Hagen, Germany e-mail: Daniel.Otto@FernUni-Hagen.de

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_8

Introduction

If remaining scepticism about climate change needed to be eradicated, the latest IPCC reports wiped it away and pointed to its devastating effects (IPCC 2014). In addition, the amplified accuracy of the IPPC's models allows impact prognoses regarding the local short and middle range consequences for different countries and regions. Although this modelling process is still in an early phase, it can facilitate policy decisions on mitigation and adaptation strategies (Piontek et al. 2014).

Hence, while climate impact research delivers valuable data to formulate strong responses in terms of mitigation and especially adaptation, it falls short in generating a fundamental change of consciousness that needs to be triggered in societies all over the globe. This is the case for countries in the global South as well as in the global North. Utilizing and disseminating the idea of climate literacy in formal and non-formal education is a key impetus for a change in individual and societal behaviour towards climate change. Despite the fact that the classical educational system is the first important lever for climate literacy, Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) have turned out as an intriguing new and innovative tool to open up education (Bell et al. 2017; Diver and Martinez 2015; Jona and Naidu 2014; Liyanagunawardena et al. 2013). MOOCs can be either understood as complementary to or reaching beyond the educational system. One reason for the latter is that MOOCs are attributed to support informal learning (Fidalgo-blanco et al. 2014; Sangrà and Wheeler 2013). For some scholars informal learning is even perceived to be more pervasive than formal learning as it surpasses formative organized and controlled learning (Bates 2014). Especially the integration of social media in MOOCs has opened the door for informal learning, albeit hitherto the learning impact assessment lacks solid empirical findings. Notwithstanding this debate, MOOCs are predominantly described as instruments for non-formal learning (Bates 2014; Fidalgo-Blanco et al. 2016).

MOOCs are an important instrument to improve the openness and inclusiveness of education (Boyatt et al. 2014; Rodriguez 2013). Everyone in possession of a mobile device and an internet connection becomes the potential target group of a MOOC, in particular if the topic of the MOOC is of relevance or triggers curiosity. Using MOOCs to spread the idea of the urgency to tackle climate change and appropriate solutions thus make them prima facie a promising tool for climate literacy. However, a glance at the published literature demonstrates that the students' motivation to learn about new topics in MOOCs as well as to complete them are manifold and thus require further empirical review (Hew and Cheung 2014; Wang and Baker 2015).

In a nutshell, the current appraisal of MOOCs, generally speaking, is hitherto ambivalent (de Langen and van den Bosch 2013; Ebben and Murphy 2014). While some hype them as a disruptive technology that changes educational access and costs, others utter disbelief that MOOCs serve as an innovative model for education (Baggaley 2013, 2014; Bell et al. 2017; Fischer 2014).

The objective of this chapter therefore is twofold in critically assessing and discussing the added value of MOOCs and to evaluate its potential for fostering climate literacy. The latter is pivotal as climate literacy's "acceptance into main-stream discourse is relatively recent" and exploiting adequate educational approaches is a compelling necessity (Arndt and LaDue 2008). Furthermore, albeit extensive literature on MOOCs exists, only few contributions deal with interdisciplinarity and the quality of learning about climate change as a matter of priority (Burch and Harris 2014; Otto et al. 2016).

Core argument of this chapter is that hitherto no in-depth understanding exists of how students benefit from their participation in MOOCs. Learning motivation and learning experience of students need an enriched understanding. One cause of this criticism is rooted in the paucity of adequate qualitative data to excavate the educational use of MOOCs (Otto et al. 2016). Predominantly, quantitative data is presented to assess the success of MOOCs. Only gradually the benefits of qualitative analysis of MOOCs is becoming manifest (Abeer and Miri 2014; Liu et al. 2015). As Fischer argues, one reason could be rooted in the fact that MOOC providers do not necessarily collect the data deemed the most relevant by educators, "as with many data collection efforts, the data collected are those that are the easiest to collect, not necessarily the most relevant ones" (Fischer 2014, p. 150). Similar Veletsianos and George in their systematic analysis of MOOC literature find that "very few studies were informed by methods traditionally associated with qualitative research approaches (e.g., interviews, observations, and focus groups)" and that the current state of knowledge is based on an overwhelming dependence on particular data collection and analysis methods (Veletsianos and Shepherdson 2016). As a consequence, they urgently demand an expansion of the methodological approaches used for MOOC research.

For the case of climate literacy, qualitative data permits to unveil the mundane utilization of MOOCs by the students. For instance, how do students make use of MOOCs in their informal and personal learning environment? Is there a perceived benefit in taking MOOCs about climate change for their formal education? Empirically, the chapter builds on data derived from a MOOC about "Climate change—a question of justice". In addition to a quantitative evaluation, 35 interviews with students were conducted and evaluated to divulge their experiences. Qualitative content analysis was used to cluster the semi-structured interviews and carve out general trends.

For the structure of the chapter, in the first section MOOCs and their relevance for climate literacy are discussed. Criticisms as well as aptitudes are balanced against each other. In the second section, the content and scope of the MOOC is offered. The methodological approach is outlined to render how the data was obtained and evaluated. In the third section, the findings are presented and discussed. Finally, conclusions for further development of MOOCs are drawn against the background of these findings.

MOOCs as a Tool for Improving Climate Literacy

Intuitively supposing that climate literacy is a recent phenomenon devoted to the mounting importance of climate change is a misconception. Early efforts to promote climate literacy can be dated back to the International Geophysical Year (IGY) of 1957–1958, when the U.S. National Academy of Sciences published a science education publication. The brochure emphasised that the alternation of the natural greenhouse effect can have dramatic impacts on the Earth's climate.¹ In accordance with the scientific evolvement, climate literacy has advanced to make a significant contribution to the public understanding of the human impact on the climate.

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) in 2009 published a book formulating the claim that a climate-literate person (GCRP 2009)

- understands the essential principles of Earth's climate system,
- knows how to assess scientifically credible information about climate,
- communicates about climate and climate change in a meaningful way, and
- is able to make informed and responsible decisions with regard to personal actions that may affect climate.

Based on these principles, a diversity of Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) and research as well as educational institutions on all levels have spurred the idea that students, teachers and lifelong learners become climate literate citizens. For instance, the Earth Day Network (EDN) is launching a campaign for global environmental and climate literacy for the Earth Day in 2020.²

Albeit the idea of climate literacy is spreading, it still faces important hurdles and limitations. One problem is the common misconception of the scientific background of climate change (Harrington 2008). Another problem is the stagnant public confusion about the degree of scientific consensus around the human impacts on the climate system, especially in the US (McCaffrey and Buhr 2008).

However, leaving aside the misunderstandings and misconceptions about the contents of climate literacy, the manner of how to convey knowledge to the target audience is likewise a pivotal question. In a globalized world, characterized by a turn towards a technical and knowledge society, new ways of learning emerge as compelling (Stromquist and Monkman 2014). The digital evolution has triggered a disruptive change in education. Widespread and fast internet services have produced various new digital learning opportunities like virtual learning environments and communication tools. Physical presence in educational institutions can thereby be reduced or even replaced by blended learning or virtual seminars. Virtual mobility is a recent trend permitting the students to take a course abroad without leaving their home university (Becker and Otto 2016; Salgado et al. 2012). Students nowadays are capable to create their own personal learning environment and by this means tailor what and how they want to learn. This has likewise elicited new

¹http://cpo.noaa.gov/OutreachandEducation/ClimateLiteracy.aspx.

²http://www.earthday.org/campaigns/education/global-environmental-climate-literacy-campaign/.

educational innovation in climate change education like the use of digital storytelling or simulation and serious games (Otto 2014, 2017; Powers and Kirkpatrick 2012; Tobias and Fletcher 2012).

MOOCs have evolved to be a major contributor to the educational debate in the recent years (Diver and Martinez 2015; Fischer 2014). At the time when Dave Cormier from the University of Prince Edward Island first coined the term MOOC in 2008, describing a course about Connectivism and Connective Knowledge (CCK08), not many people might have been attentive to the educational implications (Liyanagunawardena et al. 2013). A fundamental notion is that MOOCs provide online courses open for everyone to join. The only precondition is to possess a computer or mobile device. Whereas a MOOC course, with varying duration between 4 and 12 weeks,³ is free of charge, certification is usually fee-based. In the last years, the number of MOOC providers has incrementally increased using hosting platforms like Coursera, Udacity, or edX (Jansen and Schuwer 2015). Topics for MOOCs are manifold ranging from Biomimicry to Spanish for Beginners.

Hitherto, almost 10 years of intensive debate, inside and outside the scientific community, have not led to a final conclusion on whether MOOCs are rather a "disruptive innovation or a disturbing invention" (de Langen and van den Bosch 2013). Whereas a peak of the euphoria was reached when the New York Times called 2012 the "year of the MOOC", at the end of 2013 the Washington Post already declared the hype as exaggerated (Pappano 2012). However, the appearance of MOOCs in open and distance education has radically changed the way opening up education and distance education is discussed.

A more sober-minded look at MOOCs suggests that the reality lies somewhere in-between the range of euphoria and disillusionment. Overtly, there still is no clear agreement on a core definition of MOOCs. What can be classified as a MOOC is imprecise, for example the threshold of when a course can be characterized as 'massive'. Massiveness in MOOCs is often equivalent to far more than 10,000 inscribers. This simultaneously yields the consequence of high attrition rates among the participants. Taking into account the different methodologies, the percentage of MOOCs completion rates is around 7 and, in some cases, as low as 0.8 (Jordan 2015). Almost no big MOOC provider displays completion rates over 10% (Khalil and Ebner 2014). Articles addressing the challenge of high attrition have presented various strategies to cope with the problem, some of the most favouring methods suggested are accommodating students on different time tables, encouraging student completion and to enhance the interaction among the students and the interaction of students with their instructor (Khalil and Ebner 2014). However, furnishing proof of fruitful ways to lower attrition is enduring. This may be rooted in the fact that MOOC enrolment is easy while unsubscribing is not deemed necessary. Furthermore, various reasons for enrolment may exist which may not be congruent

³For example: http://www.uab.cat/web/study-abroad/mooc/plan-and-design-a-mooc/plan-the-course-1345668290863.html or https://uqx.uq.edu.au/content/educators.

with the providers' expectations, for instance certification. DeBoer et al. (2014) emphasize that "the massive open nature of MOOCs may be so different from traditional educational environments that terms like enrolment or dropout may need to be reconceptualised."

Openness of MOOCs is correspondingly an important term that needs elucidation (Boyatt et al. 2014). While openness is acknowledged to be a central characteristic of MOOCs, the debate on to what extend the different educational formats of MOOCs enable openness is ongoing (Alraimi et al. 2015; Mackness et al. 2010). Didactically, this has manifested in a dualism between cMOOCs and xMOOCs (Margaryan et al. 2015). While the dominant pedagogical model, called xMOOCs, is echoing classical teacher-oriented university courses, cMOOCs differ as they follow a connectivist learning approach intended to encourage interaction between the students. No clear answer has been given about a consistent pedagogical model for MOOCs (Baggaley 2013, 2014). This dualism is accompanied by the attribution of MOOCs as non-formal or informal learning. MOOCs are predominantly characterized as instruments for non-formal learning (Bates 2014), on the other hand cMOOCs endeavour to blur the barriers between the learning activities of students in MOOCs and their daily activities, for instance the use of social media (García-Peñalvo et al. 2015).

In a nutshell, notwithstanding many key issues in the debate remain open; MOOCs nevertheless perpetuate their role as a focal point for future learning: "Even the loudest critics of MOOCs do not expect them to fade away" (Fischer 2014).

This chapter is therefore intended to provide a deeper look at the target group of MOOCs: the students. Despite the fact that vital discussions about the future pedagogical model of MOOCs are important, the debate about what students really pursue with MOOCs is often neglected. What is the learning motivation and how do students assess their learning outcomes and the further use of their MOOC participation. In the case of climate change, disclosing the students' experiences with MOOCs can lead to a more differentiated picture and be valuable to determine the use of MOOCs to improve climate literacy.

A Brief Note on Methods

Whereas a variety of studies about MOOCs occur using quantitative data analysis (Liyanagunawardena et al. 2013), there is a dearth of qualitative analyses about the students' learning experiences with MOOCs (Abeer and Miri 2014; Otto et al. 2016; Zheng et al. 2015). This is particularly true for the case of climate change.

The findings presented in this chapter are based on 35 interviews with students who participated in the MOOC "climate change—a question of justice" that was conducted in 2015. Overall, 2908 students participated in the MOOC, 302 of them earning a certificate at the end of the course. This leads to a completion rate of around 11% which is in the range of completion rates of MOOCs that can be found

in the literature (Jordan 2015). The students represented 78 countries ranging from Albania to Zambia.

The MOOC aimed to provide the students the competences to be critical observers of the 21st Conference of the Parties (COP) held under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in Paris in December 2015.

The MOOC was offered by the FernUniversität in Hagen in cooperation with the Lund University in Sweden. Using the dominant pedagogical model, the course was designed as an xMOOC (using an instructional design), and ran eight weeks in anticipation of the start of the COP in Paris. The MOOC entailed eight units with four video lectures, each being approximately ten minutes long. Virtual forums were provided to spur the discussions between the students all supervised by a tutor. Supplementary material like access to scientific articles was offered and a weekly consultation hour took place with the lecturers. For the validation of their knowledge and to obtain a certificate for the MOOC, the students had to watch at least 80% of the lectures and successfully complete the multiple-choice questions for each unit with a success rate of at least 80%. Afterwards, the certificate could be downloaded by the students free of charge.

An interdisciplinary course approach was selected to provide the students a comprehensive understanding of climate change. A key objective was to impart the students the competences to be a critical observer of the upcoming climate change conference in Paris where 196 parties bargained for a binding agreement to keep the earth warming below 2 °C (Otto 2016). Having established a common knowledge foundation in the first lectures, students were supposed to learn about different facets of climate justice for example land-grabbing, climate security, the changing of lifestyles and the question of degrowth or green growth.

At the end of the course, the most active students were asked whether they would be willing to conduct a personal interview to share their learning experiences. Over 70 students signalled their willingness for bilateral parleys via Skype. Due to limited internal capacities, only 35 students could be selected for the interviews. The criteria for the selection were an even distribution of key variables such as age, country of birth and academic background. The interviews were audio-recorded and afterwards transcribed on an anonymous basis. 35 interviews, each lasting approximately 15 minutes, were conducted. In order to facilitate comparability as well as flexibility, semi-structured interviews were used (Louise Barriball and While 1994) (Table 1).

The interviews were coded and clustered using Mayring's structured qualitative content analysis to map out trends and tendencies (Mayring 2000) and to render the students underlying motivations and individual learning experiences. The focus of the interviews was therefore person-centred instead of variable-centred (Wiebe et al. 2015). Learning is a non-linear process which has to commensurate with the personal objectives and distinctive learning goals (Table 2).

Table 1 Interview guide

Interview guide

1. Have you been dealing with the topic of climate change politics before? If yes, in which way?

- 2. Why did you participate in the MOOC?
- 3. Which contents of the MOOC interested you the most?
- 4. Which personal learning outcomes did you gain from the MOOC?
- 5. What motivated you to complete the course?
- 6. Do you expect to benefit in the future from completing the course? And if yes, in which way?
- 7. Is the certificate useful for you? In which way?

| Number | Gender | Nationality | Current educational program or employer |
|--------|--------|-----------------|--|
| 1 | W | Netherlands | Ph.D. candidate with climate related topic |
| 2 | М | Zambia | Master in Climate Change Science Working in the Ministry of Agriculture |
| 3 | М | Montenegro | Master in Political Science |
| 4 | W | Germany | Journalist |
| 5 | М | Mauritius | Working in Climate Change Adaptation |
| 6 | W | Columbia | Degree in Sustainability Science |
| 7 | М | France | Ph.D. candidate in Climate Change Politics |
| 8 | W | Romania | Master unrelated to Climate Change |
| 9 | М | South Africa | Policy government adviser in climate change |
| 10 | W | Ecuador | Ph.D. candidate in Climate Change |
| 11 | W | Germany | Ph.D. candidate in Climate Change (energy storage) |
| 12 | W | Germany | Master in Sustainability Economic |
| 13 | W | Germany | Working as youth consoler in the division for Energy Literacy |
| 14 | W | Germany | Degree Program in Philosophy |
| 15 | М | Jordan | Master Degree in Environmental Management Ph.D. candidate in Climate Change |
| 16 | W | Switzerland | Degree Program in Environmental Engineering |
| 17 | W | Madagascar | Working for German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ) |
| 18 | М | Germany | Master in Earth Science |
| 19 | W | South Africa | Masters in Climate Change and Development |
| 20 | М | Germany | Policy Adviser |
| 21 | М | Germany | Degree Program in Computer Science |
| 22 | W | Spain | Master in International Economics |
| 23 | М | Nigeria | Ph.D. candidate in environmental conflicts |
| 24 | W | Australia | Degree Program related to Climate Change |

Table 2 Gender, nationality and education

(continued)

| Number | Gender | Nationality | Current educational program or employer |
|--------|--------|-------------|--|
| 25 | М | Portugal | Journalist |
| 26 | W | Germany | Bachelor in Policy Management |
| 27 | М | Australia | Working for the government in Australia Ph.D. candidate in Climate Change |
| 28 | М | Germany | Federal Foundation for the Environment |
| 29 | W | Germany | German Federal Environment Foundation |
| 30 | W | Turkey | University teacher for environmental topics |
| 31 | М | France | Master in Environmental Economics |
| 32 | W | USA | Applying for a fellowship in Climate Protection |
| 33 | W | Germany | Working for World Vision Germany |
| 34 | М | Nigeria | Working for the Nature Cares Resource Centre Preparing a Ph.D. proposal in climate change |
| 35 | W | Norway | Master in Globalization |

Table 2 (continued)

Findings

A central objective was to examine whether MOOCs are a promising educational tool for climate literacy. After critically scrutinizing the interviews, five broader categories were formed to elucidate the students learning motivation and learning experience: (1) *Prior experience with the topic.* (2) *Motivation for participation.* (3) *Most interesting aspects of the MOOC.* (4) *Personal learning outcomes.* (5) *Benefits.*

Prior Experience with the Topic

A first noteworthy observation is that merely four of the students interviewed had no prior experience with the topic of climate change. Most of the students stated that their current educational program is related to climate change, for example a Bachelor, Master, or Ph.D. (Table 3).

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|-----------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|
| Education | 24 | 68.57 | 68.57 |
| Career | 13 | 37.14 | 37.14 |
| None | 4 | 11.43 | 11.43 |
| Overall (valid) | 35 | 100.00 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 0 | 0.00 | - |
| Overall (valid) | 35 | 100.00 | - |

 Table 3
 Prior experience

Thus the rationale of the majority was to obtain thorough knowledge in a topic they are presently studying. Student 7 for example said that he is researching a climate related topic in his Ph.D.: "*Right now I am a Ph.D. student between a university in France and one in Germany. And one of the topics that I am dealing with, with my Ph.D. project is REDD, REDD+ [Reducing Emission from Deforestation and Degradation].*"

Interestingly, 13 students have working experience or are at present working in a field related to climate change. Student number 27 is a typical example: "I am working in the climate change policy sector for the government of Australia. Specifically on climate change for 12 months but I have also been dealing with climate change through other policy areas for four years."

Motivation for Participation

The category *motivation for participation* was intended to offer more detailed information about the students' rationale to join the MOOC. Knowledge acquisition through participation in the MOOC was most frequently named as a motivation (21 times) (Table 4).

This suggests that the students' main motivation is not necessarily bounded to a formal learning context. Especially the key topic of the MOOC "climate justice" raised discernible interest. Like student 32 said: "I am involved with climate change issues with different organisation, like grass-root organisations but sometimes, that issue of climate justice gets lost and I wanted to have better understanding of what were the main issues and how you could understand climate justice from a global perspective."

Another important motivation was to support the personal educational circumstances or career paths through participating in the MOOC. This does not essentially encompass formal learning contexts. The students were confident that the MOOC can help them accomplish certain personal goals; to develop a research proposal for a Ph.D., apply for a fellowship, or prepare a course for learners.

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|--------------------------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|
| Knowledge acquisition | 21 | 60.00 | 61.76 |
| Education | 19 | 54.29 | 55.88 |
| Career | 11 | 31.43 | 32.35 |
| Take part in a MOOC | 2 | 5.71 | 5.88 |
| Access to structured knowledge | 1 | 2.86 | 2.94 |
| Overall (valid) | 34 | 97.14 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 1 | 2.86 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

Table 4 Motivation

Student 3 expresses the need to learn the basics of climate change: "I think it is an important topic and because, as a post graduate student of political science, I thought I should know at least the basics of climate change."

In the working context, job search, developing new perspectives and networking was mentioned, for example by student 34: "For me it was an opportunity to [get into contact with] big networks and actually it worked out with one or two networks during the course."

Interestingly, student 32 in particular mentioned the additional materials which were offered in the platform: "So I think it's very helpful for me to have those extra materials because I am going to finish reading through them and that will help me to get new ideas on how I approach my proposal [for fellowship]."

Most Interesting Aspects of the MOOC

Climate change is a rather fuzzy topic and can best be understood using an interdisciplinary approach (Hulme 2009). Albeit the main focus was on climate justice, the MOOC covered all relevant scientific disciplines (natural science, political science, economics, etc.). This broader perspective is echoed in the students answers as there occurs no dominant category to be the most interesting. However, possible solutions to solve climate change were indicated to be an especially exciting aspect, closely followed by the international governance system, the North-South relations, and eco-colonialism regarding justice (Table 5).

The interviews moreover revealed that the students have a strong interest to discover concrete opportunities for personal action, a focus not necessarily found in university curricula (McKernan 1996). (Too) often curricula focus on the

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (Valid) |
|---|-----------|------------|-----------------------|
| Solutions | 14 | 40.00 | 41.18 |
| International climate governance | 13 | 37.14 | 38.24 |
| North-South relations and eco-colonialism regarding justice | 12 | 34.29 | 35.29 |
| Carbon markets | 8 | 22.86 | 23.53 |
| Multidimensionality of cc | 7 | 20.00 | 20.59 |
| Climate refugees, migration, climate wars | 7 | 20.00 | 20.59 |
| Physical science basis | 7 | 20.00 | 20.59 |
| Transnational climate governance | 6 | 17.14 | 17.65 |
| Overall (valid) | 34 | 97.14 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 1 | 2.86 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

 Table 5
 Most interesting aspects

communication of theories and methods neglecting to promote the practical implication for instance through incorporating the teachers' practical knowledge (Van Driel et al. 2001). Student 17 said: "And the other thing is the example from the Philippines presented by the lecturer. It gave to me something more concrete, more real, how to adapt and how to make it appropriate for the beneficiaries." Beyond, many students expressed willingness for local engagement. Students 32 mentioned: "I think the last chapters made a little bit of possible solutions, like what people could to. Like people that were taking the MOOC, like what we could do in our local environment, in a local context, the ways for us to get involved and do more about it." This shows that students, beside profound knowledge, are also looking for areas of activity in their personal environment.

Since the MOOC was intended to prepare for the climate change conference in Paris, the governance system was another field of interest. Student 31 said: "I also found interesting the whole dynamics that make the negotiations. And the analysis of different groups, interest groups, that was made."

Another area that found high approval is the North-South-relations and eco-colonialism as a matter of climate justice. There was, in particular, interest to discern the different dimensions of climate justice and how it manifests in the international discourse as stated by student 31: "But the dimension of the North-South relationship, the intergenerational dimension but also the chain of discourse was some of the justice dimension that was particularly interesting."

Remarkably, the physical science basis was not perceived as one intriguing aspect. When the students were asked about less interesting lectures, the scientific underpinning of climate change was named. That may be rooted in the complex nature of climate sciences and the scientific consensus on climate change which cannot be easily understood without prior knowledge. This underscores that understanding the scientific consensus is difficult, not only for layer people.

Learning Outcomes

A major objective was to determine whether the students perceived to have achieved learning success after the MOOC and how they define it. Through coding of the interviews, two main categories in terms of learning outcomes were identified: learning about the content and developing specific competences to cope with the challenge of climate change (Table 6).

Nearly 86% of the student mentioned content related learning. Clustered according to the different topics of the MOOC, climate politics and the multidimensionality of climate change were most frequently named (Table 7).

That is of little astonishment as conveying a basic political understanding to the students was a core aim of the MOOC. Student 34, for example, mentioned the comprehensive view he obtained: "Having the broad view of what is the political interest of the groups, understanding of the politic interest of the global South and global North in terms of decision-making. It gives me a good understanding of

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|-----------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|
| Content | 30 | 85.71 | 88.24 |
| Competence | 18 | 51.43 | 52.94 |
| Overall (valid) | 34 | 97.14 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 1 | 2.86 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

Table 6 Learning outcomes

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|
| Multidimensionality of climate change | 14 | 40.00 | 46.67 |
| Climate politics | 14 | 40.00 | 46.67 |
| Overall understanding of the topic | 10 | 28.57 | 33.33 |
| Climate justice | 4 | 11.43 | 13.33 |
| Climate science | 3 | 8.57 | 10.00 |
| Solutions | 2 | 5.71 | 6.67 |
| Economics of climate change | 1 | 2.86 | 3.33 |
| Eco-colonialism | 1 | 2.86 | 3.33 |
| Climate refugees | 1 | 2.86 | 3.33 |
| Carbon market | 1 | 2.86 | 3.33 |
| Overall (valid) | 30 | 85.71 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 5 | 14.29 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

Table 7 Learning outcomes about topics

challenges of climate change policies and implementation in different countries." On the other hand, the students enhanced their understanding about the multidimensionality of climate change and similarly their overall understanding of the topic. This perception might be due to the interdisciplinary approach of the MOOC. Student 35 expressed: "I think I have more, like diversified knowledge, like I can see more aspects of climate change now than I did before. Also I learned about new kind of problems and situations which is really good."

In terms of competences, clustering disclosed a more manifold picture than with regards to the content. The students mentioned a broad spectrum of different trajectories ranging from analysing the political process to reflecting one's own lifestyle (Table 8).

There is also indication that the new-found competences were used to convey the importance of climate change to colleagues or friends. Student 17 said: "So I used what I learned from the MOOC to explain to my colleagues in the area where I work and as well for the colleagues I have in the whole Madagascar. To explain, where it comes from and why do we act do to this, to implement this sustainable handprint, so the principles behind the decision or the methodology of the company

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|--|-----------|------------|-----------------------|
| Follow, analyse, evaluate climate politics | 5 | 14.29 | 27.78 |
| Argumentation, advocating, follow/participate in discussions | 5 | 14.29 | 27.78 |
| Understand and critically assess the media | 4 | 11.43 | 22.22 |
| Transfer/apply knowledge in research/proposal/ job | 3 | 8.57 | 16.67 |
| Explain climate change/politics to others | 2 | 5.71 | 11.11 |
| Increased interest | 2 | 5.71 | 11.11 |
| Reflect own lifestyle | 1 | 2.86 | 5.56 |
| Overall (valid) | 18 | 51.43 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 17 | 48.57 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

Table 8 Competences

to implement it." Likewise advocating for climate change in discussions is a competence many students obtained. Student 9, who is working as a policy adviser, said he is "(...) more involved in suggesting really big chances and then showing people that inequality, if you really see where it comes from and manifest, you can use that as an argument on which you based big change recommendations." The MOOC also managed to enable the students to scrutinize the dominant public information about climate change for example the political process. Student 30 stated: "I was having difficulties to understand the negotiations part, but this course provided me with some tools to understand and evaluate the information about climate change."

Benefits from MOOC

All the students interviewed successfully passed the course and received a certificate. One pivotal question was therefore how the students, beyond certification, expect to benefit from their MOOC participation (Table 9).

Clustering disclosed that the students perceive the benefits to be predominantly helpful for their future career. In terms of career chances, the students primarily want to improve their current job position or apply for new jobs. Student 2 for example said that "(...) currently I am working in the Ministry of Agriculture. So I do a lot work in terms of adaptation of small-scale farmers to climate change. I would like to move on to policy issues and I feel some of the knowledge I've gained I use it in engaging in policy matters."

Analogous expectations can be observed for the issue of education. Participation in the MOOC can help to prepare for a fellowship, as students 23 explains.

| Name | Frequency | Percentage | Percentage (valid) |
|--------------------------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|
| Career | 19 | 54.29 | 55.88 |
| Knowledge acquisition | 17 | 48.57 | 50.00 |
| Education | 16 | 45.71 | 47.06 |
| Access to structured knowledge | 10 | 28.57 | 29.41 |
| Overall (valid) | 34 | 97.14 | 100.00 |
| Missing | 1 | 2.86 | - |
| Overall | 35 | 100.00 | - |

Table 9 Benefits from MOOC

"I gained a lot. Currently I am putting up a proposal for (...) a climate protection fellowship." Primarily, the students' perceived an added value for their current or future educational program. This comprises Bachelor, Master or Ph.D. programs. The opportunity to learn in this non-formal context for instance was useful for student 1 in formal matters: "We have a science researcher school. It consists of seven different universities here in the Netherlands. So, I sent them an email to get credit out of that and I got 2.3 credits out of this course." Participating in a MOOC can likewise be a precondition for participating in a formal learning context like for student 3: "Because of the course, I was now able to enrol in a simulation game on climate change here in my university."

Conclusion

This chapter pursues to provide a profound analysis of the pertinence of MOOCs for climate literacy. Based on the findings presented, there is no easy answer. The interviews illustrate a kaleidoscope of rationales why and how students use MOOCs as a tool for their informal and formal learning context.

Notwithstanding this, some corollaries can be derived from the findings which might contribute to the further understanding of MOOCs and for climate literacy.

MOOCs educate the educated

The idea that MOOCs are a tool to educate the uneducated about climate change has to be rejected. This finding is not exclusively valid for the case of climate change, but is reinforced by other studies (Emanuel 2013). Based on the findings presented, only four students had no prior contact (working or degree) with the topic and all interviewed students had a higher educational background. This impression is complemented by the quantitative analysis that was conducted for the MOOC. In this respect, MOOCs cannot be considered as helpful to empower a multitude of climate literates. With regard to the starting assumption MOOCs cannot be perceived as a tool to elevate climate change in the consciousness of people.

MOOC (elements) as a customized personal setting

The interviews refute the myth that MOOCs are studied the same ways as classical university courses. University courses are predominantly studied target-oriented and in a linear fashion over a fixed period of time. Contrarily, the interviews illustrate a vivid picture. Parleying with students disclosed a variety of utilizations for the personal learning context. Supporting the individual educational path or job situation was one of the main motivations for the students to enrol. Non-formal learning in MOOCs is therefore integrated into the formal learning context. On the other hand, this does not necessarily mean that students want accreditation for their participation in a MOOC. They reconcile MOOC resources with their individual formal and informal demands. This can also be observed when the students uttered statements about their favourite course content. However, the students interviewed were goal-oriented and aware what they wanted to obtain through the MOOC. But these goals cannot be captured by applying classical motivational categories, for instance guidance for local engagement.

Learning what and how

Indication could be identified that learning occurs through MOOC participation. This encompasses content as well as competences. Although this conclusion is based on the students' self-perception, the author is inclined to believe a knowledge growth arose. In particular, a noteworthy merger occurred that blurred the distinction between learning and action. The interviews provided intimations that students are looking for tangible opportunities of how to cope with climate change in the personal life situation. Reconciling the input of researchers and practitioners is therefore an auspicious approach. Again, these positive impressions are limited to those who were by this time sensitized about the topic.

Outlook

The urgency of climate change is hasting and climate literacy therefore is a key impetus to capture the problem of climate change. The findings presented suggest that MOOCs are not the persuasive answer to foster climate literacy, but constitute an auspicious tool to cross the boundary between formal education and lifelong learning. Hitherto, this ascription is limited to people inside the educational system. However, there is indication that MOOCs can broaden the (disciplinary) perspective of students towards the problem and point to essential topics like climate justice or possible solutions. In the best case, practical implications possibly will follow.

In terms of MOOCs, there is obviously a need to broaden the scope of analysis and to go beyond classical measurement. Albeit the depicted picture then becomes vivid, this does not mean that compelling results become disguised. On the contrary, the findings represent the whole bandwidth that exists when students participate in a MOOC. This fuzzy picture should be kept in mind when it is suggested that MOOCs have certain generalized characteristics and in particular when opportunities are discussed of how to advance them.

References

- Abeer, W., & Miri, B. (2014). Students' preferences and views about learning in a MOOC. Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences, 152, 318–323. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.203.
- Alraimi, K. M., Zo, H., Ciganek, A. P. (2015). Understanding the MOOCs continuance: The role of openness and reputation. *Computers & Education*, 80, 28–38.
- Arndt, D., & LaDue, D. S. (2008). Applying concepts of adult education to improve weather and climate literacy. *Physical Geography*, 29(6), 487–499. doi:10.2747/0272-3646.29.6.487.
- Baggaley, J. (2013). MOOC rampant. *Distance Education*, 34(3), 368–378. doi:10.1080/ 01587919.2013.835768.
- Baggaley, J. (2014). MOOC postscript. *Distance Education*, 35(1), 126–132. doi:10.1080/ 01587919.2013.876142.
- Bates, T. (2014). MOOCs: getting to know you better. *Distance Education*, 35(2), 145–148. doi:10.1080/01587919.2014.926803.
- Becker, S., & Otto, D. (2016). Lernkulturen im (Klima-)Wandel. Digital Storytelling zur Kompetenzvermittlung in interkulturellen Lehr-Lernsettings. In O. Dörner, C. Iller, H. Pätzold, & S. Robak (Eds.), Differente Lernkulturen—regional, national, transnational (pp. 101–114). Opladen [u.a.]: Verlag Barbara Budrich.
- Bell, S., Douce, C., Caeiro, S., Teixeira, A., Martín-Aranda, R., & Otto, D. (2017). Sustainability and distance learning: A diverse European experience? *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning*, 32(2), 95–102. doi:10.1080/02680513.2017.1319638.
- Boyatt, R., Joy, M., Rocks, C., & Sinclair, J. (2014). What (Use) is a MOOC? In L. Uden, Y.-H. Tao, H.-C. Yang, & I.-H. Ting (Eds.), *The 2nd International Workshop on Learning Technology for Education in Cloud* (pp. 133–145). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7308-0_15.
- Burch, S. L., & Harris, S. E. (2014). A massive open online course on climate change: The social construction of a global problem using new tools for connectedness. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 5(5), 577–585. doi:10.1002/wcc.300.
- de Langen, F., & van den Bosch, H. (2013). Massive open online courses: Disruptive innovations or disturbing inventions? *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning, 28* (3), 216–226. doi:10.1080/02680513.2013.870882.
- Diver, P., & Martinez, I. (2015). MOOCs as a massive research laboratory: Opportunities and challenges. *Distance Education*, *36*(1), 1–21.
- Ebben, M., & Murphy, J. S. (2014). Unpacking MOOC scholarly discourse: A review of nascent MOOC scholarship. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 39(3), 328–345. doi:10.1080/ 17439884.2013.878352.
- Emanuel, E. J. (2013). Online education: MOOCs taken by educated few. Nature, 503(7476), 342.
- Fidalgo-blanco, Á., Sein-echaluce, M. L., García-peñalvo, F. J., & Escaño, J. E. (2014). Improving the MOOC learning outcomes throughout informal learning activities. The Massive Open Online Courses. In *The Second International Conference on Technological Ecosystems for Enhancing Multiculturality* (pp. 611–617). https://doi.org/10.1145/2669711.2669963.
- Fidalgo-blanco, Á., Sein-echaluce, M. L., García-peñalvo, F. J. (2016). From massive access to cooperation: Lessons learned and proven results of a hybrid xMOOC/cMOOC pedagogical approach to MOOCs. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 13(1).

- Fischer, G. (2014). Beyond hype and underestimation: Identifying research challenges for the future of MOOCs. *Distance Education*, 35(2), 149–158. doi:10.1080/01587919.2014.920752.
- García-Peñalvo, F. J., Cruz-Benito, J., Borrás-Gené, O., & Blanco, Á. F. (2015). Evolution of the conversation and knowledge acquisition in social networks related to a MOOC course. In P. Zaphiris & A. Ioannou (Eds.), *Learning and Collaboration Technologies: Second International Conference, LCT 2015, Held as Part of HCI International 2015, Los Angeles, CA, USA, August 2–7, 2015, Proceedings* (pp. 470–481). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20609-7_44.
- GCRP. (2009). Climate literacy: The essential principles of climate sciences.
- Harrington, J. (2008). Misconceptions: Barriers to improved climate literacy. *Physical Geography*, 29(6), 575–584. doi:10.2747/0272-3646.29.6.575.
- Hew, K. F., & Cheung, W. S. (2014). Students' and instructors' use of massive open online courses (MOOCs): Motivations and challenges. *Educational Research Review*, 12, 45–58.
- Hulme, M. (2009). Why we disagree about climate change: Understanding controversy, inaction and opportunity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 1–151).
- Jansen, D., & Schuwer, R. (2015). Institutional MOOC strategies in Europe. *Status report based* on a mapping survey conducted in October–December 2014, Heerlen, Netherlands.
- Jona, K., & Naidu, S. (2014). MOOCs: Emerging research. Distance Education, 35(2), 141–144. doi:10.1080/01587919.2014.928970.
- Jordan, K. (2015). Massive open online course completion rates revisited: Assessment, length and attrition. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 16(3).
- Khalil, H., & Ebner, M. (2014). MOOCs completion rates and possible methods to improve retention—A literature review. In J. Viteli & M. Leikomaa (Eds.), *Proceedings of EdMedia: World Conference on Educational Media and Technology 2014* (pp. 1305–1313). Tampere, Finland: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Liu, M., Kang, J., & McKelroy, E. (2015). Examining learners' perspective of taking a MOOC: Reasons, excitement, and perception of usefulness. *Educational Media International*, 52(2), 129–146. doi:10.1080/09523987.2015.1053289.
- Liyanagunawardena, T. R., Adams, A. A., & Williams, S. A. (2013). MOOCs: A systematic study of the published literature 2008–2012. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 14(3), 202–227.
- Louise Barriball, K., & While, A. (1994). Collecting data using a semi-structured interview: A discussion paper. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 19(2), 328–335. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648. 1994.tb01088.x.
- Mackness, J., Mak, S., & Williams, R. (2010). The ideals and reality of participating in a MOOC. In L. Dirckinck-Holmfeld, V. Hodgson, C. Jones, M. De Laat, D. McConnell, & T. Ryberg (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 7th international conference on networked learning 2010* (pp. 266– 275). Lancaster: University of Lancaster.
- Margaryan, A., Bianco, M., Littlejohn, A. (2015). Instructional quality of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs). *Computers & Education*, 80, 77–83.
- Mayring, P. (2000). Qualitative content analysis. Forum: Qualitative Social Research: Qualitative Methods in Various Disciplines I: Psychology, 1(2), 1–10.
- McCaffrey, M. S., & Buhr, S. M. (2008). Clarifying climate confusion: Addressing systemic holes, cognitive gaps, and misconceptions through climate literacy. *Physical Geography*, 29(6), 512– 528. doi:10.2747/0272-3646.29.6.512.
- McKernan, J. (1996). Curriculum action research: A handbook of methods and resources for the reflective practitioner. London: Kogan Page.
- Otto, D. (2014). Let's Play! Using simulation games as a sustainable way to enhance students' motivation and collaboration in open and distance learning. In U. M. Azeiteiro, W. Leal Filho, & S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-Learning and Education for Sustainability* (pp. 73–82). Frankfurt a. M. [u.a.]: Peter Lang. https://doi.org/10.3726/978-3-653-02460-9.

- Otto, D. (2016). Understanding climate change negotiations: An international relations perspective. In S. Caeiro, P. Bacelar-Nicolau, B. Sara, & D. Otto (Eds.), "The heat is up!"— Cross-disciplinary perspectives on climate change (p. 9). Lisbon, PT: Universidade Aberta. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3848.9366.
- Otto, D. (2017). Students' interaction for enhancing learning motivation and learning success: Findings from integrating a simulation game into a university course. In L. Gómez Chova, A. López Martínez, & I. Candel Torres (Eds.), *International Technology, Education and Development Conference* (pp. 1316–1324). Barcelona, Spain: IATED Academy. https://doi. org/10.21125/inted.2017.0045.
- Otto, D., Becker, S., Sander, K., & Bollmann, A. (2016). What students really want from MOOCs-a qualitative analysis of students' individual motivation and learning goals. *Journal of the International Conference on University Teaching and Innovation (CIDUI)*, *3*, 1–11.
- Pappano, L. (2012). The Year of the MOOC. The New York Times (pp. 1-7).
- Piontek, F., Müller, C., Pugh, T. A. M., Clark, D. B., Deryng, D., Elliott, J., et al. (2014). Multisectoral climate impact hotspots in a warming world. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(9), 3233–3238. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1222471110.
- Powers, R. B., & Kirkpatrick, K. (2012). Playing with conflict: Teaching conflict resolution through simulations and games. *Simulation & Gaming*, 44(1), 51–72. doi:10.1177/ 1046878112455487.
- Rodriguez, O. (2013). The concept of openness behind c and x-MOOCs (Massive Open Online Courses). *Open Praxis*, *5*(1), 67–73.
- Salgado, F. P., De Kraker, J., Boon, J., & Van der Klink, M. (2012). Competences for climate change education in a virtual mobility setting. *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development*, 6(1), 53–65. doi:10.1504/IJISD.2012.046053.
- Sangrà, A., & Wheeler, S. (2013). New informal ways of learning: Or are we formalising the informal? *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 10(1), 286– 293. doi:10.7238/rusc.v10i1.1689.
- Stromquist, N. P., & Monkman, K. (2014). Defining globalization and assessing its implications for knowledge and education, revisited. In N. P. Stromquist & K. Monkman (Eds.), *Globalization and education: Integration and contestation across cultures* (Vol. 1, pp. 1–21). Lanham [u.a.]: Rowman & Littlefield Education.
- Tobias, S., & Fletcher, J. D. (2012). Reflections on 'a review of trends in serious gaming'. *Review of Educational Research*, 82(2), 233–237. doi:10.3102/0034654312450190.
- Van Driel, J. H., Beijaard, D., & Verloop, N. (2001). Professional development and reform in science education: The role of teachers' practical knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38 (2), 137–158. doi:10.1002/1098-2736(200102)38:2<137:AID-TEA1001>3.0.CO;2-U.
- Veletsianos, G., & Shepherdson, P. (2016). A systematic analysis and synthesis of the empirical MOOC literature published in 2013–2015. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v17i2.2448.
- Wang, Y., & Baker, R. (2015). Content or platform: Why do students complete MOOCs? Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 11(1), 17–30.
- Wiebe, E., Thompson, I., & Behrend, T. (2015). MOOCs From the Viewpoint of the Learner: A Response to Perna et al. (2014). *Educational Researcher*, 44(4), 252–254.
- Zheng, S., Rosson, M. B., Shih, P. C., & Carroll, J. M. (2015). Understanding student motivation, behaviors and perceptions in MOOCs. In CSCW'15: Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing (pp. 1882–1895). https://doi. org/10.1145/2675133.2675217.

E-collaborating for Environmentally Sustainable Health Curricula

Peter Musaeus, Caroline Wellbery, Sarah Walpole, Hanna-Andrea Rother, Aditya Vyas and Kathleen Leedham-Green

Abstract

Purpose This chapter aims to demonstrate how medical educators can use e-collaborative tools to collaborating internationally and cross-institutionally towards designing environmental sustainability and health (ESH) education. The main focus of the chapter is on sustainable medical curricula.

Methodology The chapter uses a case-study approach to bridge these broader e-collaborative principles with the specifics of implementation driven and supported by e-collaboration.

Findings The case study describes the evolution of the Sustainable Healthcare Education (SHE)-network into a network collaborative. Finally, the chapter discusses e-collaboration for education development through an illustrative case. The case concerns an UK-Greek University e-collaboration aimed at combating obesity and promoting climate literacy.

P. Musaeus (🖂)

S. Walpole Hull York Medical School, York, UK e-mail: Sarah.Walpole@hyms.ac.uk

H.-A. Rother Division of Environmental Health, School of Public Health and Family Medicine, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: Andrea.Rother@uct.ac.za

K. Leedham-Green King's College London School of Medicine, London, UK e-mail: Kathleen.E.Leedham-Green@kcl.ac.uk

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_9

CESU, Aarhus University, INCUBA, Palle Juul-Jensens Boulevard 82, Byg B.125, 8200 Aarhus N, Denmark

e-mail: Peter@cesu.au.dk

C. Wellbery Georgetown University School of Medicine, Washington, USA e-mail: Caroline.Wellbery@georgetown.edu

A. Vyas Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK e-mail: A.Vyas@uea.ac.uk

Research implications E-collaboration is central at all levels of the ESH curriculum design process from forming a network collaborative around the curriculum process, alignment of assessment and learning activities with objectives, discussing and agreeing on a vision to the actual implementation plan.

Practical implications E-collaboration aids the curriculum design process such that people feel that their participation and interests are valued, as well as providing resources and input to resource stressed academics and institutions. E-collaboration is not an end in itself, but a means of enabling a global network collaborative to address an issue that suits this type of collaboration towards sustainable healthcare education. **Originality** This chapter is inventive in showing how the promotion of climate literacy can be a component of a sustainable medical curriculum and how this process is facilitated with e-collaborative tools. The chapter demonstrates how health education should educate climate literate health professionals who are able to address and reduce public health impacts of climate change.

Keywords Medical curriculum • Environmental sustainability • Network collaboration • Climate literacy • Case study

Introduction

E-collaboration has the potential to enable educators, policy-makers and researchers around the world to contribute towards designing an environmental sustainability and health curriculum, including a focus on climate literacy and health. In particular, e-collaboration provides a way to bring collocated participants from different disciplinary backgrounds, organizations and different regions and countries to contribute together towards an educational project.

E-collaboration in designing health care education is challenging. First, e-collaboration needs to take heed of considerable differences in national standards and provisions of healthcare (Starfield and Shi 2002; Ozcan and Khushalani 2016) and health education (Harden 2006). Second, e-collaboration needs to consider different stakeholders' opinions. The stakeholders include health agencies, clinicians, educators, students, and patients. These stakeholders might hold different opinions about the health curriculum and about use of hospital and educational resources including how to deal with waste and energy consumption; it is fair to assume that different stakeholders represent different positions or interests, which makes e-collaboration all the more necessary to understand different positions and mediate between them. Third, health education is highly interdisciplinary; conceptual and empirical challenges abound in synthesising and working between different traditions of research. In medicine for instance, subjects range from the traditional biosciences of anatomy, biochemistry and physiology to the clinical medical sciences such as oncology and haematology to humanities such as communication and ethics, and social sciences such as psychology and sociology (Kapucu 2006). While cross-disciplinary work provides an expanded perspective on today's complex health issues, historically entrenched disciplinary boundaries and a tendency toward specialization have created the need to develop new strategies for e-collaboration. In summary, there is lack of trialled approaches towards sustainable medical curricula facilitated by e-collaboration

While e-collaboration can help any curriculum network build, our focus in this chapter has a double focus specifically on both health professional education (e.g., climate literate health professionals) as well as sustainability. Research on how to use e-collaboration to design ESH curricula is both relatively new and highly relevant for patients, institutions (medical schools), societies, and indeed the planet. There is a need to integrate environmental sustainability and health (ESH) in the required and elective health sciences curricula. For example, providing health professionals with the ability to identify climate related health impacts (e.g., aggravation of pre-existing conditions, heat-stress, vector-borne diseases, mental health effects, and respiratory problems). In a few countries, health faculties or medical schools have made solid progress toward incorporating ESH education into the curriculum. Unfortunately, in most countries, such teaching is lagging or altogether absent. This chapter, therefore, advocates for continued innovation in supporting the curriculum collaborative, whose purpose is to design, share, and evaluate different environmental sustainability and health (ESH) education modalities focusing on the environment as a key determinant of health.

In this chapter, we examine our experiences as medical educators collaborating internationally and cross-institutionally towards designing ESH education with a focus on the sustainable medical curriculum that includes educating climate literate health professionals. Network members used electronic technologies because they were geographically dispersed and hence needed to work both synchronously and asynchronously. Our overarching aim in the chapter is to formulate guiding thoughts around general organizational processes that can inform engaging and fruitful sharing of educational curricula, materials and goals.

We provide an illustrative case to bridge these broader e-collaborative principles with the specifics of implementation driven and supported by e-collaboration. The approach to e-collaboration that we propose aims to achieve three objectives. First, the discussion of e-collaboration should provide insights that are relevant to all aspects of curriculum design. Second, cognisant of the global nature of many current challenges for environmental health and medical education, the practices that we propose can facilitate collaboration across borders and can be adapted and applied internationally. Third, we aim for an approach that enables collaboration between diverse stakeholders and involves low financial and environmental costs.

Sustainability in the Curriculum

Fundamental determinants of health such as air quality, water safety, climate, biodiversity and natural resources are global; they cut across national and political borders (Costello et al. 2009). E-collaboration is ideally suited to this kind of global

concern. In one direction, it facilitates design and subsequent dissemination of centrally agreed targets, strategies and policies such as the Sustainable Development Goals and ESD approaches. In the other direction, it allows the dissemination of examples of good practice and supports the development of locally relevant learning opportunities, informed by centrally derived goals and guidelines.

Lack of sustainability is a threat to human health worldwide, yet it has not received the attention it deserves in health education worldwide (Thompson et al. 2014). Learning objectives concerning core sustainability have been developed in the UK (Costello et al. 2009), adopted in the UK national medical curriculum (GMC Outcomes for Doctors 2015), and the validation is ongoing in the USA (Teherani et al. forthcoming) and expanded through international collaboration (Walpole et al. 2017). However, they are, to our knowledge, yet to be incorporated into learning and assessment on a national basis in any country. For example, specific training on the impact of climate change on health is limited, if not completely lacking. Generally, local medical educators' enthusiasm has tended to precede top-down institutional policy and support, driving the sustainability agenda into core teaching. E-collaboration could help to build national and international networks of educators pioneering new ESH teaching, thus bringing momentum to the process of formulating high academic standards and policies to implement ESH.

Organization and Terminology of the Chapter

In Box 1, we present the terminology pertaining to the topic. Subsequently, we describe the evolution of the Sustainable Healthcare Education (SHE)-network into a network collaborative. We then support our discussion of e-collaboration for education development through an illustrative case. The case concerns an e-collaboration between King's College London and Aristotle University, Greece, which aimed to combat paediatric obesity in Greece. By addressing network development as well as an on-the-ground case-based application of e-collaborative principles, we explore the theory and practice of e-collaborating while sharing lessons learned.

Box 1: Terminology

Climate literacy and health relate to how well students and professionals analyse principles of the Earth's climate system and effects on health as well as make judicial decisions in regards to healthcare actions that might affect both health and climate.

Collaborative or **network collaborative** refers to an organisation within a network in which members contribute towards a specific project.

Curriculum can on the one hand refer to the organised content and objectives of education as produced by an educational institution such as a medical school. This includes both formal and informal teaching and assessment methods. On the other hand, it can refer to students' experiences

with such content and objectives as they translate it into concrete learning activities.

Curriculum network or **curriculum collaborative** refers in this chapter to a group of medical educators who might be co-located and distributed across the world, yet communicate and e-collaborate on a regular basis and work together to address medical curriculum concerns.

Environmental sustainability and health (ESH) education has an overall mission to educate students with knowledge, skills, and attitudes that can contribute to environmentally sustainable high quality health-care. Sustainable here might refer to activities for building viable ecological, socio-economic conditions for sustainable healthcare. ESH curricula are health educational curricula that integrate learning about the relationship between ecosystems and human health, approaches to providing sustainable healthcare and an environmental sustainability perspective in public health and professionalism.

Medical educators are teachers, administrators, researchers, faculty developers, curriculum designers, and students who are involved in planning, conducting, evaluating, and researching learning and teaching at medical schools.

Collaborative Integration: The SHE-Network

In the following, we explore how the SHE-network has developed from its institutional origins to a global endeavour. Members of the networks involved in promoting ESH education share a desire to ensure that medical students are prepared to address the challenges and opportunities that the relationship between humans and ecosystems brings to healthcare. One example of this is to investigate the impacts on health from changes in the climate. Here we explore how this led into the SHE network's formation and growth. Our discussion touches on the network's aims, its successes to date, and challenges that remain.

Fostering a Collaborative Network

E-collaboration can help to spark and maintain a curriculum collaborative network. The SHE-network was launched in 2009 to foster cooperation around ESH education. Key milestones in the development of the network are shown in Fig. 1.

Members of the SHE-network predominantly used the network as an e-collaborative support structure, sharing their practice, and seeking common solutions. However, until recently, most members acted autonomously within their own institutions to develop teaching for their students. The SHE-network was



Fig. 1 The key achievements of the Sustainable Healthcare Education network over the past decade

therefore a loose or informal work organisation among educators. The leadership of this group passed, over time, from its creators (one academic and one clinician) to a leader with more ample time and resources (a senior academic medical registrar doctor). With an increasing membership, the SHE-network naturally evolved from loose cooperation with irregular contacts from members, towards a stronger collaboration where active participants maintained regular engagement including updates to all members. The SHE-network is an example of a collaborative that supports consensus building, and provides social capital (Briggs 2007) in what is currently a 'bottom-up' movement, that is beginning at a local level and at low levels in the organisational hierarchy before moving to influence change at an aggregate level (Walpole et al. 2017).

Once the network was well established, the time had come to work towards the global mandate of integrating sustainable practices into medical education and addressing the health impacts of climate change. This came about through a highly interactive symposium (with both face-to-face and video-linked interaction between participants) that also served as a network node. A core group from the SHE network sought a forum for this endeavour and identified the 2016 AMEE (Association for Medical Education in Europe) conference (the world's largest conference for international medical educators, held annually) (Walpole et al. 2017). The group ran a symposium exploring environmental sustainability curriculum development building on previous years' experience at AMEE conferences. After the workshop, conference participants self-selected to join a SHE-based core

group de-briefing and exchanged contact information. When participants returned to their home institutions, several responded to the workshop leaders' invitation to participate in a publication summarizing the workshop structure and outcomes. In the following six months, several related projects were developed.

SHE-network accomplishments

As initially outlined, the aims of the SHE-network's e-collaborative activities target-specific outcomes. Currently completed and on-going projects include network expansion, development of an on-line presence through an established web-based platform, publications and presentations in a range of formats and settings, the development of open-access case studies, curriculum materials and online network discussion.

Network expansion

After the AMEE meeting, the SHE-network expanded its reach through representatives across continents. These included not only individual participants, but affiliated educational networks with the potential to expand SHE's reach. Network strengthening, expansion and creation of nodal centres within or between organizations such as universities or medical schools offer opportunities to support the long-term goal of educating healthcare professionals to think and act for a sustainable agenda. Expanded networks can use e-collaboration to move from a narrowly defined towards a well-defined goal without losing sight of the broader understanding of ESH. For instance, e-collaboration allows for discussion of whether the top priority should be to lower carbon-emission in hospital or primary care or to tackle the mutual effects between health and climate change, or migration patterns in the future.

At the same time, network expansion requires e-collaboration to facilitate inclusivity, and its correlate: resisting fragmentation. To keep all e-collaborators engaged and goal-focused, small breakout groups were formed through e-communication and these groups addressed specifically assigned tasks. Sub-groups have had the opportunity to reconvene online and report to the broader network on the subtasks and larger enterprise.

Platform development

An e-repository of resources and materials is an important focal point for sharing materials. The SHE-network collaborative uses the Centre for Sustainable Healthcare's subsection on SHE to post resources and materials for curricular development. Access to a repository of free educational materials is essential to assist users internationally in adapting their curricula to specific settings and various levels of resource allocations.

Based on experience of the SHE network, an ideal repository amenable to e-collaboration should have the following characteristics. First, a list of resources, particularly open-access on-line courses focusing on ESH, but also agencies and organizations that provide education and advocacy tools. Second, the repository should assemble syllabi that users can adapt in developing learning objectives and structuring courses at their own institutions. Third, full course content modules should allow easy adaptation in resource-limited areas, where lack of time and funding may interfere with curriculum development. Fourth, a materials repository must provide a forum for feedback because of varying local concerns in face of globally applicable conditions. In summary, a materials repository must provide a forum for feedback. The SHE-network's comment function allows e-collaborators to add to and comment on postings, which in turn facilitate discussion of the latest pedagogical thinking.

Scholarship

In the wake of the SHE-network's presence at AMEE, one of the group's goals was to enlist collaboration on scholarly activities, including publications and presentations. Thus, network members could enlist collaboration on projects that would build on previous accomplishments and enhance the network's visibility and credibility.

In writing up research papers and preparing conference submissions, members as e-collaborators of the SHE-network experimented with different communication intensities, that is, coming together face-to-face at widely spaced intervals, communicating as a plenary through video or audio modalities or on a variety of e-platforms, and breaking out into small groups communicating electronically to accomplish specific tasks. But in general, the e-collaboration tools available to the SHE-network serve exactly the same purpose as for any other collaboration and include any combination of the following: synchronous web-based chat tools, asynchronous conferencing tools, e-mail, internet-based list-servers, Web 2.0 with social network tools, collaborative writing tools and collaborative decision support systems (Rosalind 2014).

E-collaboration with videoconferencing is useful in planning conference workshops, conducting research and writing journal articles. Shared successes in these areas have spurred the network on, over time, towards increasingly complex goals. As Schauer and Zeiller (2011) point out, to promote e-collaboration success, successful synchronous cooperation is key. In our experience, none of the communication venues or platforms mentioned above replace or compensate for tacit elements that are crucial to the group's success. These include a sense of diligence and responsibility, passion for the project, and openness and respect towards colleagues.

E-collaboration needs to resolve issues around authorship in a collaborative network. Our experience was that e-collaboration adapted to fluid leadership where different contributors were encouraged to step up at different times depending on the network members' evolving priorities. We found that the more motivated the group, the less leadership is necessary and the more coordination functions take precedent. The assignation of followership, authorship and sense of agency may for that reason not be as problematic for a passionate issue-driven volunteer group as it is for traditional collaborations.

Curriculum development

Network participants have contributed various specific curricular examples via the SHE-network. These range from course syllabi to detailed descriptions of workshops and modules incorporated into pre-clinical and clinical courses to on-line case studies. Although data are lacking on the extent to which these curricular cross-network postings have been adapted thus far across institutions, sharing of curricular material is most feasible under specific conditions.

First, curriculum development must involve committed faculty as e-collaborators who already have experience with curriculum implementation and can inform best practices, that is, share their successes for how to export a curriculum to other medical schools within their own or other countries. There is also a need for relevant faculty in this collaboration e.g. educators who are knowledgeable and experienced in environmental health, sustainability, climate literacy.

Next, faculty will be best motivated to use e-collaborative technologies if they are aligned with the technologies as a social practice of medicine. It is important to recognize that the collaborative tools used for purposes of medical research, medicine as science, medical education and the medical profession follow and an intricate but meaningful social practice (Crawford 2006). Medicine for instance centres on standard diagnostic and treatment modalities across institutions. E-collaboration allows participants to query the network members about differences in the social practices in which they participate. This might give us worked examples as to how health is affected by climate change and its ramifications in different settings.

Finally, to further the network's goal of developing curricular material, network members gather information on and develop responses to the challenges network e-collaborators might have encountered in adapting different components of web-based resources in a range of settings. While this web-based approach to shared curricular materials will likely mean focusing at first on homogeneous end-users, e.g. learners from developed countries where fossil fuel consumption is not only high but also taken for granted in everyday life, we hope to use all the strands of our connective capacities to involve e-collaborators from low- and middle-income countries (LMIC). To this end, it is important to engage students and, elicit their input to make the cases and simulations relevant to their local circumstances to eventually achieve global portability.

Case Example: UK-Greek University Collaboration

In the previous section, we described the development and expansion of an international medical educational network and its potential to enhance communication, scholarly collaboration, and curricular integration of ESH across institutions on a global scale. What might such collaboration look like in the setting of a concrete project that addresses specific institutional and culturally mediated needs? We present an example of e-collaboration that moved towards designing e-learning tools (see Box 2). The project was specifically geared towards creating a more sustainable healthcare system with few resources. While the example of the SHE network demonstrates how a network can develop and produce wide-ranging outputs, this case demonstrates how a partnership e-collaboration for a more focused project can be effectively engage stakeholders, develop messages and outputs that have value in different contexts and encourage participation and interaction between educators and students. Although the example focuses on addressing obesity, this lessons learned are applicable to promoting climate literate health professionals.

Box 2: Case study: E-collaboration between two institutions

Who? Representatives of the Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece (AUTH) invited representatives of King's College London, UK (KCL).

Why? The overall purpose was to present and cope with an obesity epidemic in Greek society. KCL was invited to support AUTH in introducing a behaviour change intervention to address obesity. By way of background, Greece is burdened with the highest rate of paediatric obesity in the world. Obesity is precursor of inactivity, arthritis, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, diabetes and stroke, as well as social and psychological distress. The impacts of this obesity epidemic are unsustainable, with increasing morbidity driving up the social, financial and environmental costs of healthcare provision. In addition, the Greek healthcare system and indeed higher education system is constrained by financial austerity following the recent collapse of its financial system.

The project was low budget, which was the initial driver for adopting an e-collaborative approach. The project needed lecture materials, handouts, scenarios to support peer-to-peer role-play, teacher training, monitoring of assessments, and careful ongoing evaluation as an established educational programme from the UK was effectively being transplanted into the Greek context.

What? There were three curricula collaborative elements. First, the intervention involved a lecture and role-play on broaching obesity and applying behaviour change theory and motivational interviewing techniques to support patients in both setting and achieving a personal goal. Students were provided with tailored information on evidenced strategies to improve diet, lose weight and/or increase physical activity levels. Second, students were distributed to a large network of general practices across the region and required to complete a behaviour change intervention with patients. Third, students were required to submit a reflection on their experiences as a compulsory but formative assessment.

How? The process involved regular video conferencing meetings using a free online platform were set up with the course organiser at AUTH to individualise the collaborative process. Materials were shared via email and

translated locally. An interactive webinar was set up to support teacher development that included skills training in motivational interviewing and practical applications of behaviour change theory. Students were sent to over 130 primary care locations in three termly blocks and completed behaviour change consultations that included setting patient-led goals and action plans with over 3000 patients in a single academic year. Students were required to submit their reflective essays and a summary of each consultation via a free cloud-based document-sharing site. These were accessed and translated into English using free online translation software and used, with ethical approval, to evaluate the programme, looking at the experiences of students through their reflective essays and the experiences of patients through the consultation summaries.

Evaluation—how? The efficiency of this e-collaborative approach was evident to all involved. KCL's initial input was a single afternoon webinar, where existing teaching materials were recycled. AUTH gained access to the KCL programme that had been honed across three years of action research. Students across a multi-site network were able to articulate and reflect on their learning as part of their assessment, which was then submitted via cloud-based file sharing, and used to quality control and improve their experience. The research interests of the team at KCL were used to support the evaluation needs at AUTH. This synergy was created by breaking down the barriers to international collaboration, where physical distance, language barriers and resource disparities become less significant through technology. The impacts in terms of environmental sustainability will depend on the students' success in changing behaviour. Adopting a 'back of the envelope' method of estimating these savings, if 1 in 10 patients achieved their goal and that goal resulted in a 33% reduction in health care needs over the life of that patient, then the healthcare-related carbon footprint of those 3000 patients would be reduced by approximately 3%.

Integrating a Range of Stakeholders

The first lesson of the case of UK-Greek University collaboration is that e-collaboration can integrate a range of stakeholders. Keeping external stakeholders or key players involved is important in the curriculum design process because they have the resources to improve but also greatly hinder any new initiative. This is particularly relevant when external stakeholders such as health politicians and physician postgraduate representatives at hospitals or in the national physician association are invited to participate in the network collaborative. In short, e-collaboration must keep external stakeholders or key players content that progress is achieved by frequently communicating (synchronously and asynchronously) with external stakeholders and giving them options about how they transmit their feedback and opinions to the whole network.

The second lesson is that e-collaboration can be used for purposes of knowledge sharing between external and internal stakeholders. Sharing of new curricula, learning-centred teaching, new technologies etc. need to be continuous. This is relevant because a curriculum is a process involving continuous program design and renewal (Briggs 2007). The continuous process derives from the fact that a curriculum has its own lifecycle according to the academic year and stakeholders need to be kept updated about current activities. Furthermore, curriculum renewal or reform might come about following international research trends, faculty and student desires to change (or keep) the curriculum as well as political pressure from external stakeholders. Regardless of the pace of curriculum renewal, e-collaboration is a way of keeping stakeholders at two institutions (e.g. medical schools as in above case: KCL and AUTH) each with external and internal stakeholders on the same page.

A third lesson is that e-collaboration is helpful in uniting stakeholders in the process of formulating a vision. Agreement on standards and course-validation is one aspect of this. Another is to share and discuss benchmarks or visions from professional bodies that the ESH curriculum needs to fulfil. E-collaboration might help participants agree on common standards and the structure of the curriculum such as how many hours and which type of assessment. This should then contribute to building a vision and a shared narrative about the value of ESH for the involved stakeholders of the institutions. In summary, external and internal stakeholder e-collaboration, agreeing on the novelty and visionary status of sustainability (e.g., climate literacy) might help stakeholders to build an ethos as change agents and involved medical schools to build an image as sustainable medical schools (i.e., schools producing climate literate medical professionals).

Addressing National and Local Health and Political Contexts

The above case is an example of how e-collaboration provides an opportunity for one medical school (KCL) to not only export the message of sustainability, but also develop it together with another medical school (AUTH). It is pertinent in the initial phase of e-collaboration to build awareness of national and local contextual differences. Once a consensus has arisen through collaboration, there needs to be a process of individuation to the local context.

The discipline of sustainable healthcare education often arises and becomes an internationally shared agenda within a national or local context. E-collaboration must address local and contextual factors and take account of national and cultural settings in which medical schools are situated. The point is that two different medical schools in different or even in the same countries might not serve the same patients (i.e., presenting with similar disease patterns), the same medical students or

share the same curriculum and educational objectives. Because these differences might sound obvious, or because we as educators get accustomed to our own curriculum and terminology etc., differences can easily be overlooked and tailored solutions might be missed. For instance, while the UN's Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) agenda provided a general context for change (UN 1987; UNESCO 2006), it did not address the specific institutional constraints in healthcare delivery that leaders would need to account for to implement ESD.

ESH education is influenced by numerous factors beyond the pedagogical reorientation urged by ESD. These factors include changes in social and political trends, healthcare practice, scientific advancements, health systems reorganisation, varying climatic conditions and national and international policy developments. For instance, in relation to the above-mentioned UK-Greece collaboration, change caused by external factors such as increased awareness of environmental determinants of health and introduction of carbon-emissions reporting in the UK (NHS 2012). It was also manifested through an increased focus on transparency and quality and a better understanding of the carbon footprint of healthcare, and the creation of new organisations such as Public Health England (Negev and Kovats 2016); and enshrining responsibility within the UK Climate Change Act 2008 (Costello et al. 2009). In summary, e-collaboration towards curriculum development is charged with political pressures for reform or renewal nationally and internationally.

The Role of Students: Enabling Broad, Equitable Participation

E-collaboration can enable broad, equitable participation. The perspective of students is crucial to ensure that the design, content and delivery of curricula meet the needs and expectations of learners. Traditionally curricula have had limited participation of lower 'status' stakeholders, for example students or patients having limited input compared to professors or consultants.

In the Greek/UK collaboration described above (Box 2), students were able to give their 'evaluation' of the course and their experiences with patients as part of their reflective essay submission, effectively creating a participatory action research project, where their experiences were fed forward into the next cycle of curriculum development. Challenges were anticipated in collaborating between differently resourced medical schools with disparate cultures and population profiles. Nonetheless, the depth of learning and reflection by students at AUTH and the reported engagement of their patients exceeded the levels reported at KCL. There was a high level of engagement by students in this progressive, e-collaborative project.

Our vision moving forward would be of an ongoing international collaboration, extending to students, blurring boundaries between educators and students, promoting scholarship, and involving and empowering students as active partners in the ongoing review and development of curricula (Fetterman 2001). The majority of today's students are active users of social media and online communications in a
variety of forms. Notably, In the UK, the medical student campaign 'Healthy Planet' (www.healthyplanet.org), which addresses environmental and health issues, mainly communicates through social media and cloud-based technologies. The International Federation of Medical Students' Associations brings together medical students from over 100 countries, involving a variety of e-collaboration tools. Students may be more *digitally native* and willing to be *digital immigrants* than educators (Prensky 2001) may and may be experienced at getting to know and use new online platforms.

In the case of SHE, students clearly provided leadership, for example, by creating and disseminating e-learning modules and webcasts. Although medical students have highly demanding course requirements to meet, many students have made significant contributions both during student-selected projects and outside of their formal medical training (Dyrbye et al. 2006). Students' idealism, energy and career motivations may be contributing factors. In summary, students are important partners in e-collaboration both because it is important to take into account their perspective on the priorities for medical education, and because they bring useful skills, energy, and experience.

Conclusion

In conclusion, e-collaboration is central at all levels of the ESH curriculum design process. This is particularly the case in forming a network collaborative around the curriculum process, to alignment of assessment and learning activities with objectives, to discussing and agreeing on vision, to the actual implementation. E-collaboration can aid the curriculum design process such that people feel that their participation and interests are valued, as well as providing resources and input to support stressed academics and institutions. E-collaboration is not an end in itself, but a means of enabling a global network to address an issue that suits this type of collaboration.

The projects discussed in this chapter highlight the need for five further lines of research. First, e-collaboration has implications not only for ESH curriculum design, but also for faculty capacity development. Thus, once the curriculum is in shape, we found that there arises a need for initiatives that enhance medical educators' teaching competences or capacities to teach about new and unfamiliar topics (e.g., climate literacy). Medical educators at all levels from tutors to seasoned professors might benefit from participating in the network for e-collaboration on teaching modalities (e.g. e-learning).

Second, future research must (or needs to) look more at ethics. As discussed above, e-collaboration can potentially widen accessibility of and participation in curriculum development, but it is also important to be cognisant of the potential inequality of participation, production and ownership within such a network. Research could investigate the complex issues about ownership of tools, e.g. copyright in relation to sustainability, as well as political and economic embeddedness of a network aiming to be environmentally conscious. Thus, an issue for environmentally conscious networks is the stated environmental credentials (e.g. green accountability) of providers and platforms that the network engages with. If the provider of an e-collaboration tool does not have an adequate environmental policy, are medical educators wanting to implement a green curriculum ethically obliged to avoid using and recommending such a tool, even if it might technically be the best solution?

Third, future research should consider how the output of an e-collaboration could be formalised and made widely available through e-learning. Our examples demonstrate useful outputs of e-collaboration, and their applicability in different settings. With existing medical curricula often at capacity and little room for new fields to be introduced, e-learning provides an opportunity to provide learning episodes for large numbers of students in both LMIC and high-income countries (Frehywot et al. 2013).

Fourth, future research might look at ESH through the lens of higher education research. One question is whether ESH as a curriculum strategy and ideology impedes or furthers trans-border trade in higher education. On one hand, e-collaboration is arguably a powerful set of tools and strategies that are impervious or at least neutral to the rising demand for online higher education. On the other hand, e-collaboration is not just a neutral approach. It affects how health curricula are shared and developed towards or away from ESH curricula integrated or as stand-alone courses in the curriculum. It was our opinion as researchers and educators that ESH should be integrated into health education and not be a stand-alone course. However, further research is needed to substantiate this opinion and formulate guidelines for the design of ESH curricula.

Fifth, research is needed on higher education concerning the interplay between e-collaborative curriculum and higher education policies around blended learning. University education is going online at a rapid pace with open universities, MOOCs, e-universities etc. Research should assess what role e-collaboration can play in this development.

In conclusion, in our experience e-collaboration around curriculum design is about networking and organising work. E-collaboration might only improve workflows if the organisation, e.g. the ways the members of the subgroups are organised, is ready to embrace e-collaborative tools. E-collaboration emerges to address parochial limitations in institutional and national political agendas pertaining to medical schools' curricula. It underscores the need for global connectivity and continuous real-world practical engagement as well as more theoretical work and collaboration. E-collaboration might help in formulating new policies and initiatives between regions or even countries around student exchange agreements to address sustainability as a global concern by keeping members up-to-date on issues as well as promoting discussion, (e.g., around current thinking and research related to climate literacy for health professionals). The impact of e-collaboration on ESH curriculum and subsequent impact on a more sustainable global environment depend on both the actual tools and their application in collaborative networks. Acknowledgements First, for creating Fig. 1, our heartfelt thanks to Matthew D. Mueller, DO/ MPH, Des Moines University College of Osteopathic Medicine. Second, funding was instrumental in physically bringing together members of the SHE Network on two occasions. The first funding, a Collaborative Teaching Grant from the UK Higher Education Academy allowed a national consultation process involving 64 participants to be held around the three Priority Learning Outcomes on sustainability. The second, funding for the collaboration between King's College London, UK (KCL) was in part from the Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece (AUTH).

References

- Briggs, C. L. (2007). Curriculum collaboration: A key to continuous program renewal. The Journal of Higher Education., 78(6), 676–711. doi:10.1080/00221546.2007.11772076.
- Costello, A., Abbas, M., Allen, A., Ball, S., Bell, S., Bellamy, R., et al. (2009). Managing the health effects of climate change: Lancet and University College London Institute for Global Health Commission. *The Lancet.*, 373(9676), 1693–1733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60935-1.
- Crawford, R. (2006). Health as a meaningful social practice. *Health*, 10(4), 401–420. doi:10.1177/1363459306067310.
- Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2006). Systematic review of depression, anxiety, and other indicators of psychological distress among U.S. and Canadian medical schools. Academic Medicine, 81(4), 354–373.
- Fetterman, D. M. (2001). The transformation of evaluation into a collaboration: A vision of evaluation in the 21st century. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 22(3), 381–385.
- Frehywot, S., Vovides, Y., Talib, Z., Mikhail, N., Ross, H., & Wohltjen, H., et al. (2013). E-learning in medical education in resource constrained low- and middle-income countries. *Human Resources & Health*, 11(4). doi:10.1186/1478-4491-11-4.
- Harden, R. M. (2006). International medical education and future directions: A global perspective. Academic Medicine, 81(12), S22–S29. doi:10.1097/01.ACM.0000243411.19573.58.
- Kapucu, N. (2006). Public-nonprofit partnerships for collective action in dynamic contexts of emergencies. *Public Administration*, 84(1), 205–220. doi:10.1111/j.0033-3298.2006.00500.x.
- Negev, M., & Kovats, R. S. (2016). Climate change adaptation in the reorganized UK public health system: A view from local government. *Public health*, 134, 102–104.
- Ozcan, Y. A., & Khushalani, J. (2016). Assessing efficiency of public health and medical care provision in OECD countries after a decade of reform. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1007/s10100-016-0440-0.
- Pencheon, D. & Roschnick, S. (2012). Sustainability in the NHS Health Check 2012. NHS Sustainable Development Unit. Cambridge, UK: NHS Sustainable Development Unit, 2012. Retrieved from: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/documents/publications/Sustainability_in_the_ NHS_Health_Check_2012_On-Screen_Version.pdf.
- Prensky, M. (2001). Digital Natives, Digital Immigrants Part 1. On the Horizon, 9(5), 1–6. 10.1108/10748120110424816.
- Rosalind, J. (2014). ICT's participatory potential in higher education collaborations: Reality or just talk. British Journal of Educational Technology, 45(4), 557–570. doi:10.1111/bjet.12060.
- Schauer, B., & Zeiller, M. (2011). E-collaboration systems: How collaborative they really are analysis of collaboration features of electronic collaboration systems. In *The First International Conference on Advanced Collaborative Networks, Systems and Applications, IARIA* (pp. 16– 21). ISBN: 978-1-61208-143-4.
- Starfield, B., & Shi, L. (2002). Policy relevant determinants of health: An international perspective. *Health Policy*, 60(3), 201–218.
- Teherani, A. (In preparation). Validation of sustainability learning objectives. *Journal Article Manuscript*.

- Thompson, T., Walpole, S., Braithwaite, I., Inman, A., Barna, S., & Mortimer, F. (2014). Learning objectives for sustainable health care. *The Lancet*, 384, 1924–1925. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (14)62274-1.
- United Nations General Assembly. (1987). *Report of the world commission on environment the role of collaborative networks in sustainability 17 and development: Our common future.* Transmitted to the General Assembly as an Annex to document A/42/427—Development and International Co-operation: Environment. Retrieved from: http://www.un-documents.net/wced-ocf.htm.
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (2006). *Trade in Higher Education and GATS (Briefing paper on GATS)*. Retrieved from: http://www.unesco.org/education/studyingabroad/highlights.
- Walpole, S., Vyas, A., Maxwell, J., Canny, B. J., Woolard, R., & Wellbery, C., et al. (2017). Building an environmentally accountable medical curriculum through international collaboration. *Medical Teacher*, 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2017.1342031.

Resources

http://www.healtheweather.com/dailybreath. http://networks.sustainablehealthcare.org.uk/home.

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) on Climate Change and Health: Teaching a Global Audience

Sandra Barteit, Anneliese Depoux, Ali Sié, Maurice Yé and Rainer Sauerborn

Abstract Massive open online courses (MOOCs) give the opportunity to engage and teach a global audience into the rationale and arguments of climate change and its impact on health. We want to describe the possibilities of MOOCs for climate change education on the example of three MOOCs on climate change and health that were offered on the online learning platform iversity and FUN-MOOC: one MOOC was designed for a broader audience without prior requirements in the area of climate system and climate change. The learning target was health impacts worldwide, best practices in adaptation and mitigation strategies, as well as the promotion of health co-benefits. This MOOC was subtitled in ten different languages. An executive MOOC was targeted at policy makers as part of their conference briefing for the climate conference COP21 in Paris in 2015. The key arguments of the MOOC included the development of climate policies and their fair share of the burden and benefits, as well as scientific evidence behind the four key arguments based on human health for climate policy (Sauerborn 2016a, b). The third MOOC focused again on a broader audience on climate change and health within an African context for a francophone audience. In the following, we introduce MOOCs for teaching climate change education to a global audience, also with a focus on developing countries, followed by a description of the three MOOCs on the topic of climate change and health in more detail with regards to their contents,

S. Barteit $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. Sauerborn

Institute of Public Health, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: barteit@uni-heidelberg.de

R. Sauerborn e-mail: rainer.sauerborn@uni-heidelberg.de

A. Depoux

Centre Virchow-Villermé, University of Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France e-mail: anneliese.depoux@uspc.fr

A. Sié · M. Yé Centre de Recherche en Santé de Nouna, Nouna, Burkina Faso e-mail: sieali@crsn-nouna.bf

M. Yé e-mail: yemaure@yahoo.fr

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_10 participant demographics, retention rate and encountered challenges. We discuss our findings with regards to all three MOOCs and will give insights into practices for employing MOOCs in climate change education, for developed and developing countries.

Keywords Climate change • Health • Climate change education Massive open online courses • MOOC

Introduction

Climate change is in the news worldwide and captures global alertness: for the COP21, delegations from over 190 different countries met to consult on how to decrease greenhouse gas emissions to sustain global warming under 2 °C (Centre Virchow-Villermé 2016). The urgent call for climate change mitigation and the pursuit of a vision of low-carbon and climate-resilient economies and countries lead an increasing number of universities and institutions to develop courses to prepare students. Several studies identified the need for more training among health professionals, also with regards to communication and engagement towards health effects of climate change (Sayre et al. 2010; Barna et al. 2012; Nigatu et al. 2014; Wei et al. 2014; Adlong and Dietsch 2015a, b, Rudolph and Gould 2015). Especially in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC), there is an urgent need for trained healthcare workers as reported by the world health report 2013 (World Health Organization 2013) and a lack of education in the curriculum of health professionals regarding climate change (Majra and Acharya 2009; Nigatu et al. 2014). The recently growing numbers of massive open online courses (MOOCs) and their equivalent growing numbers of participants, offer possibilities to embrace climate change education (Escher et al. 2014; Chuang and Ho 2016). Already in the world health report of 2006, the WHO recommends employing regional resources and IT to moderate costs (World Health Organization 2006) of education and appeal to contribute to global health educational opportunities (Withers et al. 2016).

Health is a top priority worldwide and according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate change (IPCC; very high confidence), "health of human populations is sensitive to shifts in weather patterns and other aspects of climate change" (Woodward et al. 2014). Health is found to be a motivator of behavioural change of populations (Sauerborn 2016a, b) and can be the base to help raise awareness and stimulate action with regards to climate change, increasing the reach to a global level with support of technological developments in online education, such as MOOCs (Levy and Patz 2015). Thus MOOCs are possibly an enabling factor also to fulfil the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), as outlined by the background report for the UNESCO (International Council of Open and Distance Education (ICDE) 2015).

What Are MOOCs?

MOOCs are targeted at masses (massive), are open to anyone anywhere given an Internet connection (open), its coursework is delivered entirely over the Internet (online) and contents are offered in a course-like-style (courses) (Hoy 2014). The majority of MOOCs on the most prevalent learning platforms offer xMOOCs (Adams et al. 2014) that are mainly based on the principle of knowledge replication that is transferred with video lectures, literature resources and guizzes. The open access policy of MOOCs allows students worldwide to access educational resources that otherwise may not be available to them financially and geographically (Withers et al. 2016). As an example, a MOOC that was offered on the subject of Artificial Intelligence by Stanford University in the US attracted over 160,000 students and in the end the top Stanford student was outperformed by 411 online students (Brynjolfsson and McAfee 2014). MOOCs are free of charge, learning is possible at an individual pace, everyone can sign up without restrictions, learners can support each other and build an online community, and in our case subtitles in up to ten languages are offered to lower the language barrier. Also for climate change education, MOOCs offer possibilities to engage a broad audience in climate change policies and practices, as well as they encourage the advancement towards sustainable development and climate literacy linking the debate of climate change to health. Researchers, health practitioners and institutions need to support the process of developing policies and interventions to adapt to outcome related to climate change. MOOCs could be an instrument to open access on a global level to quality education on climate change and health (Levy and Patz 2015), providing another mean to spread knowledge about a more climate friendly and healthier planet (Sauerborn 2016a, b)-especially as the technology needed to access MOOCs becomes increasingly cheaper and widespread, also in resource-low countries (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017).

The three MOOCs on climate change and health allow participants to connect climate change and health outcomes and to give insights into adverse health effects of climate change and health co-benefits resulting from climate policies (Levy and Patz 2015; Sauerborn 2016a, b). Furthermore, the MOOCs encourage people to engage with their local political representative and actively initiate change on a local, municipal level.

However, a necessity of MOOCs is online access. Internet access has increased and is increasing globally, especially with the growth of the mobile broadband market (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017). In 2017, more than 50% of the world will be online. Yet, the costs to access the Internet still keep low-resource countries left behind, the so-called digital divide (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017). According to the Affordability Report 2017, Zimbabwe as an African country currently has the cheapest cost of 1 GB mobile data with 6% of average monthly income, followed by Tanzania with 8.74% (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017). Evaluations of MOOCs show that in general they attract educated, middle-aged participants from developed countries (Escher et al. 2014; Hansen and

Reich 2015). Climate change affects populations worldwide, and the health of the poorest is often the most vulnerable. Therefore, it is important to keep the discussion and effort ongoing to close the gap of the digital divide and make climate change education as accessible as possible for everyone worldwide, targeting two Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)¹: goal 9-Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation,² and *goal* 13—Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts.³ Overall, the demand for higher education in Africa is growing and current numbers indicate that Africa may not be able to provide the necessary infrastructure for higher education (Escher et al. 2014). MOOCs can be envisioned to act as an enabling factor (Escher et al. 2014) and an opportunity for higher education (Warusavitarana et al. 2014), also in the area of climate change and health. Current approaches to make MOOCs accessible within resource-low environments are only minor-such as decreasing the data volume of the MOOC by making lectures accessible as text downloadable files, providing audio files separately to the MOOC videos, offer low resolution videos—as they decrease the overall learning experience and deprive participants of the multimedia element of the MOOC. In order to enable people, especially in low income countries, to access the Internet and access qualitative higher learning resources, Internet access needs to be affordable. The importance of Internet access is now reflected in goal 9 of the SDG: "Significantly increase access to information and communications technology and strive to provide universal and affordable access to the Internet in least developed countries by 2020". The 2017 Affordability Report suggests that 1 GB of data should not cost more than 2% of the average income (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017). To bridge low-bandwidth and high mobile data prices in low-resource countries, on campuses within certain areas MOOCs could be provided centrally on a local server within a local Wi-Fi network.

MOOCs on Climate Change and Health—Educating the World

The Heidelberg Institute of Public Health (HIPH) has developed and designed three MOOCs on the topic of climate change and health together with partners from the Centre Virchow-Villermé⁴ (CVV) and Université Sorbonne Paris Cité (USPC) in Paris, France, and the Centre de Recherche en Santé de Nouna⁵ (CRSN) in Nouna, Burkina Faso. These MOOCs are offered on two different learning platforms: one

¹https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdgs.

²https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg9.

³https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg13.

⁴http://virchowvillerme.eu.

⁵http://www.crsn-nouna.bf.

platform is the Germany-based, commercial learning platform iversity⁶—MOOCs are mainly in German and English—and on the francophone, non-commercial learning platform FUN-MOOC,⁷ supported by the French government. The main objective of the MOOC is to familiarize a broad audience as well as the specific audience of policy-makers to the rationale of climate change and health of populations. Currently, health is not prominent in the debate on climate change. To increase the accessibility and the reach of the arguments on climate change and health, the medium of MOOC was chosen as it has shown to be promising, especially in reaching a broader audience and people burdened by financial, geographical or language restrictions (Brynjolfsson and McAfee 2014; Chuang and Ho 2016).

Development and Design of the MOOCs

All three MOOCs have been designed and produced with scientific experts of the field and the MOOC factory⁸ of the CVV, who provided the technical team for the video production process.

The contents of the MOOC Climate Change and Health (CC&H) are based on a yearly, two-week presence short course at the HIPH that averagely had around 25 participants. The course materials were adapted and condensed to fit in video segments of 7 to a maximum of 14 min each (see Tables 2, 3 and 4). Four scientists, all authors of the health chapter in the IPCC fifth assessment report, designed and developed the MOOC Climate Change and Health for Policy-Makers (CC&H PM) focusing on policy-makers attending the COP21. The francophone MOOC Changement climatique et santé dans le context Africain (CC&S) has been collaboratively designed by experts from the HIPH and CRSN from the field of public health, climatology and meteorology who have taught the topics in presence courses, which served as a basis for the design and development of this MOOC. Multimedia such as graphs, video sequences and pictures were used to support the learning process within the MOOC segments. The English MOOCs were shot in a small video room of the CVV in Paris and on location in Burkina Faso. The video editing and course creation on the respective MOOC platforms was done by CVV. The promotion of the MOOC was through mailing lists, social media channels, word-of-mouth, conferences and through the online learning platforms.

⁶https://iversity.org.

⁷https://www.fun-mooc.fr.

⁸MOOC factory: http://virchowvillerme.eu/the-mooc-factory/.

MOOC Climate Change and Health (CC&H)

The MOOC Climate Change and Health (CC&H) offered on the learning platform iversity is targeted at a global audience and focuses on the latest evidence of the relation between climate change and health. The MOOC CC&H addresses a broad public audience, for example, health professionals, teachers, journalists, meteorologists, climate scientists and every global interested citizen without prior knowledge of climate system and climate change. In order to increase the global reach and to make the MOOC accessible to people whose first language is not English, the MOOC was subtitled in nine different languages: Arabic, Chinese (Mandarin), English, Hindi, Indonesian, French, Portuguese, Russian and Spanish. The objective of the MOOC CC&H is to familiarize students with the global effects and impacts on health, in particular for their respective home country. Throughout the course, students analysed their country as a case study, which then was published and discussed in an online forum with MOOC course participants from the same country to understand the limits and strengths of their respective home country's climate adaptation plan. Furthermore, the MOOC covers the topic of best practices for adaptation and mitigation strategies, as well as for health co-benefits. Discussion forums were setup with a focus on diseases and other target-group specific interest groups, such as climate change-related child malnutrition or health effects on the elderly. The objective was to engage students with their national and local policy makers to initiate a process to focus on health-related impacts of climate change in their respective home countries.

Overall, the MOOC CC&H contains 25 video lectures with an average length of 9.8 min per video lecture, arranged in the following six chapters: (1) What is climate change and how can it affect health? (2) What health effects do we expect? (3) Reducing emission—in health terms: Prevention, (4) The good news: doing something to reduce emissions is good for your health, (5) Adapting to the effects of already occurring climate change: "Therapy", (6) Outlook: A climate friendly world is healthier, more equitable, sustainable and fun.

Furthermore, the MOOC offered a journal to students for their exercises, which covered: (1) What is climate change to you? (2) In your opinion?—Climate change policy and (3) Health as a positive leverage for climate policy—Interview someone. All students are able to access each other's journals to foster discussions.

MOOC Climate Change and Health for Policy-Makers

The MOOC *Climate Change and Health for Policy-Makers (CC&H PM)* followed the format of policy briefs as it was designed for policy-makers and negotiators, involved in climate agreements, particularly as an input for the United Notions Framework Convention on climate change—the 21st Conference COP21 in Paris, in 2016. The objective of the MOOC CC&H PM was to teach the effect of health in

climate policy as a central theme and motivator (Sauerborn 2016a, b). Four renowned scientists authored this MOOC and also the health chapter in the recent fifth assessment report of the IPCC. This MOOC has a total runtime of 3 h stretched over one week, providing evidence of health as central for climate policy: Four key climate policy arguments based on human health are presented that are integral in all climate policy negotiations (Sauerborn 2016a, b):

- 1. Health is a positive motivator, a driving force for citizens.
- 2. The huge health co-benefits must enter the risk-benefit calculations.
- 3. There are health limits to adaptation.
- 4. Decreased work productivity in hot countries.

One key argument of the course is to reflect on health as a key indicator for sustainable development and for climate policy. The course is organized in four lectures each eight minutes long and each developing the four key health arguments, that are complementary following a common storyline. Seven optional quiz questions are available, as well as a discussion forum which was central to engage participants in exchanging views and initiating discussion on course topics. Course assistants and the course lecturer participated in the forums and provided weekly feedback with videos to individual questions and email comments, on top to personal email feedback during the course.

MOOC Changement Climatique et Santé En Contexte Africain

The francophone MOOC *Changement Climatique et Santé en Contexte Africain* (*CC&S*) was targeted at a francophone audience, in particular focusing on West Africa, including students and professionals in the field of public health and environmental sciences interested in the interdisciplinary issue of the health impacts of climate change. The MOOC CC&S defines climate change and its health impacts in Africa and provides an environment for reflection on how to best adapt and prevent risks for health and to work collaboratively on climate change and its health impacts. Experts in public health, climatology and meteorology from CRSN and HIPH were involved in the design and production of this MOOC to describe, explain and analyse climate change and introduce course participants to the concepts of prevention, mitigation and adaptation. The course was spanned over five weeks covering the topics of: (1) Basic physics of climate change, (2) links between climate change and human health, (3) responses to mitigation, surveillance and prevention, (4) responses to adaptation, (5) policy responses.

Looking Behind the Curtain

We have analysed all three MOOCs. Overall, the three MOOCs on Climate Change and Health (Climate Change and Health, Climate change and Health for Policy-Makers, Changement Climatique et Santé en Contexte Africain) attracted almost 7,000 participants globally. The retention rate—how many participants have earned certificates—varies for the three MOOCs between 1% for CC&H, 20% CC&H PM and 9% for CC&S. For the MOOCs on CC&H and CC&H PM most participants progressed less than 5% of the total course contents. The retention decreases for the course progress span of 5–20% (CC&H: 12%, CC&H PM: 15%) and 20–80% (CC&H: 5%, CC&H PM: 7%). However, for having progressed more than 80% of course contents, there is a slight increase in participant retention of the CC&H (6%) and a steeper increase of participant retention of the CC&H PM (19%) (see also Table 1).

People participated from all over the world in all three courses, most participants were from high income countries, especially from Germany (iversity) and France (FUN-MOOC). However, half of the participants are from lower middle-income countries, and for the MOOC CC&H PM there were even more people participating from lower middle-income countries than from high income countries (see Figs. 1 and 2).

The strongest represented age group in all three MOOCs is from 31 to 40 years, followed by the age group 26–30 years, and then 41 years of age and older.

The MOOCs CC&H and CC&H PM were translated into 9 (Arabic, Chinese— Mandarin, English, Hindi, Indonesian, French, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish) and 7 languages (Arabic, Chinese—Mandarin, Hindi, Indonesian, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish) via the open-source translation website Amara.⁹ Native speakers of the HIPH—doctoral and Master course students—translated subtitles for the MOOC, who previously have attended the presence course in Climate Change and Health in Heidelberg and were familiar with the domain language of climate change and health (Fig. 3).

Discussion

The analysis of the demographic data of the three MOOCs confirmed the findings of other MOOCs: mostly students from high income countries between 25 and 40 years of age are making use of this educational resource. Depending on the origin of the learning platform, the nationality of the participants is reflected: On the German iversity platform predominantly participants from Germany registered, on the French FUN-MOOC platform mostly French participants registered. Both platforms are available in English and offer MOOCs in English, but also MOOCs in German (iversity) or French (FUN-MOOC). The French MOOC CC&S has

⁹http://amara.org/en/.

| | Climate change and health | Climate change and health for policy-makers | Changement climatique et santé en contexte Africain |
|--|--|---|---|
| Number of participants | 2735 | 1782 | 2451 |
| Total number of participants certified | 24 | 349 | 213 |
| % Participants certified | 1% | 20% | 9% |
| Course progress | | · | |
| <5% (total/%) | 2111/77% | 1167/65% | |
| 5-20% (total/%) | 335/12% | 174/15% | |
| 20-80% (total/%) | 143/5% | 126/7% | |
| >80% (total/%) | 167/6% | 342/19% | |
| Total min. runtime videos | 244 | 41 | 198 |
| Number of videos | 25 | 4 | 23 |
| Avg. min per video | 9.8 | 10.25 | 8.6 |
| MOOC runtime (weeks) | 6 | 1 | 5 |
| Subtitles | 9 (Arabic, Chinese— Mandarin, English, Hindi, Indonesian, French, Portuguese, Russian and Spanish) | 7 (Arabic, Chinese— Mandarin, Hindi, Indonesian, Portuguese, Russian and Spanish) | |

 Table 1
 MOOC participants and overview

attracted quite high numbers of participants from francophone, low income countries, which can be attributed to the MOOC being offered in French also attracting a francophone West-African audience. The MOOC CC&S focuses on climate change within an African context and was co-developed by experts from Burkina Faso. For the targeted audience of a MOOC, the respective learning platform has to be taken into account. As our analysis showed, the francophone MOOC had high participation from French-speaking countries, such as France and West-African countries. The reach of the francophone MOOC CC&S to a West-African audience on the French learning platform FUN-MOOC was much higher than that of the CC&H and CC&H PM MOOC on the German iversity learning platform. Figure 2 shows the country of origin per learning platform: German participants make up the majority on the MOOCs on the German-based iversity platform (15% CC&H and 12.3% CC&H PM) and on the FUN-MOOC platform French participants make up the majority with 33.2% of all participants of CC&S. Also, the country of origin differs vastly between the iversity MOOCs and the MOOC on FUN-MOOC: iversity attracts participants from countries with dominantly English-speaking communities (India, Pakistan, Philippines, Italy, UK, Nigeria, Canada, Bangladesh,



Fig. 2 Overview of the MOOC course participants' country of origin

Kenya, Ghana, Greece), whereas the MOOC on FUN-MOOC has course participants from countries with dominantly French-speaking communities (Canada, Morocco, Belgium, Burkina Faso, Senegal, Algeria, Tunisia, Mali, Togo, Democratic Republic of Congo, Guinea) (see Fig. 2). Resultantly to these



Fig. 3 Age distribution of participants of all three MOOCs on climate change and health

observations, dominant language communities of the targeted countries, cultural barriers and current extent of reach of the learning platform employed should be kept in mind when designing and producing a MOOC.

A major challenge for low and lower-middle income countries is the high cost for Internet access. In general, broadband networks are not expanding as fast as mobile data networks do and are less affordable in low and lower-middle income countries (Alliance for Affordable Internet 2017). The gap of affordable Internet access is decreasing, if at an uneven pace for certain groups such as low-income countries and the group of women. Still, a growing number of people worldwide are able to access MOOCs which makes it a valuable medium for increasing access to climate change education, especially to people that previously have been out of reach of other educational endeavours.

The total participant numbers of the MOOCs are also resultant of the overall registered users on the particular learning platforms. The German MOOC platform iversity has over 600,000 registered users, the French FUN-MOOC platform has over 900,000 registered users—in comparison to the currently largest MOOC platform Coursera¹⁰ which has over 24 million (Coursera) and the second largest platform edX¹¹ which has over 11 million registered users (edX). MOOCs clearly outperform presence courses in their reach of students, yet, MOOCs have to be thoroughly evaluated in terms of system quality, perceived usefulness, net benefits, development costs, participant's attitude, intention of usage and ease of use. The development of a MOOC requires investments as experts in the field are needed, as well as technical support in the production of the video materials and setting up of

¹⁰https://www.coursera.org.

¹¹https://www.edx.org.

the MOOC. The time to develop a MOOC from concept to a fully-fledged course takes at least 12 months.

The low completion rate (acquired certificates) of the three MOOCs (1% for CC&H, 20% CC&H PM, 9% CC&S) is in line with other MOOCs, as not all participants aspire for certificates and may benefit from the MOOC despite not finishing the full course. The median certification rate of 236 courses of MIT and Harvard was 7.7% for 4.05 million participants, with certification rates as low as 0.2% and as high as 34% (Chuang and Ho 2016). Observing the participation in the MOOC forum, it is clear that there is a small fraction of participants who actively participated in the activities and participant exchanges, pursuant to completion rates. Reasons for not completing a MOOC may be no official accreditation which may decrease motivation. Other reasons may be the employed course pedagogy or assessment types (Jordan 2014).

In order to make the MOOCs as inclusive as possible for non-native English speakers, we translated two of the MOOCs with the support of native speakers from the HIPH into 9 different languages. The open-source online platform Amara was providing the base for the subtile translations and was found by the translators to be quite fit for the purpose—most of the translators needed only very little guidance in working with the open-source translation platform. Prior we tried to engage MOOC participants to translate the MOOC segments, however, only minor translations were accomplished. Averagely, one minute of a video lecture takes about 12 min to translate, so a ten-minute MOOC lecture is around 2 h' translation work. This kind of time commitment can be not expected of course participants and another downside of crowd-translation efforts is the level of quality, as the level of language proficiency is unknown and the level of familiarity with the domain language (Beaven et al. 2013). The subtitles were added to the MOOCs in 2016, after the start of the course.

After this first analysis of the MOOCs, further questions remain to be answered. To better understand the motivation and expectations of participants, an online survey is conducted retrospectively which covers further demographics, motivation, course expectations, user satisfaction, information quality, service quality, course use, cultural barriers and perceived benefits. It is advisable for future MOOC courses to employ an evaluation before the start of the MOOC covering mainly motivation and course expectations. Also, it would be advisable to employ a pre-and post-test to evaluate knowledge gain of the MOOC. Furthermore, for the next MOOC we want to keep track of invested efforts into the MOOC production to provide insights into cost and effect of a MOOC.

Conclusion

Effects of climate change are already taking their toll globally: a rise in sea levels and global temperatures, warming and acidification of oceans, shrinking ice sheets, declining Arctic sea ice and glaciers, as well as an overall increase in extreme weather events (Louis and Phalkey 2016). "Climate-sensitive diseases are among the largest global killers. Diarrhoea, malaria and protein-energy malnutrition alone caused more than 3 million deaths globally in 2004, with over one third of these deaths occurring in Africa." (World Health Organization 2017). There is a dire need to include health impacts in the debate of climate change on a global level. MOOCs offer a great potential as they are getting more and more popular (Chuang and Ho 2016) and could therefore be an enabler for teaching and engaging a bigger global population within the topic of climate change and health. Alongside those lines, three MOOCs have been published that focus on climate change and health for different audiences: at Anglo- and francophone general audiences and at policy-makers. The country of origin of the learning platform has shown to define the range of MOOC participants: although the MOOCs attracted an international crowd in general, for the German iversity platform, there were predominantly German and English-speaking participants, and for the French FUN-MOOC platform there were predominantly participants from French-speaking communities, including West-African countries. The MOOCs have been translated into 9 different languages to increase the reach to people not sufficiently familiar with English. It still has to be evaluated if subtitle efforts positively influence participants' retention and motivation and how MOOCs transfer knowledge and foster learning, especially for a global audience. There is a global demand for MOOCs, and as a recent survey from Coursera shows that learners from developing countries were even more likely to report benefits (Levin 2017).

Although there is a need to fully understand the impact of MOOCs, it is obvious that the reach of participants of the three MOOCs out passes the reach of presence courses. For the three MOOCs in total almost 7,000 students as compared to a two-week presence-course with a potential reach of 25 students per course. The design and production of the MOOC involves a commitment in terms of time, finances and professional expertise.

The advantages are at hand: MOOCs offer an extensive participant reach on a global level which can be a driver for climate change education, enabling a greater accessibility into the rationale between climate change and health available to people that have been outside the reach of other teaching endeavours, such as presence courses. With the expansion of mobile data networks and decrease in prices for these mobile services, also low and lower-middle income countries are able to access quality resources such as MOOCs. The francophone MOOC designed for an African context had a greater participation of participants from low-resource countries as compared to the other two MOOCs on the German learning platform iversity. Although MOOCs are made for a global audience, our results show that there is need to define target audiences and adapt the MOOC according to participants and their cultural context. Further evaluations into MOOCs are necessary to tailor future MOOCs better to the targeted participant needs, which may be challenging keeping in mind the diversity of a global audience. Research underlines the popularity of MOOCs (Chuang and Ho 2016), which

as we have found with the three MOOCS on climate change and health is a chance for opening climate change education and making arguments and state-of-the-art knowledge available to a diverse global audience, fostering discussions and change in terms of adaptation and mitigation of climate change especially with a focus on health.

Addendum

See Figs. 4, 5, 6 and Tables 2, 3, 4.



Fig. 4 iversity learning platform with MOOC climate change and health, showing subtitle in Arabic



Presentation by Prof. Rainer Sauerborn, IPCC member, Heidelberg University (Germany)



Fig. 5 iversity learning platform with MOOC climate change and health for policy-makers, showing subtitles in Chinese (Mandarin)



Fig. 6 Fun-Mooc learning platform with MOOC Changement climatique et santé en context Africain

| Chapter name | Total runtime | Contents |
|--|------------------|---|
| What is climate change and how can it affect health? | (in min) 72 | Interaction forum: present yourself and your motivations to follow this course Interaction journal assignment: climate change to you Basics of climate change Historical trends and future projections Climate change is long-term and irreversible Pathways from climate change to disease and health Ethics, justice, equity, development: policy implications How to find out about the impact of climate change on health? |
| What health effects do we cover? | 70 | Childhood malnutrition is the largest negative effect Non-communicable diseases Climate change and infectious diseases: the example of dengue Climate change and Malaria Vector-borne diseases and interannual climate changes: El Niño/La Niña Health impact of other extreme weather events Interaction journal assignment: in your opinion? |
| Reducing emission—in health terms: prevention | 28 | Health as a positive leverage for climate policy What can we do to reduce emissions? What can the health sector do to reduce emissions? |
| The good news: doing something to reduce emissions is good for your health | 57 | What are co-benefits and why they are important for climate policy? (part 1) What are co-benefits and why they are important for climate policy? (part 2) Health and climate benefits from reducing indoor air pollution Child spacing is good for child and maternal health and for the climate Riding your bike or walking is good for climate and your health |

Table 2 Course structure MOOC: climate change and health

(continued)

| Chapter name | Total runtime (in min) | Contents |
|---|------------------------------|---|
| | | 6. Improving diets in the global South and North lowers GHG emissions substantially 7. Interaction group discussion and additional reading: doing something to reduce emissions: what do you think? |
| Adapting to the effects of already occurring climate change: "Therapy" | 29 | Indian climate adaption plan in light of COP21 The limits of adaptation for work outside and in non-air-conditioned factories The health basis for absolute limits of adaptation efforts: keep the 2 °C goal! Interaction group discussion and additional reading: adapting to the effects of already occurring climate change: what do you think? |
| Outlook: a climate friendly world is healthier, more equitable, sustainable and fun | 10 | 1. A climate friendly world is healthier, more equitable, sustainable and fun |

Table 2 (continued)

| Table 3 | Course structure | MOOC: climate | change and | health for | policy-makers |
|---------|------------------|---------------|------------|------------|---------------|
|---------|------------------|---------------|------------|------------|---------------|

| Chapter title | Total runtime (in min) | Contents |
|---|------------------------------|--|
| Argument 1. Health as a motivator for taking action against climate change | 8 | Interaction—assignment: please answer the following questions (survey) Presentation by Prof. Rainer Sauerborn, IPCC member, Heidelberg University (Germany) |
| Argument 2. There are huge health co-benefits of climate-protecting policies and behaviour | 15 | Presentation by Prof. Sir Andy Haines, IPCC member, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine |
| Argument 3. There are physiological limits to human capacity to adapt to climate change | 8 | Presentation by Prof. Rainer Sauerborn, IPCC member, Heidelberg University (Germany) |
| Argument 4. In poor countries, work productivity will decrease in a warmer world | 10 | Presentation by Prof. Tord Kjellstrom, IPCC member, Australian National University Interaction—assignment: end of the MOOC quiz |
| Readings for the whole MOOC | 30 | Core readings |
| Help us translate the videos in your own language! | | |

| Chapter title | Total runtime (in min) | Contents |
|---|------------------------------|--|
| Bienvenue dans ce MOOC | 2:31 | Organisation et premiers pas 1.1 Teaser (Video) 1.2 Comment organiser ma semain sur ce MOOC? (text) 1.3 Methode d'évaluation (text) 1.4 Présentons-nous les uns aux autres! (text) 1.5 Groupe Facebook (text) |
| Semaine 1: Bases physiques du changement climatique—Comprendre le changement climatique | 15 | Présentation de la semaine Objectifs & déroulé de la semaine 1.1 Interaction discussion forum: discussion à propos de la semaine 1 2. L'effet de serre (video) 2.1 Quizz (5 MCQ) 3. Climat et météorologie (video) 3.1 Quizz (4 MCQ) 4. Phénomènes Climatiques/ Géographiques (ENSO) (video) 4.1 Quizz (5 MCQ) 5. Changement Climatique et évènements climatiques extremes (video) 5.1 Quizz (3 MCQ) 6. À vos claviers 6.1 Interaction discussion forum: discussion: changements remarquables 6.2 Interaction group work: Travaillons ensemble 6.3 Additional reading: Liens utiles et lectures complémentaires |
| Semaine 2: Liens entre changement climatique et santé humaine | 8 | Présentation de la semaine 1.1 Objectifs & déroulé de la semaine 1.2 Interaction discussion |
| | | propos de la semaine 2 |

 Table 4 MOOC course structure: changement climatique et santé en contexte Africain

(continued)

| (in min) | Changement climatique et santé humaine (video) Maladies hydriques et malnutrition (video) 1 Quizz (4 MCQ) |
|----------|---|
| | malnutrition (video) 3.1 Quizz (4 MCQ) |
| | Maladie liées à la température et à la chaleur (video) 4.1 Quizz (3 MCQ) Maladies à transmission vectorielle – L'example du paludisme (video) 1 Quizz (5 MCQ) À vos claviers 1 Discussion: plus grande menace 2 Additional resources: Liens utiles 3 Pages wiki |
| 10 | Présentation de la semaine Présentation de la semaine Objectifs & déroulé de la semaine Interaction discussion forum: discussion à propos de la semaine 3 Stratégies d'atténuation et d'adapation (video) Rôle des zones humides dans l'atténuation des effets du changement climatique (video) I Quizz (5 MCQ) Surveillance des maladies (video) Liquizz (4 MCQ) Épidémiologie des maladies infectieuses et lien avec l'environment (video) I Quizz (4 MCQ) Analyse de l'association climat-moralité, analyse de series temporelles (video) Analyse de series temporelles (video) Analyse de series temporelles (video) |
| 30 | Présentation de la semaine Objectifs & déroulé de la semaine Interaction discussion à propos de la semaine 4 |
| | 10 |

Table 4 (continued)

(continued)

| Table 4 (| continued) |
|-----------|------------|
|-----------|------------|

| Chapter title | Total runtime (in min) | Contents |
|-----------------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| | | Stratégies d'adaption – Gestion des systems de santé (video) Quizz (4 MCQ) Limites de l'adaption physiologique à la chaleur (video) Quizz (4 MCQ) Méthodes et outils – Télédétection (video) Quizz (3 MCQ) Évaluation environmentale, étude d'impact (video) À vos claviers 1 Discussion: adaptation dans votre environment 2 Additional resources: Liens utiles et lectures complémentaires 3 Pages wiki |
| Semaine 5: Les réponses politique | 43 | Présentation de la semaine Objectifs & déroulé de la semaine Interaction discussion á propos de la semaine 5 Politiques globales sur le climat (video) Quizz (4 MCQ) Politiques nationales d'adaptation – L'Afrique de l'ouest (video) Quizz (3 MCQ) Impacts sur les secteurs de development (video) Quizz (5 MCQ) Introduction au Plan d'Action National d'Adaption (PANA) (video) Quizz (6 MCQ) Avos claviers Discussion: réponse politique Additional resources: Liens utiles et lectures complémentaires Pages wiki Text Rendu exercice final |

References

- Adams, C., Yin, Y., Vargas Madriz, L. F., & Mullen, C. S. (2014). A phenomenology of learning large: The tutorial sphere of xMOOC video lectures. *Distance Education*, 35(2), 202–216.
- Adlong, W., & Dietsch, E. (2015a). Environmental education and the health professions: Framing climate change as a health issue. *Environmental Education Research*, 21(5), 687–709.
- Adlong, W., & Dietsch, E. (2015b). Nursing and climate change: An emerging connection. *Collegian*, 22(1), 19–24.
- Alliance for Affordable Internet. (2017). Affordability report. A. f. A. Internet.
- Barna, S., Goodman, B., & Mortimer, F. (2012). The health effects of climate change: What does a nurse need to know? *Nurse Education Today*, 32(7), 765–771.
- Beaven, T., Comas-Quinn, A., Hauck, M., de los Arcos, B., & Lewis, T. (2013). The open translation MOOC: Creating online communities to transcend linguistic barriers. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 3.
- Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2014). The second machine age: Work, progress, and prosperity in a time of brilliant technologies. WW Norton & Company.
- Centre Virchow-Villermé. (2016, January 21). *Climate change & health*. Retrieved May 31, 2017, from http://virchowvillerme.eu/course/climate-change-health/.
- Chuang, I., & Ho, A. D. (2016). HarvardX and MITx: Four years of open online courses–Fall 2012–Summer 2016.
- Coursera. (2017). About. Retrieved May 18, 2017, from https://about.coursera.org/.
- edX. (2017). Media kit. https://www.edx.org/sites/default/files/mediakit/file/edx_-_mediakit_-_ may_2017.pdf.
- Escher, G., Noukakis, D., & Aebischer, P. (2014). Boosting higher education in Africa through shared massive open online courses (MOOCs). *Education, Learning, Training: Critical Issues* for Development, 195.
- Hansen, J. D., & Reich, J. (2015). Democratizing education? Examining access and usage patterns in massive open online courses. *Science*, 350(6265), 1245–1248.
- Hoy, M. B. (2014). MOOCs 101: An introduction to massive open online courses. *Medical Reference Services Quartely*, 33(1), 85–91.
- International Council of Open and Distance Education (ICDE). (2015). Online, open, and flexible higher education for the future we want: policy challenges. In A Background Report Prepared by the International Council of Open and Distance Education (ICDE) for the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). ICDE.
- Jordan, K. (2014). Initial trends in enrolment and completion of massive open online courses. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(1).
- Levin, R. (2017). How are people globally benefiting from online learning? https://blog.coursera. org/online-learners-around-world-report-benefits-ranging-advancing-careers-discovering-fieldstudy-gaining-confidence/2017.
- Levy, B., & Patz, J. (2015). Climate change and public health. Oxford University Press.
- Louis, V. R., & Phalkey, R. K. (2016). Health impacts in a changing climate—An overview. *The European Physical Journal Special Topics*, 225(3), 429–441.
- Majra, J. P., & Acharya, D. (2009). Protecting health from climate change: Preparedness of medical interns. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 34(4), 317.
- Nigatu, A. S., Asamoah, B. O., & Kloos, H. (2014). Knowledge and perceptions about the health impact of climate change among health sciences students in Ethiopia: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 587.
- Rudolph, L., & Gould, S. (2015). Climate change and health inequities: A framework for action. *Annals of Global Health*, *81*(3), 432–444.
- Sauerborn, R. (2016a). About this course—Climate change & health for policy-makers. Retrieved May 31, 2017, from https://iversity.org/en/courses/climate-change-health-for-policy-makers.
- Sauerborn, R. (2016b). Why should health be a central argument in climate negotiations? Can a MOOC help to bring the message across? *Public Health Reviews*, 37(1), 18.

- Sayre, L., Rhazi, N., Carpenter, H., & Hughes, N. L. (2010). Climate change and human health: The role of nurses in confronting the issue. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, 34(4), 334–342.
- Warusavitarana, P. A., Lokuge Dona, K., Piyathilake, H. C., Epitawela, D. D., & Edirisinghe, M. U. (2014). MOOC: A higher education game changer in developing countries. *Rhetoric and Reality: Critical Perspectives on Educational Technology. Proceedings Ascilite Dunedin*, 359–366.
- Wei, J., Hansen, A., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Liu, Q., Sun, Y., et al. (2014). Perception, attitude and behavior in relation to climate change: A survey among CDC health professionals in Shanxi province, China. *Environmental Research*, 134, 301–308.
- Withers, M., Press, D., Wipfli, H., McCool, J., Chan, C.-C., Jimba, M., et al. (2016). Training the next generation of global health experts: Experiences and recommendations from Pacific Rim universities. *Globalization and Health*, 12(1), 34.
- Woodward, A., Smith, K. R., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Chadee, D. D., Honda, Y., Liu, Q., Olwoch, J., Revich, B., Sauerborn, R., Chafe, Z., Confalonieri, U., & Haines, A. (2014). Climate change and health: On the latest IPCC report. *The Lancet*, 383(9924), 1185–1189.
- World Health Organization. (2006). The world health report: 2006: Working together for health.
- World Health Organization. (2013). Research for universal health coverage: World health report 2013 (p. 168). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2017). 10 facts on climate change and health. Retrieved May 18, 2017, from http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/climate_change/facts/en.

Emerging Paradigms of Capacity Building in the Context of Climate Change

Umesh Chandra Pandey and Chhabi Kumar

Abstract As emphasized in the Paris Agreement effective capacity building is vital to enable developing countries to take strong climate action. However such capacity building systems cannot rely solely on our age old systems of individualized instructions and certification through educational institutions. The target groups to be capacitated have strong livelihood concerns and also possess tacit knowledge to address their issues. This rich pool of tacit knowledge needs to be blended with structured knowledge of the Educational Institutions and should be aimed at finding solutions in real life settings. Paradigmatically new approaches for adaptation and mitigation activities would go a long way in realizing these development goals. Distance education as a philosophy and as a methodology is favorably positioned to respond to the climate change impact by creating systems which are outward looking, reason driven and involving multi stakeholder's environment. The authors suggest a step further in this direction to create paradigmatically new capacity building systems for climate change. The idea is to have a paradigm shift in the university education from being structured with a predetermined curriculum and one which is based on individual certification to a contextualized learning based on practical knowledge, real life experiences for exploring solutions in consultation with the community. The chapter would focus on how distance learning would create such opportunities and at the same time provide for capacity building programmes for climate change impact and its aftermath.

Keywords Climate change • Capacity building • Sustainable development goals Paradigm shift • Distance education

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. C. Pandey (⊠)

Evaluation Centre, Indira Gandhi National Open University, 3rd Floor, Sanchi Complex, Shivaji Nagar, Bhopal 462047, Madhya Pradesh, India e-mail: ucpandey@ignou.ac.in

C. Kumar

Indira Gandhi National Open University, Jabalpur 482001, Madhya Pradesh, India e-mail: chhabidubey@gmail.com

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_11

Background

As the National Governments globally are faced with the challenges to implement SDGs, the phenomenon of climate change has proved to be a major dilemma. This is particularly true for developing countries which are at an increased risk primarily due to high incidence of poverty and dependence of the major segment of their population on climate sensitive sectors like Agriculture and allied activities. In addition, growing population, limited resources, unplanned development and overall lack of awareness makes them all the more vulnerable to climate change shocks.

Post 2015 developmental agenda of United Nations has brought the issues to the forefront of development priorities of the national Governments. The backwardness of poor nations is no more the issues confined to such nations. It is equally a matter of concern for developed nations who cannot treat their developmental issues in isolation with problems being faced by developing nations.

There has not been a realization so strong in human history that collective interests of entire global community are the only goals worth pursuing. It has called for developing capabilities and evolve paradigmatically new ways to achieve these common objectives. Post 2015 Developmental Agenda of United Nations is historical from these points of views. Among all the SDGs, the issue of climate change has given rise to most intensified debate among the nations. Climate change is important primarily because of its potential to decisively affect our pursuit on all the other goals or even thwart the progress already made. The threat of climate change is multi dimensional with the most vulnerable and least capacitated getting the hardest hit. It is in this context that capacity building for climate change has got international attention.

Chronological Sequence of Global Concerns

The first Global Concern for the Climate Change was shown in an International Conference organized by World Meteorological Organization (WMO) at Geneva in 1979 (WMO 1979). It led to establishment of World Climate Programme (WCP), World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) and Inter Governmental Penal on Climate Change (IGPCC). Nearly a decade later on 20th Oct. 1990, second World Climate Conference was held, that also organized by WMO in Geneva. This conference led to the establishment of United Nations Framework Conventions on Climate Change (UNFCCC) which has been a major step forward. UNFCCC emphatically advocates for the direct funds transfers to support climate change mitigation and adaptation activities in the developing countries (UNFCCC 1990). Besides, the need for the access to Information, Climate Change Observations and Data Records was strongly felt. Hence GCOS (Global Climate Observing System) was established (GCOS 1990).

United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) was held in June 1992, in Rio de Janeiro. This event held under the auspices of United Nations led to the famous Rio Declaration on Environment and Development and Agenda 21 which provided a major framework for further discussions on Sustainability and Development (UNCED 1992). In the Conference of Parties, held in Kyoto in 1997, the adoption of much controversial and debatable Kyoto Protocol was undertaken, which entered into the force in 2005 and its first commitment period started from 2008 and ended in 2012 (Kyoto Protocol 1997). Kyoto Protocol largely lays the responsibility for emission reduction targets on developed countries and recognizes the need of capacity building of various stakeholders in developing countries. Building on the Kyoto Protocol, Marrakesh accord was adopted on 29th October 2001 which contained the detailed rules of implementation of Kyoto Protocol (Marrakesh Accord 2001). The agreement brings out the two frameworks for capacity building. These frameworks provide a set of guiding principles and approaches of capacity building, set out a way forward for capacity building activities and provided guidance on the support of financial and technical resources to be addressed by the Global Environment Facility (GEF 2001). Decision 2/CP.7 (DECISION 2 2001) of Marrakesh accord brings out objectives, different dimensions and scope of the capacity building in 15 priority areas which were subsequently discussed in UNFCC, Montreal in 2005 when parties launched negotiations on the next phase of the Kyoto Protocol, and in 2007 conference of UNFCCC, held in Bali in 2007 where Bali Roadmap was adopted which includes Bali Action Plan.

Copenhagen Climate Change Conference, started from 7th to 18th Dec 2009, led to the establishment of four new bodies which also includes Copenhagen Green Funds and Technology Mechanism. In this conference developed countries promises to provide 30 billion USD and Mobilize 100 US Dollar a year by 2020 from different sources. Hence it was a milestone step towards the capacity building for the developing countries to mitigate and adapt to the climate change.

Climate Change Conference held in December 2010, in Cancun, led the parties to agree to establish a Green Climate Fund to provide financial support to developing countries for their adoption and mitigation programmes. Also agreement of technology mechanism to boost the innovation, development and spread of new climate friendly technology calibrated the capacity of world community to react towards climate in technical fronts. The UNFCCC held in Durban, on December 2011, led to the agreement on four main areas including second commitment period of Kyoto Protocol and launch of new platform of negotiations.

In UNFCCC, in Doha, on December 2012, Governments laid a lot of emphasis over the adaptive capacity building of the most vulnerable section of society. In the support of developing countries a new work programme to build climate action capacity through education and training, public awareness and public participation in climate change decision-making was agreed. This is important to create a ground-well of support for embarking on a new climate change regime after 2020. In Warsaw Climate Conference, held in Nov 2013, Governments reiterated to mobilize 100 billion USD by 2020 to developing countries as agreed in Copenhagen Climate Summit (2009). In Paris agreement, which was agreed in

2015, every country has to follow its nationally determined goals. In order to reach these goals every party especially the developing and the least developed one's require capacity to do so. Therefore here capacity building has a huge role to play. Article 11 of Paris agreement highlights the importance of enhancing the capacity and ability of developing country parties to take effective adaptive and mitigation actions. Article 11 states all the parties should cooperate to enhance the capacity of developing country parties to implement Paris agreement.

Possible Impact of Climate Change (SDG-13) on the Pursuit of Other SDGs

Climate Change can have a decisive impact on the pursuit on all the other SDGs. Its negative impact can be countered if capacities of various stakeholders can be built. The issues have been extensively discussed in the research literature. Following discussions gives a glimpse of the capacity developments required at various levels. Some of the ideas presented here have been adapted from the http://devinfo-cloud. com/sdgindiA/sdgindia-beta (Retrieved on 29/4/2017).

SDG-1 (No Poverty)

The major proportion of poor population lives in countries which are most vulnerable to climate change issues. The livelihoods of such people are predominantly based on monsoon based agriculture or allied activities which make them susceptible to climate change. Moreover the climate change has increased the frequency of the natural disasters in such geographical areas which has adversely affected the poverty alleviation programmes in such countries (UNDP Web Site). Natural disasters push the people back into poverty trap which thwart the progress made by poverty alleviation programmes of the Government. Such an impact can be minimized through suitably capacitating Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, people engaged in livelihood activities which are climate change sensitive like Agriculture, Tourism Activities and Allied Activities, Indigenous Populations, people living in Rural and other Remote areas etc.

SDG-2 (No Hunger)

Climate change causes declining agriculture productivity thereby reducing food availability at household level, unpredictable supply of food grains in the market, declining livestock and wildlife population which has also led to increased competition for diminishing resources and increased instances of conflicts. Furthermore the people most affected due to such impacts have least capacities to cope up with them (Borgen Project 2014). It is therefore well realized that we need to build up the capacities of the Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, people engaged in livelihood activities which are climate change sensitive, Indigenous Populations, people living in Rural and other Remote Areas etc.

SDG-3 (Good Health)

The climate change has resulted in several diseases which humans, livestock, wild life and plants cannot easily cope up with. Moreover movement of plant pests, animal diseases and invasive alien aquatic organisms across physical and political boundaries have given rise to new dimensions to such threats FAO (2008). In order to effectively combat such threats there is an immediate need to build the capacities of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Medical Practitioners, Pharmaceutical companies, Researchers and Scientists etc.

SDG-4 (Quality Education)

Climate change shocks have resulted in diminishing access to education particularly in developing countries where people have low level of capacity to cope up with such changes. (UNESCO 2010). In order to enhance access to quality education there is an immediate need to build capacities of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Educationists, Trainers, Researchers, Academicians etc.

SDG-5 (Gender Equality)

Women because of their disadvantaged socioeconomic status and low participation in decision making have poor coping capacities to handle climate change shocks (UN Women Watch 2009). It further marginalizes them and thereby enhances gender inequalities. (UNFCCC Web Site). To effectively counter the impact on climate change on gender we need to build up capacities of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, Members of the Civil Society, Women, Academicians etc.

SDG6 (Clean Water and Sanitation)

Climate change can disturb smooth water supply by way of damaging infrastructure due to flooding, loss of water sources due to erratic rainfalls, and changes in water quality. Increased instances of natural disasters can cause damage and loss of sanitation services and infrastructure (Howard 2016). It requires effective capacity building of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, Members of the Civil Society, Service Providers and their Technical Staff, Researchers and Scientists etc.

SDG7 (Renewable Energy)

The higher rainfall in some areas and prolonged periods of drought in other areas is likely to make it difficult to develop alternate sources of clean energy like hydroelectricity. Similarly other forms of clean energy are vulnerable for climate change. Further it can enhance the risks of shutdowns at coal, natural gas and nuclear power plants owing to the decreased water availability. The energy infrastructures located along the coasts are also threatened by the rising sea levels, increasing in storm intensity and flooding. Also, electricity distribution systems and infrastructure are faced with increasing risks of physical damage from the hurricanes, storms and wildfires as a result of climate change (Saylor, April 2012). It will require effective capacity building programme for Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Service Providers and their Technical Staff, Researchers and scientists etc.

SDG 8 (Good Jobs and Economic Growth)

The most of the SDG target groups have livelihoods dependent upon agriculture they are hardest hit by the climate change. Further due to their poor educational level they don't have alternate livelihood opportunities. The fossil fuels being the main source of energy for these communities have further constrained their livelihood. Therefore, what is required is effective capacity building programme for Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Industrial sector, Service Sector, Economists, Academicians, Researchers and Scientists etc.

SDG 9 (Innovation and Infrastructure)

Climate Change is likely to adversely impact the supplies of raw materials to industries thereby reducing industrial production. Some of the industries which are facing adverse impact are food processing, constructions, etc. Similarly service based industries like tourism, due to declining attractiveness of natural/cultural heritages are also facing adverse impact. It requires capacity building of Policy makers and planners, personnels in social welfare agencies, NGOs and other development agencies, members of the civil society, Industrial sector, service sector, academicians, researchers and scientists etc.

SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities)

The climate change has differential impacts within and across the nations. It is primarily due to varying levels of capacities to cope up with such changes. The poor nations due to their resource constraints are hardest hit by climate change which has undermined their developmental efforts. It is likely to further enhance the inequalities (www.opencanada.org). Capacity building of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Industrial sector, Service Sector, Academicians, Economists, Researchers and Scientists etc. will help to effectively counter the impact of climate change on this front.

SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities)

Climate change is likely to intensify the already existing problems arising out of increased proportion of population living in urban areas due to migration that is expected to increase to 66% by 2050. Increased population pressure will be difficult to be managed due to large number of people competing for resources and likely damage to coastal cities. We therefore need to build the capacities of Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social welfare agencies, NGOs and other development agencies, members of the civil society, Industrial Sector particularly Construction Industry, Town Planners, Service Sector, Academicians, Economists, Researchers and Scientists etc.

SDG12 (Responsible Consumption)

The climate change has disturbed the traditional food production which is likely to affect the consumption patterns as well. Research studies have observed that despite plentiful supplies of food globally, almost one billion people are undernourished. To effectively counter this gigantic problem there is an immediate need to build the capacities of Policy makers and planners, personnels in social welfare agencies, NGOs and other development agencies, members of the civil society, Industrial sector, service sector, academicians, economists, researchers and scientists etc.

SDG14 (Life Below Water)

Fisheries have heavily suffered the impact of climate change due to pollution, changing oceanic temperature, acidification of sea water due to increased absorption of carbon dioxide and sea level rise (The Guardian 2012). There is an immediate need to build the capacities of Policy makers and planners, personnels in social welfare agencies, NGOs and other development agencies, members of the civil society, Industrial sector particularly the fishing industry and oil and mining industries, communities dependant on fishing, researchers and scientists etc.

SDG15 (Life on Land)

The climate change can disturb the food webs sustaining life on land ecosystems and thereby destroy the natural habitats of the species. It is gradually shifting migratory patterns of the animal species, growth of plant species and destroying their natural balance of ecosystems (www.climatehotmap.org). It requires effective capacity building programmes for Policy makers and planners, personnels in social welfare agencies, NGOs and other development agencies, members of the civil society, Industrial sector particularly mining industry, lumbering industry, construction industry, environmentalists and ecologists, indigenous populations, academicians, researchers and scientists etc.

SDG16 (Peace and Justice)

The increased competition for resources is likely to lead to conflict within and between communities and countries. Increased inequalities within and between countries are likely to have a negative impact on the concept of Justice for All. Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, law and order machinery, Legal Practitioners, Armed Forces, Academicians, Diplomats etc.

SDG17 (Partnerships for the Goals)

The climate change has led to increased diplomatic efforts among the nations to protect their national interests rather than thinking globally on wider Sustainable Development Goals. It is undermining the global concerns, polarizing the debate and reducing the possibilities of genuine partnerships for sustainable development goals. In this context there is an urgent need to develop global perspectives among Policy Makers and Planners, Personnel in Social Welfare Agencies, NGOs and other Development Agencies, members of the Civil Society, Academicians, Economists, Researchers and Scientists, Diplomats etc.

Rationale for the Chapter

While the need for capacity building is well realized and understood across the world the global community is yet to discover possible mechanisms. The target groups to be capacitated are largely unconventional. The situation in developing countries is most challenging as the communities to be capacitated face diverse livelihood struggles, are engaged in climate sensitive agricultural practices, lack education and nearly cut off from extension education programmes of the Government. With the international commitments building up in the wake of the Paris Agreement, developing countries have to devise reliable Capacity Building systems for such communities.

However capacity building for climate change is not as easy as it might sound. The target groups need to be capacitated in their real life settings without any clash with their livelihood commitments and entire exercise should be aimed at giving them workable solutions. It calls for developing new perspectives and paradigmatically new approaches. The educational institutions are yet to develop the perspectives which are required for this purpose. They are yet to come out of their age old conception of individualized instructions and certification. The planners of such capacity building exercises need to well realize that people to be capacitated possess rich pool of tacit knowledge and need concrete solutions to address climate change. Their tacit knowledge if blended with structured knowledge of the Educational Institutions can give a livelihood solution to the communities.

Hence paradigmatically new approaches for adaptation and mitigation activities would go a long way in realizing these development goals. Open and Distance Learning systems across the world have already been experimenting with innovative educational delivery systems. Hence such systems are ideally positioned to develop the capacity building systems for climate change. Open and Distance
Learning systems need to move a step ahead and develop community based learning systems. This chapter intends to develop new perspectives and focuses on following points:

- (a) What kind of knowledge base is required for capacity building for climate change.
- (b) What kind of paradigm shifts are needed.
- (c) Some innovative initiatives which are emerging.

The chapter evolves a knowledge management framework within which the capacity building programmes for climate change should be conceived and formulated.

Climate Change and Capacity Building

The major strategic approach to address climatic change requires that stakeholders should develop capacities for mitigation and adaptation (Dagnet and Nothrop 2015). All the countries have to boost efforts to reduce emissions and alongside acquire capabilities to develop resilience. However it is not an easy target. The process of climate change is slow and therefore its impacts are not easily noticed and identified (Helgeson 2012). There are striking variations which need altogether different strategies for country specific context. Furthermore individual countries' capacities to evolve strategic frameworks are different. The immediate priorities for consumption and production patterns are different which calls for policy level sensitization. The policies are driven by socioeconomic and political factors which make such issues more cumbersome and difficult to comprehend. Internationally the issues have become politicized to an extent that it has become a major determinant of international diplomacy, competition for resources and political alignments among the countries. Hence capacity building requirements have to be understood within such varying socio-economic and cultural contexts. In developing and developed world, the context of capacity building and the socio-economic priorities of communities are the major factors which decide the types of capacity building approaches. The involvement of local actors will undoubtedly be the most important factor in such a situation. All the stakeholders in climate change have to be well capacitated to bring them to a level where they can carry out the climate action they intend to pursue. Such an exercise cannot be done in a straight jacketed fashion undermining their unique characteristics. The major constraints before such countries to realize these objectives can be categorized as below (Dagnet and Northrupe 2015)

- (a) Lack of sensitization in the community, their representative organizations and policy making levels to initiate climate change efforts.
- (b) Lack of coherent research based information and assessment capabilities to identify training needs.

- (c) The immediate socio-economic priorities of the people which take precedence over the climate change capacity building initiatives.
- (d) The fragmented approaches of the capacity building largely due incoherent efforts of international funding institutions, lack of coordination and monitoring.
- (e) A dominant thought process of the climate change initiatives which leaves little scope for developing countries to put across their unique requirements.

These challenges have remained largely due to fragmented approaches of international institutions which have failed to build up a robust capacity building infrastructure in target areas. Moreover, most of the target groups which need to be capacitated are mostly cut off from mainstream, living in geographically inaccessible areas and lack the capacities to adopt new ways of livelihoods. It's a huge challenge for the Governments in developing countries to devise systems and procedures to capacitate them to adapt to climate change. Moreover the conventional ways of capacity building fail to respond to such requirements. The declining livelihoods patterns of these communities largely due to climate change have made the issues more complicated, more diversified and need immediate redressal. It has been well realized that capacity building for such communities requires sustained resource allocation with coherent policies between national and international institutions. The Paris committee in capacity building has worked out a comprehensive work programme which inter alia includes need analysis, strengthening synergistic partnerships and develop tools to evolve a roadmap for capacity building.

Why Open and Distance Learning Is the Right Answer?

The traditional ways of capacity building practices for climate change lack a clear perspective. The interventions were made by the funding agencies of developed countries largely through a "Fly-In & Fly-Out" approach. The existing research studies have vehemently criticized this approach for not being sensitive to the context of capacity building.

The capacity building for climate change is not just the dissemination of structural knowledge. It is more about enhanced capacity to generate knowledge to address issues of climate change. The capacity building exercise has to be done in community setting, should build upon the existing knowledge base of the people and should be aimed at finding categorical solutions. There cannot be straight jacketed solution to capacitate the diverse target groups. We need capacity building systems which are flexible enough to give contextual solutions.

Studies have also emphasized that the class rooms cannot be the place where such paradigmatically different capacity building process can be carried out. Open and Distance Learning systems due to their unique characteristics of innovations and flexibility are ideally suited for this purpose. The Paris Message has emphatically argued for deploying ODL systems for Sustainable Development Goals. It is in this context that ODL systems have gained prominence in the field of climate change capacity building. Hence ODL systems worldwide have now given a focus on development of strategies to accomplish this target. The ODL systems have a unique advantage to give individualized training, reconcile with the workplace commitments of the learner and relate to the context of the target groups. Hence these systems can be meaningfully deployed to achieve the unique requirements of climate change capacity building.

Knowledge Management Framework

International Concerns About Context Based Knowledge

The role of science in the progress of Human civilization is well recognized. However there have been widespread concerns which raise the inherent gaps in the development driven by modern science. The scientific development with largely global perceptions and approach has not been able to sense the local level contexts and develop specific strategies. The traditional knowledge base of local communities empirically tested over the long period of human history can prove to be handy. Whereas scientific knowledge has significantly contributed for the progression of human civilization, we find that it has turned out to be unsustainable. It indicates serious gaps in the approach of modern scientific institutions. The long term validity of modern knowledge will require deeper interaction between science and society. Scientists need to be sensitive to the contexts in which their policies will ultimately work. The laboratories are not the ultimately sites where the knowledge can be generated. The real life settings where the interaction between scientists and holders of traditional knowledge can take place will be the right place for generation and application of such knowledge to devise lasting solutions.

Harnessing the Context Based Knowledge

Sustainable Development Strategies cannot be developed solely on the basis of structured scientific knowledge which is available in limited amount. The sizeable proportion of knowledge in the world is not available in codified and structured form. It is largely available in the form of experiences, practices, cultural traits or other intangible forms which have not been available in wider public domain. The most unique feature of this form of knowledge is that it is well tested over thousands of years of human existence and has an empirical basis embedded in that. This huge pool of knowledge largely in intangible forms in the community can be a viable tool to develop sustainable development strategies. The structured scientific

knowledge has been instrumental to bring about modern development. However, such a form of development has resulted in alienating human beings from their environment. The development based on such structured knowledge is certainly faster but it has turned out to be highly unsustainable and detrimental to the environment. It is now well realized and understood that we have not been able to respond to peculiar requirements of development as embedded in the context of that developmental issue.

The context specific issues can be addressed only if we take into account the huge indigenous knowledge as cultivated by the people while living in their local environment and empirically tested over long human history. Though such a pool of knowledge may not be tangible and codified, it carries the unique characteristics of the context. Moreover such knowledge is in much more quantity. Though largely unutilized and not harnessed by the scientific community its importance has been much highlighted in the context of Sustainable Development.

Partnering with the Communities

Developmental initiatives across the world have realized that modern scientific methods have not been able to give rise to similar response in all the contexts. On the other hand if local practices and knowledge base of the people is taken into consideration then scientific knowledge becomes more relevant to boost the process of development. Such an approach becomes more relevant as knowledge in the form of people's age old practices are much more significant. Such knowledge has undergone test of the times and have been able to sustain their livelihoods. It is desirable that modern scientific knowledge should blend with such local resource base and create higher forms of knowledge. Further it leads to Nonaka's ever growing knowledge spiral which makes the process of sustainable development more comprehensible and achievable. Hence, there is a great need of partnership between scientists and local community. The unique blend of grassroots practices and modern scientific knowledge will have inherent power to address the issues of local contexts. The local communities will assimilate such scientific prescriptions readily. They will not feel it as alien to their culture. It will give due recognition to their knowledge base and therefore community members will feel as if they are co-designer of the solutions which they will implement. It will further enhance their participation in the implementation of such solution.

Multi-Stakeholder Engagement: A Necessity

The climate change issues cannot be dealt between two isolated individuals. It has to be an intensive exercise of knowledge synthesis between all the stakeholders. The stakeholders need to be partners on equal footing and their knowledge inputs are vital to work out the solution for climate change issues. What is most important is that it has to be an action research exercise right in the community setting where that issue is to be addressed. Any mechanism which falls short of this will give a partial view of the problem. Such an approach of Multi Stakeholder engagement to find out the solution of climate change issues have been largely successful in Poland where the issues have been dealt in Workshop Modes by the stakeholders in community setting. The Multi-stakeholder engagement is advantageous in following ways.

- (a) The solution can be devised right in process of knowledge generation.
- (b) The entire exercise can be completed in the community setting where solution has to be implemented.
- (c) It recognizes the knowledge pool of the stakeholders which prompts them to come forward proactively.
- (d) Identifies the traditional processes which need to be strengthened and maintained.

Some Innovative Capacity Building Initiatives

Mobile Technologies: An Enabling Tool

As the theory of situated cognition (Helgeson 2012) suggests, the conceptual knowledge can be most effectively transacted when rooted in the given context. Hence the capacity building for climate change needs to be carried out as learning in real life setting. It should also be focused more on the students developing analytical skills to devise contextual solutions in collaborative learning environment, developing skills to meaningfully share the information and to make use of their tacit experiences in real life. Research literature strongly suggests that Mobile Technologies can enable people to connect to their contexts (Sharples et al. 2009; Brown 2010). The mobile devises can heavily reduce the cost of capacity building operations which have to be undertaken at massive scale in developing countries with most of the target population being too vulnerable. They lack the capacities to articulate their problems and therefore will need a lot of handholding to comprehend their problems. The mobile devices have the added advantage for taking out the information as ingrained in their context and remotely capacitate them. In an interesting action research project undertaken by Sheffield Hallam University at Sironj (India) a mobile solution was developed with farmers as co-designer of a livelihood solution. These interventions helped Rizvi and Dearden (2010) to help poor farmers explore solutions for their problems. This award winning initiative (Sheffield Hallam University 2009) presents interesting example of how the context based learning is important to bring about capacity building for climate change. The project has demonstrated that a right approach with appropriate mix of methodologies and social context could lead the designing of Information Communication Technology (ICT) solutions.

In an important study carried out by Chen and Hsu (2007), a Mobile Learning Module involving Pocket Fieldwork Assistant (PFA) with mobile technology was tested. The Pocket Fieldwork Assistant (PFA) aided students to conduct a field trip without the company of teachers hence reducing the cost of the field trip. The enquiry-guided pedagogy of PFA, reading resources and local maps help the students to be active learners. Similarly studies to understand the use of Mobile devises conducted in Germany and Austria have concluded that participatory location based learning activities with mobile devices be fruitfully carried out for Environmental Education. Further it has been concluded that it motivates the learners engaged in environmental education (Ruchter et al. 2010).

The potential impact of climate change on food safety has led to a policy thrust for capacity building on these issues (Vijayakumar et al. 2015). The need for sensitization, training for trainers, education and applied research on food safety is well realised and understood now. The stakeholders are diverse and heterogeneous in terms of age, socioeconomic backgrounds and educational levels. The educational content and delivery strategies cannot be standard and straight jacketed. Instead it should be highly contextualized and consistent with the requirements of target groups who might be mostly socioeconomically vulnerable communities. Most of them might be entering into such a capacity building exercise with no prior educational attainment hence engaging content will be crucial from the point of view of such learners. The focus here should be on systemic innovations to develop capacities in them rather than developing standardized curriculum. Mobile applications can help to relate the context of the learners, to create an engaging experience and stimulate critical thinking (Lai et al. 2007).

Low Cost Technologies for Farmers

Sensitization of poor farming communities with poor access to modern technologies is a major challenge for developing countries. In specific pockets innovative initiatives for low cost technology deployments are advisable. There have been initiatives taken by some of the developing countries which are worth replicating. China with a large agricultural economic base have been facing the problems to sensitize their farmers about modern agricultural practices and thereby strengthening their livelihoods. Xiujuan (2005) has documented an interesting success story of use of loud speakers for sensitizing the farmers. Such good practices can be fruitfully utilized for capacity building on climate change. Low cost technology options have also been tried by Watershed Organization Trust of India in partnership with Indian Metrological Department, Central research Institute for dry land Agriculture and Mahatma Phule Krishi Vidyapeeth for promoting climate resilient farming. Such initiatives have helped the farmers to take farm related decisions in a more scientific and informed manner (Lobo et al. 2017).

Community Based Interventions

Community based interventions are very important for the capacity building of the rural communities particularly to capacitate them to handle climate change. In developing countries such interventions have been successfully undertaken at several places. An extensive account of such capacity building systems across the developing world has been given in an interesting report based on the online discussions published by Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) (FAO 2009). Some examples are worth citing in this regards. Krishi Vigyan Kendras (KVKs) have been one such success stories. The mandate of Krishi Vigyan Kendras (KVK) is technology assessment and demonstration for its application and capacity development. In India currently around 668 KVKs are working under the supervision of various state and central agriculture universities, institutions and selected NGOs. Similarly, the Village Knowledge Centers of M.S. Swaminathan Foundation have been a success story which is worth replicating to address the issues of climate change particularly in agriculture dependant economies.

Conclusions and Recommendations

This chapter was aimed to find out possible ingredients of paradigmatically new approach for capacity building for climate change. We don't propose to suggest any rigid, structured and straight jacketed approach for all the countries and contexts. We rather give logical and indicative directions which any capacity building planner need to take into consideration. It needs extensive experimentations and sharing of experiences which will address this vital issue of concern across the world.

The foregoing discussions and literature reviews bring out following points which can be taken into consideration by planners of capacity building.

It's All About Knowledge Generation

It is now well realized and understood that the capacity building systems for climate change have to be paradigmatically different from the conventional ways of capacity building. The traditional systems largely utilizing classrooms as the sites for knowledge transactions are meaningless for climate change related issues. Capacity building is required at all the levels as there is no such agency which has all the solutions for climate change. The knowledge for climate change solutions has to be generated rather than transacting the already available knowledge. It unfolds an entirely new perspective for capacity building for climate change issues. The capacity building exercise should take place in real life setting and should be free from the biases of conventional mindsets.

Openness Is the Hallmark

Any initiative which leads to capacity building outside the classrooms can be called an open learning initiative. Hence openness is the hallmark of any climate change capacity building programs.

Make Use of Traditional Knowledge

Another point of view which gives rise to a different perspective for climate change is the importance of traditional knowledge. The modern scientific knowledge despite its excellent achievements has a serious lacuna. It has not led the world on the path of sustainable development. On the other hand the traditional knowledge largely embedded in the practices, habits and cultural traits of the communities have been able to sustain them for a long time. Hence climate change capacity building programmes should not lose sight of this rich repository of knowledge.

Every Context Is Unique

However it is a huge challenge. Every context is unique in itself and the tacit experiences of the people need to be documented through carefully researched tools. Little efforts have been done so far in this direction and knowledge institutions should focus their efforts on these fronts. There is a greater realization of making the process more participatory, country specific, long term, well coordinated and problem solving approach. The capacity building measures should be integrated with the stakeholder's livelihoods and lifestyles, building upon their Indigenous Knowledge Pool. The idea is to have a multi-stakeholder involvement to devise solutions. The communities to be capacitated should be the co-designers of the climate change solutions.

Think Beyond the Class Room Based Individualized Instructions

Another perspective is that we need to think beyond traditional ways based on individualized classroom instructions. This age old practice of individualized classroom instructions still continues to influence the educational planners. Climate change capacity building programmes should take into account community as a whole rather than individuals. The educational planners need to come out of the traditional mindsets of classroom based individualized instructions, should devise new pedagogical systems and focus on capturing the new knowledge generated in the process of capacity building exercise. The openness as inbuilt in the philosophy of ODL is consistent with this requirement. In this context, ODL Systems are most suited to promote such measures by providing alternate methodology of education dissemination by using various modern tools of communication.

Adapting to Change at Various Levels

A 'transformative change' on the issue of climate governance is the need of the hour as the question is closely linked to strategic global political, economic, social and security matters owing to the competition for limited resources (Sanwal 2011). Adaptation to climate change is required at various levels. Padukon (2010) has interestingly related it to the need of political adaptation which should lead to unity among the estranged South Asian neighbors for managing the political consequences of the climate change. It will not only adapt to inevitable environmental shifts but will also help to manage the political and security oriented effects of climate change. Similarly, Capacity Building for the poor which should provide alternatives to migration should be a priority area for the Governments.

How Well We Can Relate to Collective Good?

The climate change adaptation is difficult inter alia due to increased need to relate to global climate issues (common good). Context of climate change is complicated, different actors may hold different views about specific nature and differentiated interests of various actors which may often clash with each other. People tend to relate more easily to their livelihoods contexts and day to day concerns. Lack of recognition of local knowledge will create the capacity building paradox.

Need for More Research Based Information

Adaptation pattern of the species to the changing environment is not well understood by the research studies. The existing studies have highlighted the uncertainties associated with animal adaptation to various species. The north south issues have become pertinent in the entire debate of climate change. There has been an inclination in research studies to relate it to the share of Green House Gases (GHG) emitted by the developed and developing countries and fixing the responsibilities on them to reduce the emission. Adaptation to climate change and associated economic analysis are not widely understood especially in policy making circles and to some extent in research circle in South Asian Countries. Hence there is an urgent need to design short term training programmes for different stakeholders and for careful long term learning through collaborative research. Climate change adversely affects the women and therefore affects the rural households at multiple levels. Women's participation will prove to be important because she is a rich repository of the experiences with changing climatic conditions. Climate change adaptation has to be a long term process because of obvious reasons. Hence the corrective actions to be taken should have effective involvement of children who will be the custodians of the world which we want. Curriculum planners and educators need specific training on these issues. Climate change is manifested locally and therefore the capacity for decentralized policy making is of crucial importance. Capacity building systems have a crucial challenge to identify such requirements and address them through innovative means.

Need for More Cross Disciplinary Research

Any emerging paradigm on capacity building at individual, community, institutional and national level for climate change would have to respond to the immediate challenges of mitigating the risks associated with climate change, preventing further degradation to the vulnerable natural environment, research and development, sustainable production and consumption patterns and transfer of green technology etc. without compromising on the overall priorities of national development (INDC, GOI). This requires open, multi-disciplinary, cross-sectoral and participatory systems of capacity building in place. Societal dynamics is now increasingly seen as the root as well as the possible solutions to the various environmental problems (Sanwal 2011).

Synthesizing the Knowledge Base of Diverse Stakeholders

A multi stakeholder's view of climate change response and increased people's participation can favour the trend of 'resource decoupling', which is increasingly practiced by several developing economies. This entails a transforming change in the current patterns of production and consumption. The current paradigm of capacity building measures invariably includes structured programmes promoted by conventional institutions of learning. However, often these programmes exclude the most marginalized sections of the population who are often the hardest hit in the climate change scenario. Thus, there is an urgent need to respond to the current situation by introducing more inclusive, contextualized problem based solutions at the local level after proper consultations with the stakeholders. The current trend of individualized certification would have to be replaced by a need based and practically viable approach of responding to environmental issues locally. This may be

supported by a well placed system of reporting and documentation to provide for an open resource platform so that it may be referred to in other parts of the world for possible replication.

Open and Distance Learning: Ideally Positioned

Needless to say that the Open and Distance Learning (ODL) System of education is favorably positioned to respond to the changing scenario in capacity building on climate change. The philosophy of openness and the methodology of education dissemination followed by the ODL System support a more inclusive, learner centric and flexible system of education and capacity building opportunities. This makes it easier to bring a larger number of beneficiaries under its ambit irrespective of their age and social, educational, economic and cultural background.

Integrate It with Social and Cultural Fabric

Another approach of promoting climate knowledge and environment conservation is through working across generations within the communities by way of creating awareness on sustainable lifestyles that is one which is based on needs based consumption patterns. This can be done by integrating the capacity building measures with the cultural and social fabric of the communities. This holistic perspective on capacity building would involve learning in terms of engaging in social networks, every day practices and social relationships. This would entail using the indigenous knowledge pool of the local communities and integrating them with the climate change response globally. Thus, it is imperative that any capacity building initiatives would have to be interwoven with the fabric of livelihood opportunities for the people. This entails working closely with the communities and incentivizing cooperation for environment conservation programmes.

Referenes

- Borgen Project. (2014). Blog written by Colleen Moore. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 https:// borgenproject.org/six-ways-climate-change-causes-world-hunger/.
- Brown, E. (2010). Introduction to location-based in education in the wild: Contextual and location-based mobile learning in action. In G. E. Brown (Ed.), A report from the STELLAR Alpine Rendezvous Workshop Series (pp. 7–9). Nottingham, UK: Learning Sciences Research Institute, University of Nottingham.
- Chen, C., & Hsu, T. (2007). Learning sustainable development with mobile devices. In *Proceedings of Geographical Views on Education for Sustainable Development*, Lucerna.

- Dagnet, et al. (2015). How to strengthen the institutional architecture for capacity building to support Post-2020 climate regime. Retrieved on 30th April 2017 from www.wri.org.
- DECISION. (2001). https://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_and_support/capacity_building/application/ pdf/cb_priority_areas.pdf. Accessed on 23rd April 2017.
- FAO. (2008). Climate related trans boundary pests and diseases. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from http://www.fao.org/3/a-ai785e.pdf.
- FAO. (2009). Sharing innovative and flexible capacity building processes for development. Retrieved from the web site of FAO on 25th April 2017 http://www.fao.org/fsnforum/sites/ default/files/files/32_Capacity_building/SUMMARY_InnovativeCapacityBuildingPractices. pdf.
- GCOS. (1990). Accessed from the site of WMO at (http://www.wmo.int/pages/prog/gcos/index. php?name=AboutGCOS) on 23rd April 2017.
- GEF. (2001). https://www.thegef.org/. Accessed on 23rd April 2017.
- Helgeson, J., et al. (2012). Learning for sustainability in times of accelerating change. Retrieved on 25th April 2017 from https://scholar.princeton.edu/sites/default/files/slinden/files/risk_1_0.pdf.
- Howard, G., et al. (2016). Climate change and water sanitation: Likely impacts and emerging trends for action. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10. 1146/annurev-environ-110615-085856.
- Lobo, C., Chattopadhyaya, N., & Rao, K. V. (2017). Making small holder farming climate smart integrated agro meteorological services. *Economic and Political weekly*, L2(1), (2017).
- KrishiVigyanKendras—Vikaspedia. Retrieved on 25th April 2017 from http://vikaspedia.in/ agriculture/agri-directory/krishi-vigyan-kendras.
- http://devinfo-cloud.com/sdgindia-beta.
- Kyoto Protocol. (1997). Accessed from the site of UNFCCC at (http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/ items/2830.php) on 23rd April 2017.
- Lai, C. H., Yang, J. C., Chen, F. C., Ho, C. W., & Chan, T. W. (2007). Affordances of mobile technologies for experiential learning: the interplay of technology and pedagogical practices. *Journal of Computer Assisted learning*, 23(4), 326–377.
- Marrakesh Accord. (2001). Accessed from the site of UNFCCC at (http://unfccc.int/land_use_ and_climate_change/lulucf/items/3063.php) on 23rd April 2017.
- Padukone, N. (2010). Climate change in India: Forgotten threats, forgotten opportunities. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from www.environmentportal.in/files/Climate%20Change%20in %20India.pdf.
- Rizvi, H., & Dearden, A. (2010). Knowledge Help Extension Technology Initiative (KHETI)—A participatory interactive ICT designed solution in agriculture for livelihoods promotions. Retrieved on 25th April 2017 from http://www.iimahd.ernet.in/egov/ifip/oct2010/syed-rizvi. htm.
- Ruchter, M., Klar, B., & Geiger, W. (2010). Comparing the effects of mobile computers and traditional approaches in environmental education. *Computers & Education*, 54, 1054–1067.
- Sanwal, M. (2011). Global Vision for Rio (+20). Economic and Political Weekly, 1–7, 24–30.
- Saylor, A. (2012). Climate change: Effects on our energy. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from https://energy.gov/articles/climate-change-effects-our-energy#all.
- Sharples, M., Sánchez, I., Milrad, M., & Vavoula, G. (2009). Mobile learning: Small devices, big issues. In N. By Balacheff, S. Ludvigsen, T. D. Jong, A. Lazonder, & S. Barnes (Eds.), *Technology enhanced learning: Principles and products* (pp. 233–249). Heidelberg, Germany: Springer.
- Sheffield Hallam University. (2009). Retrieved on 25th April 2017 from https://www.shu.ac.uk/ research/research-excellence-framework/ref-case-studies/communication-cultural-and-mediastudies/new-approaches-to-software-design-for-rural-cooperatives.
- The Guardian. (2012). Retrieved on 29th April 2017 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/ 2012/sep/19/climate-change-affect-food-production.
- UN Women Watch. (2009). Women, gender equality and climate change. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 http://www.un.org/womenwatch/feature/climate_change/downloads/Women_and_ Climate_Change_Factsheet.pdf.

- UNDP. Climate change and poverty reduction. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from, http://www. undp.org/content/undp/en/home/ourwork/environmentandenergy/strategic_themes/climate_ change/focus_areas/climate_change_andpovertyreduction.html.
- UNFCCC. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 http://unfccc.int/gender_and_climate_change/items/ 7516.php.
- UNCED. (1992). Accessed from the site of UN at (http://www.un.org/geninfo/bp/enviro.html) on 23rd April 2017.
- UNESCO. (2010). Report on impact of climate change on education. Retrieved on 29th April 2017 from http://sdg.iisd.org/news/unesco-report-highlights-impact-of-climate-change-on-education/.
- UNFCCC. (1990). Accessed from the website of UNFCCC at (http://unfccc.int/essential_ background/convention/items/6036.php) on 23rd April 2017.
- Vijayakumar, P., Venkatramanan, V., & Salooja, M. K. (2015). Creating awareness of food safety and climate change through mobile learning. In *Proceedings of The Second International Conference on Open and Flexible Education (ICOFE 2015)—making learning mobile and ubiquitous* (Edited by Kin Sun Yuen and Kam Cheong Li) (pp. 306–312). Hong Kong SAR, China: The Open University of Hong Kong. ISBN 978-988-8238-08-8.
- WMO. (1979). The proceedings of the conference held. Accessed from the web site of WMO at (https://books.google.co.in/books/about/Proceedings_of_the_World_Climate_Confere.html? id=E4YgAQAAIAAJ&redir_esc=y) on 23rd April 2017.
- Xiujuan, T. (2005). Delivering technical training to farmers through loudspeakers in rural areas. Retrieved on 30th April 2017 from www.crdenet.net.cn.

Websites

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002152/215280e.pdf.

- http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GAC_AcceleratingAdoptionMLearning_2012.pdf.
- http://www.who.int/globalchange/environment/en/.
- http://www.icde.org/assets/WHAT_WE_DO/icdestrategicplan2013-16website.pdf.

http://www.who.int/globalchange/environment/en/.

https://www.opencanada.org/.

http://www.climatehotmap.org/.

A Coil-Enhanced Course on International Perspectives of Climate Change

Luis Velazquez, Krystal Perkins, Nora Munguia and David Zepeda

Abstract Climate change is a complex and multifaceted issue. It is one that must concern all people and takes the work of the entire globalized world to eradicate. Consequently, a globally connected solution is paramount to sustainability. This chapter considers the potential and significance of embedding intercultural experiences and globally networked learning into courses on climate change and sustainability. In particular, the State University of New York's (SUNY) Center for Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) has developed a pedagogical approach aimed at fostering multicultural learning across various areas of study. Drawing from our experiences participating in the COIL Center's professional development programs and through the implementation of a COIL-enhanced course, several suggestions for infusing COIL-like models into courses on climate change and sustainability are offered. To begin, a brief review of the existing literature on distance education is provided. Then, a brief background of the SUNY COIL System is presented. This is followed by a case study analysis of the COIL-enhanced course, International Perspectives on Climate Change. Finally, some reflections about the COIL experience at the University of Sonora are offered, including successes, challenges, and suggestions for fostering climate change literacy and sustainable learning.

Keywords Distance education • Climate change • Climate change curriculum Intercultural experiences

K. Perkins

L. Velazquez (🖂) · N. Munguia · D. Zepeda

Sustainability Graduate Program, Industrial Engineering Department, The University of Sonora, Hermosillo, Mexico e-mail: Luis_Velazquez@industrial.uson.mx

SUNY, Department of Psychology, Purchase College, New York, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), Climate Literacy and Innovations

in Climate Change Education, Climate Change Management,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_12

Introduction

The world is facing a large number of global challenges that requires radical modifications in the way we think and act. The United Nations, through its Global Education First Initiative, states that to achieve these desire changes, institutions of higher education must first change the way they educate because traditional models struggle to meet the global and interconnected challenges of the 21st century (UNESCO 2012). Such efforts are vitally important because they have the opportunity to influence the ways in which students engage in the world. This holds institutions of higher education, and innovative ethical and sustainable solutions to these immense challenges (Cerneviciute and Petkute 2013; Holmberg et al. 2012).

Traditionally, a banking style of education has been the dominant model of pedagogy in institutions of higher education. The term, "banking education" was coined by Freire (1970), a Brazilian educator, to refer to educational pedagogy which is likened to a banking process where students store information delivered to them by a teacher. In particular, in the banking environment, a classroom is structured such that the primary objective of students is to remember and accurately recall the information provided by the teacher. They are not asked to participate in any other way, but to simply to absorb the information. In this type of approach, knowledge is static and finite and the outside world is seen as unchanging and uncomplicated. Moreover, the teacher has monopoly over knowledge. Together, the banking model of educations assumes the teacher is the narrator of knowledge and students are the passive recipients.

A banking style of education, however, is a pedagogical model incompatible with learning. It excludes diverse perspectives and privileges detachment from students. It minimizes the creative and agentic potential in them. It stifles innovation and intellectual growth. Further, it is an approach to teaching that assumes that students should merely be collectors of information that has no real connection to their lives. It masks student's ability to critically engage in and with the complexities of the world. Moreover, the banking method is a pedagogical style of education incompatible with an ever-changing, complex, globalized world. Society is experiencing changes in a fast way, therefore, everybody, but especially students must be a part of and acquire skills and knowledge to navigate this evolving present (Griffin and Care 2014; Siddiq et al. 2017). The current problems we face as a society are complex and involve many elements that interact with each other, including the environment surrounding them, producing different and new problems through feedback loops (Nuhoğlu 2010).

Taken together, traditional methods of teaching are not adequate to satisfy the new and complex challenges we face as a globe (Martin 2013). These multifaceted issues require new ways of thinking, understanding, and acquiring knowledge, in professors and students, alike (Coonan 2011). In particular, the classroom must be opened up where students and teachers together engage in dialogic enrichment through conversations, questions, debates, and inquiry. One pedagogical alternative

that has the potential to alter traditional knowledge creation is distance education. Distance education figuratively and literally opens up and changes traditional notions of the classroom. Distance education was originally designed for people unable to attend traditional schools enabling students from all walks of life and diverse backgrounds to attend school. At the core of distance education is the use of technology as a mechanism to enhance independent learning and participation from all students (Barker and Gossman 2013; Maitaouthong et al. 2011). Moreover, distance education offers a vast range of opportunities for promoting student interaction and collaboration. To date, virtual learning environments have been used in several countries, including the United States, Thailand, and Norway, starting from two decades ago (Bruce and Curson 2001).

Distance education takes many forms, but as a definition, it is a method of teaching where the student and teacher are in a remote place during the learning process and maintain communication in a variety of ways (Law and Kentnor 2015). Technologies blur the distance between students and teacher enabling students to have access to course material at any time and from any place. It can use a combination of technologies, including correspondence, audio, video, computer, and the Internet (Roffe 2004). Currently, the internet is the delivery mechanism with at least 80% of the course content delivered online (McPherson and Bacow 2015; Ospina-Delgado et al. 2016; Whitaker et al. 2016).

Online educational programs emerged in 1989 in the United States, when the University of Phoenix began using CompuServe, one of the first consumer online services (The University of Phoenix 1997). Afterwards, in 1991, the World Wide Web (Web) was unveiled and the University of Phoenix became one of the first to offer online education programs through the Internet. Nowadays, distance education is more available due to the innovations in communication technology and the connectivity of the computers and the Internet (Kentnor 2015).

According with Stankovic et al. (2015) distance education has several advantages to traditional in-person instruction. For example, distance education allows students to have 24-hour access to desired course information, providing students the opportunity to study a topic independently of space and time, eliminating spatial and temporal limitations. In addition, this kind of education reduces the costs of transportation and accommodation. In fact, online education represents the fastest growing form of distance education and it's appreciated at both traditional and non-traditional colleges and universities (Allen and Seaman 2011). Besides all of this, online education environments have been shown to improve critical thinking and stimulate student participation and collaboration. Distance education continues to grow with many universities around the world offering a large number of distance education courses on different topics with a high level of acceptance and effectiveness (Fish and Wickersham 2009).

One of the topics of high relevance to online education courses are courses in climate change literacy. Undoubtedly, climate change is one of the greatest challenges facing contemporary society (Buhaug 2016; Roberts 2016; Singh et al. 2017). In recent decades, climate change and sustainability have been present on the agenda of governments, international organizations, and even private companies.

In this same period, several large-scale sustainability initiatives have been developed (e.g., Paris Climate Agreement) in order to reduce the effects of climate change on a global scale; highlighting the environmental, societal, and economic implications of such efforts (Grittmann et al. 2017). Because of the global nature of this issue, online education stands out as one of the fundamental tools to address this problem (Nieto et al. 2012).

One factor that sets a climate change education apart from other curricula is that current and future societies are already and will continue to be affected by climate changes underway (Fahey 2012). Specifically, climate change is already causing significant harm and is growing rapidly. Its' impact on people and the environment pose serious societal challenges. As such, implementing solutions depends on an informed public. Educating future generations about the causes and effects of climate change is imperative. Likewise, the curricular discussion is not whether or not we should change the way we do things; instead the discussion is how we can do it. Distance education for climate change can allow students to inquire, question, and debate, the consequences and effects of climate change of which we are all witnesses to and are victims to from a global perspective (Dick-Forde 2013).

While courses in climate change are well suited in a distance education context, it is not without a distinct set of challenges. Climate change literacy is a complex topic to teach where many elements interact with each other. For example, from a hard-science perspective, biologic forces drive climate system variability (Wachholz et al. 2014). From a social or public health perspective, human-induced behaviors also impact the climate system. In general terms, people generally accept the hard-science perspective of climate change with a degree of certainty. However, people often resist the social interpretations about climate change; that humans are altering the climate. Prior research suggests introducing these topics with ample scaffolding and weaving tangible solutions into every discussion about climate change may be a way to reduce such resistance.

Climate change literacy also faces the challenge of obsolescence. With rapidly developing science and technology related to climate changes, research on this topic is often changing. This requires professors to keep their curricula updated (Fahey et al. 2014). If professors are not up to date with the research literature, effective delivery of a climate change curriculum can be counterproductive (Milér et al. 2012).

External factors, namely the ongoing debate about whether climate change is in fact real, poses a significant challenge to the delivery of a climate change curriculum. Some sectors of the public continue to debate the idea of climate change, despite the well-established literature stating otherwise. In addition, recent political developments in the United States suggest that climate change won't be top a priority in near future (Shear 2017; Worland 2017). On the other hand, the Mexican government has shown their support for climate change initiatives (Schmidt 2017). As analyzed by Colston and Vadjunec (2015), it is not unusual for science professors to find controversy on climate change due to political issues. Similarly, climate change literacy is also affected by socio-demographic factors and governing structures (Mycoo 2015). Dent and Dalton (2010) admitted a certain degree of

difficulty in integrating climate change issues into courses due to the fact that other topics are less complex and easier to be applied in courses. It is perhaps for this reason that Milér and Sládek (2011) suggest to increase the climate literacy of leaders first, including that of politicians, teachers, and journalists; then, educate the general public.

Taken together, an effective and innovative climate change curriculum needs a holistic approach; one that opens up the creative potential in students and takes into consideration the multiple sets of challenges as set out in The UNESCO Climate Change Initiative (2010). This means that it requires the will and ability of people to work together regardless of cultural or geographic divisions (Glasser 2009). Distance education has the potential to meet this need of creativity and innovative knowledge creation, through borderless communication and learning process. Through its multiple tools, its capacity for mass interaction, and the 24/7 availability, the goal to educate and transform lifestyles into a more sustainable one becomes achievable (Clary and Wandersee 2012; Garrison and Anderson 2011). The next sections describe a case study of a distance education course on climate change and sustainability.

Case Study: Designing a Curriculum for a Coil-Enhanced Course on International Perspectives of Climate Change

In 2016, the University of Sonora, a Mexican higher education institution, was invited by the State University of New York (SUNY) Center for Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) to participate in the US-MEXICO Multistate COIL Program Project (MCP), which aimed at increasing inter-university collaboration between Mexican universities and American academic institutions. Beyond the main goal of this project, the program also aimed to contribute to greater cultural understanding and cross-border dialogue between students and professors in both countries.

Bachelor students at the University of Sonora are often encouraged to participate in institutional outbound mobility programs in order to gain academic credits and for their own personal growth. Although many apply for a position into the program, just a few are chosen because of economic constrains. Student participation in these programs have become even more difficult in recent years within the context of the current economic crisis. In this context, the university's authorities saw the COIL proposal as a meaningful solution for experiential multicultural learning that could supply outbound mobility opportunities to students in an affordable way. In addition, the COIL opportunity aligned with the sustainability goals of the university in that it prevented thousands of Greenhouse emissions associated with student abroad traveling.

The Rector of the university accepted the invitation to participate in the US-Mexico Multistate COIL Program Project. The course that was chosen to be *COILed* was titled, *International Perspectives of Climate Change*, taught by the

first author. This course was chosen largely because of the University of Sonora's value and commitment toward sustainability and the view that climate change is a global issue. In fact, for more than two decades, the University of Sonora has advanced climate change initiatives and has been considered an international icon of sustainability.

The SUNY COIL Center Paradigm

The SUNY Center for Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) is one of the principal international organizations within the field of Globally Networked Learning (GNL); a type of emerging pedagogy emphasizing cross-cultural engagement experiences (Starke-Meyerring and Wilson 2008; Starke-Meyerring 2010). The SUNY COIL Center was created at SUNY Purchase in 2006. In particular, COIL developed from the grassroots efforts of a group of faculty at Purchase who were surveying ways to bring tangible international perspectives into their classrooms. Jon Rubin, the founding Director of COIL, was one of those professors. He developed a Cross-Cultural Video course where SUNY students co-produced videos over the internet with students from different countries in the world, including Turkey, Lithuania, Mexico, Belarus, and Germany.

Since then, COIL has grown exponentially with the support and recognition from agencies like the National Endowment of the Humanities (NEH), the Open Society Institute (OSI), the American Council on Education (ACE), and Banco Santander. Recently, COIL launched several large scale projects including the Steven's Initiative and US-Mexico Multistate COIL Program (MCP). The Steven's Initiative is a three-cohort project with partnerships and exchanges between SUNY and Middle Eastern and North African universities (Lebanon, Morocco, and Egypt). The first cohort resulted in 7 partnerships that reached over 350 students across 8 institutions. The MCP is a two-cohort initiative within the US-Mexico Bilateral Forum on Higher Education, Innovation and Research (FOBESII), COIL, SUNY's Office for Latin America, with the support from the USA Embassy in Mexico City and the University of LaSalle. To date, the MCP consists of 13 SUNY institutions, 4 institutions outside of New York State, and higher education institutions in 18 Mexican states. The institutional partnerships resulted in 39 courses being taught. The overall aim of the Steven's Initiative and MCP is the development of long-term COIL-based partnerships between the countries.

The COIL Classroom

COIL is not classic distance education. Instead, in the COIL model, students from different cultures register in a shared course where faculty members from each country team-teach and manage coursework. Professors' work together to generate a shared syllabus based on the specific academic objectives of the course and discipline overlayed with some type of experiential and/or collaborative student learning. COIL classes can either be fully online or offered in more blended or hybrid arrangements with a mix of technology and traditional face-to-face-instruction. In blended or hybrid courses, the collaborative work takes place online, but the face-to-face and online activities complement and reinforce either other. To provide strong engagement to the collaborative work, in some circumstances and contingent upon funding, students from each participating institutions travel to their COIL classroom's country to meet their peers. The key to the COIL model is have the subject of the course lend itself to students working collaboratively in international groups.

In the past, courses in the Humanities, Social Sciences, Technology, and Engineering have been *COILed*. Some examples of recently developed COIL courses include: *International Development and International Migration* (SUNY Cortland and Anadolu University in Turkey), *Going Global: Intercultural Communication* (SUNY Purchase College and Universidad Iberoamericana in Mexico), and Survey of World Cultures (SUNY Delhi and European Humanities University in Lithuania). Accordingly, the COIL model is one that extends beyond the confines of the traditional local classroom, beyond traditional theories of pedagogy, and beyond traditional knowledge creation practices. By linking students and professors from diverse backgrounds, COIL emphasizes the value of partnered international learning environments as a tool to enhance experiential and disciplinary learning. Moreover, they also provide valuable internationally-focused professional development opportunities for faculty and participating institutions.

The COILing Process

The COIL Center has created a professional development program to support faculty as they develop their prospective courses. The COIL's Center professional development program consists of the COIL Course Orientation and the COIL Academy. A brief description of each program is elaborated below.

The first professional development program, the COIL Course Orientation is a 5-week online course that provides foundational information to prepare interested faculty members for partnering and *COILing* courses. In particular, faculty members learn more about the COIL Center, the partnering process, and create online profiles describing their prospective course. During this phase of professional development, professors also are asked to consider and discuss on discussion boards, a variety of critical issues including intercultural sensitivity, flexibility, and the significance of developing consistent protocols among partnering faculty.

At the end of the COIL Course Orientation, faculty members create profiles of their prospective course to be promoted on the COIL Networks website. The profile of that prospective course is then viewed by potential faculty partners from the Global Partner Network (GPN); a membership-based network of higher education institutions around the world. Those interested in partnering then post replies to a profile. Once a potential collaboration has been identified, the SUNY faculty and the GPN faculty write a partnership proposal to be considered for the next stage of the professional development program, the COIL Academy.

Building upon the COIL Course Orientation, the first part of the COIL Academy is an in-person workshop usually taking place at a global partner campus. The MCP in-person workshop took place in Cuernavaca, Mexico. The in-person workshop is where partners meet face-to-face for three days of presentations, interactions with partners, and course development activities led by COIL facilitators. In addition, course outcomes are discussed and potential collaborative activities are identified and drafted with the help of COIL facilitators. More broadly, faculty partners are asked to consider their ideas more deeply and the strategies necessary for preparing and implementing a COIL course. SUNY partners also have the opportunity to visit their Mexican partner's university.

Following the in-person workshop, the final phase of the COIL Academy is an 8-week online program. This phase of professional development is where the faculty partners finalize the details of their COIL course. In particular, COIL facilitators guide partners to think deeply about what it means and how to collaborate online from the perspective of the student. By the end, partners develop a syllabus for their COIL-course including student learning outcomes, tasks, and experiential activities.

COIL-Enhanced Curriculum for International Perspectives of Climate Change

Climate change is, by nature, a global topic and is well suited for multidisciplinary and multicultural contexts, like COIL. Traditionally, courses on climate change are taught under a hard science perspective where understanding the natural phenomena associated with climate change is a core component. However, anthropogenic causes have accelerated global warming and consequently, the climate has changed. Thus, the course on *International Perspectives of Climate Change* offers students a broader analysis to climate change, one that includes the natural and anthropogenic forces.

A COIL-enhanced course on *International Perspectives of Climate Change* was thought of as an excellent opportunity to involve undergraduate students from several branches of engineering sciences from the University of Sonora in Mexico with undergraduate students from several disciplines from Nassau Community College in the United States in order to increase their awareness of the Paris Agreement goal of limiting Global Warning to well below 2 °C. Hence, the main purpose of the course was to increase students' understanding of their contributions to climate change and foster positive personal practices to reduce their carbon footprint. In addition, this course aimed to inspire students that look to deepen their knowledge about climate change for a better future.

This course was an English only spoken course at the honor-level. Hence, students who enrolled in the course had to be in excellent academic standing and have good English proficiency.

The course had the following four student learning outcomes (SLO):

SLO 1 You will be able to identify what creates climate change and what does not create climate change.

SLO 2 You will be able to express in a writing essay how you contribute to climate change.

SLO 3 You will be able to understand how you can mitigate climate change by doing a hands-on project.

SLO 4 You will be able to disseminate your findings.

The COIL-enhanced course lasted eight weeks and the entire course lasted sixteen weeks, whereby the Mexican students had the chance to exchange points of view about the weekly content with the American students. The course was a blended-style course structure where part of the content was through traditional face-to-face instruction. Interaction and collaboration with the American students took place online using several online tools.

During the first week of the course, students in Mexico and the United States were introduced to the course material including to COIL-enhanced component. The web-based learning platform called Blackboard was used to enable and support the interaction between students. Blackboard allowed students and instructors to maintain discussions boards and threads to enrich debate among students. The free software program called LiveBinders was used to upload PowerPoint presentations, papers, assignments, audios, and pictures.

During the second week, students in both countries were asked to prepare a short icebreaking video where they detailed what they expected to learn out of the course about climate change and intercultural learning. Students then met synchronously to discuss the videos and to the get to know each other more.

The third week was devoted to learning about the ABC's of climate change. This was done in students' in-person classes in both Mexico and the United States. Videos from The National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, testimonials in YouTube were used for reinforce learning and discussion.

During the fourth and fifth weeks, students learned how to calculate their carbon footprint, which is the total amount of greenhouse gases produced to directly and indirectly support human activities. This is expressed in equivalent tons of carbon dioxide (CO^2). To do this, they had to do an inventory of their daily activities, determinate the amount of energy consumed, and finally convert data to equivalent tons of CO^2 . Calculations were made with the help of a web carbon footprint calculator. Students shared and discussed their results on Blackboard.

The sixth week was devoted to discussing and exploring alternatives to CO^2 offsetting. Students had to identify best practices in order to reduce their emission of greenhouse gases in order to decrease their carbon footprint. During this week, the second synchronous class occurred with the purpose of discussing the similarities and differences between student's carbon footprints in both countries.

In the final weeks, students were first asked to create a video to raise the consciousness of how undergraduate students may reduce their carbon footprint. This video was posted in student's social media. During the eight week, the final synchronous class took place with the purpose of reinforcing and discussing what students learned in class. In particular, students shared their final thoughts and ideas about what they learned. Beyond educational factors, professors highlighted cultural factors in both countries that influence the perception of climate change.

Reflections

This COIL-enhanced course started in spring 2017, yet partnership among the Mexican and the American class was not completed due to technological problems. However, the foundation to try again in future semesters have been set. The remainder of the course was taught in a traditional face-to-face instruction with the same objectives.

Despite the technological challenges, a lot was gained by the COIL model of pedagogy. Many lessons are to be drawn from this year. The main lesson being that the COIL philosophy fits well with the University of Sonora's institutional planning to offer a high standard of education mainly, in the way of offering education in a multicultural environment.

International student mobility is something that all students should take part in however, current economic situations in Mexico makes it difficult for many students. In a certain way, the COIL model allows more students to get close to the benefits of intercultural learning in a cost effective way that are usually only available by international student mobility. The potential and significance of embedding intercultural experiences and globally networked learning into courses on climate changes cannot be understated.

However, diplomatic frictions between the American and the Mexican presidents do not augur well for any type of cooperation between both countries. The continuation of COIL among Mexico and the United States could be threatened in the near future by issues like the wall, immigration, the North American Free Trade Agreement, jobs, and unfortunately by the climate change perspectives in both countries. In particular, it is may be difficult to reconcile the different diplomatic perspectives about climate change that divides the United States and Mexico. It is possible that cultural differences in views about climate change will widen further. Consequently, the need to foster climate change-literacy innovation will matter even more.

Mexican students who took the COIL-enhanced course were engaged with increasing their level of climate change knowledge to make appropriate decisions to decrease their carbon footprint. They also showed enthusiasm to exchange ideas with American students. This suggests that the provision of basic climate change literacy to undergraduate students is an appropriate approach for helping them to learn, and pursue more complex system knowledge in the near future.

In closing, professors and students in Mexico and the United States still have a lot to learn from each other in order to keep fostering climate chance literacy and behaviors. From now onwards, the COIL framework can be the guideline for the University of Sonora and other higher education institutions to teach the basics of climate change, taking into account cultural differences to envision and create a more sustainable society.

References

- Allen, I. E, & Seaman, J. (2011). Going the distance: Online education in the United States. The Online Learning Consortium. Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/survey/ going_distance_2011.
- Barker, J., & Gossman, P. (2013). The learning impact of a virtual learning environment: students' views. *Tean Journal*, 5(2), 19–38.
- Bruce, J., & Curson, N. (2001). UEA virtual learning environment—Product evaluation report. UK: Learning Technology Group. Retrieved from http://www.uea.ac.uk/ltg/blackboard/ VLEreport.pdf.
- Buhaug, H. (2016). Climate change and conflict: Taking stock. *Peace Economics, Peace Science and Public Policy*, 22(4), 331–338. Available at: http://www.degruyter.com/view/j/peps.2016. 22.issue-4/peps-2016-0034/peps-2016-0034.xml.
- Cerneviciute, J., & Petkute, R. (2013). The role of education for sustainable development in fostering students' innovativeness at technical universities. *European Integration Studies*, 7, 7–13.
- Clary, R. M., & Wandersee, J. H. (2012). Mandatory climate change discussions in online classrooms: Promoting students' climate literacy and understanding of the nature of science. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, 41(5), 70–79. Available at: http://proxy-remote.galib. uga.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=74486382 &site=ehost-live.
- Colston, N. M., & Vadjunec, J. M. (2015). A critical political ecology of consensus: On "Teaching Both Sides" of climate change controversies. *Geoforum*, 65, 255–265.
- Coonan, E. (2011). A new curriculum for information literacy: Theoretical background. Retrieved from http://arcadiaproject.lib.cam.ac.uk/docs/theory.pdf.
- Dent, P., & Dalton, G. (2010). Climate change and professional surveying programmes of study. International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education, 11(3), 274–291.
- Dick-Forde, E. (2013). Integrating education on climate change in the UWI open campus. Caribbean Quarterly, 59(3/4), 98–110.
- Fahey, S. J. (2012). Curriculum change and climate change: Inside outside pressures in higher education. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 44(5), 703–722.
- Fahey, S. J., Labadie, J. R., & Meyers, N. (2014). Turning the titanic: Inertia and the drivers of climate change education. *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, 6(1), 44–62.
- Fish, W. W., & Wickersham, L. E. (2009). Best practices for online instructors: Remindes. *The Quaterly Review of Distance Education Leadership*, 10, 279–284.
- Freire, P. (1970). Pedagogy of the Oppressed. New York: Herder & Herder.
- Garrison, D. R., & Anderson, T. (2011). Introduction. *E-learning in the 21st century: A framework for research and practice* (pp. 49–70). London: Taylor & Francis.

- Glasser, H. (2009). Minding the gap: the role of social learning in linking our stated desire for a more sustainable world to our everyday actions and policies. *Social learning towards a sustainable world* (pp. 35–61). Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen.
- Griffin, P., & Care, E. (Eds.). (2014). Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills: Methods and approach. New York: Springer.
- Grittmann, E., Schneider, B., Nocke, T., Feulner, G., Wrobel, M., & Reusser, D. (2017). Images of climate change in the press and on the web. In B. Schneider & T. Nocke (Eds.), *Image politics* of climate change: Visualization, imaginations, documentations (pp. 125–221). Germany: Transcript Bielefeld.
- Holmberg, J., Lundqvist, U., Svanstro, M., & Arehag, M. (2012). The University and transformation towards sustainability-the strategy used at Chalmers University of Technology. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 13(3), 219–231.
- Kentnor, H. E. (2015). Curriculum and teaching dialogue, vol. 17, Nos. 1 & 2.
- Law, D., & Kentnor, H. (2015). Faculty scholarship distance education and the evolution of online learning in the United States and the evolution of online learning (p. 17).
- Maitaouthong, T., Tuamsuk, K., & Tachamanee, Y. (2011). Development of the instructional model by integrating information literacy in the class learning and teaching processes. *Education for Information*, 28(2–4), 137–150.
- Martin, J. (2013). Refreshing information literacy, learning from recent British information literacy models. *Communications in Information Literacy*, 7(2), 114–127.
- McPherson, M. S., & Bacow, L. S. (2015). Online higher education: Beyond the hype cycle. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 29(4), 135–154.
- Miléř, T., & Sládek, P. (2011). The climate literacy challenge. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 12, 150–156.
- Miléř, T., Hollan, J., Válek, J., & Sládek, P. (2012). Teachers' understanding of climate change. Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences, 69(Iceepsy), 1437–1442.
- Mycoo, M. (2015). Communicating climate change in rural coastal communities. International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 7(1), 58–75.
- Nieto Ferreira, R., Herdman, A., Curtis, S., Chia, R., Poe, E., Thompson, R., et al. (2012). A multinational course on global climate change. *American Meteorological Society*, 93(10), 1539–1546.
- Nuhoğlu, H. (2010). The effect of the system dynamics approach on understanding causal relationship skills in science education. *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 3614–3618.
- Ospina-Delgado, J. E., Zorio-grima, A., & García-benau, M. A. (2016). Massive open online courses in higher education: A data analysis of the MOOC supply. *Intangible Capital*, 12(5), 1401–1450.
- Roberts, D. (2016). A global roadmap for climate change action: From COP17 in Durban to COP21 in Paris. *South African Journal of Science*, *112*(5–6), 9–12.
- Roffe, I. (2004). Innovation and e-learning: E-business for an educational enterprise. Cardiff, UK: University of Wales Press.
- Schmidt, J. (2017). Trump can't stop this: China, India and México make strides. Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC). Retrieved from https://www.nrdc.org/experts/jakeschmidt/trump-cant-stop-china-india-and-mexico-make-strides.
- Shear, M. (2017). Trump will withdraw U.S. from Paris climate agreement. The New York Times. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2017/06/01/climate/trump-paris-climate-agreement. html?module=ArrowsNav&contentCollection=Climate&action=keypress®ion=FixedLeft& pgtype=article.
- Siddiq, F., Gochyyev, P., & Wilson, M. (2017). Learning in digital networks—ICT literacy: A novel assessment of students' 21st century skills. *Computers & Education*, 109, 11–37.
- Singh, M., Poonia, M. K. & Kumhar, B.L., 2017. Climate change: Impact, adaptation and mitigation: A review. Agricultural Reviews, 38(1), 67–71. Available at: http://arccjournals. com/journal/agricultural-reviews/R-1648.

- Stankovic, A., Petrovic, B., & Milosevic, Z. (2015). Attitudes and knowledge of medical students abour distance learning. Acta Facultatis Medicae Naissensis, 32(3), 199–207. doi:10.1515/ afmnai-2015-0020.
- Starke-Meyerring, D. (2010). Globally networked learning environments: Reshaping the intersections of globalization and e-learning in higher education. *E-learning and Digital Media*, 7, 127–132.
- Starke-Meyerring, D., & Wilson, M. (Eds.). (2008). Designing globally networked learning environments: Visionary partnerships, policies, and pedagogies. Rotterdam: Sense.
- Unesco, (2010). Climate Change Education.
- UNESCO. (2012). *Global education first initative*. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.unesco. org/new/en/gefi/home/. Accessed April 19, 2017.
- University of Phoenix. (1997). Telephony Online, Desktop degrees, University of Phoenix takes education on-line, May 26, 1997. Telephonyonline.com. Retrieved September 3, 2010.
- Wachholz, S., Artz, N., & Chene, D. (2014). Warming to the idea: University students' knowledge and attitudes about climate change. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 15(2), 128–141.
- Whitaker, J., New, J. R., & Ireland, R. D. (2016). MOOCs and the online delivery of business education What's new? What's not? What now? Academy of Management Learning and Education, 15(2), 345–365.
- Worland, J. (2017). Why Trump pulling out of the Paris agreement led to a stronger global climate change plan. *Time*. Retrieved from http://time.com/4850421/g20-trump-paris-agreementclimate-change/.

Climate Change and e-Learning: Interdisciplinarity and Interculturality Challenges

Fátima Alves and Ulisses Miranda Azeiteiro

Abstract Climate change is a key issue on today's scientific, social and political agenda. The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals reinforce its current priorities in this regard (e.g. SDG 13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts) and is one of the five priority areas of the Strategy 2020 of the European Commission. This chapter discusses the specificities of climate change online learning in respect to syllabus contents and highlights its multidisciplinary and multicultural components. One of the characteristics of online learning is its capacity to reach an extensive number of people, scattered around the world and with diversified cultural backgrounds. This opens an extremely valuable path to research and societal responsibility, filled with potentialities and challenges. Student's cultural diversity and geographical belonging must be reflected in the syllabus contents, as well as in the objectives of the courses and in the competencies that should be promoted. Furthermore in the design of the courses it is increasingly relevant to reflect and value an interdisciplinary approach to teaching and learning, because it is a key factor in Climate Change Education and Awareness. In this interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary dialog, it is crucial to evidence the cultural and contextual validity of knowledge and the impact of socioenvironmental dimensions in the configuration of Climate change challenges. For the purpose of this study we took as an example two course proposals: "Environment, Health and Wellbeing" for social sciences undergraduate students and "Governance of Climate Change Adaptation" for postgraduate students, presenting teaching contents,

F. Alves (🖂)

U. M. Azeiteiro Department of Biology and CESAM, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Universidade Aberta, Centre for Functional Ecology, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal e-mail: fatimaa@uab.pt

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_13

teaching and learning methodologies, effectiveness through e-learning in higher education institutions (HEIs) and the potential for increase in public climate science literacy.

Keywords Online teaching • Climate change • Societal challenges Climate science literacy

Introduction

A close look at the evolution of teaching and learning online will show us that students have diversified geographical and cultural backgrounds however facing similar societal and scientific challenges related to global environmental change.

Enlarged access to information, globalization and new communication technologies together with the present societal challenges we are facing, demands for new competencies and created an educational niche opportunity for e-Learning (Azeiteiro et al. 2014a, b, 2015). An e-Learning education online system, independent of our chronologic time and place, that allows students to proceed studies at their own places and to identify their own personal course timeline and self-regulated learning processes (Azeiteiro et al. 2014a, b, 2015; Bacelar-Nicolau et al. 2009; Bacelar-Nicolau e Azeiteiro 2016; Moura et al. 2010), promotes the existence of learning communities (Moura et al. 2010) and addresses the Challenges of Multicultural Education for Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education (Azeiteiro and Leal Filho 2017).

E-learning acquisition of competencies, employability and entrepreneurship (Amador et al. 2008; Bacelar-Nicolau et al. 2007, 2009; Martinho et al. 2014, 2016; Moura et al. 2010), attitudes, barriers and motivation (Bacelar-Nicolau et al. 2015), perceptions (Bacelar-Nicolau et al. 2012), have been studied and the results show their effectiveness and full pedagogical scope (Azeiteiro et al. 2014a, b, 2015). Some European initiatives and reports (e.g. "Modernisation of Higher Education in Europe: Access, Retention and Employability", "ICT-20-2015: "Technologies for better human learning and teaching", "The eLearning Awards (...) rewards excellent practice in using ICT for learning across Europe" and "Erasmus +", namely the "Long Life Learning programme") promote this Digital Inclusion Strategy and are at the same time promoters of Sustainable Development (Aires et al. 2014).

Our experience as online teachers, as well as our training, has warned us of the importance to consider the socio-cultural background and identity of our students as conditioning factors of the process of teaching and learning, especially in what concerns the contents taught to our students. We argue that a special investment in intercultural research is needed in order to guarantee that content taught is adequate and reflects the different geographical and cultural contexts and specificities (Alves and Araújo 2012). We also aim to show that an exercise of opening up to different contexts, where the phenomena under analysis show different contours (for

instance, the way climate change is conceived, explained and dealt with (Viegas et al. 2016; Alves et al. 2014)), represents a valuable potential for a break with traditional thinking, for relativisation and for the establishment of new relationships that require critical thinking and adaptation to socio-cultural flexibility and plasticity (Alves and Araújo 2012).

This chapter discusses the specificities of climate change online learning in respect to syllabus contents. For the purpose of this study we took as an example two course proposals: "Environment, Health and Wellbeing" for undergraduate students and "Governance of Climate Change Adaptation" for postgraduate students presenting teaching contents, teaching and learning methodologies, effectiveness through e-learning in higher education institutions (HEIs) and the potential for increase in public climate science literacy. We conclude this chapter by giving further clues for research.

Online Distance Learning

Online Distance Learning reaches multiple territories and requires the recognition of the existing multiculturalism and diversity, which should lead to the choice of contents and pedagogical practices that are significant to the concerned students. If, on one hand, it is crucial to establish the connection between syllabus contents and geographical and cultural diversity, on the other hand it is no less important to recognize the plurality and cultural mixture that exists in every apparently homogeneous culture (Alves et al. 2012). As such, all practices developed to prepare students for co-existence and cultural sensitivity must be seen as powerful heuristic instruments for the analysis of society and for the promotion of citizenship and social emancipation (Alves and Araújo 2012; Alves et al. 2012).

According to Alves and Araújo (2012), in pedagogical terms, online learning allows students:

- To access information anywhere there is a computer with Internet access;
- To use various types of tools and to communicate through discussion forums, chats, conferences, instant messages, e-mails and other forms of online communication;
- To access information anytime they want. For the majority of activities and tasks, the access schedule is decided by each students;
- To follow their own pace of learning, which is different for every student;
- To take advantage of having a teacher that acts as a tutor, a facilitor of learning. The teacher organizes contents, sets objectives and targets, negotiates and follows the process of knowledge acquisition, evaluates the performance, offers solutions and makes sure that all the resources necessary to execute tasks are available;

- To communicate with other students, namely through forums (of the curricular unit, students and others) that may or not be mediated by the teacher/tutor, and to execute collaborative projects that are critical to their success as students;
- To enjoy the benefits of multimedia resources, such as video, audio and animation, that help to mitigate the difficulty of reading information displayed on a screen;
- To have access to contents with a flexible structure; this is important to encourage students in their process of learning, independently of their level of experience.

Following Alves and Araújo (2012: 189) work, so far as we are talking about a learning environment asynchronous, from which gestures, facial expression and corporal interaction as a whole are absent, all aspects related to contents, exchange of ideas and knowledge and the way to achieve interaction become even more important. All doubts, impressions, conclusions need to be clarified in writing. And what happens frequently is that questions related to cultural diversity are not clarified because students often assume a more secluded role when it comes to using written language. Writing confines thoughts and perceptions and exposes their symbolic universes.

Reflection Based on the Organization of the Curricular Unit of "Environment, Health and Wellbeing"—Social Sciences Degree

Based on our experience as online teacher we will proceed to the presentation of the specificities of a theoretical, conceptual and cultural approach to the contents taught to students of the curricular unit (CU) of Environment, Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (6 ECTS; Online teaching contact: 26 h contact in 156 h, total study hours of student). As social scientist and teacher of this CU it was defined as a priority from the very first moment the investment in intercultural research and also the need to integrate research related to different geographical contexts on its syllabus contents. As we have done in previous work in the health field (Alves and Araújo 2012), we would like to demonstrate how a simple exercise of opening the Environmental field and Climate change analysis to different contexts, in which the phenomena have diverse cultural representations can result in a wonderful opportunity to make a relativisation (e.g. the way people attribute means, explain and deal with climate change is different across cultures) and to establish new relationships that demand critical thinking and the capacity to adapt to the liquidity of the social, cultural, political and ethical world of each student. The potentiality of such a practice can be explored on the work done by students in virtual classes and on their examination scripts-for example, one of the exercises they are proposed in virtual class is to map environmental problems in their context of living, and to illustrate them with scientific data. The result is very encouraging and provides an overview

of the plurality of locally valued environmental problems in geographies that are so diverse (especially between Portugal, the European countries receiving emigrants and the Lusophone countries).

That's why in this sense online learning syllabus tends to adapt to the needs of learners and the way they access contents. However this flexibility in integrating phenomenon diversity and variability does not means that there is no structure and sequence on the Curricular Unit Plan. The main dimensions of the Plan aim to develop specific competencies. Nevertheless, we have integrated some of the multicultural components, opening up this CU and making it more flexible to the universe of students that composes it.

Objectives and Expected Competencies

As defined in its CU, this course evidences the complexity of environment and health fields and the importance of understanding them as social constructions. The environmental crisis, the degradation of ecosystems and their impact on health and wellbeing of populations, resulting from the current demographic transition as well as from the increasing depletion of 'natural resources' (whose access is unequal), losses of biodiversity and aggressions on geodiversity and climate change, challenge societies in their organization and ways of life. To understand its configuration, causes, and deal with the consequences it is necessary to consider the multiple dimensions established between the environment, social structures and agents. Its complexity requires an holistic approach.

The theoretical approach derives from sociological and social sciences studies belonging to multiple theoretical-methodological traditions that have dealt with socio-economic, geographical and cultural contexts. Throughout the semester we post information on the specific thematic topics not only with bibliography but also with practical examples and formative exercises, that is, empirical studies and/or questions that will help students to understand the main aspects of the proposed contents, complemented by practical work applying the theoretical instruments to the context in which they live.

In accordance with the objectives, at the end of the CU of EHW students are expected to be able to:

- Discuss the environment, health and well-being as social constructions;
- Know, analyze and understand the impacts of environmental crisis in social organization in general, and in human health and well-being, in particular;
- Critical analysis of the environmental field governance in order to identify the underlying concepts in policies, programs, and professional organizations that implement them;
- Identify and discuss the economic dimension of 'environmental phenomena' (turning knowledge and goods into resources);

- Identify and critically analyze the societal challenges that the environmental problem introduces in a multiscale global context;
- Know and discuss the plurality of knowledge and socio-cultural practices around the environment and the challenges to the social sciences;
- Deconstruct social participation incorporated in the overall management of environment and their importance for social change;
- Analyze contexts and develop local action plans directed to the prevention of environmental and health crisis.

To achieve these goals and competencies, a "Table of Contents" is proposed to the students, as follows:

- Environment, Health and Wellbeing as social constructions;
- Environmental crisis, social organization, lifestyles and socio-environmental inequalities;
- Governance of the environment and health: between the state, the market and the community;
- Societal Challenges in the Age of Globalization: science, economics, society, plural knowledge, interculturalities and environment;
- Case Study: Adapting to Climate Change.

In virtual classes, we systematically encourage students to contribute to the discussion by sharing their knowledge and experience. An analysis of the central concepts of the course (environment, health and wellbeing) in diverse cultural contexts is also submitted to the screening of cultural-social-geographical relativization and their relationship with the multiple dimensions of the phenomenon, namely with the development of an E-Folio work based on the particular case of their own context of living: in particular, they are asked to map and analyze environmental problems in their locality.

As a result of encouraging the students to discuss these matters in virtual classes and in E-Folio forums, we witnessed that in most cases students in the curricular unit forum are not always able to mobilise their contextual and cultural everyday knowledge, mainly because they do not value it or because it corresponds to routines that they believe to be outside the scope of the CU, as we have also found in previous work (Alves and Araújo 2012). On the contrary, in the E-Folio forum, 'forced' by the evaluation they need to obtain, we witnessed interesting debates on the role of cultures in the social production of environment, health and wellbeing, and on the way they understand, explain and deal with these phenomena. Here a key example is Climate change. As we have already analised in previous studies with other curricular units (Alves and Araújo 2012) this fosters the emergence of important breaks from common sense, particularly when it is already shaped by western perspectives that reflect a certain knowledge and power relations that hidden other types of knowledge and interpretations based on other symbolic universes (Alves et al. 2013, 2014). This is, no doubt, one of the axis future researches should explore-the establishment of a link between the curricular components, cultures and globalization, which will hopefully allow a more contextualized and co-productive type of learning. We are certain that this issue is central to the educational success of our students. Cultural stereotypes about their performance are common and, in the case of students from the Portuguese speaking countries in Africa or Brasil, that stereotypes along with the inequalities they face, establish a connection between the lack of success and the origin from different cultural contexts (Alves and Araújo 2012). The central question here is the plurality of symbolic universes and the need to integrate this (of representations, explanations, interpretations, meanings, senses and actions) in the conception of the courses. Is a complex and hard task, but it is a wonderful opportunity to promote success and to value diversity. This will captivate the attention and the interest of students in a learning process with close cultural related contents, which are meaningful for them. This can be done using other materials than the ones provided by the occidental science, valuing local production of knowledges.

Working Methodology

In this CU we problematize the concepts of environment, health and well-being. Given its multidimensionality we resort to the contributions of the social sciences and the environmental sciences. In this curricular unit and without the pretension of entering the quarrels around the classic positions that underline the dichotomies between nature and culture or nature and society, the environment, health and well-being are analysed also as social constructions. The current world can no longer fail to reflect on the environmental crisis and its impacts on the health of populations and their well-being, thus taking as a point of reflection the relationship between environment, health and society and ethical dilemmas that impose on us. Health understood here in its broadest sense that includes the well-being and quality of life that are determined by environmental, biological, social, cultural and psychological factors. The World Health Organization estimates that 24% of the disease burden and 23% of premature deaths are attributed to environmental factors. This trend has been increasing in recent years as a result of global warming and extreme events in the context of Climate change. It is the complexity of the interrelationship between society, environment and health that will provide a critical reading on the phenomena with which we are confronted today, as scientists, professionals and citizens and that will make us aware of the emergence of action. As Giddens (2009) tells us, we are in an era of doing something that no civilization was responsible for doing. This will mark the future story and determine our life on earth.

In this CU, environment, health and societies are used to demonstrate their interconnection with geographical and cultural diversity, inequalities, gender, social class, ethnicity, religion, etc. To analyse and study these issues, we rely on texts either from social sciences and environmental sciences, as well on movies and other resources available through the Internet as open access material.

The working methodology adopted comprehends individual reading and reflection, the sharing of the reflection and the study done with other colleagues, clarification of doubts in forums and the carrying out of training activities concerning the thematics that are dealt with. From the moment they enroll in the CU, students have access to a working plan, discriminating the distribution in time of the several topics/themes, the activities and their working guidelines, so that they can plan, organize and carry out the study. This is complemented by other information that is regularly given in the virtual classroom.

What we have seen is that the activities developed throughout the semester are highly dependant on the interaction and involvement of the students. Interaction is a field that should be further analysed in order to understand which factors could influence the relationship between interaction levels and effective learning (Alves et al. 2012). In fact, we witnessed that the levels of interaction are related not only to the students' available time and the old habit of postponing the study to the very last day but also to cultural issues as we have already seen in previous study (Alves et al. 2012). In practice, it appears that when a student mobilizes knowledge, presents different or complementary proposals to what has been suggested, gives examples, shares reference bibliography, videos or other resources, he ends up by achieving a better result both in the continuous evaluation (work conducted on the virtual classroom) and in the final exam. And this works as a reminder that there is another area of research that should be taken into account: the competencies of the teaching team, which must include the capacity to continuously encourage students to actively participate in the learning process, as we have already stated in previous study (Alves et al. 2012).

Enrollment in the CU

Social Sciences students enroll in this CU, which is optional, for different reasons. We encourage students to explain those reasons and to introduce themselves to the class, either on the students' forum or during the presentation class.

Tasks

Tasks to be performed by the students are listed on the predefined schedule programme, which is available online.

The CU is organized by topics, which are opened every week.

Tasks to be performed are listed on each topic, are announced on the news forum and are also discussed on forums.

Evaluation

As in class attendance teaching, students may choose between two forms of evaluation: continuous or final exam.

Students who opt for the continuous evaluation have at their disposal a personal Learning Card, where their evaluation gets registered throughout the semester. The Learning Card is a user instrument and students can only access to their own card.

Students who opt for the final exam can follow the guidance given on the platform, as well as the formative training activities that are made available throughout the learning period. Informally they can be able to access the evaluation instruments used for the continuous evaluation scheme: E-folio and P-folio.

Delivery and Evaluation of Work

After handing in their works, the teacher evaluates them and makes comments. The student has access to the evaluation criteria and can make his own evaluation and learn from it. This CU takes evaluation very seriously and the teacher and tutors make an extra effort to try to understand the way students appropriate syllabus contents.

The information given to each student explains the score obtained and gives suggestions on how to improve further their work.

Reflection Based on the Organization of the Curricular Unit of "Governance of Climate Change Adaptation"

This CU (6 ECTS; Online teaching contact: 26 h contact in 156 h, total study hours of student) intends to award and promote actionable ideas and concrete projects designed to support communities in preparing and responding to climate change, improving local resilience through enhanced preparedness and also focuses the attention on core aspects of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development—namely Goal 13 (*Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts*).

Online learning syllabus tends to adapt to the needs of students (learners) and the way they access contents. In the programme of this CU, diversity/variability is, however, limited: control over contents to be taught and their sequence is predetermined on the Curricular Unit Plan. Ideally, the objective of the work proposed should be built in such a way as to allow the development of specific competencies and, in that sense, the sequence of events and proposal should be predictable. However, for each subject analysed we have increasingly tried to integrate the multicultural components, opening up this CU and making it more flexible to the universe of students that composes it.

The contents are:

- The nature of the problem;
- Impacts of Climate Variability on Ecosystems;
- Interactions of Environment and Society (Impacts of Climate Variability in Societies and Economies);
- Climate Change and Health (Environmental, Public, Human);
- Local perceptions, understandings, and explanations;
- Climate Change Research, Dissemination, Communication and Information;
- Governance of Climate Change Adaptation.

Objectives and Expected Competencies

Expected learning outcomes are:

- Understand the elements of Climate that affect Climate Variability (Climate Change, Global Warming and Extreme Events);
- Understanding and Explaining the Impacts of Climate Change on Biological, Ecological, Environmental (including Environmental, Public and Human Health) and Socio-Environmental Systems;
- Analyze and Compare Mitigation Measures and Instruments and Strategies for Adapting to Climate Change;
- Interrogate, Argue and establish the relationship between Knowing and acting: how to change behaviors?
- Evaluate and Criticize the Policy Instruments/Plans/Strategies for Adaptation to Climate Change at Regional, National and Local Level;
- Promote and act in the definition and implementation of adaptation strategies to climate change.

Knowledge and skills will be achieved through: (i) Progressive awareness of the problem (considering its multidimensionality and inter- and multidisciplinary understanding); (ii) Significant Learning and Mobilization of Knowledge (learning concepts, understanding meanings, confronting problem situations, constructing arguments and drawing up proposals/plans and strategies/action); (iii) Problematization and discussion of research results (whenever possible resulting from the scientific activity of the teacher and the team that coordinates) by adopting PBL strategies (Problem Based Learning).

Working Methodology

Teaching-learning methodologies (including evaluation)

According to the pedagogical virtual model of UAb and its four major principles. In this CU only continuous evaluation is used (100%). The evaluation activities

(research, individual and collaborative work and debates with peer-review
dimension) are designed for students to acquire and consolidate the acquired knowledge. The learning materials, course e-activities in the form of written assignments (individual and collaborative) and collaborative discussions allow students to achieve course competencies and objectives of knowledge acquisition, comprehension and practical application of the acquired consolidated knowledge.

The continuous evaluation includes several tasks/strategies and pedagogical instruments e.g. blogs, individual and group projects, essays, Problem Based Learning, Case Studies, participation in the discussions, research reports and online tests). Individual evaluation activities can contemplate the elaboration of short papers or a project with online presentation, discussion and defence.

The Challenges of Cultural Diversity to Higher Education

Diversity is an instrument that enhances research and teaching. Its recognition in the 21st century opens up higher education to unprecedented challenges that require new positions, new theories and new actions, that is, new policies. Diversity of experience, age, gender, ethnicity, religion, social backgrounds, cultures, and many other contributes positively to the enrichment of teaching and researching context. Several countries have created special laws to integrate these diversities. Brasil is an example of positive discrimination of black people to be admitted in universities. For various reasons, including technological responses, universities have been receiving and integrating an increasing demand for education from populations that had been traditionally excluded from pursuing their studies in university. The democratization of Internet and their development allowed institutions to find new ways of teaching and learning and also doing research (Chávez 2011).

But our reflection is about the multicultural and geographical diversity that characterises our students. In fact, distance learning, by allowing people who are far away from university centres to conduct higher education studies, has contributed to qualified people who would not have that opportunity. In this particular case we have students from the interior and rural areas of Portugal at the same time that we have students that live in other European cities or in countries where the official language is Portuguese (like Mozambique, Angola, Brasil). Despite this diversity, generally the contents integrated in the Curricular Units are homogeneous and don't take into account the cultural specifics and differences.

Educational policies on higher education have not yet addressed the problem of the cultural specificities and their impact on the learning process of students, and that reflects a weak link between universities, societies and the socio-cultural needs of local populations. This must influence research agenda in order to invest in theoretical and empirical research on the possibility and the need to develop contents that shape cultures and local realities.

The research agenda must also evidence the multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary approaches that some fields of knowledge require, as it is the case of Climate change. Interdisciplinarity and multidisciplinary requires first of all a depth respect for all disciplinary contributions to the understanding of the multiple dimensions of the phenomenon. That multicultural/intercultural and interdisciplinary/ multidisciplinary vision must reflect on the different components, contents, competencies and evaluation systems to be developed.

We are certain that the establishment of closer ties between the interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary components of the CU and the students' cultural environment will result in learning that facilitates autonomy and social emancipation and that value the diversity of knowledge and contexts.

Conclusions

On the organisation of the programme of these CUs, we decided to make a break with the "universality" of the educational policies and contribute to the need to break with the apparent universal categories that science discloses.

The educational institutions in general have following a model of teaching in which the specificities of each student, gender, age, lifestyle, ethical, educational and social origin are not taken into consideration. This is even worse in the case of distance learning where education have become standardised worldwide. Analizing this two CU we tried to evidence the importance of addressing these challenges posed by multiple cultures and the need to integrate this knowledge on the learning contents. Also, perceiving the multiple dimensions of knowledge that contributes to understanding climate change, became evident the need to cross disciplinary borders in the analysis of Climate change challenges.

In order to prevent education from reproducing social inequalities, we have to recognize the existence of diversity of our students and value their cultural and intercultural understanding in order to achieve the needed articulations. We must value that diversity in our teaching practice is a potentiality that must be addressed and that requires new theoretical and methodological interdisciplinary instruments and procedures aiming the success of learning and bringing sciences closer to societies.

References

- Aires, L., Dias, P., Azevedo, J., Rebollo, M. A., & Garcia-Pérez, R. (2014). Education, digital inclusion and sustainable online communities. In U. M. Azeiteiro, W. Leal Filho, S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-learning and education for sustainability* (pp. 263–273). Frankfurt: Peter Lang GmbH International Academic Publishers. ISSN 1434-3819 ISBN 978-3-631-62693-1.
- Alves, F., & Araújo, M. J. (2012). O impacto da Diversidade Cultural no Ensino Online: Desafios à Investigação. In J. Ribeiro, M. L. L. Aires, (ORG), *Investigação e Variantes Curriculares no Ensino Online—desafios da interculturalidade na era tecnológica* (pp. 185–197). Lisboa: Back you up, CEMRI, UAb e FCT—9 789726 747260, pp. 263, E-Book available at:

https://repositorioaberto.uab.pt/bitstream/10400.2/2196/1/ebook_interativo_investigação%20e %20variantes.pdf.

- Alves, F., Araújo, M. J., Azeiteiro, U. (2012). "Cidadania ambiental e participação: o diálogo e articulação entre distintos saberes-poderes". In *Revista Saúde em Debate, Centro Brasileiro de Estudos em Saúde, CEBES. Rio de Janeiro*, v. 36, (n. especial de Junho Desenvolvimento e Sustentabilidade:desafios da Rio + 20): 46–54. ISSN 0103-1104. Available at http://www.cebes.org.br/media/File/Revista_Saúde_em_Debate%20-%20Rio+20.pdf.
- Alves, F., Caeiro, S., & Azeiteiro U. (2014). Lay rationalities of climate change. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 6(1), 1756–8692. (Editorial Material) Impact Factor: 0.426, 2012; 0.391, 2013/14 Journal Citation Reports® (Thomson Reuters, 2013).
- Alves, F., Leal-Filho, W., Azeiteiro, U., & Araújo, M. J. (2013). Crossing borders and linking plural knowledge—biodiversity conservation, ecosystem services and human well-being. *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development*, 7(2), 111–125.
- Amador, F., Caeiro, S., Oliveira, C., Caetano, F., Bacelar-Nicolau, P., Azeiteiro, U. M. & Martinho, A. P. (2008). Curricular development on higher education and sustainability science: A b-learning course in environmental science (pp. 1–12). In *Proceedings 5th EMSU Conference, Environmental Management for Sustainable Universities 2008.* A New Knowledge culture. Available in www.emsu.org. Barcelona. 15–17 October.
- Azeiteiro, U. M., Bacelar Nicolau, P., Caetano, F., & Caeiro, S. (2015). Education for sustainable development through e-learning in higher education: Experiences from Portugal. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 106, 308–319. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.056.
- Azeiteiro, U. M. & Bacelar-Nicolau, P. (2016). Online teaching for biodiversity conservation. In P. Castro, U. M. Azeiteiro, P. Bacelar Nicolau, W. Leal Filho, A. M. Azul (Eds.), *Biodiversity and education for sustainable development* (pp. 305–319). Berlin:Springer (World Sustainability Series 1st ed. 2016, XX, 330 p. 30 illus). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32318-3_19. ISBN 978-3-319-32318-3. ISBN 978-3-319-32317-6. http://www.springer.com/gp/book/ 9783319323176.
- Azeiteiro, U. M. & Leal Filho, W., (Eds.) (2017). Climate literacy and innovations in climate change education. *The International Journal of Global Warming* (no prelo).
- Azeiteiro, U. M., Leal Filho, W. & Caeiro, S., (Eds.) (2014). E-learning and education for sustainability "in the series Umweltbildung, Umweltkommunikation und Nachhaltigkeit— Environmental Education, Communication and Sustainability (pp. 263–274). Frankfurt: Peter Lang. doi:10.3726/978-3-653-02460-9. ISSN 1434-3819 ISBN 978-3-631-62693-1 (Print). E-ISBN 978-3-653-02460-9 (E-Book).
- Azeiteiro, U. M., Leal Filho, W. & Caeiro, S., (Eds.) (2014). E-learning and education for sustainability. In the series Unweltbildung, Unweltkommunikation und Nachhaltigkeit— Environmental Education, Communication and Sustainability (pp. 290). Frankfurt: Peter Lang. doi:10.3726/978-3-653-02460-9. ISSN 1434-3819. ISBN 978-3-631-62693-1 (Print). E-ISBN 978-3-653-02460-9 (E-Book).
- Bacelar Nicolau, P., Amador, F., Martinho, A., Azeiteiro, U. M., & Caeiro, S. (2007). E-learning in environmental science post-graduation: A case study at Universidade Aberta, Portugal. In *Proceedings EADTU's 20th Anniversary Conference 2007*.
- Bacelar Nicolau, P., Caeiro, S., Martinho, A. P. & Azeiteiro, U. M. (2015). Attitudes, barriers and motivators as factors for sustainability of higher education e-learning programmes at Universidade Aberta, Portugal. In W. Leal Filho, L. Brandli, O. Kuznetsova, A. Paço (Eds.), *Integrative approaches to sustainable development at university level: Making the links in the series* (pp. 567–582). World Sustainable Development Series, Berlin: Springer. doi:10. 1007/978-3-319-10690-8_39. http://www.springer.com/gp/book/9783319106892.
- Bacelar Nicolau, P., Caeiro, S., Martinho, A., Azeiteiro, U. M., & Amador, F. (2009). E-learning for the environment. The Universidade Aberta (Portuguese Open Distance University) experience in the Environmental Sciences Post-Graduate Courses. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 10(4), 354–367. doi:10.1108/14676370910990701.

- Bacelar Nicolau, P., Martinho, A. P., Amador, F., Caeiro, S. & Azeiteiro, U. M. (2012). Online learning for sustainability: The student perception in an environmental science post-graduation. In F. Gonçalves, R. Pereira, W. Leal Filho, U. M. Azeiteiro (Eds.), *Contributions to the UN decade of education for sustainable development* [in the series Umweltbildung, Umweltkommunikation und Nachhaltigkeit - Environmental Education, Communication and Sustainability] (vol. 33, pp. 281–294). Frankfurt: Peter Lang.
- Chávez, A. F. (2011). Toward a multicultural ecology of teaching and learning: A critical review of theory & research. *Journal of Excellence in College Teaching*, 21(4), 49–74.
- Giddens, A. (2009). The politics of climate change. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Martinho, A. P., Caeiro, S., Caetano, F., Azeiteiro, U. M. & Bacelar Nicolau, P. (2014). Training and employability, competences from an e-learning undergraduate programme in Environmental Sciences. In U. M. Azeiteiro, W. Leal Filho, S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-learning and education for sustainability* [in the series Umweltbildung, Umweltkommunikation und Nachhaltigkeit—Environmental Education, Communication and Sustainability] (pp. 47–58). Frankfurt: Peter Lang. doi:10.3726/978-3-653-02460-9. ISSN 1434-3819. ISBN 978-3-631-62693-1 (Print). E-ISBN 978-3-653-02460-9 (E-Book). © Peter Lang GmbH International Academic Publishers Frankfurt am Main 2014.
- Martinho, A. P., Vaz-Fernandes, P., Oliveira, C. P., Bacelar Nicolau, P., Azeiteiro, U. M. & Caeiro, S. (2016). Strengths and weaknesses of an e-learning program in environmental sciences at Universidade Aberta, Portugal. In W. Leal Filho, P. Pace (Eds.), *Teaching Education for Sustainable Development at University Level in the series "World Sustainable Development Series"* (pp. 49–66). Berlin: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32928-4_4. ISBN 978-3-319-32928-4. ISBN 978-3-319-32926-0. http://www.springer.com/gp/book/9783319329260.
- Moura, A. P. M., Cunha, L. M., Azeiteiro, U. M., Aires, L., & de Almeida, M. D. V. (2010). Food consumer science post-graduate courses: Comparison of face-to-face versus online delivery systems. *British Food Journal*, 112(5), 544–556.
- Viegas, V., Azeiteiro, U. & Alves, F. (2016). Fostering resilience among artisanal fishers in Peniche (Portugal): An exploratory study. In W. Leal Filho, K. Adamson, R. Dunk, U. M. Azeiteiro, S. Illingworth, F. Alves (Eds.), *Implementing climate change adaptation in communities, cities, countries and via outreach programmes.* Berlin: Springer (volume produced as part of the "Climate Change Management Series" published by Springer). ISBN 978-3-319-28589-4.

Innovations in Climate Change and Sustainable Management in Higher Education. Training and Evaluation

Maria Julia Rubio Roldán, Glauco Gomes de Menezes and João Carlos da Cunha

Abstract Spain and Brazil have played two significant roles in the field of higher education through inter-university cooperation; on the one hand, highly updated contents relating to sustainability and, on the other hand, an innovative system for the evaluation of education through competencies. This chapter presents an analysis of the model of integral sustainable administration. This model combines social, economic and environmental factors based on the most outstanding contributions in this topic, and coins the concept of "socioecosustainability" as a necessary model for the 21st century. Furthermore, an educational process on the basis of the model of climate change is evaluated. Conclusions provide useful recommendations in order to improve higher education around sustainability from the point of view of acquiring fundamental competencies for the development of professionals in truly sustainably organizations.

Keywords Sustainability • Administration • Competencies • Climate change education • Distance learning

G. G. de Menezes CEPPAD, UFPR, Av. Pref. Lothário Meissner, 632Sala 209 - 2º andar, Jardim Botânico, Curitiba (PR), Brazil e-mail: glaucogm@ufpr.br

J. C. da Cunha Universidade Positivo – UP, Câmpus sede – Ecoville-R. Professor Pedro Viriato Parigot de Souza, 5300, Bairro Campo Comprido, 81280-330 Jardim Botânico, Curitiba (PR), Brazil e-mail: jccunha@up.com.br

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_14

M. J. R. Roldán (⊠) Facultad de Educación, UNED, C/Juan del Rosal 14 of 236, 28034 Madrid, Spain e-mail: mjrubio@edu.uned.es

Introduction

This assessment model is designed to verify the performance of the Education in Climate Change and Sustainable Administration project put into practice by the Applied Social Sciences Sector of the Department of General and Applied Administration at Brazil's Federal University of Paraná (UFPR). The project develops a model for instructing students based on an awareness of the fact that sustainable management models are now vital given the environmental and socio-economic conditions within which institutions operate; they are also crucial in terms of the social, economic and personal implications that are unfolding as a result of climate change and its effect on human and industrial development processes.

The project, whose prime movers are the UFPR and FIEPR (the Industries Federation of Paraná State), aims to provide an education in climate literacy as part of the sustainable management and climate change models, and is targeted at students on undergraduate courses in Administration; this investigation project aims to extract key guidelines in order to reformulate and update the training offered to graduate students so that it is more in line with the realities of sustainability and climate protection on an international level. The project includes the development of a course to train and prepare teachers with the idea of producing specialists capable of incorporating the principles of sustainability in their undergraduate students, as well as taking an active part in other pedagogical projects that focus on the new requirements that distance education demands, with special regard for the contribution that sustainability can make to the protection of the environment.

The experience acquired shows that it is important to analyse the results obtained from a perspective that includes the objectives of the agents most directly involved in their development, namely the students, the educational bodies responsible for providing the education and the FIEPR, within the PRME/UN¹ model. This involves an assessment model that is to be sustainable, given that it includes the demands of both the institution that has convened the course as well as those of the students who attend it; and by definition it respects current climate protection demands. This assessment model is innovative because the criteria used for evaluating the quality of the course imparted by the UFPR are not only marked by the professors but also by the students, who participate in the definition of the objectives of the education they receive, and hence in the appraisal of the Sustainable Management course.

This chapter examines in depth the concept of sustainable administrative management by describing the training project in Sustainable Management, and then presenting a model that can assess the students' level of climate literacy, to conclude with suggestions for new strategies to enable implementation of the educational model.

¹Principles for Responsible Management Education. http://www.unprme.org/.

The Concept of Sustainable Administrative Management

The meaning of sustainable administrative management is monosemic in that it cannot be applied to other disciplines as its context is strictly limited to the administrative processes that develop in all institutions, be they public, private, foundations, businesses or non-profit organizations. It is a holistic and ambitious concept that embraces social, political, economic and environmental elements, and which advocates a model for the usage of these elements that guarantees the "achievement of the objectives of today's generations without jeopardizing those of future generations" (Ramirez and Sánchez 2009).² In this chapter, we present the concept of "socio-econosustainability" as an integrated vision of the analyses that must be made in order to guarantee the feasibility of the management model required by the complex and increasingly compromised times in which we live, in which humans must learn to coexist within an endangered world ecosystem (Houtart 2014). Human beings exist in an extremely complex ecosystem in which numerous factors intervene; when the fine balance between them is disrupted, the effects can be highly negatively (Global Conference on Business and Finance Proceedings 2014, p. 971). Thinkers in ancient times, referred to the need to find the right balance in each individual, as a guarantee of personal satisfaction and as the basis of personal development. Ancient civilizations had already worked out that neither power, money nor pleasure guarantee human beings complete satisfaction, and ever since we have been striving towards that goal. So, resolving problems must include finding solutions that account for human needs, and which respect not only the environment but also our own personal and social nature.

The concept of socio-econosustainable administrative management is based on a perspective of nature as a whole. This holistic approach to the concept of "nature" coalesces, from the macro to the micro perception, in a single decision-taking form. So, sustainability is perceived not just as a form of decision-taking, by preserving the environment, but it also aims to guarantee quality of life and human, social and personal well-being based on the model Triple Bottom Line (Kannan et al. 2012; Giannetti et al. 2012). Far from considering well-being as society's capacity to consume, we see it as a deep form of satisfaction with life and the decisions taken throughout (Sen 1999, 2002, 2004). Seen from this comprehensive perspective, sustainable management plays a fundamental role as it aims to reconcile human needs with the socio-economic requirements of organizations together with conservation of the environment and cultural heritage. According to the United Nations:

Concurs with the commission that the critical objectives for environment and development policies which follow from the need for sustainable development must include preserving peace, reviving growth and changing its quality remedying the problems of poverty and satisfying human needs addressing the problems of population growth and of conserving

²And also at http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/es/la-agenda-de-desarrollo-sostenible/.

and enhancing the source base, reorienting technology and managing risk, and merging environment and economics in decision making (Comisión Brundtland. UNITED NATIONS 1987)

Traditional institutional problem-solving models formulated a need to be covered, and the necessary mechanisms were set in motion to invest sufficient resources to satisfy this need. For decades, the natural resources closest to hand were deployed to satisfy such needs but without applying the same criteria as those used in assigning economic resources.

Figure 1 shows how the traditional model, when dealing with a need to be satisfied, managed the resources within its reach in various ways according the model's understanding of their availability. Natural resources were available and accessible. Exploiting them required certain means, human and/or technical, for their extraction and/or manipulation. Obtaining specific natural resources, or to access labour or technology, sometimes involved managing and adapting policies and regulations in order to get the product or service to cover a specific need; social resources refer to the political administration and management systems that each territory develops. In this figure, economy is understood to mean the management, to which monetary factors can be applied, or not.

The inefficiency of this model applied from the era of economic development policy of the 19th and 20th centuries has resulted in the creation of a growing and widespread awareness since the 21st century stablish the need to attend to the equilibrium that climate change demands in order make it compatible with human life; it therefore requires that we design a suitable form of management in which all the elements concerned in covering needs are represented, so that the product and the process become part of an integrated management system and hence conceived in a global and sustainable way.

Figure 2 explains the sustainable management paradigm through a search cycle of sustainable solutions to needs or problems. This paradigm is based on the Triple Bottom Line and Leont'ev's model. The question-and-answer cycle enabled us to generate what we have termed the Sustainable Organizational Response Staircase. Each stair represents a sustainable response which, in turn, then creates new contradictions to be resolved by new and improved sustainable responses.

The contradiction involves the dialogue between the solutions to certain problems and the conflicts that arise, which generate new problems or needs that up to then did not exist. The contradiction assumes that development is not attained by one single response but rather through a sequence of responses and resolution of





Fig. 2 Sustainable organizational response staircase

problems and needs that have emerged progressively throughout the history of Humanity. In this sense, Engeström (1987, p. 82) states that "(...) any specific type of production is simultaneously independent and subordinate to total social production (...). Within the structure of any type of productive activity, a contradiction is renewed as a conflict between individual actions and the total activity of the system."

The presence of contradictions within the solutions found to resolve problems or cover needs occurs naturally as one solution is implemented and interacts with other factors. This dynamism sees the environment evolve and new problems or needs generated as a result of those contradictions that must also be resolved in a sustainable way. Figure 3 shows an administrative functioning paradigm to find socio-econosustainable responses. This paradigm is built on a sustainable approach that must act as the pillar, base and substratum of any change in organizational behaviour for taking decisions in the areas involved.

As already mentioned the paradigm is cyclical, since a new organizational response, through its process of implementation and application, poses a new set of contractions. The new problem or need takes shape around three axes which have been called the Triple Buttom Line and which considers that the problems or needs that emerge in organizations coalesce around three key questions, the economic, social and environmental. So, any problem that emerges is the result of a lack of harmony between these three factors, and opens the possibility of achieving sustainable development in the solution of their contradictions.

At this stage of the process, a profound dialectic takes place between all potential options, with debate centred on each possible solution during the analysis of the interaction between these three key elements. This conflict embraces technological, technical, moral, philosophical, ethical, anthropological, geodemofigureic and political questions, among others, and the solution frequently adopted is not a total solution but one that is deemed to be the best possible solution at the time, as it must try to balance the social, economic and environmental axes. The model that we present is a paradigm, and so the response that is found materialises in a series



Fig. 3 The sustainable management model

of actions that affect products and services that are either new or which already existed and which had to undergo sustainable modifications.

Proposal for the Assessment of Climate Literacy

Assessment plans are often ambitious and cover a wide range of aspects for evaluation. A typical assessment plan considers elements that go beyond students' learning, such as the methodology applied, the classroom environment, the didactic material, the management of the course and its impact. In line with the objectives of the training course presented in this chapter, assessment focuses on the students' learning and the impact of the course in relation to climate literacy and education in climate change; so, the assessment in this work centres on the acquisition of attitudes that are appropriate for a manager in sustainability who is keenly aware of climate change.

We therefore need to formulate these expectations in an objective way, and clearly define the type of graduate profile the course wants to achieve. The aim of the course is for students to acquire skills that complement their training to ensure that they can apply and develop sustainable management models in accordance with the requirements of a new society committed to the human being and its habitat, and respect for the environment and its various ecosystems.

Sustainability can be considered an end in itself, and in these circumstances it constitutes a suitable medium for protecting the environment. However, the evolution of the project presented in this chapter reveals that sustainability is not just an objective but it is also a means by which decisions influenced by the very features of sustainability are adopted. Sustainability is an end in itself, and also a means for achieving a goal, and in this working group we see that it also responds to a particular attitude that is suitable for searching for solutions and resolving problems within their corresponding economic, social, cultural and personal framework. This has led to the main rectors of the course to add attitudinal aspects to the instruction of sustainable managers, and these aspects are:

- A holistic and systematic vision of the world and its natural, economic and social relations
- A collaborative and inclusive approach instilled from the beginning
- A research-action-research attitude
- Respect, integrity and solidarity
- An "everyone's a winner" work model
- Dialogue: a space to express oneself and understand
- Discover and consider mutual interests
- Experimentation
- Commitment and responsibility
- Vision of the future in reflections on the world that we want and the world being built around us
- Reformulate the meaning of short-term success

This holistic attitude responds to a profile of a person with special managerial and administrative characteristics that can provide the organization with a new focus on management models according to tried and tested general systems theories. The course we evaluate defines the features of a sustainability manager as:

- Innovation and Openness to change
- Enterprising
- Leadership
- Sustainable values
- Collaborative working method
- Research and sustainable development
- Association and systematic work
- Dialogue and organizational communication

The assessment of the results took into account that the student who did the course had previously been selected in accordance with strict criteria. The selection process involved the UFPR's Department of General and Applied Administration and the FIEPR, and it considered the student's academic record, a piece of written work presented by the student and a personal interview by each body involved in the course.

The assessment model we propose is based on the analysis of the competences acquired in relation to four categories. Checking whether skills had been learned and assimilated was done by monitoring interaction in four categories that we subdivide, and which the course aims that each student attains. The categories are: • Content:

This is the most theoretical part of the course and relates to concepts, categories, classifications, models, paradigms, authors, etc., all of which a student must know in order to undertake the sustainable management of the organization and uphold respect for the environment within the entrepreneurial sphere.

• Skills:

This deals with learning processes whose goal is products and concrete results. These include procedures; the operational nature of what one needs to know to get something done in order to coordinate spaces and tasks in a sustainable setting and produce services or products that respect the environment.

- Attitudes and values: These are of an intrinsic and extrinsic nature, and constitute the most intangible but significant aspect of the changes that the course aims to foment in the new managers.
 - Intrinsic: the student's own values that have been adopted in a responsible way; these are non-transferable and difficult to know without dialogue and acquisition of a deep knowledge, with emphasis on the student's sensibility towards caring for the environment.
 - Extrinsic: these are acquired by interactions that the students establish; they
 refer to their setting and each element that forms part of it, emphasizing a
 markedly sustainable innovative spirit.
- Learning strategies³: especially those related to team work and leadership.

What follows is a formulation of the items for validation derived from the course and the information extracted by coaching experts.⁴ It is a tool to be applied by the promotors of the course to the students to verify the validity and quality of the education they have received. It is important to note that the categories are not closed but act as keys for commitment in the assessment and acquisition of knowledge that is global and applicable to the world of management from an innovative and sustainable perspective.

Here we describe the indicators extracted from the information obtained. The leadership characteristics we identify are:

• Ability to communicate, communication being an assertive act that understands the interlocutor's points of view and respects his/her interests without losing sight of your own.

³The student undergoes a self-management process of change and improvement based on the learning they acquire. At this undergraduate level, the student is associated to processes of metacognition, meta-comprehension, self-training and transference.

⁴Interview with L.E. Munevar, an expert in coaching with over 15 years' experience in the field. The interview discussed the leadership characteristic of Charisma; however, we did not include this feature as an indicator in our model given the nature of the course. We understand coaching to be "*as a process of growth and change*". (Williams and Menendez 2007).

- Understand and control your feelings and, in the medium term, those of the interlocutor. Recognize that what moves people is not application of pressure but the emotions, and how to apply that to motivate people to take action, because involving people on an emotional level elicits better results.
- The ability to visualize yourself and your team in the way and a place where they want to be seen. Establish the mission and plan objectives coherently with good use of human resources, materials and time with regard to the sustainable organizational focus.
- Know yourself, identify your own strengths and weaknesses and know how to identify them in team members, in order to be able to cover the various needs posed in the achieving of established objectives, based on the team's potential. Encourage and enable each person to do what they know how to do best.
- Maintain a constant level of personal growth and development, and promote the development of each group member.
- Letting go of control of the projects by knowing how to delegate functions. Ability to allow group members to carry out independent actions when performed responsibly, naturally and efficiently.
- Ensure you are always well-informed.

To understand the entrepreneurial features that respect environmental sustainability, and which are based on a climate perspective, requires an analysis of the person's own development. Its starting point must be what is to be achieved within a precise timeline, and what a line of personal and professional development is to be. These entrepreneurs must be able to see themselves in a personal and professional context, and view their project in the world which they are part of and which they want to form part of. The success of the entrepreneur occurs when both lines run in parallel. With this in motion, their main characteristics are:

- Persistence and perseverance, as the ability to be constant in striving to achieve an objective; even obstinacy in adverse situations in order to extract learning from each situation and readjust processes.
- Innovation as the capacity to create new settings and plan new ways of doing things that disrupt old routines and patterns of doing things in order to resolve old problems.
- Resolving situations with pragmatism and determination, even assuming that it is necessary to advance without the right resources. Ability to get involved in direct and coordinated action.
- Begin by operating in areas in which you are an expert, so that this interest deepens your involvement in these areas.
- Make your ideas attractive to others. Ability to convince others, which depends on four factors: creativity, innovation, usefulness (offering society a valuable product or service) and sustainable benefit.
- Flexibility and adaptability to the real environment without deviating from the direction of the base idea.

- Ergonomy in products and facilitator of services that simplify people's lives, respecting the medium in which we live.
- Positive attitude. Keep reactions balanced: sensitive to people and their bioclimatic medium; optimism and capacity to create an optimum climate and atmosphere.
- Being realistically aware of the potential of the situation and the expectations for balanced sustainability between profit and respect for the environment.

Finally, the indicators that describe "openness to change and innovation" are the following:

Disrupting paradigms, which means being open to proposals for new ways of doing things. Innovation only really occurs when the product or service is successful because if it is not spontaneously successful it has no value. The key to innovation is mass use⁵ (Figueiredo 2009, p. 31) of the product or service. Disrupting established patterns of behaviour and routines enables vital transitions on the path to innovation. It is necessary to work with these established ways in order to introduce innovations. These routines are related to people's paradigms so it is important to modify the paradigms. Changing the paradigm depends on the personality of the team member.

- Be alert and pay close attention at all times to understand the barriers to change, identify old patterns of behaviour, routines and paradigms in order to anticipate their responses and help to break them down.
- Emotional intelligence, which is achieving a balance in order to withstand the personal pressures that can build up at work.
- Understanding that needs can be turned into opportunities that can promote change in the team members and in the material aspects of the organization, and especially in harnessing the needs and potential of the biological, environmental and climate setting.
- Keeping communication channels open between all working groups, both vertically (superior-subordinate) and horizontally (among coordinators).

The information in Tables 1 and 2 enables us to formulate the keys to the questions that we need to assess.

⁵"Ou seja, inovaçao implica unir diferentes tipos e partes de conhecimientos e transformá-los em novos productos e serviços úteis para o mercado ou para sociedade." (Figueiredo 2009, p. 31). ("That is, innovation implies join different types and parts of knowledge and transforming them into new products and services useful for the market or for society" T.N.).

| ~ · | a | | - |
|------------|--|---|--|
| Categories | Competences | Objectives | Items |
| Content | Openness, integration and context analysis | Integration of participants and social contract | Theoretical exams prepared by the teachers. |
| | | Globalization, geopolitics and geo-economics | |
| | | Sustainability and professional training | |
| | | Evolution of the organizations | |
| | Cross-curricular subjects | Change and strategy in the Organization | - |
| | | Systematic analysis | |
| | | Social and ethical behaviour | |
| | | Innovation and sustainability | |
| | Functional and technical subjects | Marketing with sustainability | |
| | | Production with sustainability | |
| | | Logistics with sustainability | |
| | | People management with sustainability | |
| | | Social analysis of projects | - |
| | Consolidation of theoretical stages | Sustainable globalization: challenge and opportunity | |
| Skills | Practical work | Develop a sustainable project inside the company | Differentiate between a sustainable and non-sustainable project |
| | Leadership | Ability to communicate with a wide range of different people | Can you recognize the different types of emotions and feelings in people when you are speaking to them? |
| | | Control your feelings | Can you control your emotions? |

Table 1 Design of the items for assessment

| Categories | Competences | Objectives | Items |
|------------------------|---|--|--|
| Skills | Leadership | Establish targets and plan objectives | Do you know how to plan targets and objectives? |
| | | What are your strengths and weaknesses? | Can you identify your strengths and weaknesses? |
| | | To be constantly growing | Do you know how to relate the disciplines of administration to the various social, economic and environmental contexts? |
| | | Delegate functions | Do you know how to delegate responsibilities? |
| | | Ensure that you are always well-informed | Do you read journals, chapters, blogs and websites covering a wide range of subjects? |
| Attitude and values | Enterprising | Persistence and perseverance. Extract learning | When things aren't going well, do you keep on trying? |
| | | Innovation as the ability to create new ways of doing things. | Do you usually come up with new ways to resolve problems? |
| | | Pragmatism and determination | Do you take the initiative in order to solve problems? |
| | | Begin by working in areas in which you are an expert | Do you know the areas in which you are an expert? |
| | | Making ideas attractive to others | Can you convince others of your ideas? |
| | | Flexibility and adaptability | Do you adjust your plans according to events as they unfold? |
| | | Make things easier for people | Are your ideas easy to execute? |
| | | A positive attitude | Are you optimistic and cheerful? |
| | | A realistic awareness | Are you objective in your thinking? |
| Learning strategies | Openness to change and innovation | Solutions applied on a large scale | Are your ideas accepted by other people? |
| | | Disrupting established patterns of behaviour and routines | Do you usually accept that others do things in their own way? |
| | | Be alert and pay close attention in order to identify barriers | Do you know how to read between the lines in terms of what people say and do? |
| | | Emotional intelligence | Can you keep your emotions under control in personal conflicts? |
| | | Taking opportunities | Can you identify opportunities for change and improvement? |
| | | Maintaining communication channels open | Can you get people to communicate clearly? |

 Table 2
 Design of items for assessment

Conclusions

The total population of students who received the training numbered 100, spread over two academic years. Of these, 68% of the students from one year and 18% from the other completed the questionnaires. We assume a bias in the results that could be significant, however we were unable to quantify it. The results of the questionnaires were then subjected to a quantitative and qualitative analysis (Fig. 4).

(a) Objectives achieved

The questions posed aimed to find out students' objectives in attending this course. The answers have been grouped into a set of categories that synthesize the valuations expressed by the students. The direct data show answers that are fairly centred in which a single preferred alternative clearly predominates among the students who responded.

In general, students stated that their objectives regarding the theoretical part of the course had been achieved. It is worth considering whether there is a direct link between *Professional Development* (17%) and *Understanding Sustainability* (17%). If so, it means that a not inconsiderable percentage of students consider sustainability to be a key alternative in the future of industry and the labour market.

As these were the desired objectives, the results have proved satisfactory in the achievement of the targets proposed. The fact that no single student expressed total dissatisfaction in terms of personal objectives points to bias in the group (Fig. 5). This could be interpreted in two ways: considerable and unanimous satisfaction with the course; no deep dissatisfaction with the course to cause a student to give a specific negative response in the questionnaire. So, we can say that the course has more than satisfied students' objectives.

We also need to examine the negatives revealed by the questionnaire, and Fig. 6 indicates students' dissatisfaction with the distinct lack of practical and operational activities; so, the course needs to improve considerably in this aspect.



Fig. 4 Students objectives



The data marked "Others" relates to agreement among the students regarding a lack of cohesion among the academics in the development of theoretical content. Nevertheless, the quality of the content was not in doubt as the theoretical aspect of the course matched their expectations.

There are other types of learning that the students consider as novel and worthy of comment: these are the achievements of learning acquired by the students on the course although it was not specifically planned that way. The data reveal a wide range of accomplishments, some very general such as *Personal Development*, which includes the knowledge acquired in Philosophy, Ethics, Humanities and other aspects; and others that are more specific such as learning about *Regulations* and standards like the ISO. Students rated very highly their knowledge acquired in *Appreciative Inquiry* and *Leadership* as part of sustainable development and instruction in climate sensibility. We consider that this finding could be developed to compensate for the lack of practical activities in the workshops and seminars ("Oficinas").

(b) Analysis of Skills

The responses in this category refer to a set of questions aimed at measuring two objectives: to evaluate the learning and achievements, and to stimulate reflection and acceptance of new guidelines on conduct that foster the appropriate attitudes and behaviour in administrators who promote sustainability.

It is surprising that the response to the question of keeping up to date by reading *journals*, *blogs*, etc., scored low. This is an indicator for new challenges that the university must address. It is one of the responsibilities of the academic staff to form professionals who are up to date with, and well-informed about, current developments; they can do this by providing databases and references in the bioclimatic subject areas that come under sustainable management. Taking into account that the students selected to do the course are the best of their year, the conclusion is that teachers must strive to encourage their students to consult and monitor the relevant databases in the sector.

The general conclusion is that the students rate themselves on average as B-graders in terms of the skills required to be a dynamic manager of sustainability and for generating respect for the environment as part of sustainable management.

(c) Attitudes and values

This is probably the most complex aspect in the training of undergraduates who come to the course with their own set of values and expectations. In general, the results show an average of around B++, yet these stood alongside some very low scores that contrast markedly with the much higher valuations.

(d) Learning strategies

The priority in educating students within a society characterised by technology and access to knowledge is to teach them to learn how to process information and determine the reliability of the source of that information. The average results were quite satisfactory (B++) but again these stand alongside other scores that are considered too low for a group of high-performing students.

We present a general analysis of elements that constitute course competences, which are described below:

- (a) Content related to the theoretical and conceptual part of the course.
- (b) Leadership, understood as a skill that students acquire as a process that takes place throughout their undergraduate studies.
- (c) Enterprise in sustainability, defined as an attitude and a value for which students must acquire a special sensitivity.
- (d) Openness to change, being constantly alert to new developments and aspiring to self-improvement.

Of the results we expect to see, we believe that there will be little deviation from the standard in all the responses to various premises:

- P1: The students have been selected on the basis of a standard model.
- P2: The students have been selected according to criteria of excellence.

| Design phase | Design of the educational programme with experts in the field, and development of the training in collaboration with the students the course is aimed at, these constituting an ideal universe of students selected from the middle years of the undergraduate course in Administration |
|----------------------|---|
| Test phase | Having confirmed the relevance of the design of the training plan, and validated the material, the extension course is implemented and is open to a group of undergraduate students as heterogeneous as possible; it should always take place during the middle semesters of the Administration course Compare the results obtained by students using the proposed assessment model, in the evaluation of the results and in the longitudinal evaluation Promote the distance learning facet of the course, since a significant number of the students who might be interested in the course are working adults with personal and family commitments. It would help them achieve optimum results if 20% of the course was in the distance learning format, and would boost the opportunities for these management specialists without affecting those students who study in the traditional wav^a |
| Implementation phase | Having confirmed the relevance, need, appropriateness and viability of this training course, as well as the results obtained, the final phase begins by opening this extension course to all students who request a place, to be imparted during the middle semesters of the degree in Administration |

 Table 3 Option A: validation and implementation as a university extension course

^aResolução nº 72/10-CEPE Regulamento na oferta de disciplinas na modalidade a distancia nos cursos de graduação e educação profissional e tecnológica presenciais de UFPR. Brazil

| Design phase | Design of the educational programme with experts in the field, and development of the training in collaboration with the undergraduates the course is aimed at, these constituting an ideal universe of students selected from the middle years of the degree course in Administration. Compare the results obtained by the students according to the assessment model proposed, with particular attention to the monitoring and follow-up of students once the course is finished |
|----------------------|--|
| Test phase | Having adjusted the training to the students' institutional demands, as well as considering social, political and economic changes, request approval of the training designed as a doctoral course |
| Implementation phase | Open this extension course to all students who request a place and who fulfil the conditions set by the doctoral committee; this enables the university to select the best students to form the ideal universe and guarantees maximum use of the course |

 Table 4
 Option B: specialist course or doctoral course

The possibilities are considerable in terms of the aims of each higher education centre. Here we discuss some of the possible options and suggest strategic guide-lines (Tables 3 and 4).

Another innovative application of this course could be the development of the Sustainability Adviser or Specialist Consultancies in Sustainable Management

whose training affords them a broad vision that respects the specific needs of the ecosystem in which human activity takes place, and they are qualified to search for syncretic solutions that respect the aims of the economy, society, culture, politics and people.

For this course to be successful, and in order for it to be implemented across a wide range of higher educational bodies in Brazil, it is vital to start by establishing an interdisciplinary group of teachers who are specialist researchers in sustainability that can serve as a national reference point, in order to develop the scientific and didactic documents with sustainable and innovative contributions, and to promote and advise on sustainable projects.

Reference

- Comisión Brundtland. (1987). Report of the world Commision on Environment and Development: Our Common Future. Recuperado el 30 de noviembre de 2016, de http://www.exteriores.gob. es/Portal/es/PoliticaExteriorCooperacion/Desarrollosostenible/Documents/Informe% 20Brundtland%20(En%20ingl%C3%A9s).pdf.
- Engeström, Y. (1987). Learning by expanding. An activity-theoretical approach to developmental research. Helsinky: University of Helsinky. ISBN 3-86541-069-3.
- Figueiredo, P. N. (2009). Gestao da Inovaçao. Río de Janeiro: LTC. ISBN 9788521617075.
- Giannetti, B., Bonilla, S., & Almeida, C. (2012). Cleaner production: Initiatives and challenges for a sustainable world. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *I*(22).
- Global Conference on Business and Finance Proceedings. (2014). Wyndham Herradura (Vol. 9, Num. 2, pp. 961–973). Costa Rica: IBFR.
- Houtart, F. (2014). Of the common good to the common good humanity. *Ágora*, *14*(1), 258–293. ISSN 1657-8031.
- Kannan, K., Khodaverdi, R., & Jafarianc, A. (2012). A fuzzy multi criteria approach for measuring sustainability performance of a supplier based on triple bottom line approach. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 47, 345–354. ISSN 0959-6526.
- Menendez, D. S., & Williams, P. (2007). Becoming a Professional Life Coach. In Lessons from the Institute of Life Coach Training. W. W. Norton & Company.
- Ramirez, T., & Sánchez, J. (2009). Enfoques de desarrollo sostenible y urbanismo. *Revista Digital Universitaria*, 10(7).
- Resolução nº 72/10-CEPE Regulamento na oferta de disciplinas na modalidade a distancia nos cursos de graduação e educação profissional e tecnológica presenciais de UFPR. (s.f.). Brazil.
- Sen, A. (1999). El futuro del Estado de Bienestar. Recuperado el 28 de diciembre de 2016, de https://www.ses.unam.mx/curso2014/pdf/Sen.docx. Conferencia pronunciada en el círculo de Econocmía de Barcelona. Publicada "La Factoría" nº 8. Febrero 1999: http://www. lafactoriaweb.com/articulos/amartya.htm.
- Sen, A. (2002). *Basic education and human security*. Recuperado el 10 de January de 2017, de www.humansecuritychs.org/activities/outreach/Kolkata.pdf.
- Sen, A. (2004). *Capital humano y capacidad humana Foro de economía política*. Recuperado el 17 de January de 2017, de www.red-vertice.com/fep.

Towards Climate Change Awareness Through Distance Learning—Are Young Portuguese and Brazilian University Students Vigilant?

Fernando J. P. Caetano, Carla M. B. P. Oliveira, Magnólia F. F. Araújo and Maria C. F. D. Rêgo

Abstract Although distance learning and e-learning are currently acknowledged as important training tools for higher education institutions, they are seldom used as a way of disseminating environmental sustainability, climate change and its implications. The work presented here is the result of a teamwork between two universities, one from Brazil and the other from Portugal, which joined efforts to promote an interdisciplinary massive open on-line course associated with the environmental sustainability. We have inquired young university students from these two countries in order to understand which are their main conceptions and ideas about the climate changes as well as proposals they have for its mitigation. From these dialogs, we observed that, irrespectively of the geographical distance/location, those young students, share similar concerns, conceptions and proposals but it is also noticeable a clear lack of scientific knowledge when discussing these topics. This is an important starting point for the creation of a set of learning resources accessible to different audiences and with different and diverse backgrounds that can stimulate the interest on scientific knowledge. In this context it is our believe that eLearning and distance education supported by the information technologies can efficiently and effectively contribute for a well-supported knowledge on environmental sustainability, namely climate changes its causes and effects.

Keywords Climate change awareness • Distance learning • University students Portuguese students • Brazilian students

Dept. Ciências e Tecnologia (DCeT), Universidade Aberta, R. da Escola Politécnica - 141, 1269-001 Lisbon, Portugal

e-mail: Fernando.Caetano@uab.pt

F. J. P. Caetano · C. M. B. P. Oliveira Centro de Química Estrutural, Instituto Superior Técnico, Av. Rovisco Pais - 1, 1049-001 Lisbon, Portugal

M. F. F. Araújo · M. C. F. D. Rêgo

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, Secretaria de Educação a Distância, Caixa Postal 1671 - Campus Universitário Lagoa Nova, CEP 59078-970 Natal, RN, Brazil

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

F. J. P. Caetano (🖂) · C. M. B. P. Oliveira

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_15

Introduction

Back in 1977, UNESCO in its Report on the Intergovernmental Conference on Environmental Education stated that environmental changes were a recent and serious preoccupation despite the existence, already for some decades, of several expressions of concern related to the environment. It was then recognised that the human activities were related to these environmental issues and the scientific and technological development, which also triggered many social changes, supported the acknowledgement of these environmental changes. The development brought by the technology helps to reduce poverty, improve quality of life and increase average life expectancy. Simultaneously it should provide the well-being of future generations. There is, therefore, a vital need for the sense of responsibility in order to achieve a significant awareness of the environmental problems.

This means that environmental education, formal and informal, must play an important role in providing the knowledge, understanding, values and skills needed by general public (UNESCO 1977a).

Climate change is nowadays an important issue for most of the countries in the world since there is a shared concern for all and each one of them. It is a global problem and this means that all countries must cooperate in tandem in all matters in order to evaluate and adopt the most effective mitigation options after taken an economic evaluation for policy design (IPCC Working Group III Assessment Report 5 2014).

Although in some cases they are correlated, common knowledge is often confused with scientific knowledge. In many areas, like agriculture, the importance of the adoption of sustainable soil management practices requires that farmers are scientifically literate (Barbero-Sierra et al. 2016). The growing concern about environmental sustainability from the industries in general can help to achieve better work practices and the integration of sustainability knowledge in many areas is getting more important every day (Ismail et al. 2017; Chugh et al. 2016). Also, there has been a great effort working with young students in order to provide skills to achieve an environmentally sustainable human development (Ull et al. 2014).

There are many daily examples that highlight the importance of formal and informal education, including lifelong learning, for promoting environmental awareness. Moreover there are many NGOs and also the media and even many individuals responsible for this environmental awareness and the use of Internet has been enabling this. In many cases, due to the individual's limitations, the learning process can only be achieved using distance learning systems, usually called open distance learning (ODL) (Anbalagan and Srivastava 2016). Also the continuous development of ICT technologies has been providing new and powerful tools for the scientific knowledge and resources dissemination thus creating the opportunity for universities to reach more and more individuals everywhere.

The interdependency of economic, social and environmental factors for a sustainable development is getting more and more complex, which makes it harder to reach for best actions and solutions. Having this in mind, education for sustainability can help society to be more aware and positively contribute for reducing the impact of the bigger problems such as energy and climate change but also others more close to each individual fright such as food and water availability and environmental disasters.

According to a recent survey published in Nature Climate Change (Lee et al. 2015) awareness and concern to the climate change differs between countries: adults in developed countries are more likely to be aware of climate change. In developing countries the awareness rates are inversely proportional to the concern: low awareness but very high concern rates. The results suggest that respondents with a higher level of education were more likely to be aware of climate change. Based on these results and further analysis reported in the same study it seems that we can infer that as people become more educated and also experience more unusual weather patterns, awareness and concern of climate change is likely to increase around the world. Thus, education may be an effective instrument.

Shealy et al. (2017) recently reported that in a national survey made in the USA with more than 900 engineering students the civil engineering students are those who less believe that climate changes have anthropogenic causes. The reason for this seems to be their lack of will to address climate change problems during their professional careers. These authors also state that there should be a more complete education program, starting in high schools, covering the climate change topics which could increase students' awareness on these.

On the same note and agreeing with UNESCO: The goal of education is to make people wiser, more knowledgeable, better informed, ethical, responsible, critical and capable of continuing to learn. Were all people to possess such abilities and qualities, the world's problems would not be automatically solved, but the means and will to address them would be at hand. Education also serves society by providing critical reflection on the world, especially its failings and injustices, and by promoting greater consciousness and awareness, exploring new visions and concepts, and inventing new techniques and tools. Education is also the means for disseminating knowledge and developing skills, for bringing about desired changes in behaviours, values and lifestyles, and for promoting public support for the continuing and fundamental changes that will be required if humanity is to alter its course, leaving the familiar path that is leading towards growing difficulties and possible catastrophe, and starting the uphill climb towards sustainability. Education, in short, is humanity's best hope and most effective means in the quest to achieve sustainable development (UNESCO 1997b).

Distance Learning and Its Contributions to the Global Environmental Issues

Information and communication technologies (ICT) are getting more powerful everyday with faster interconnections through the Internet. New applications were created during the last years that have enabled new forms of communication and also new methodologies: teaching/learning spaces are no more space or time limited and

the response is going towards the needs of most of the citizens. Even students that are enrolled in face-to-face graduation courses seek to complement, or increase, their knowledge online. Networks like YouTube or Vimeo have many videos giving them the opportunity to learn more and more. Social networks like Facebook are used by groups of students to share a significant amount of important information. Most of the environmentally related organizations around the globe have invested in having their own mobile applications in order to present their knowledge and environmental concerns, reaching more and more people.

In fact, the use of digital technology is facilitating general access towards new views for the conservation of Nature (Arts et al. 2015) enabling faster and reliable ways to communicate, analyse and discuss data related to Nature and people and, therefore, being more aware about global environmental issues.

Learning using information and communication technologies has gained different approaches-students can enrol in a closed environment, which they must pay, but simultaneously have access to open and free courses. Sometimes this can be a faster and more massive way to achieve some important goal in transmitting crucial information and knowledge. Particularly in the last decade many online communities have emerged corresponding to digital environments applying different collaborative practices, hybrid contexts and shared responsibilities which significantly contribute to the relationship between education, participation and digital inclusion (Aires et al. 2014). It is possible to find many different application examples of the use of these new digital environments. Singh et al. (2015) reported the use of ICT in India envisaging the crop quality certification in order to implement awareness to the importance of safe food since there is a worldwide increasing concern for the food quality and food supply chain. Also Suryawanshia and Narkhedeb (2015) report that due to the sustainable development challenges, universities around the world need to rethink their courses and mission by implementing green ICT-a way of using ICT adopting environmental sustainable policies and practices, minimizing carbon footprint, optimizing energy consumption and conserving natural resources-as a crucial motor towards those challenges. Klimova et al. (2016) also report the implementation of educational programs in green ICT through the creation of an international Master's degree program combining advanced ICT with environmental, economic, and social awareness.

In India there was also reported (Chugh et al. 2016) the growing concern of the industries in environmental sustainability and their will to achieve significant benefits through sustainable work practices namely adopting green ICT practices and also turning professionals more aware to the environmental sustainability. However in countries with serious economic problems like Uganda in Africa, where the population has a low income and education level, Okaka and Apil (2013) reported that there should be used a combination of ICT and personal, face-to-ace, interaction to expand the audience exposure to sustainable environmental messages.

Distance learning is a powerful mean for teaching most of the topics and those related to climate change are not exception. The methodologies used can strongly help to teach and contribute to increase the science literacy of most people and, in particular, their awareness, from the younger to the elderly. In time, distance learning will become the most used way for teaching, giving everyone the possibility to learn all about any topic they might need either for professional or just any other reasons.

eLearning Towards Global Climate Change Awareness

Understanding the concept of global climate change is not easy for people to reach, despite being a widespread theme. The scientific research and knowledge in this area has been growing every day, but the access of people to it and the viability of tangible actions against the advance of these unwanted environmental transformations, still happens at slow steps.

Often, climate changes and anthropogenic actions are recognized as being correlated (England et al. 2014; Easterling and Wehner 2009). However, the excess consumption, limited food production and land occupation, increasing energy demand, changes in the original vegetation and changes in aquatic environments are many of the anthropogenic actions and the consequences to life on Earth as we know it are of great concern. It is also necessary to understand the real extend of the natural causes of these climatic changes and to establish the debate on the controversies on the subject. Crucial and global environmental problems, such as desertification and the interference of these changes on human health and the planet's biodiversity are still poorly understood. But studies show that the increasing frequency of droughts, rising warming and rapid human population expansion will aggravate the risk of land degradation and desertification in the near future in the dry areas of developing countries (Huang et al. 2016). In this sense, it is always necessary to think in new and better actions in order to achieve greater awareness related to the understanding of the causes and impacts of climate change, promoting greater knowledge on the subject in an interdisciplinary perspective and combating the vision of a purely environmental character, still predominant, associating this theme to sociocultural and economic dimensions.

The role of education for the understanding, protecting and solving environmental problems has been universally recognized (Littledyke 2008; Van Poeck and Vandenabeele 2012; Gadotti 2016; Vilaverde 2005), while at the same time we have a global trend towards a society driven by the acquisition of digital media (Bulman and Fairlie 2015). This access to all kinds of information not only in general terms but also scientific knowledge is facilitated by the information technologies and can promote active learning (Mendoza and Ezequiel 2011), if it is carried out in an appropriate way, with reliable sources of information.

Martinho et al. (2014) have presented a study on the importance of the preparation environmental professionals—from an e-learning undergraduate program in environmental sciences—preparing them to cope with societal, economic and technical changes to perceive and help to solve environmental problems.

E-learning, as a method of distance learning which enables self-learning, through the mediation of didactic resources, allows the wide promotion of environmental theme discussions, on a global scale. It represents a real possibility that, as citizens willing to contribute to overcome social crises globally, create an opportunity to gradually perform profound changes in the patterns of resource use from criteria of ecological sustainability and social equity.

Therefore communication and information technologies can be configured as powerful tools for the dissemination of qualified scientific information on global climate change, making possible the understanding of the information, aiming to improve socio-environmental quality.

Young Student Opinions About Global Environmental Issues

An interview in the campuses of two universities, one from Brazil and the other from Portugal, was made to a small group of 14 students, randomly chosen based exclusively on their willingness to participate. The interviewed students, with ages between 18 and 23 years old and mainly women, were enrolled in different graduation courses namely social sciences, management, geography, engineering, tourism and international affairs; the interviews took place between October and November 2016. It should be noted that no interviews were conducted on students enrolled in courses related to environmental sciences since we considered that those students would have a greater awareness in what concerns climate change issues.

Educating for environmental science contributes to the development of citizenship, promoting knowledge on issues such as global warming, the greenhouse effect and climate change. It is, however, essential to understand what are the students' conceptions about these themes, particularly young people enrolled in an university degree.

In this context, we developed a descriptive work that involves a Brazilian university and a Portuguese university. The two countries speak the same language, and although they are in the opposite hemispheres of the globe have many common interests regarding the environmental problems, global warming, climate change and biodiversity protection.

The starting point of a larger investigation project was to understand if university students from these two countries really have similar understanding and knowledge related to the above-mentioned topics and have an equivalent attitude facing them. This would give us clues to better organize the subsequent work.

The small set of questions, so they would not take too long, that were placed to the students we have interviewed, were as follows:

- (A) What kind of environmental problems exist on the planet?
- (B) What are the causes of these environmental problems?
- (C) What are the possible solutions for the environmental problems?
- (D) Do climate changes have influence on biodiversity?

Naturally, due to the limited number of interviews that were made, and to the fact that this was not a larger and more organized study it is not possible to draw general conclusions about the knowledge these students have presented on environmental problems or to perform a detailed study when comparing them. It is, however, possible to present their views about climate change, its causes and achievements, in order to consider it as a starting point for the development of a training in sustainability education.

It is important to highlight that the conceptions described in this study reflect the sample as a whole and not individual students or of any nationality. Let us consider that, individually, and in a different context from the one used here, we could find different conceptions of those generalized here. We are trying to express the main and most prevalent ideas about the issues raised in interviews with these volunteers.

Thus, a content analysis of the students' answers was made, with the identification of their main ideas. The interpretation of the data did not seek predetermined patterns, but the themes emerged from the data themselves as they took on meaning.

For the first question regarding the identification of environmental problems students referred the topics are summarized in Table 1.

As it can be observed from Table 1, topics as desertification and acid rain were not mentioned. In addition, there seems to exist some confusion between the actions that may lead to some important environmental problems and the environmental problems themselves when, for example, they indicate the over fishing and the increase of the number of industries. The inadequate disposal of waste is mentioned both as an environmental problem (Table 1) and as a cause of environmental problems (Table 2).

It should also be emphasized that health problems due to environmental problems, in particular the human health itself, are not mentioned once by these students.

Fossil fuel burn, sewage disposal, environmental accidents caused by industries and also nuclear accidents were not mentioned from any student when answering to this question although some remembered and indicated topics like the pollution caused by the cosmetic industry. It is interesting to observe that several students referred greed as a cause for the environmental problems—this seems to be a matter

| Table 1 Environmental problems indicated by the students | Pollution of water, air and soils | 9 |
|--|---|---|
| | Global warming | 6 |
| | Deforestation | 5 |
| | Climate changes | 5 |
| | Inadequate residues disposal | 3 |
| | Increase of the number of industry plants | 2 |
| | Sea level raise | 1 |
| | Greenhouse effect | 1 |
| | Hurricanes and cyclones | 1 |
| | Overfishing | 1 |
| | | |

| Anthropogenic interference, greed, bad use of the natural resources | 8 |
|---|---|
| Undue discharge of pollutants (water and soil) | 5 |
| Deforesting (problem) | 4 |
| Pollution (generally speaking) | 2 |
| Lack of education (and attitudes) | 2 |
| Unconscious consumption | 1 |
| Nature's natural cycle | 1 |
| Destruction of ozone layer | 1 |
| Climate change (consequences) | 1 |
| Soil wear | 1 |
| Domestic pollution | 1 |
| Cosmetic industry | 1 |

Table 2 Causes of the environmental problems indicated by the students

| Table 3 Possible solutions for the environmental problems indicated by the students students | Awareness of people | 7 |
|--|--|---|
| | Education for the next generations | 4 |
| | Stricter laws and punishments for environmental crimes | 3 |
| | Change in lifestyle/less consumption | 2 |
| | To value nature | 1 |
| | Take the bus and bicycle | 1 |
| | There is no solution for some existing problems | 1 |
| | Be careful when disposing individual waste | 1 |
| | Reduction of gas emissions | 1 |
| | Social program | 1 |
| | Rethink the product life cycle | 1 |
| | Attention to the CO ₂ emissions | 1 |

of concern to these young people being the ones from Brazil that most mentioned it. There seems to be a significant conscious about the anthropogenic importance on the climate changes, which also seems to be directly related to a bad use of the natural resources. The water and soil pollution particularly from a lack of a conscious waste disposal is also somewhat important for these young people but the pollution itself, generally speaking, or the domestic one, appeared in their answers. However, the pollution caused by the industry was not mentioned, with the exception of the cosmetics industry.

When asked about what are the possible solutions for the environmental problems, the answers mainly focused on specific and concrete actions. It should be noted that no one mentioned the need to adopt and implement more effective and efficient environmental policies—Table 3.

It is noteworthy that one of the solutions most referred was to increase the awareness of the individuals, which is somehow aligned with their own notorious capacity to address these environmental issues when asked to talk about them. Solutions proposed like to increase the use of the bicycle and collective transportations in order to reduce gas emissions and carbon dioxide emissions were not presented in a large scale. There was even an answer indicating that there is no solution for the climate change problems indicating already some disbelief in Human capacity to reverse it.

When asked if the climate changes have influence on biodiversity all the answers agreed affirmatively due to the interference in breeding species and causing a loss of habitats.

In general there seems to be a lack of conscious knowledge about the causes and consequences of climate changes in both students from the two countries. However there were no significant differences between the answers of students from both countries concerning climate changes awareness and knowledge. Moreover, when confronted to the questions they evidenced some difficulty in finding and expressing the topics presenting only a small set for each one.

In view of the problems pointed out, there is no change for a more citizen and environmentalist position, demanding policies that lead to an intensification of preventive actions and programs, geared towards economic development based on sustainability principles. Only the word "awareness" is expressed more often.

As in other environmental survey studies (Shepardson et al. 2011) those interviewed students also showed little knowledge about the interrelationships between problems on a global level and many important aspects were not cited as a consequence of human practices.

In Fig. 1 we summarize the main opinions expressed by these Portuguese and Brazilian students that were interviewed.

It can be observed that the answers point mainly to the concern related to the global environmental problems and the lesser answered is related to the main solutions for mitigating them. It seems that these young people are conscientious about the importance of the environmental problems but have difficulty in pointing out some solution. Despite this, most of them seems to agree that the population awareness is an important way to mitigate the global environmental problems— better policies and laws or even more education is little valued. It is almost like if they do not really believe in the human capacity to reverse climate changes problems. The social networks globally available may somehow be responsible for this feeling that there is no need for any formal education as there is a fast information dissemination through the social networks. However, this can turn to be a dangerous factor because that information circulating may be untrue or not confirmed leading to actions that may not be the most adequate.

Deforestation is a common concern when identifying the global environmental problems and its causes although it seems not to have a major impact in the students, even in those from Brazil where deforestation has great impact and has been of general and global concern.

On the other hand, pollution of water and soil are considered as a cause for the environmental problems and is identified as an environmental problem itself. Additionally, air pollution is not directly indicated as an important cause for climate change and global warming.



Fig. 1 Main opinions expressed by the group of Portuguese and Brazilian students when interviewed about environmental issues on the planet. A: Global environmental problems; B: Causes for environmental problems; C: Main solutions

As stated before, the most cited causes for the environmental problems were the anthropic interference, greed, misuse of resources, deforestation and undue dumping of pollutants in waters and soils—in contrast the burning of fossil fuels, environmental and nuclear accidents were not cited.

Possible solutions included actions for the awareness of people, education for the next generations and stricter laws for punishments of environmental crimes, but the need to design and implement effective environmental policies was not mentioned. Everyone acknowledged that climate change has an impact on our biodiversity by interfering with species reproduction and causing habitat loss, but changes in livelihoods and sustainable consumption have been little remembered.

Thus, their opinions do not demonstrate the need for a more citizen and environmentalist position, claiming from the public power, for example, an intensification of preventive actions and programs, focused on economic development based on sustainability principles, but only the word "awareness" is expressed, most of the time.

Conclusions

The analysis carried out showed that the students interviewed had a basic understanding on climate change issues mainly acquired/resulting from the media information and not necessarily supported on scientific knowledge. The lack of ability to establish global relationships between different issues namely fossil fuel burn, sewage disposal, or environmental accidents confirm the need for building some competences, skills and abilities on scientific literacy and even some improving on scientific knowledge.

Although students revealed a general conception of the climate change subject, its causes and consequences, they lacked a more robust conception. They seem to show simplistic ideas limited to their own universe, failing to establish global relations with environmental issues.

At a time of crisis in contemporary society, it is necessary to show, particularly to young people, the idea that the planet will not support infinite growth. Coupled with the desired economic growth, we also need a life with the guarantee of human rights, a fraternal, solidarity and egalitarian society and this implies recognizing environmental problems in their causes and consequences for human life and for biodiversity as a whole. Further, it is necessary to understand that these issues are related to economic and social aspects, and that science and technology should collaborate in the use of natural resources in harmony with the rights of the local populations.

Therefore it is important to engage students and all those that are interested in these environmental and climate changes issues or might need to develop their knowledge for professional or only personal reasons. Non-formal courses can have a crucial role in order to ensure the transmission of scientific knowledge and to create more awareness on the need to better understand the climate change implications to the planet's life and for the Human kind. Massive Open Online Courses (MOOC) are among those non-formal courses and people will be able to gain more knowledge that empowers them to be more aware of climate change issues and environmental phenomena, enabling them to participate more effectively and knowingly in the environmental policies at their areas of residence or work.

This transmission of concepts and knowledge was easier and possible with the aid and the enormous development registered in recent years of the new information and communication technologies that allowed schools and universities to start a set of methodologies in order to organize and offer to large community's different types of courses. In fact, universities have an important role to play in transmitting this type of knowledge on environmental issues, which is so important in today's society, and to its students enrolled in the most diverse courses they offer, but also to the society as a whole, which also shows the importance of lifelong learning.

The present work, even if limited in the number of interviews, showed that there is still a clear need for developing effort towards scientific literacy. Pursuing this purpose we are committed to contribute to a greater awareness and scientific knowledge about climate change through short learning online programs on climate change awareness through distance learning.

This work also encourages us to prepare one or several short eLearning courses aimed not only at university students from Brazil and Portugal but also at the general public to contribute.

References

- Aires, L., Dias, P., Azevedo, J., Rebollo, M.Á., & García-Pérez, R. (2014). Education, digital inclusion and sustainable online communities. In U. M. Azeiteiro, W. L. Filho, & S. Caeiro (Eds.) E-Learning and education and sustainability (Vol. 35). ISSN 1434-3819.
- Anbalagan, G., & Srivastava, R. (2016). Developing environmental awareness trough open and distance learning system. Pakistan Journal of Distance & Online Learning, I(I).
- Arts, K., van der Wal, R., & Adams, W. M. (2015). Digital technology and the conservation of nature. Ambio, 44(Suppl. 4), S661–S673. doi:10.1007/s13280-015-0705-1.
- Barbero-Sierra, C., Marques, M. J., Ruiz-Perez, M., Bienes, R., & Cruz-Macein, J. L. (2016). Farmer knowledge, perception and management of soils in the Las Vegas agricultural district, Madrid, Spain. Soil Use and Management, 2016(32), 446–454. doi:10.1111/sum.12278.
- Bulman, G., & Fairlie, R. W. (2015). Technology and education: Computers, software, and the internet. IZA Discussion Papers, No. 9432 [online]. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/124948.
- Chugh, R., Wibowo, S., & Grandhi, S. (2016). Environmentally sustainable information and communication technology usage: Awareness and practices of Indian Information and Communication Technology professionals. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 131, 435–446. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.05.004.
- Easterling, D. R., & Wehner, M. F. (2009). Is the climate warming or cooling? *Geophysical Reseach Letters*, 36, L08706. doi:10.1029/2009GL037810.
- England, M. H., McGregor, S., Spence, P., Meehl, G. A., Timmermann, A., Cai, W., et al. (2014). Recent intensification of wind-driven circulation in the Pacific and the ongoing warming hiatus. *Nature Climate Change*, *4*, 222–227. doi:10.1038/nclimate2106.
- Gadotti, M. (2016). Education for sustainability—A critical contribution to the decade of education for sustainable development [online]. http://gadotti.org.br:8080/xmlui/handle/ 123456789/420.
- Huang, J., Yu, H., Guan, X., Wang, G., & Guo, R. (2016). Accelerated dryland expansion under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 6, 166–171. doi:10.1038/nclimate2837.
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2014). Assessment Report 5, Working group III—Mitigation of Climate Change.
- Ismail, M. A., Keumala, N., & Dabdoob, R. M. (2017). Review on integrating sustainability knowledge into architectural education: Practice in the UK and the USA. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140, 1542–1552. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.219.
- Klimova, E. R., Andersson, K., Porras, J., Rybin, A., & Zaslavsky, A. (2016). An international Master's program in green ICT as a contribution to sustainable development. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 135, 223–239. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.032.
- Lee, T. M., Markowitz, E. M., Howe, P. D., Ko, C.-Y., & Leiserowitz, A. A. (2015). Predictors of public climate change awareness and risk perception around the world. *Nature Climate Change*, 5, 1014–1020. doi:10.1038/nclimate2728.
- Littledyke, M. (2008). Science education for environmental awareness: Approaches to integrating cognitive and affective domains. *Environmental Education Research*, 14(1). doi:10.1080/ 13504620701843301.
- Martinho, A. P., Caeiro, S., Caetano, F., Azeiteiro, U. M., & Bacelar-Nicolau, P. (2014). Training and employability, competences from an e-learning undergraduate programme in environmental sciences. In U. M. Azeiteiro, W. L. Filho, & S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-Learning and education and sustainability* (Vol. 35). ISSN 1434-3819.
- Mendoza, B., & Ezequiel, M. (2011). TIC-mediated communication and educational strategy for fostering sustainable development in five schools based in Palmira. *Entramado*, 7(1), 128–145. ISSN 1900-3803 [online]. http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid= S1900-38032011000100009.
- Okaka, W., & Apil, J. (2013). Innovative ICT Public Awareness Campaign Strategy to Communicate Environmental Sustainability in Africa. IST-Africa Conference and Exhibition

Local: Nairobi, KENYA, May 29–31, 2013. http://www.ist-africa.org/Conference2013. ISBN: 978-1-905824-39-7.

- Shealy, T., Valdes-Vasquez, R., Klotz, L., Potvin, G., Godwin, A., Cribbs, J., & Hazari, Z. (2017). Half of students interested in civil engineering do not believe in anthropogenic climate change. *Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice*, 143(3). http:// ascelibrary.org/doi/full/10.1061/%28ASCE%29EI.1943-5541.0000323.
- Shepardson, D. P., Niyogi, D., Choi, S., & Charusombat, U. (2011). Students' conceptions about the greenhouse effect, global warming, and climate change. *Climatic Change*, 104, 481–507. doi:10.1007/s10584-009-9786-9.
- Singh, D., Kulkarni, S., Pande, A., Kimbahune, S., Hanwate, T., & Sawarkar, A. (2015). Innovation for crop qualify certification using ICT. In *7th International Conference on Communication Systems and Networks, Bangalore, India.* January 06–10. IEEE COMSNETS 2015.
- Suryawanshia, K., & Narkhedeb, S. (2015). Green ICT for sustainable development: A higher education perspective. *Procedia Computer Science*, 70(2015), 701–707. doi:10.1016/j.procs. 2015.10.107.
- Ull, M. A., Martínez-Agut, M. P., Piñero, A., & Aznar-Minguetb, P. (2014). Perceptions and attitudes of students of teacher-training towards environment and sustainability. *Procedia— Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 131, 453–457. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.147.
- UNESCO. (1977a). Intergovernmental Conference on Environmental Education—Final Report, organized by UNESCO in co-operation with UNEP Tbilisi (USSR), October 14–26, 1977.
- UNESCO. (1997b). Educating for a Sustainable Future: A Transdisciplinary Vision for Concerted Action, International Conference, Thessaloniki, 8–12 December. Environment and Society: Education and Public Awareness for Sustainability.
- Van Poeck, K., & Vandenabeele, J. (2012). Learning from sustainable development: Education in the light of public issues. *Environmental Education Research*, 18(4), 541–552. doi:10.1080/ 13504622.2011.633162.
- Vilaverde, M. N. (2005). La Educación Ambiental formal y no formal: dos sistemas complementários. *Revista de Educación*, 338, 145–165 [online]. http://www.revistaeducacion. mec.es/re338/re338_10.pdf.

Dealing with Climate Change as a Wicked Issue via Innovative Approaches

Dz. Iliško and O. Dedels

Abstract As this is stressed in the international legislation and research, climate change is a serious global problem that has a negative impact on the quality of life which needs solutions at both global and local levels. The chapter reflects on good practice of integrating innovative pedagogical approaches dealing with a climate change as a complex and wicked issue in a blended university study course: "Educating for sustainable social and cultural changes" at the Master's program level. The course is carried out at a regional University and highlights a promising practice of engaging students as transformative actors in their local contexts for initiating sustainable changes. It was concluded that the climate change issue needs to be dealt with as a wicked problem within a sustainability framework, and it needs to become an integral part of learning for a sustainable development. By learning about climate change, students acquired not only knowledge but they developed competencies to adopt sustainable lifestyles leading to a climate-resilient and sustainable behavior. The authors believe that a sustainable development requires changes in the way people think and act, and they see education playing a critical role in teaching relevant skills for the application of change in this issue.

Keywords Complexity · A wicked issue · Blended course · Innovative pedagogical approaches · Trans-disciplinarity

Climate Change as a Wicked Issue Within a Sustainability Discourse

Sustainability issues are linked to each other and need to be seen at the intersection of social and natural systems. Climate change as a complex issue also lies at the intersection of many disciplines and involves numerous ethical and values aspects. Climate change consequences are far-reaching and unpredictable. Expert knowledge

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_16

Dz. Iliško (⊠) · O. Dedels

Daugavpils University, Daugavpils, Latvia e-mail: Dzintra.ilisko@du.lv

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations* in *Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management,

is partial and uncertain and is lacking agreement in terms of solutions while dealing with climate change, therefore it requires systematic thinking. Because of the incomplete understanding of how climate change affects socio-ecological systems, fluctuation processes, severity magnitude and the impacts on the planet, resilience is necessary for the flexible adaptation to changing circumstances without losing reliability (Duitt and Galaz 2008). As Aldunce et al. (2015) assert, climate change poses a real problem and requires building resilience and adaptation. This requires a collaboration of all actors involved: policy makers, cities, scientists and NGO's in co-producing knowledge based on their experience. This would lead to a more efficient and systemic governance of socio-ecological systems.

Climate change as compared to other environmental problems involves uncertainty, complexity and numerous ethical considerations since the nature and the scope of this issue is highly contested (Giddens 2009; Hulme 2009). Climate change as a "wicked" issue is characterized with high levels of complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty, and dealing with it requires the use of innovative approaches. Complex issues are vaguely defined and cannot be understood without knowing the context. Wicked issues cannot be solved by conventional strategies that require clear objectives, rational planning and well-defined solutions. A simple and reductionist approach cannot be used in approaching wicked issues.

Considering the complex nature of climate change, education needs to play a significant role in initiating reflection and discussion in order to provide a way to imaginative solutions and a diverse dialogue accompanied by a synergetic way of exploring the issue. Denying or ignoring the complexity of the issue will bring new types of problems. Students need to learn to embrace and to deal with this complexity by seeking connections. They need to perceive themselves not as being outside this complexity but as the ones who are able to shape a better world by asking questions, expressing willingness for action and acknowledging themselves as a part of this complexity. This will help them to accept ethical obligation in dealing with this and similar issues. The complex issues have no clear solutions. Instead, the course facilitators used a system approach to understand the climate change issue in a broader way. Holling (2001) asserts that complex issues need to be examined through the adaptive systems in a perspective that requires a consensus-based decision-making of multiple stakeholders. Dealing with wicked issues requires learning how to deal with change, uncertainty, thus finding the sources of resilience. Work with complex issues requires systematic thinking that includes future envisioning, contextualization, critical thinking, decision-making capacity, a dialogue across and between disciplines and adapting sustainable behavior (Tilbury and Wortman 2004; Tilbury 2011).

As a complex issue, climate change cannot be resolved within the dominant models of thinking and conventional governance approaches. It needs different approaches and different perspectives while maintaining openness to a plurality of perspectives and differences. This requires a reflexive and dialogical process where students articulate their personal worldviews and share them with others. Termeer et al. (2015) asserts that dealing with wicked issues require understanding of one's limited understanding, sensitivity to its complexity and multiple perspectives in
dealing with each issue. Besides, these issues cannot be solved completely but require one to live with them or even to embrace each one (Xiang 2013).

Interdisciplinarity Framework for Dealing with Wicked Issues

Because of complexity, each climate change issue cannot be solved from a single discipline perspective but rather by transcending boundaries and reaching beyond and between disciplines. This requires establishing a common ground among the stakeholders from various disciplines leading to 'transdisciplinary syntheses' or 'multi-domain ontologies' (Wiener, in Madni 2007). Therefore, dealing with climate change requires different strategies from the ones offered by traditional science. Transdisciplinarity is seen as a key for dealing with the issues such as climate change by many scientists (Clark and Button 2011; Weinberger 2011). Clark and Button (2011) suggest that transdisciplinarity involves imagination, innovative thinking, thinking outside the borders of traditional disciplines. This involves the encounter of paradoxes, the ability to think in a complex way, the integration of knowledge from various disciplines, involving multiple stakeholders in dialogue. As Weinberger (2011) argues, that dealing with wicked issues requires post-epistemological conceptual framework and a collaboration of stakeholders outside the academic field. The complexity of the climate change issue blurs the boundaries between the responsibilities for dealing with it. By discussing real world issues with the involvement of multiple stakeholders, one opens the space for epistemological pluralism, system thinking and resilient thinking (Krasny et al. 2011). By educating students to play a meaningful role in shaping their future, we develop their capacity to shape their future.

The Progress Made so Far

The issue of climate change has been the center of attention in international legislation for two decades when it was addressed by *the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* (UNFCCC) (1992). Since then, climate change has become an issue for discussion in forums, public debates, and school curricula. By summarizing existing research on a planetary state of being, Anderson and Strecker (2012) concluded that climate change still remains a serious problem and one can notice even a reverse progress towards meeting the Millennium Developmental goals (MDGS). The United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (2005–2014) has also played its significant role in integrating principles, values and practices of sustainable development in educational courses. New Sustainable Development Goals' (SDGs) framework, post-2015 agenda, and Global Action Plan (GAP) (2014) present a promise for dealing with major global challenges, including the climate change issue. As this is reported in a number of significant documents, education is the most effective means for solving the issues we are confronted today (UNESCO 2014). To deal with the challenges of the 21st century, we need new thinking and innovative pedagogical approaches to address contemporary ecological and societal issues in their complexity.

By designing future strategies for action, several documents, such as UNFCCC (1992), Agenda 21 and GAP (2014) have identified youth as particularly significant players in shaping a sustainable future. Since the climate change issue is a multi-scale issue, the documents stress the need to integrate climate change education in teacher training programs, thus empowering and engaging youth to implement decisions set in the strategic documents on climate change. Therefore, any university's educational environment is favorable for implementing those initiatives set in the significant local and international strategic documents. Many publications on climate change provide examples of youth acting as agents of change in their local communities. Youth can develop leadership skills to participate in the decision making processes at national and international levels and play a role of educating their peers and building capacity and advocacy, initiating new projects and building strong resilience to climate risks for further generations. The Lawier and Patel (2012) study reports that youth play a significant role as advocates in helping their families, schools and communities to look for solutions for climate change.

The Rationale of the Course: The Case Study

The course was designed as a blended course composed of classroom and e-learning modules. Among the modules the authors included an e-learning climate change module, followed by discussions and reflections during regular classes. The main focus of the course is on expanding students' understanding of interconnectedness between all aspects of sustainability: political, economic, environmental, social, and culture.

The course focuses on developing students' basic understanding of scientific concepts, certainties, uncertainties, risks and consequences of environmental degradation, climate change and how those issues contribute to an unsustainable state of being of the planet. Considerable attention is paid to the issues linked to climate change such as a well-being, greenhouse effect, impacts of a climate change, adaptive governance, and carbon footprint calculation. This as well as other modules of the Open Online Course (MOOC) on the Ecosystem Approach and Systems Thinking (EAST) developed by the Loyola Sustainability Research Centre at Concordia University, Montreal, and the United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) in Nairobi, Kenya have been integrated in the Master's study course on a voluntary basis. The Climate change module in this course focuses on climate change as viewed via the social-ecological framework and the systematic thinking approach (EAST).

The students were invited to work in heterogeneous teams that allowed various perspectives to co-exist. The course participants were students from the fields of education, culture studies, environmental studies and the IT field. They were working together on a specific issue in a blended learning environment. They identified problems related to climate change in an interdisciplinary dialogue and worked together on developing solutions. Inter-disciplinarity served to encourage reflection and interdisciplinary collaboration. Dealing with complicated issues required them to use creativity, flexibility, problem solving, shared intelligence, and risk-taking.

The students were offered a wide range of web-based resources that supported exploration of a diverse range of issues in relation to climate change and this was aimed at developing competency to evaluate resources and to apply critical thinking in processing information.

Methodology

The research methods used for data collection were pre-course survey on students' understanding of sustainability challenges and how they relate sustainability to their individual lifestyles and how their actions can contribute to the climate change issue (n = 39).

After completing the course, the students were asked to reflect in their essays on their learnings during this course. The analyses of essays (n = 39) had a focus of a holistic view of a learner, particularly of all domains of learning, such as: cognitive, affective, attitudinal and behavioral aspects of learning leading to making a positive contribution to other people and their social and natural environment, locally and globally. It was aimed at gaining feedback about what students learned in a blended course design. Its aim was to focus on the developing students' competencies to deal with unsustainability and\ a climate change as a wicked issue. The other method employed in this study was focus group discussion after the students completed the course. The aim of the focus group interviews was to identify changes in students' cognitive, attitudinal, value and behavior aspects with the regard to environmental issues.

Research Findings

The course has its **transdisciplinary character**. The participants of this educational course were the students representing different fields of science, therefore they contributed to the debate by the specific knowledge from their field of study. They analyzed the issue by synthesizing information from various disciplines: from the physical, natural, and social sciences (n = 39). During the course the students have learned about the interconnectedness between climate change, economic matters,

and social justice discourse. Students also became aware of the multifaceted impact of climate change in its diverse forms: social impact (health issues, poetry, migration of environmental refugees, conflicts over limited resources); economic impacts (negative impact on agriculture, changes in expiration patterns), and environmental impact (melting of polar caps, droughts, loss of biodiversity). The blended module of the course on climate change was aimed at developing students' understanding of how this issue is interlinked with such considerations as economic growth, environmental degradation and poverty reduction.

Within the context of reform processes in Latvia, the course authors set the aim to develop ESD competencies. For the graduates to be competent of problem solving in sustainability, they need to acquire competencies that are necessary to analyze sustainability problems systematically and to act upon those issues in order to reach sustainable solutions. Innovative aspects of this course highlighted the integrating of real-world sustainability issues like climate change, through combining formal curriculum and informal e-learning environment. The authors of this research believe that educational programs should focus on preparing students as "systemic problem solvers and change agents" (Wiek et al. 2011, p. 204) (Table 1).

Pre-course Survey

The data gained from the preliminary course survey indicates that students have a lack of understanding about how their actions can contribute to climate change and a lack of information about the issues at a local level. Almost all students stated that

| Competencies | Sub-categories | |
|--------------------------------|---|--|
| Transversal | Promoting individual and collective responsibility | |
| competencies | Working with different and controversial perspectives | |
| | Welcoming transdisciplinary discourse | |
| | Seeing the interconnectedness of all sustainability aspects | |
| ESD competencies | Developing critical thinking | |
| | Promoting a sense of belonging to the environment | |
| | Participate meaningfully in decision making processes | |
| | Exercising the right and the responsibility as citizens within a democratic society | |
| Science education competencies | Exploring phenomena scientifically by providing scientific explanations | |
| | Identifying causes of climate change | |
| | Analyzing the impact of human activities on the environment | |
| | Analyzing controversial theories | |

Table 1 ESD competencies defined prior implementing the course

Adopted from Cebrian and Junyent (2015)

environmental degradation is one of the most challenging global issues. Many students reported that they are now informed about action being taken. The students of this course have an interest in climate change issue and they consider it to be an essential component in their studies.

Pre-course survey indicates that 80% of students believed that global warming is a real problem as recognized the consequences of it. 65% of students identified the link between carbon emission and global warming. 67% believe that recycling, the use of public transportation and energy conservation can reduce global warming. Although 87% of students failed to see the links between meat consumption, the use of artificial fertilizers and climate change. The course aimed to empower students to seek solutions not only to climate change, but also to its causes.

During the course, the students have realized that climate policy needs to recognize the community's rights to deliver governance for climate change. During the course discussions, students encountered many unanswered questions that were raised in the lessons leading to research on topics of direct relevance to their lives. By addressing different topics students developed a comprehensive understanding of societal and environmental issues.

The course built students' **knowledge** on sustainability issues, including the climate change issue. The students developed a basic understanding of scientific concepts, developing the ability to distinguish between risks and consequences of environmental degradation. They have analyzed different responses to climate change and their applicability to local actions for sustainable development.

Conclusions Gained During Focus Group Interviews

Students have built their understanding on interlinkages among all aspects of sustainability: social, political, economic and culture aspect. By working with different dilemmas, students engaged in in-depth solutions on a conflict between economic development and environmental protection. The focus of the course was on developing students' competencies and rethinking their ways of living and consuming by developing new attitudes and skills for environmental protection, and by changing consumption patterns.

The other aspect of the course highlighted by the students were new competencies developed during the coursework, such as critical thinking, problem solving, managing uncertainty saying that these are critical for living in the sustainable community. As it was asserted by many scientists and stressed in numerous international documents: the ability to see the interconnectedness between different dimensions of sustainability and the complexity of systems can contribute to problem solving of sustainability issues (Dalors 1996; Sterling 2004, 2012; Sharp 2002; Filho et al. 2010). Such competencies as interdisciplinary and systemic thinking have also been emphasized by the expert review commission of UNESCO in 2011. This result appeared as well at the ESD World Conference on Education for Sustainable Development (2014) in Nagoya (Japan), putting the emphases on the educational process which needs to be aligned with the engagement between the whole system, innovative pedagogies and participatory learning.

Several course participants pointed to the competencies they have developed during the course: "During the course I was encouraged to see the interdependency of issues and how to analyze each issue from the system's perspective," "by working together with the other participants from the other fields, their knowledge from the other fields enriched the discussion about the climate change issue."

Engagement of the course participants with the real life learning situations involved all aspects of learning: cognitive, affective, and practical domains, allowing the students to see themselves as agents of change in their local environments. This developed students' competency in dealing with uncertainty, together with a competency of participatory engagement with the real life issues, opened mindedness, cooperation, and reflection. These competencies are particularly essential in developing sustainability literacy (Stibbe 2009). As one of the course participants wrote: "The course broadened my view on global challenges, including disaster risk education challenges, climate change, issues affecting seas and oceans."

Both, focus group interviews and the analyses of students' essays indicate that the course raised environmental consciousness of students but did not fully modify their habits and behaviors towards sustainable consumption and lifestyles, desired by the course mentors.

Post-course survey allowed a realization that the students can explain tensions in sustainable development much better, although they focused more on the environmental dimension.

Attitudes. In the framework of the course the climate change issue was discussed in relation to values, equity and social justice.

One of the aspects disclosed in the group discussions and post-course essays was **a behavioral change**. The use of innovative pedagogies in a blended course fostered competence—ability to cope actively with the complex situations, acting upon and making decisions.

The transition towards sustainability requires action that is guided by understanding the various complexities of the processes and the ability to collaborate with people from diverse backgrounds. There are numerous studies that explore why people act the way they do because of the complexity of multifaceted human behavior in diverse contexts. Some argue that procedural knowledge is more effective in promoting behavioral change.

Several authors believe that knowledge and skills can lead to behavioral change. Many scientists argue that interest about climate change does not necessarily lead to action. Still, feelings of personal responsibility for climate change, the perception of influence of one's actions for a common good may lead to a change of behavior (Heimlich and Ardoin 2008). In essays the students pointed to small behavioral changes that they noticed in their everyday routine:

"After completing this course I realized that I pay closer attention to some of my actions, like the amount of water and electricity I use. I become conscious of some aspects which I

neglected before." "The course encouraged me to rethink my way of living, consuming and purchasing, as well as the consequences of my choices."

The other revealing moment during the group discussions was a discovery of how students' actions can be linked to global actions and benefits. An example mentioned by the students was their involvement in Environmental Week. One of the limitations of this course was that one cannot expect changes in behavior overnight but they can take place only in the long run.

The reform processes in education in Latvia put the main focus on developing ESD competencies. This was also taken into account while evaluating students' achievement during this course. Students' performance during the course was evaluated according to acquired competencies, comprising knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes (Table 2).

| Category | Subcategory | Units | Examples of students' quotations |
|------------------------------------|--|-------|---|
| Knowledge (cognitive aspect) | Knowledge about a climate change | 29 | "During taking e-modules of the course I learned more about the risks and consequences of environmental degradation and different responses to climate change, as well as their applicability to local contexts concerning my life" |
| | Connectedness of personal world view and cultural assumptions and worldview of others | 18 | "When I evaluate how my grandparents live I see sustainability in every aspect of their life, when I observe the life of my parents, their choices are determined by economic needs and aspects of life which is quire sustainable, when I analyze my generations' lifestyle, it can be described as more consumerist" |
| | Integrative thinking about interrelatedness of social, economic, culture and political dimensions of sustainability | 19 | "While discussing with others I realized how interconnected is the surrounding world" "While exploring environmental issues with my classmates, we traced economic, political and cultural impacts on the problem of study" |
| | Relation of one's own thinking and action to sustainable development | 25 | "The more we discuss those issues during our classes, the more we understand that something needs to be done for the wellbeing of the Earth, and the actions of every single individual mean a lot" |

Table 2 The analyses of students' responses in their essays (n = 39)

(continued)

| Category | Subcategory | Units | Examples of students' quotations |
|----------|--|-------|---|
| | Understanding of a need for change from unsustainable practices towards equity, solidarity, and environmental sustainability | 31 | "I understand the need to make at least small changes in my lifestyle. If each of us does at least a few things, the world would become a better place to live" |
| Skills | Ability for action | 9 | "I started to pay attention to how I can reduce the causes of climate change by doing small things, like consuming less, using less of public transportation, recycling" |
| | Work with different perspectives on dilemmas, issues, tensions and conflicts | 15 | "While doing my case study with my classmates I found quite controversial interpretations of the issue, and tensions in defining the issue" |
| | Evaluation of potential consequences of different decisions and actions | 23 | "While drawing future scenarios about the potential dangers of environmental problems I realized the potential danger of doing nothing to introduce some sustainable changes." |
| | Engagement in real-world by making a difference in practice | 36 | "I hear lots of alarming information about the ecological crises, but exploration of real cases makes environmental problems of personal importance" |
| | Recognition of impact of a human action on climate change | 29 | "I realized how much I abuse resources that has an impact of the planet" "Me and my classmates' consumeristic lifestyle carries its negative impact on climate change" |
| | Acting upon ways to reduce climate change | 18 | "I try my best to introduce small changes in my lifestyle, like walking more, buying less and using electricity less" |

Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

| Category | Subcategory | Units | Examples of students' quotations |
|-----------------------------------|---|-------|--|
| Values | Awareness of climate change gravity | 27 | "I am becoming more aware of how my actions influence the wellbeing of all and the health of the Earth" |
| | Responsibility | 12 | "I realized, if each person takes a small action to preserve the Earth" |
| | Commitment for active participation to reduce the risks of climate change | 7 | "After completing this course I am more responsible in use of water and energy as well as of my consumption patterns" |
| Emotions | Sense of connectedness/ belonging to the environment | 8 | "I get inspiration from nature" "I restore my energies in the forest" "It is in nature where I feel restored and refreshed" |
| Actions (behavioral aspect) | Ability to change one's lifestyle | 9 | "I cannot transform my life style radically as it was in the film "No impart man" but I am ready to make small changes in my lifestyle" |
| | Achieving transformations: Willingness to challenge assumptions underlying unsustainable practice | 21 | "I am willing to reexamine my lifestyle and unsustainable practice by making some small changes" |
| | Envisioning change: making a positive contribution to other people and their social and natural environment, locally and globally | 27 | "I have realized how my small action can contribute to global changes and as a youth leader I am willing to make changes not only in my life but to organize the others to be more enthusiastic introducing positive changes" |
| | Envisioning change: taking considered action even in situations of uncertainty | 18 | "The more I studied about the sustainability issues, the more I see that there is a controversy in offered solutions and consequences of this question" |

Table 2 (continued)

To conclude, prior to this study, students' knowledge was mostly centered around the environmental dimension of sustainability. During the course the students developed broader understanding of the sustainability issues by linking institutional and social aspects and become aware of controversies and tension, and potential effects of dealing with the climate change issue. While dealing with other issues, environmental issues could be seen as a starting point for exploring other dimensions of ESD, gradually developing into systemic and critical thinking actions (Reickmann 2012). Students are engaged now with the issue of study of more personal significance for the student specially when related to real world cases.

This case study was an attempt to implement SD and the study of ESD related issues such as climate change in one of the university's educational courses organized in blended modules and focused on the development of students' ESD competencies. This is a small attempt of integrating ESD. The findings of a post-course survey show that those who demonstrated holistic, long term thinking and broader understanding of ESD, are a minority. For integration of sustainability to become a holistic effort, the university needs to integrate SD in all its core activities. Still, universities should be seen as an ideal ground for developing research and innovations as a basis for discussion of the need of SD in universities.

A small scale of a case study restricts making generalizations but allows to trace the positive aspects of awareness of interconnectivity of environmental issues to social, economic and political aspects of sustainability, attitudinal changes and commitments of students to relate climate change issues to their everyday life, consumption habits. The course contributed to the development of students' transversal competencies, such as undertaking individual and collective responsibility, working with different and controversial perspective and thinking across disciplines.

Conclusions

There is undeniable evidence that climate change is a danger which compromises the sustainability of our planet. The importance of climate change to a large extent was neglected in school and the university's curriculum. Therefore, the study presents a challenge to integrate the issue about climate change by the use of innovative approaches in the university setting.

Education plays a crucial role in informing and empowering students to discover the possibility of their contribution in solving environmental issues by adopting a sustainable lifestyle and finding innovative solutions. Education can enable individuals to make informed decisions and to take actions for a climate-compatible sustainable development. What is missing, is a holistic vision of how sustainable society can be translated to the local level.

The course was intended to equip students with relevant life skills such as critical thinking skills, climate change literacy, problem solving skills, sustainable consumption and evaluation of one's lifestyles. The mentor of the course provided a

safe learning environment for discussion and for sharing ideas by offering blended learning strategies and multiple learning formats.

Education for sustainable development provided a framework for climate change education, thus encouraging students to be more informed about everyday life decisions accompanied by the responsible action. The course was intended to develop students' knowledge in conjunction with the evolution of their awareness and changes in personal behavior. The limitation of this course was that while the course outlined the scope of issues, there was not much time to explore issues in greater depth.

Climate change in the university study course was studied in relation to smart governance, policy debates, and in relation to societal issues, thus examining the implications of climate change in local contexts. The students developed an understanding about the impact of climate change on a local and future society. The analysis of students' essays indicates that they developed an understanding about the contexts as well as a developed flexibility to deal with uncertainty concerning climate change.

The students have learned that a climate policy needs to recognize community's rights to governance for climate change and the interconnectedness between climate change, economic matters, and social justice discourse. The course reached its broader aim to empower students to seek solutions not only to climate change, but also to its causes. This has led towards changes of attitudes, and to responsible action.

To be efficiently taught, the climate change issue needs to be taught in an accessible way and through multiple formats, such as e-learning, photos, films, video fragments, exercises and interactive games. Climate change issues need to be studied in relation to smart governance, policy debates, and societal issues, in order to examine the implications of climate change in local contexts.

For the climate change issue to be relevant for the students, it has to relate global and abstract issues to how one impacts on climate change and to how to equip students with skills, knowledge and values to deal with future challenges. Education should empower the students to see environmental, political, social and economic aspects of climate change in a more holistic way.

Considering the serious impact of climate change on our lives, educators need to frame climate change studies in a way that can be better acted upon by youth using diverse experiences, life circumstances, worldviews and values (Maibach et al. 2011).

As a major limitation and constraint of this case study is that it cannot be generalized to other contexts since it reflects the efforts of educators at one of the regional universities aimed raise students conscience about the causes, consequences and possible solutions of environmental issues, particularly, the issue of a climate change within a wider system framework of sustainable development. The gravity of consequences of environmental issue are worldwide still the problematics varies from the context to context. Pedagogical solutions and tools used to tackle these issues also vary from one institution to the other. The experience and the involvement of institutions in dealing with those issue are also diverse even within the institutions of one country. This case study is a tentative innovative attempt to use innovative approached, including a blended course design, and other tools to touch the student a s holistic being: cognitive, emotional, value, behavioral aspects developing one's personal responsibility and commitment to work for a well-being of the planet.

References

- Aldunce, P., Beilin, R., Howden, M., & Handmer, J. (2015). Resilience for disaster risk management in a changing climate: Practitioners' frames and practices. Global Environmental Change. *Human Policy Dimensions*, 30, 1–11. ISSN: 0959-3780.
- Anderson, A., & Strecker, M. (2012). Sustainable development: A case for Education. *Environment*, 3, 4–14.
- Cebrian, G., & Junyent, M. (2015). Competencies in education for sustainable development: Exploring the student teachers' views. *Sustainability*, 7, 2768–2786. doi:10.3390/su7032768.
- Clark, B., & Button, C. (2011). Sustainability transdisciplinary educational model: Interface of arts, science, and community. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 12(1), 41–54. doi:10.1108/14676371111098294.
- Dalors, J. (1996). Learning: The treasure within. Paris: UNESCO. ISBN 978-92-3-103470-7.
- Duitt, A., & Galaz, V. (2008). Governance and complexity emerging issues for governance theory. *Governance*, 21(3), 311–335.
- Filho, W. L., Pace, P., & Monolas, E. (2010). The contribution of education towards meeting the challenges of climate change. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 9(2), 142–155.
- Global Action Plan (GAP). (2014). Paris: UNESCO. Available at: http://en.unesco.org/gap.
- Giddens, A. (2009). Politics of climate change. London: Polity.
- Heimlich, J. E., & Ardoin, N. M. (2008). Understanding behavior to understand behavior change: A literature review. *Environmental Education Research*, 14, 215–237. doi:10.1080/ 13504620802148881.
- Holling, C. S. (2001). Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological, and social systems. *Ecosystems*, 4, 390–405. doi:10.1007/s10021-001-0101-5.
- Hulme, M. (2009). We disagree about climate change: Understanding controversy, inaction and opportunity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Krasny, M., Lundholm, C., & Plummer, R. (Eds.). (2011). *Resilience in socio-ecological systems: The role of learning and education*. Boston: Routledge.
- Lawier, J., & Patel, M. (2012). Exploring children's vulnerability to climate change and their role in advancing climate change adaptation in East Asia and the Pacific. *Environment Development*, 123. doi:10.1016/j.envdev.2012.04.001.
- Madni, A. M. (2007). Transdisciplinarity: Reaching beyond disciplines to find connections. *Transactions of SDPS*, 11(1), 1–11.
- Maibach, E. W., Leiserowitz, A., Roser-Renouf, C., & Mertz, C. K. (2011). Identifying like-minded audiences for global warming public engagement campaigns: An audience segmentation analysis and tool development. *Plosone*, 69(3). Retrieved from: http://journals. plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0017571.
- Reickmann, M. (2012). Future-oriented higher education: Which key competencies should be fostered through university teaching? *Futures*, 44(2), 127–135. Retrieved from: http://srn. com/abstract=2035441.
- Sharp, L. (2002). Green campuses: The road from little victories to systemic transformations. International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education, 3, 128–145. doi:10.1108/ 14676370210422357.

- Sterling, S. (2004). Higher education, sustainability, and the role of systemic learning. In P. B. Corcoran & A. Wals (Eds.), *Higher education and the challenge of sustainability: Problematics, promise and practice* (pp. 49–70). UK: Kluwer Academic Publisher.
- Sterling, S. (2012). The future fir framework: An Introductory guide to teaching and learning for sustainability. *Higher Education*. Retrieved from: https://www.heacademy.ac.uk/system/files/ future_fit_270412_1435.pdf.
- Stibbe, A. (2009). *The handbook of sustainability literacy: Skills for a changing world*. UK: Green Books.
- Termeer, C. J., Dewulf, A., & Breeman, G. E. (2015). Governance capabilities for dealing wisely with wicked problems. *Administration and Society*, 47(6), 680–710.
- Tilbury, D. (2011). Education for sustainable development: An Expert Review of Processes and Learning. Paris: UNESCO.
- Tilbury, D., & Wortman, D. (2004). Engaging people in sustainability. Switzerland: IUCN.
- UNESCO. (2014). Roadmap for implementing the global action programme on education for sustainable development. Paris: UNESCO. Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/ 0023/002305/230514e.pdf.
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). (1992). Available at: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.
- Weinberger, D. (2011). Too big to know: Rethinking knowledge now that the facts aren't the facts, experts are everywhere, and the smartest person in the room. New York: Basic.
- Wiek, A., Withycombe, L., & Redman, C. (2011). Key competencies in sustainability: A reference framework for academic program development. *Sustainable Science*, 6, 203–218. doi:10.1007/ s11625-011-0132-6.
- Xiang, W. N. (2013). Working with wicked problems in socio-ecological systems: Awareness, acceptance, and adaptation. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 110, 1–4. Available at: http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.11.006.

e-Learning Diversification in Higher Education: Conceptions of Participation

Paulo Dias, Luísa Aires and Darlinda Moreira

Abstract In this chapter, we reflect on the conceptions and different forms of participation in e-Learning contexts in higher education and its influences in climate change literacy. Although the literature review highlights intense research on the value of participation in informal contexts, we argue that the construction of a pedagogical discourse on e-Learning cannot be sustained without the pedagogy of participation. Such participation also acquires new meanings when analysed using socio-constructivist and cultural approaches. In this study, the analysis of participation in e-Learning contexts is based on categories such as leadership, sharing and cohesion. The empirical data we present are the result of more wide-ranging research carried out at the Observatório da Qualidade da Educação a Distância e e-Learning (Distance Education and e-Learning Observatory) at the Universidade Aberta, Portugal. Data were collected from the online questionnaire given to a sample of 26 e-Learning course leaders and pedagogical coordinators in face-to-face higher education institutions. The conclusions of the study highlight the different conceptions about the nature of e-Learning processes and practices in higher education, which we believe highlight the need to promote a participation-oriented pedagogy as a fundamental aspect of both climate change literacy/education and online education and based on the construction of both pedagogical innovation and teachers' education to teach in virtual environments.

Keywords e-Learning · Participation · Higher education · Pedagogy

P. Dias

Universidade Aberta, Lisbon, Portugal

L. Aires $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Moreira

CEMRI, Universidade Aberta, Lisbon, Portugal e-mail: Luisa.Aires@uab.pt

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_17

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Introduction

In 2013, about 82% of European higher education institutions offered online learning courses (Gaebel et al. 2014), thus giving rise to an educational framework where various HEIs coexist with a diversity of teaching methods and pedagogical models for e-Learning courses. This scenario is particularly important for distance learning universities, because it poses various questions about what is considered and understood to be e-Learning.

The authors of this chapter belong to the faculty of a distance learning institution where online learning has been used since 2001. The e-Learning we practise adheres to principles and quality guidelines, both in terms of course design and pedagogical practice. As an increasingly widespread teaching method, e-Learning sustainability must be ensured.

During an exploratory research undertaken in 2014-2015 for the Distance Learning and e-Learning Observatory, which is based at the Universidade Aberta (Open University), Portugal, various pedagogical concepts and practices regarding e-Learning courses were identified (Dias et al. 2015). Surveying a sample of 26 e-Learning course leaders and coordinators taught by Portuguese higher education institutions (HEI), this study identified three subgroups: one (around 38%) with organisational and pedagogical concepts similar to those of online distance education; another (approximately 36%) advocating concepts similar to blended learning, emphasising face-to-face contact in teaching and learning processes; and a third (about 25%) that seemed to distance itself from these concepts, focussing on e-Learning from a technological perspective, reducing this type of teaching and learning to the online availability of content, typical of face-to-face teaching. The abovementioned research also observed that the first two subgroups are not static. On the contrary, they are fluid, sometimes moving towards an online distance education perspective, other times, defending concepts like those of blended learning. When the analysis focusses on practices, the learning processes data shows that the group with concepts most similar to online education drops to 28%.

Other aspects emerging from research also required further investigation, such as respondents' contradictory answers regarding pedagogical aspects of participation in online distance learning, which in theory and in practice are connected, as well as the need for changes in institutional cultures regarding online teaching and teacher training in this area.

We highlight the study's conclusions to underline the importance of recognising the differences in distance education and the institutions that use it within the context of higher education policies, as well as the need to incorporate new ways of promoting a culture of participation in face-to-face HEIs.

Active participation and digital education are interconnected areas that politicians, employers, educators and other social agents must take into account to consider climate change education. Managing information is not all an exclusive competence to answer multiple challenges of digital society. Citizens must appropriate social competences to be part of online and face-to-face communities and teachers and digital media must promote innovative approaches for teaching and learning climate change problems in different tips and levels of schooling (Azevedo 2016).

The aim of this chapter is to analyse participation in e-Learning contexts, based on the empirical data obtained in the abovementioned study, which is part of research undertaken for the Distance Education and Learning Quality Observatory.

Participation in e-Learning

Although there is widespread agreement that participation is a key aspect of online education and e-Learning, this concept has been studied from very different perspectives. In simple terms, interaction in the virtual classroom equals participation, while, a more complex approach views participation as intrinsic to learning and, in particular, to the dialogue and social relationships developed within such educational contexts.

Hrastinski (2008) situates participation in the complex and relational processes using the socio-constructivist approach of Vygotski (1978) and Wenger (1998), defining participation in learning as:

a process of learning by taking part and maintaining relations with others. It is a complex process comprising doing, communicating, thinking, feeling and belonging, which occurs both online and offline (Hrastinski, 2008, p. 1761).

Hrastinski's (2008) proposal is reflected in Carrie James's statement, when she describes participation "as the very nature of our online conduct" (James 2014, p. 83). In fact, participation has been the focus of other approaches that, due to their cultural and ecological emphasis, can be considered complementary to Hrastinski's perspective (2008, 2009). Learning ecologies presuppose unstructured contexts of participation, trust, simplicity, decentralisation, tolerance of experimentation and error, and a range of mediating tools (Siemens 2003). Offering an ecological approach to learning processes, Siemens (2003) suggests the existence of dynamic contexts that are open and in permanent construction; communities with common interests and intense participation flows that are constantly evolving and self-regulating.

Siemens' proposal can be expanded with Jenkins' approach (2009), highlighting the cultural dimension, the interrelation between different digital media and cultural communities that develop alongside the processes mediated by these technologies.

According to Jenkins (2009), participation cuts across educational practices, creative processes, community life and democratic citizenship. This participation is conducted through affiliation to communities with different vocations, public participation, new creative methods and collaborative problem solving.

Hrastinski's (2008, 2009) and Jenkins' (2009) perspectives on participation laid the foundations for the development of a pedagogy of participation in online distance education, calling for a complex analysis of the concept supported by cultural and relational processes of doing, communicating, feeling and belonging (Hrastinski 2008, 2009; Freire 1982; Jenkins 2009; Carter and Arroyo 2011).

Different Types of Participation

The concept of participation has become central and crucial in several social contexts, including the digital one. Here, participation may be part of distinct dimensions and have different purposes, problems and possibilities, as well as tending to interfere with power relations.

According to Vieira (2015), participation requires learning and the acquisition of competences, which are constructed "from the interaction-action of the actors" (p. 105). Along similar lines of thought, Jenkins et al. (2016) present the idea of participatory culture as a culture:

 \dots which embraces the values of diversity and democracy through every aspect of our interactions with each other – one which assumes that we are capable of making decisions, collectively and individually, and that we should have the capacity to express ourselves through a broad range of different forms and practices. (p. 2)

Participatory culture in online educational environments boasts unique features that should be highlighted for a better understanding of the diversity of e-Learning contexts in higher education. Focussing on these technological artefacts and contexts, it should be mentioned that e-Learning can range from environments based on text availability to the inclusion of virtual worlds based on three-dimensional graphics in educational scenarios. These different contexts require different forms of participation which, in turn, develop different ways of being, communicating and interacting, and the existence of a learning community presupposes a complex and demanding degree of interactivity and sharing. As highlighted in perspectives on participatory culture, learning comes from collective interaction, often in a learning community, which allows individuals to develop competencies and feelings of involvement, belonging and protection. To this end, we return to Lave and Wenger's (1991) thinking about communities of practice as places of action that develop within contexts of experience, particularly through the involvement of a social voice as a means of promoting sustainability and the development of communities.

Participation in the educational experiences and activities has been considered one of the essential stages of learning since Kolb (1984). Combined with the educational scenarios underlying a particular learning context, student participation may range from a single answer on a multiple-choice test to being an avatar in a simulation or game environment in online learning communities.

However, non-physical presence in the online learning environment involves context-specific characteristics that need to be considered and analysed. One of the consequences of non-physicality is related to the unique characteristics of online communication (James 2014), which, in addition to possibly including a mixture of

text, video, audio and other fantastic elements, can also be expressed via a simple anonymous click on a predefined icon. Another detail is the size of the community where we participate and speak, which, in educational contexts, can range from virtual groups with the usual 20–30 students to the fabulous amphitheatres seating over 500, a metaphor that can be compared to the learning environments used as part of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs).

We may consider the lack of non-verbal signals of online speech—usually described as non-verbal communication—as something negative in terms of interpretation and cognitive, social and cultural interaction, however, it can also be advantageous for certain participants who "may be marginalised in other contexts" (Stirling 2008, p. 171). In addition to this, the asynchronous mode of communication allows some readjustment, as repeated reading of the message helps control emotional or cognitive reactions.

Another aspect to consider when analysing students' participation in online educational environments are expectations regarding educational participation, which should be made explicit and eventually negotiated among teachers. These expectations may, on the other hand, influence the type of student involvement. In other words, course design influences or determines a certain type of participation, to which we should add the possibilities provided by digital environments and tools. Considering technological progress, we believe the latter elements tend to become a bound variable in educational settings. We can also say that participation in online educational contexts may be associated with unavoidable telecommunication costs or different geographical times, as online courses bring together students from anywhere in the world.

However, as we mentioned previously, an online learning community presupposes a complex set of relationships, interactivity and sharing that involves symbolic, relational, emotional, axiological dimensions or, if we prefer, different participatory cultures. The pedagogy of participation, in which internet use and virtual worlds are increasingly "transparent" (Bolter and Grusin 2000), seeks to strengthen different aspects of multiple social contexts and learning guided by an inclusive approach. This principle will lead to group and individual development of community members (Nunes 1998, 2002; Moreira and Fantinato 2014).

Climate change is a central issue in education that requires new practices of citizenship. Learners create their own meanings about climate change participating actively in digital media such as social networks, blogs and other virtual environments. Education can mediate different understandings about global warming and encourage changes in attitudes and behaviours to innovate in urgent answers to climate change (UNESCO).

According to Dias (2016), "there is no possibility of autonomy based on desire or willingness, but rather in action through the type of sharing that values participation as a means of constructing intellectual freedom. Intellectual freedom is in the social voice that transforms something private into collective expression, shaping the community's identity as a common asset".

In the study undertaken previously (Dias et al. 2015), the key aspects of participation were identified as attitudes and feelings of sharing, leadership, cohesion and mediation that shaped the quality of community relations. In this study, participation is analysed according to informants' conceptions of interaction, leadership, sharing, cohesion, mediation, trust, authenticity of information and knowledge and credibility. The participation analysis employed is based on Dias (2014) and Aires et al. (2014). The data that follow are interpreted within this theoretical framework.

Methodology

The data we analyse in this section comes from research undertaken by Dias et al. (2015) in 2014 and 2015. The empirical research was based on the development and use of an online questionnaire for 26 e-Learning course leaders and coordinators in higher education.

Sample

A theoretical and purposive sample was created for this study. During the initial phase, participants were contacted via e-mails sent to universities and polytechnics, inviting the institutions to participate in the project's online questionnaire.

Only some universities participated. The reasons for not participating are unknown. They did not respond, either because they did not have distance education and e-Learning courses, or they simply decided not to participate for other reasons.

The sample is made up of 16 women and 10 men (N: 26). Respondents work at different universities and polytechnics throughout the country (Fig. 1).

Data Collection Tool

The questionnaire used was developed via a literature review and the contributions of teaching staff and researchers who analysed the different versions. A closed-ended questionnaire was constructed with Likert-type questions with five

Fig. 1 Sample: percentages by gender (*Source* Dias et al. 2015)



answers: 1-strongly disagree; 2-disagree; 3-tend to agree; 4-agree; 5strongly agree.

The pre-test was done with 16 teachers working in face-to-face and online higher education, which led to various changes, both in terms of structure and content, improving the tool significantly. The latest version of the questionnaire was analysed by a group of researchers in distance education. This last stage produced the final version of the questionnaire, which was divided into five parts:

- 1. Description of the institution and respondents;
- 2. Distance education and e-Learning course design:
- 3. Pedagogical guidelines for distance education and e-Learning;
- 4. Pedagogical participation;
- 5. Technological and support infrastructures.

Although the original research boasts a wide scope, for this study, we focussed solely on the notions of "participation" of course leaders and coordinators working in public higher education institutions and who take part in research. Participation is interpreted using the categories in Table 1.

The data obtained from the questionnaire was analysed using descriptive statistics techniques (SPSS, version 23).

On the Pedagogy of Participation

The combination of the literature review and the collection and analysis of data allows us to outline pedagogical perspectives on participation as a key principle in digital citizenship and consequently in online distance education.

General Participation

Informants consider students to have high levels of participation in online teaching activities (4.0) (Fig. 2).

| Table 1 | Analysis categories | | Analysis categories |
|---------|---------------------|---------------|---|
| | | Participation | General participation |
| | | | Interaction |
| | | | Leadership |
| | | | Sharing |
| | | | Cohesion: groups |
| | | | Cohesion: dynamics |
| | | | Mediation: teacher-community |
| | | | • Trust |
| | | | • Authenticity of information and knowledge |
| | | | • Credibility |
| | | | |



In contrast, student participation in mixed situations (online and face-to-face teaching) is considered moderate (3.0) (Fig. 3). These results are in line with other studies that indicate high participation rates on online courses (Gibson 2003).

Interaction

Interaction between students is considered moderate in online, mixed and face-to-face contexts (average: 3.0). Conceptions regarding the link between the type of teaching employed and interaction with the teacher divides the informant group. As can be seen in Table 2 (item 54), 9 respondents' assessment ranges from "completely agree" and "strongly agree" to another 9 between "completely disagree" and "disagree". The other 7 informants' assessment is mid-range—"tend to agree".

Leadership

Leadership is primarily associated with the teacher and, to a lesser extent, learning communities, i.e. for most respondents, leadership does not involve the learning community but does have an important role for 9 respondents. The role of distributed leadership is not consensual; the teacher leads more for some (13) and less for others (6). Seven respondents chose the "tend to agree" option (Table 3).

 Table 2
 Interaction (Source Dias et al. 2015)



Table 3 Leadership (Source Dias et al. 2015)



This indicator requires further development, given that, in other aspects not analysed in this chapter, when we examine the assessment process, peer assessment scores the highest.

Sharing

In contrast to the results for interaction (moderate), virtual sharing is very important, according to the respondents. The role of virtual contexts in sharing among students is highly valued by 19 of the 26 respondents, while 7 consider it to be of little (2) or moderate importance (5) (Table 4). If we compare this data with the moderate scores for interaction, it seems to us that this indicator requires further research, in terms of understanding the informants' ideas on the link between sharing and interaction.



Strongly disagree Disagree Tend to agree Agree Strongly agree

Cohesion: Groups

In relation to group cohesion, there does not seem to be a clear demarcation regarding any differences between online and face-to-face teaching. In item 64, the most popular option was "tend to agree" (Table 5).

Cohesion: Dynamics

The relation between shared leadership and cohesion in face-to-face teaching scores moderately, but scores better when considered in face-to-face situations (averages: 3.0 and 3.5, respectively). When asked for an assessment of the statement "virtual classes are more cohesive than face-to-face ones", once again, the sample divides (15 do not agree with the statement and 11 tend to/strongly agree) (Table 6). These data lead us to reflect on the importance of face-to-face interactions on class cohesion for the latter informants and, generally, on the pedagogical relationship on e-Learning courses.

 Table 4
 Sharing (Source Dias et al. 2015)

 Table 6
 Cohesion: dynamics (Source Dias et al. 2015)

0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 65. Competitiveness between students in online 1 learning contexts hinders cohesion. 66. Competitiveness between students in face-to-11 face learning contexts hinders cohesion. 67. Shared leadership in online learning contexts 10 10 2 encourages cohesion. 68. Shared leadership in face-to-face learning 10 11 2 contexts encourages cohesion.



 Table 7 Mediators of learning (Source Dias et al. 2015)

Mediators of Learning

The teacher profile is not clearly defined and is constructed via the mediation of learning (broad consensus) and, to a lesser extent, the presentation of content. The learning community being associated with the mediating role is scored positively by 11 respondents and moderately by 11 informants. Three respondents also consider that the community does not have/ has little value in the mediation of learning (Table 7).

Trust

For most respondents (average: 4.0), trust between teachers and students is not directly linked to learning situations, whether online or face-to-face (Table 8). This is one of the aspects that require further development using narrative methods.

Strongly disagree Disagree Tend to agree Agree Strongly agree



 Table 8
 Assessment of trust (Source Dias et al. 2015)

 Table 9
 Authenticity of information and knowledge (Source Dias et al. 2015)



Authenticity of Information and Knowledge

Regarding the authenticity of information and knowledge as an issue of face-to-face and online teaching, although the average is 4.0 on a scale of 1–5, in Table 9, we can see that wide range of scores (the assessment of 10 respondents ranges from disagree/tend to agree) (Table 9). This data is corroborated by Bacow, Bowen, Guthrie, Lack, and Long's study (2012), which states that issues of authenticity and its opposite are common to online and face-to-face teaching.

Credibility

The credibility of face-to-face teaching scores higher than that of online teaching. The idea that e-Learning may have a complementary role with face-to-face teaching scored poorly with most respondents (average: 2.0), although, in the data collected by the survey, the prevailing concepts are closer to blended learning.

Nevertheless, the proportion of "tend to agree" responses should be noted, following the overall trend of scores in terms of participation. It is also worth mentioning Allen and Seamen's (2014) study, which concluded that both subsystems are closer to each other in terms of credibility (Table 10).

There are no extreme scores (1 or 5) in this category. 13 of the 28 answers were at level 3 (tend to agree), 5 disagreed (level 2) and 7 agreed (level 4). As such, it is important to gather more data on the meanings of credibility in both subsystems for informants.

In short, the leadership, authenticity of information and knowledge, cohesion: dynamics and trust indicators indicate the same quartile distribution profile and averages (3), while the sharing and mediation: teacher-community indicators boast similar distributions and averages (4) (Table 11).

The "moderate" nature of the answers indicates a margin that requires further analysis. On the other hand, it presents the need to understand the existing pedagogical skills that influence the answers and specifically in the contexts in which online teaching occurs.

In short, the dominant tendency for informants to choose level 3 (tend to agree) highlights the need to discover the reasons for these opinions, when the aim is to contrast the scores in the different categories regarding face-to-face and online teaching. As previously mentioned, these data underline the need for a more comprehensive next stage that uses, among other things, interviews and discussion groups.



 Table 10
 Credibility (Source Dias et al. 2015)

Strongly disagree Disagree Tend to agree Agree Strongly agree

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| q) Participation | | | | | |
| r) Interaction | - | | 3 | | |
| s) Leadership | | | 3 | | |
| t) Sharing | | | | | |
| u) Information and knowledge Authenticity | | | | | |
| v) Cohesion: groups | | | | | |
| w) Cohesion: dynamics | | | | | |
| x) Trust | | | | | |
| y) Mediation: Teacher-Communities | | | 3 | | |
| z) Value | | | | 4 | |

 Table 11
 Distribution of quartiles and averages in participation and adjacent categories (Source Dias et al. 2015)

Conclusion

In this chapter, we analysed different perspectives regarding participation on e-Learning courses from a theoretical and empirical perspective.

The analysed data was obtained from a questionnaire given to 26 e-Learning course leaders and coordinators in higher education institutions.

The questionnaire, which uses the Likert scale, was developed, systematically contrasting face-to-face and online teaching.

The "moderate" assessment of participation, as well as the fluctuating responses in analytical categories associated with this concept, highlights the need for a better understanding of participation in e-Learning. The development of these notions should include face-to-face HEIs' strategies for online learning, as well as pedagogical processes in teacher training for this type of learning, also corroborated in studies undertaken in other contexts (Krull and Mallinson 2013).

It is also important to reflect on what role the pedagogy of participation plays in how online courses are designed, as well as the pedagogical strategies that teachers should adopt.

Given the exploratory nature of the study and, particularly, the type of sample selected (convenience), as well as the type of tool used to collect information (questionnaire), it is necessary to extend this study by identifying broader and more diverse samples, as well as applying comprehensive and interpretive research methodologies.

Finally, we highlight that freedom of thought finds its greatest expression in participation, sharing and action to create collaborative learning communities in digital education. In what concerns to climate change education, learning communities need to encourage innovative teaching approaches that enhance interdisciplinary practices and new digital competences to participate and transform in formal and informal networks. We believe that this is a key value for promoting climate change education.

Building education for the future means promoting a strategic vision for sustained innovation, which will help develop new competencies for action and creativity within learning situations that emphasise the integration of social experience within education. This should help blur the boundaries between knowledge areas, establishing participation, dialogue and questioning, linking the formal with the informal, transforming the experience of knowledge into a meaningful process that solves not only today's problems but, most of all, those of tomorrow.

Acknowledgements This chapter was supported by the Centre of Studies on Migrations and Intercultural Relations (CEMRI, FCT), Universidade Aberta. This work was also supported by national funds via the FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, I.P. (Science and Technology Foundation), as part of the «UID/SOC/00289/2016» project.

References

- Allen, E., & Seamen, J. (2014). Grade change tracking online education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group and Quahog Research Group, LLC.
- Aires, L., Dias, P., Azevedo, J., Rebollo, M.A., & García-Perez, R. (2014). Education, digital inclusion and sustainable online communities in Ulisses In M. Azeiteiro, W. Leal Filho, & S. Caeiro (Eds.), *E-Learning and education for sustainability* (pp. 263–273). Peter Lang GmbH International Academic Publishers. ISSN 1434-3819, ISBN 978-3-631-62693-1.
- Azevedo, J. (2016). Projet 'Clima@EduMedia'. University of Porto. Available: http:// climaedumedia-en.weebly.com/.
- Bacow, L., Bowen, W., Guthrie, K., Lack, K., & Long, M. (2012). Barriers to Adoption of Online Learning Systems in U.S. *Higher Education*. Ithaka S+R.
- Bolter, D., & Grusin, R. (2000). *Remediation: Understanding new media*. Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- Carter, G., & Arroyo, S. (2011). Tubing the future: Participatory pedagogy and Youtube U, in 2020. Composition 20/20: How the future of the web could sharpen the teaching of writing. *Computers and Composition*, 28(4), 292–302. doi:10.1016/j.compcom.2011.10.001.
- Dias, P. (2014). Inovação e Usabilidade Pedagógica nos cenários emergentes de educação aberta e em rede. In *Conferência TRACER 2014*. Aveiro: Universidade de Aveiro.
- Dias, P., Caeiro, D., Aires, L., Moreira, D., Goulão, F., Henriques, S., Moreira, A., & Nunes, C. (2015). Educação a Distância e e-Learning no Ensino Superior. Observatório da Qualidade da Educação a Distância e e-Learning (89 p.). Lisboa: Universidade Aberta. ISBN: 978-972-674-769.
- Dias, P. (2016). Aprender na Sociedade Digital: para uma escola em rede. In *Conference in the seminar Learning ICT and digital networks*. Lisboa: Portuguese National Commission of Education, April 5th, 2016 (in press).
- Freire, P. (1982). A pedagogia do oprimido. Rio de Janeiro: Editora Paz e Terra.
- Gaebel, M., Kupriyanova, V., Morais, R., & Colucci, E. (2014). E-learning in European Higher Education Institutions. Results of a mapping survey conducted in October–December 2013. Brussels: European University Association.
- Gibson, C. (2003). Learners and learning: The need for theory. In M. G. Moore & W. G. Anderson (Eds.), *Handbook of distance education* (pp. 147–160). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Hrastinski, S. (2008). What is online learner participation? A literature review. Computers & Education, 52, 1755–1765.

- Hrastinski, S. (2009). A theory of online learning as online participation. *Computers & Education*, 52, 78–82.
- James, C. (2014). *Disconnected. Youth, new media, and the ethics gap.* Cambridge/Massachusetts: The MIT Press.
- Jenkins, H. (2009). Confronting the challenges of participatory culture. Media Education for the 21st century. Cambridge: MIT Press. Available at: https://mitpress.mit.edu/sites/default/files/ titles/free_download/9780262513623_Confronting_the_Challenges.pdf.
- Jenkins, H., Ito, M., & Boyd, D. (2016). Participatory culture in a networked era. A conversation on youth, learning, commerce and politics. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Krull, G. E., & Mallinson, B. J. (2013). Building academics staff capacity to support online learning in developing countries. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 17(2), 63–72. Retrieved from: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1018279.
- Moreira, D., & Fantinato, M. C. (2014) Adults' meanings for a professional requalification in a post-graduate e-Learning context. In ESREA Conference Local Change, Social Actions and Adult Learning: Challenges and Responses. Lisbon, Universidade de Lisboa, June 26–28, 2014.
- Nunes, D, (1998). L'apprentissage de la citoyenneté à partir du travail communautaire -Methodologie participative d'intervention dans les quartiers populaires; recherche-action à Vila Verde, Salvador, Brésil. Ph.D. thesis presented at the Institut d' Urbanisme de Paris, Université Paris XII, France.
- Nunes, D. (2002). Pedagogia da Participação trabalhando com comunidades. Salvador: UNESCO/Quarteto, 2002. (http://cirandas.net/deboranunes/blog/baixe-o-livro-pedagogia-daparticipacao).
- Siemens, G. (2003). Learning Ecology, communities and networks. Extending the classroom. October 17, 2003. Available: http://www.elearnspace.org/Articles/learning_communities.htm.
- Stirling, D. (2008). Online learning in context. In J. Visser & M. Visser-Valfrey (Eds.), *Learners in a changing landscape. Reflections from a dialogue on new roles and expectations* (pp. 165–186). Florida: Springer. ISBN 978-1-4020-8298-6.
- UNESCO. (2017). Climate Change Education. Available: http://en.unesco.org/themes/educationsustainable-development/cce.
- Vieira, E. (2015). A Participação. Um paradigma para a intervenção Social. Lisboa: Universidade Católica.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Training Teachers Committed to Climate Change Mitigation

Mercedes Varela-Losada, Azucena Arias-Correa and Pedro Vega-Marcote

Abstract The environmental crisis, caused by unsustainable development and an unjust model, requires a global change in a political, social and environmental context. To promote this change we need to redirect Higher Education to train citizens to be able to make responsible decisions and act in a sustainable way. This requires educational initiatives promoted by universities to redirect teacher training towards sustainability. With this objective we present and focus a teacher training proposal based on treating the problems of Climate Change, the climate education and the development of teaching skills. Its purpose is to enable students of the Faculty of Education Sciences, future teaching staff, to participate, individually and collectively, in improving this socio-environmental problem of a local and global nature, which also has a multiplier effect for society in their later professional development. The proposal is based on a holistic and participatory methodology, promoting the development of sustainable skills, participation, information processing, critical thinking and autonomous and informed decision-making using ICTs and a platform providing distance learning. The experience can be the foundation for future proposals in different contexts and for different professional profiles.

Keywords Climate change • Environmental education and sustainability Teacher training • Teaching skills • ICTs

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_18

M. Varela-Losada (⊠) · A. Arias-Correa University of Vigo, Vigo, Spain e-mail: mercedesvare@gmail.com

P. Vega-Marcote University of A Coruña, A Coruña, Spain

Introduction

We are in the midst of a major environmental and human crisis, heightened by a period of unstoppable changes (Worldwatch Institute 2015). This crisis is defined by multidimensional interrelated problems that are not restricted by political barriers (GEO-5 2012), where Climate Change (hereinafter CC) plays a prominent role. Its impacts on the environment and on people are asymmetrical, in such a way that they depend on their skills and on real possibilities of adapting to new situations, where gender, poverty conditions and vulnerability are fundamental factors (UN 2009; IPCC 2014).

Because of this, progress towards Sustainable Development requires new international policies and agreements (Klein 2015), as well as changes in the lifestyles of communities. This is one of the main challenges that the education of the 21st century is faced with (Boff 2011). Therefore, there is a need for education, specifically for Environmental Education (hereinafter EE) that contributes to achieve sustainability and along with it, to reduce problems such as the emission of greenhouse gases.

However, the promotion of sustainable lifestyles is a tremendously complex objective (Stern 2000). After forty years of research in the field of EE, there are still unanswered questions, aspects that require further study and certain gaps (Reid and Scott 2013). During the last few decades, many authors have suggested that EE should be focused towards action, strengthened by critical thinking as an educational ideal from a democratic perspective (Mogensen and Mayer 2005; Jensen and Schnack 2006). People need to be empowered in order to become an informed, capable and environmentally active society (Ferreira 2013). From this perspective, schools must encourage participation, information handling, and free and mindful decision-making.

Therefore, schools need to undergo a transformation process (Tilbury 1995) that encourages an education that addresses the environmental problem; and specifically Climate Change Education for Sustainable Development (UNESCO 2010). Here, because of their direct responsibility and daily contact with students, teachers are a key factor (McKeown and Hopkins 2002).

Teacher Training

In this context, what is required is adequate teacher training that promotes innovation and compromise and seeks ways of guiding student learning based on the development of skills (Vega-Marcote and Varela-Losada 2016). Thus, the competencies that teacher training should pursue in EE focused at sustainability and consequently at mitigating CC are linked to a new model that is being promoted by international organisations in order to respond to the demands of today's society (EU 1999; UNESCO 2010). Its development involves activities connected to reality, to the need for social interaction and to the questioning of models based exclusively on the transfer of knowledge (Stiefel 2008).

A review of the research on the competencies that future teachers should acquire with regard to sustainability and EE provides interesting proposals. Educational actions should seek the development of specific skills that encourage sustainable actions. Wiek et al. (2011) identify five basic sustainable competencies for facing real and complex situations. In the field of teaching skills, Aznar Minguet and Martínez Agut (2013) suggest a series of competencies for educators in the area of sustainability, based on the four pillars of Delors (1997): Learning to know, Learning to do, Learning to live together, and Learning to be. Likewise, Cebrián and Junyent (2015), based on previous proposals suggest a competence framework consisting of: envisioning future/alternative scenarios, contextualizing, working and living with complexity, thinking critically, adopting decisions, participating and acting in favour of change, clarifying values, establishing a dialog between disciplines, and managing emotions. The UNECE (2013), from an international context, defends a more complete and complex proposal through competencies that have a visionary and transforming holistic dimension.

Through this approach, the development of these competencies should result in training teachers who are committed to action, to sustainability and to mitigating CC; teachers who are aware of the need to change our lifestyle and of the importance of creating links with the community to impulse this change (Varela-Losada et al. 2016). Therefore, the institutions that train teachers should provide training that is consistent with its role as transforming agent of the new model of citizenship that society demands (Leal Filho and Pace 2016). However, research reveals that there are major weaknesses in our basic teacher training model with regard to EE and sustainability (Yavetz et al. 2009; García Esteban and Murga Menoyo 2015), and also with regard to CC (Hufnagel 2015; Boon 2016; Herman et al. 2017). Likewise, the barriers and obstacles that teachers must face to implement educational initiatives in this area are documented and can be summarised as follows:

- Institutional barriers related to the ideology and basis of the prescriptive curriculums, lack of financing, and teacher time (Gough 1997; McKeown and Hopkins 2002; Feinstein and Kirchgasler 2015).
- Educational barriers that include insufficient knowledge, lack of training and conflicts between present-day philosophy and school practices (Eurydice 2011; García Esteban and Murga Menoyo 2015; Pérez-Rodríguez et al. 2017).
- Cultural barriers, related to habits, knowledge, beliefs and traditions; of an educational, social, and financial nature, etc., and with the lack of awareness regarding the need for change and attitudes against the school community (Scott and Gough 2003; Sund and Wickman 2011; Pérez-Rodríguez et al. 2017).

To face these difficulties, a number of proposals that contribute to this field have appeared. Some focus on their abilities for teaching EE, such as the proposals by Moseley and Utley (2008) who used a curriculum based on interdisciplinary

hands-on learning, or that of Arreguín-Anderson and Kennedy (2013), who designed an educational proposal based on a program for the preservation of wildlife. And the majority, which focus on the achievement of sustainable competencies and changes in attitudes and habits, such as the one designed by Karpudewan et al. (2012), who use a didactic model focused on the analysis of the economic and social aspects of local and global activities, or the one by Fernández et al. (2016) with a multidisciplinary educational research project. However, what is necessary are more approaches that seek the double purpose of training committed teachers who are autonomous and responsible towards the environment and towards people, and that at the same time have the necessary teaching competencies to promote these same qualities among students.

Similarly, with regard to CC, innovative and educational experiences have been designed and implemented (Niebert and Gropengiesser 2013; Öhman and Öhman 2013; Caird et al. 2015), some of which are focused on teacher training (Varela-Losada et al. 2014; Seow and Ho 2016). All of them contribute to shaping a teacher training framework with regard to this topic, but there is also a lack of initiatives that impulse an understanding of the nature of the science of this global environmental problem and of how to teach it in the classroom (Tugjamba et al. 2016).

Therefore, new educational proposals are needed that contribute to train teachers with sustainable and teaching competencies, who are able to endow it with an innovative character committed with sustainability and the mitigation of CC, such as the one we present below.

A Proposal for Competence Teacher Training on Climate Change

Schools should prepare people to think and understand the world, to make informed decisions and to act as a community in a responsible, sustainable, and democratic manner, in such a way that they can face present-day and future problems. It is a complex process that entails the acquisition of a conceptual type of knowledge and of values, but also of the development of attitudes, aptitudes, and ways of socially interacting, in collaboration and through dialogue (Tilbury 2012). Moreover, the search for sustainability involves a holistic and critical perspective towards today's social and economic models (Vega-Marcote and Varela-Losada 2016).

An EE of these characteristics can only be possible if it relies on teachers who are reflexive and innovative, who know how students learn and what the best methods are for fostering that learning. Therefore, a teacher training model should seek the development of students' meta-cognitive skills (Gunstone 2000), that is to say, those that enable teachers to know what students know and what they should learn to stimulate their learning in a different way. In addition, teachers should understand the holistic nature of environmental situations and place themselves in a

critical paradigm (Varela-Losada et al. 2016). All this represents a profound change in the teaching models of teacher training institutions (Ulls et al. 2010), which should promote that students experience different ways of teaching and learning and take a stance before socio-environmental issues, such as CC.

In this context, the proposal is set out seeking scientific, environmental and climate education, and to do so it is based on the suggestions by authorities in the field of EE focused towards sustainability:

- It uses methodologies built on research on sustainability and the solving of relevant/real/close problems, such as CC, with approaches based on reflecting on the complexity of environmental issues with a globalising perspective of the causes, consequences and possibilities for action. It rests on the assumption that starting off from real issues can stimulate the complementariness between criticism and possibility (Mogensen and Mayer 2005; Vega-Marcote and Varela-Losada 2016; Wals 2007).
- It encourages information literacy, the development of critical thinking, giving rise to the formulation of critical questions, debate, and the analysis of the world through multiple perspectives, taking into account conflicts of interest. It pays special attention to the role of people in the system and the influence of socio-cultural and economic factors in their lifestyles, which contribute to CC (Wals 2007; Frisk and Larson 2011; Kyburtz-Graber 2013; Gifford 2014; Varela-Losada et al. 2016).
- It makes it possible to bring to light models of action and unconscious assumed values, analysing them, highlighting contradictions... encouraging autonomous decision-making that is responsible with the environment and with people and the promotion of sustainable lifestyles and the reduction of greenhouse gases (Elliot 1995; Mogensen and Mayer 2005; Abrahamse et al. 2007; Stern et al. 2014).
- It encourages individual knowledge within a social environment and students' real participation in the process, seeking not only motivation and learning, but also the development of a democratic culture based on dialogue and participation (Lave and Wenger 1991; Wals 2007; Varela-Losada et al. 2016).
- It integrates the community, fosters collaboration with people and the creation of learning networks that favour transfer of learning (Hart 1992; Vosniadou 2001; Wals 2007).
- It involves knowing, experiencing, reflecting and applying innovative methodologies in the context of an EE that is focused at students achieving the proposed knowledge: the basic sustainable and educational competencies that allow them to contribute to the mitigation of CC, through a learning that is contextualised and participative (EU 1999; Vilches Peña and Gil-Pérez 2013; Stern et al. 2014; Tugjamba et al. 2016).

Building on this framework, we have chosen a proposal that is closely linked to the socio-constructivist model, to the theory of activity and development of self-regulating processes (Pujol 2007). Thus, the approach is based on a learning

cycle by Karplus (1977) in such a way that activities are organised in (i) initial exploration activities, (ii) activities for the introduction of new knowledge, processes, concepts, procedures or modelling, (iii) activities for the structuring of knowledge, and (iv) application activities.

Furthermore, this EE that is linked to sustainability and climate education should imply a positive approach to group decision-making, respect for democracy and an understanding of participation processes (Vega-Marcote et al. 2015). Therefore, for the development of this experience, what is adequate is to organise students into small collaboration teams and to use cooperative strategies and dynamics. The final purpose is for students to act as a community that produces and mobilises its own knowledge (Uskola et al. 2010) and fights against CC. The role of teachers is also important, for they must accompany and guide the learning process, providing continuous regulation. Thus, the learning, evaluation, and regulation activities have to be mutually interrelated and coherent.

With this approach, the teaching proposal we present not only seeks a compromise between teachers' Sustainable Development and the mitigation of CC, but also the acquisition of teaching competencies related to EE. Accordingly, matters related to sustainability and CC are addressed on the one hand, while their way of understanding EE is addressed on the other hand, in such a way that these two aspects are complementary and interrelated. Therefore, this experience involves teachers experimenting on their own new ways of learning that are distant from the transmissive model, while learning about sustainability in order to, in due course, be able to reflect critically on the process carried out, seeking the development of the sustainable and teaching competencies described in Table 1.

An aspect that needs to be highlighted is that the process can be carried out face-to-face and online, for the use of ICTs is an important factor in today's world (Roy et al. 2008; Zawacki-Richter and Naidu 2016). In our case, the teaching platform LSM-Moodle [http://eduponte.cesga.es] was used, where students and teachers can upload and look up the most important information for the research process and to carry out tasks in a collaborative manner. In addition, the communication of ideas and debates can be performed virtually through the social network that supplies this platform. The debate is therefore open to all the participants in this social network, not only to the students participating in the action, but also to other students of other subjects for the same university degree. This approach contributes towards students feeling more motivated when carrying out their interventions and brings about the spreading of ideas and conclusions drawn by the students throughout the process. Likewise, this communication phase makes it easier to establish that which was learned and gives rise, as well, to an external evaluation of the work and adequate feedback (Arias Correa et al. 2009).

The proposal consists of a learning cycle on sustainability and CC and a cycle in methodology in EE, which were developed in an integrated manner (see Fig. 1), but that we are presenting here separately to permit a more detailed analysis.

| Teaching competencies related to EE and sustainability* | Sustainable competencies** |
|--|---|
| Understanding why there is a need to transform the educational systems and the way we teach/learn Understanding how to involve students in real issues to improve learning and help them to change effectively Be able to address dilemmas, problems, tensions and conflicts in the classroom, with different perspectives, especially in the interrelation of the scientific, economic and social aspects Be able to create opportunities for the exchange of ideas and experiences from different disciplines/cultures/generations and without prejudices Help students to clarify their own views of the world and those of others through dialogue and to acknowledge that there are alternative frameworks Understand the need to encourage independent and informed decision-making that contributes to the transfer of knowledge to the different contexts and to re-evaluate daily actions Be a mediator and participant in the learning process in such a way that positive relations are established with students Provide student-centred education to promote the development of critical thinking, active citizenship, and participation Be a critical reflexive professional | Systems-thinking, to collectively analyze complex systems across different domains and across different scales, thereby considering systemic features related to sustainability issues and sustainability problem-solving frameworks Anticipatory competence, to collectively analyze, evaluate, and craft rich "pictures" of the future related to sustainability issues and sustainability problem-solving frameworks Normative competence, to collectively map, specify, apply, reconcile, and negotiate sustainability values, principles, goals, and targets Strategic competence, to collectively design and implement interventions, transitions, and transformative governance strategies toward sustainability Interpersonal competence, to motivate, enable, and facilitate collaborative and participatory sustainability research and problem solving |
| | |

Table 1 Competencies that can be acquired through this proposal, with regard to EE and sustainability

**Competencies proposed by Wiek et al. (2011)

Learning Cycle on Sustainability and Climate Change

Our proposal seeks the development of sustainable competencies with the purpose of reducing greenhouse gases. It is a role play that includes a research type of task on CC, put forward in such a way that students can link it to their immediate surroundings. These issues can be approached through methods that structure the activities in accordance with the cycle by Karplus, or with adaptations such as problem-based learning, or project-based work. The key is to always take close-up problems related to the lack of sustainability into the classroom and experience them. In this case we have chosen a role play because of its power to specify values




and promote democratic participation (Todd 2009; Öhman and Öhman 2013), as well as providing an extraordinary experience on the situation presented. Thus, the proposal poses a debate regarding the installation of an alternative energy platform and its contribution towards the mitigation of CC, where the cooperation teams allocate different roles based on the institutions and social agents that are involved in the problem.

The didactic sequence follows the same structure described in the previous section. The learning cycle on sustainability begins by introducing into the class-room various news items related to CC (especially the causes and consequences of their immediate surroundings), that students must compare and interrelate in such a way that encourages the formulation of questions and the raising of doubts. The role play begins with an item of news on the installation of a new alternative energy plant in the area, giving rise to a reflection on the different people and interests involved. In this way, the proposal of simulating the adoption of a decision on this new plant on the surroundings and the assumption of the different roles identified (Local government, Civic Association for the Defence of Clean Energy, Union of Spanish Petrol Companies, Community of Farmland Owners, Nuclear Safety Board, etc.) is presented.

With the help of cooperative strategies, the research questions that are to serve as a driving force for seeking information are established. Here it is fundamental to encourage the analysis of the situation, taking into account the Science-Technology-Society-Environment interrelations through matters such as: causes and consequences of CC, possible ways of addressing the problem (of a techno-scientific/social transforming nature), solution through the production of wind/solar/nuclear energy, advantages and disadvantages, consequences, etc. This starts off a team search and it encourages the critical use of information, the consulting of experts and the joint preparation of educational field trips. The information gathered needs to be restructured and subsequently synthesised collaboratively, where each part involved must prepare its grounds based on the role assigned, giving rise to the analysis of the information collected, and the explanation of the beliefs and values that are behind each stance.

Prior to the debate, a reflection should be encouraged on certain fundamental issues:

- Is the use of alternative energies a good solution? Is it enough to solve the problem?
- What role do we play in the solution to the problem? What is our behaviour with regard to the energy problem?
- Are we aware of the attitudes/values behind them? How do the political, socio-cultural, and economic factors affect our behaviour?
- Are social transformation and a change in the present-day economic model necessary?

The learning cycle culminates with a debate and consensual and reasoned decision-making, based on the difficulties and priorities for action that are addressed not only by the issue set forth, but also by our individual responsibility and that of our community towards the problem. It is also very enriching to hold the debate and show its conclusions through a social network like the one provided by the educational platform LSM-Moodle, which makes it possible to open the discussion to other people. Other possibilities for sharing these conclusions are to host conferences, set up web pages, post videos on You Tube, etc.

Finally, a shared evaluation has to be executed through co-evaluation, where evaluation rubrics should be used. It is also convenient to reflect on the learning process, reviewing what has been learned and how our original ideas have evolved.

Learning Cycle on Environmental Education for Sustainability and the Mitigation of Climate Change

As we have already pointed out, the proposal has been set forth in such a way that teachers acquire first-hand experience of learning styles that differ from the traditional educational model (Vilches Peña and Gil-Pérez 2013), in order to encourage their reflection on the process they have just carried out. The purpose of this is to develop teaching competencies (see Table 1) that promote the mitigation of CC.

Consequently, at the beginning of the process students have to reflect on what they know and what they think they know about an EE that makes it possible to change lifestyles (reducing greenhouse gases). A brainstorming session where these ideas are contrasted and where questions are posed can help to promote research on the topic.

Then, while the learning cycle on Sustainability and CC (described in the above section) is taking place, students are required to record in a diary their analysis and evaluation, from a didactic point of view, on everything that takes place in each

phase. The contents of the team diaries are then shared in such a way that the students can evaluate their experiences and get feedback.

After carrying out this experience, students are asked to globally analyse it to decide if it is an adequate experience to use in their future classrooms. Here it is necessary to provide a reflection on the different teaching models we can use during the learning process for this environmental topic (CC) that make it possible to contrast one's own ideas with the proposal, where the tendency to reproduce the teaching models experienced is critically analysed (Garmendia et al. 2014). With the purpose of supporting the analysis, it is crucial to foster a grounded reflection on matters such as:

- What should the aim of an EE (focused on sustainability and on mitigating CC) be?
- What characteristics should it have?
- What are the obstacles of addressing it in the classroom?
- What methodological directions should be followed?
- What contents and competencies related to this topic are prescribed in the curriculum?

For its substantiation, students must carry out different tasks: seek and manage information, carry out a curriculum-based analysis, consult experts and visit schools that work with sustainability and the reduction of gases. Thus, during this phase an individual educational framework is created, through the review of different knowledge. The analysis of the experience makes it easier to understand this framework and to evaluate learning, which should provide a new joint assessment of the entire process.

Finally, students can carry out other implementation activities, such as designing a team educational proposal based on CC, which can be later experimented with during the training process that culminates their university studies.

Implementation of the Proposal

The implementation of the proposal was developed in a positive way. An initial analysis, based on the data collected during the experience, showed that there is an evolution in learning. This can be seen in the diaries, which show how students' early ideas about how to learn and how to teach changed throughout the process. Being accustomed to a transmissive model, initially they did not reckon that their learning would benefit from the action. At the end of the experience, the future teachers highlighted the importance of using motivational methodologies based on globalized approaches which favour interaction and participation, and where students go from being spectators to becoming actors.

Regarding CC, the future teachers began to make more complex interpretations on the issue of power, showing a greater understanding of the interaction between factors (social, environmental, scientific, technological, etc.) and sustainability.

After the educational intervention, the students pointed out that this proposal had helped them to become more reflective and critical, to have a better understanding of the socio-environmental issue and to raise their awareness regarding their capacity to contribute towards its improvement and transformation.

Conclusions

There is a need to boost the transition towards schools and communities that are informed of and aware of our planet's socio-environmental deterioration, who are capable of participating in sustainable actions, individually or collectively, in order to mitigate a problem such as CC. This transformation requires an education that is based on holistic methodologies that are close to reality, that encourage participation, information handling, the development of critical thinking and autonomous and informed decision-making. It should not only provide information on the environment, but it should question the unconscious values and models that are behind our lifestyle, to produce and use energy from our communities.

Throughout this process, teachers are a key factor, whose training has a multiplying effect on society through their future professional career. Therefore, we must seek educational models that contribute towards training teachers who are reflexive and committed to climate education, who have the necessary skills to educate citizens that have these same qualities, who are capable of facing today's socio-environmental challenges as well as those to come, such as the reduction of greenhouse gases.

This proposal that we present here and support addresses the issue of CC, assuming the principles mentioned above and originating from the importance of undergoing innovative educational experiences that allow students to widen and find new approaches that promote an education based on the climate with the purpose of acting in order to reduce emissions and to acquire the competencies typical of their teacher training, according to present-day trends in this field. In addition, its approach allows for online development, taking advantage of the possibilities that are offered by the new technologies in the educational field (Zawacki-Richter and Naidu 2016).

To conclude, we would like to highlight that experiences based on this approach and on its different variations have been evaluated and have provided positive results (Varela-Losada et al. 2014; Araujo-Álvarez et al. 2015; Vega-Marcote et al. 2015), which are in line with the initial analysis that we show here. Therefore, this proposal could be the basis for future experiences, adapted, and used in different contexts in such a way that it can be built upon as progress is made in teacher training research and development.

References

- Abrahamse, W., Steg, L., Vlek, C., & Rothengatter, T. (2007). The effect of tailored information, goal setting, and tailored feedback on household energy use, energy-related behaviors, and behavioral antecedents. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 27, 265–276.
- Araujo-Álvarez, R., Lorenzo-Rial, M. A., Varela-Losada, M., & Álvarez-Lires, M. M. (2015). Educando en desarrollo sustentable: El índice de género y medioambiente. *Opción Revista de ciencias humanas y sociales, 31*(1), 36–54.
- Arias Correa, A., Arias Correa, D., Navaza, V., & Rial, D. (2009). O traballo por proxectos en infantil, primaria e secundaria. Santiago de Compostela: Xunta de Galicia.
- Arreguín-Anderson, M., & Kennedy, K. (2013). Deliberate language planning in environmental education: A CRT/LatCrit perspective. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 44(1), 1–15.
- Aznar Minguet, P., & Martínez Agut, M. P. (2013). La perspectiva de la sostenibilidad en la sociedad del conocimiento interconectado: gobernanza, educación, ética. *Teoría de la Educación, Educación y Cultura en la Sociedad de la Información, 14*(3), 39–60.
- Boff, L. (2011). Ecología: grito de la tierra, grito de los pobres. Barcelona: Trotta.
- Boon, H. J. (2016). Pre-service teachers and climate change: A stalemate? Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 41(4), 39.
- Caird, S., Lane, A., Swithenby, E., Roy, R., & Potter, S. (2015). Design of higher education teaching models and carbon impacts. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 16(1), 96–111.
- Cebrián, G., & Junyent, M. (2015). Competencies in education for sustainable development: Exploring the student teachers' views. *Sustainability*, 7(3), 2768–2786.
- Delors, J. (1997). La educación encierra un tesoro: informe para la UNESCO de la Comisión Internacional sobre la Educación para el Siglo Veintiuno. París: Unesco.
- Elliott, J. (1995). Environmental education, action-research and the role of the school. In *Environmental learning for the 21st century*. Paris: OECD.
- EU. (1999). *The Bologna declaration of 19 June 1999*. Brussels: Joint Declaration of the European Ministers of Education. European Union.
- Eurydice. (2011). La enseñanza de las Ciencias en Europa: políticas nacionales, prácticas e investigación. Brussels: Agencia Ejecutiva en el ámbito educativo, audiovisual y cultural.
- Feinstein, N. W., & Kirchgasler, K. L. (2015). Sustainability in science education? How the Next Generation Science Standards approach sustainability, and why it matters. *Science Education*, 99(1), 121–144.
- Fernández, M., Alférez, A., Vidal, S., Fernández, M., & Albareda, S. (2016). Methodological approaches to change consumption habits of future teachers in Barcelona, Spain: Reducing their personal Ecological Footprint. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 122, 154–163.
- Ferreira, J. (2013). Transformation, empowerment, and the governing of environmental conduct: Insights to be gained from a "history of the present" approach. In R.B. Stevenson, M. Brody, J. Dillon & A.E.J. y Wals (Eds.), *International handbook of research on environmental education* (pp. 63–73). New York: Routledge.
- Frisk, E., & Larson, K. L. (2011). Educating for sustainability: Competencies & practices for transformative action. *Journal of Sustainability Education*, 2, 2151–7452.
- García Esteban, F. E., & Murga Menoyo, A. (2015). El profesorado de educación infantil ante el desarrollo sostenible. Necesidades formativas. *Enseñanza and Teaching*, *33*(1), 121–142.
- Garmendia, M., Fuentes, J. I. B., Elosegi, K. Z., & Aranzábal, J. G. (2014). Proyecto de formación del profesorado universitario de Ciencias, Matemáticas y Tecnología, en las metodologías de Aprendizaje Basado en Problemas y Proyectos. *Enseñanza de las ciencias*, 32(2), 113–129.
- GEO-5. (2012). *Fifth global environment outlook: Summary for policy makers*. United Nations Environment Programme: Nairobi.

Gifford, R. (2014). Environmental psychology matters. Psychology, 65(1), 541-579.

Gough, A. (1997). Education and the environment: Policy, trends and the problems of marginalisation. Melbourne: The Australian Council for Educational Research Ltd.

- Gunstone, R. (2000). Constructivism and learning research in science education. In D. Philips (Ed.), *Constructivism in education: Opinions and second opinions on controversial issues*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Hart, H. A. (1992). *Children's participation: From tokenism to citizenship, innocent essays.* Florence: UNICEF.
- Herman, B. C., Feldman, A., & Vernaza-Hernandez, V. (2017). Florida and Puerto Rico secondary science teachers' knowledge and teaching of climate change science. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 15(3), 451–471.
- Hufnagel, E. (2015). Preservice elementary teachers' emotional connections and disconnections to climate change in a science course. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 52(9), 1296– 1324.
- IPCC. (2014). *Climate change 2014: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability*. Intergovernmental panel of climate change. http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg2/.
- Jensen, B. B., & Schnack, K. (2006). The action competence approach in environmental education. *Environmental Education Research*, 12, 471–486.
- Karplus, R. (1977). Science teaching and the development of reasoning. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 14(2), 169–175.
- Karpudewan, M., Ismail, Z., & Roth, W. (2012). Promoting pro-environmental attitudes and reported behaviors of Malaysian pre-service teachers using green chemistry experiments. *Environmental Education Research*, 18(3), 375–389.
- Kyburtz-Graber, R. (2013). Socioecological approaches to environmental education and research: A paradigmatic response to behavioral change orientations. In R. B. Stevenson, M. Brody, J. Dillon, & A. E. J. Wals (Eds.), *International handbook of research on environmental education* (pp. 23–32). NewYork: Routledge.
- Klein, N. (2015). This changes everything: Capitalism vs. the climate. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Leal Filho, W., & Pace, P. (2016). *Teaching education for sustainable development at university level.* Berlin: Springer.
- McKeown, R., & Hopkins, C. (2002). Weaving sustainability into pre-service teacher education programs. In W. Leal Filho (Ed.), *Teaching sustainability at universities: Towards curriculum* greening (pp. 251–274). Frankfurt: PeterLang.
- Mogensen, F., & Mayer, M. (2005). Eco-schools: Trends and divergences. A Comparative Study on ECO-school development processes in 13 countries. Viena: Austrian Federal Ministry of Education, Science and Culture.
- Moseley, C., & Utley, J. (2008). An exploratory study of preservice teachers' beliefs about the environment. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 39(4), 15–30.
- Niebert, K., & Gropengiesser, H. (2013). Understanding and communicating climate change in metaphors. *Environmental Education Research*, 19(3), 282–302.
- Öhman, J., & Öhman, M. (2013). Participatory approach in practice: An analysis of student discussions about climate change. *Environmental Education Research*, 19(3), 324–341.
- Pérez-Rodríguez, U., Varela-Losada, M., Lorenzo-Rial, M., Vega-Marcote, P. (2017). Tendencias actitudinales del profesorado en formación hacia una Educación Ambiental transformadora. *Psicodidáctica*, 22(1). doi:10.1387/RevPsicodidact.15608.
- Pujol, R. (2007). Didáctica de las ciencias en la Educación Primaria. Madrid: Síntesis.
- Reid, A., & Scott, W. (2013). Identifying needs in environmental education research. In R. B. Stevenson, M. Brody, J. Dillon, & A. E. J. Wals (Eds.), *International handbook of research* on environmental education (pp. 427–439). New York: Routledge.
- Roy, R., Potter, S., & Yarrow, K. (2008). Designing low carbon higher education systems: Environmental impacts of campus and distance learning systems. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 9(2), 116–130.
- Scott, W., & Gough, S. (2003). Sustainable development and learning: Framing the issues. London: Routledge Falmer.

- Seow, T., & Ho, L. C. (2016). Singapore teachers' beliefs about the purpose of climate change education and student readiness to handle controversy. *International Research in Geographical* and Environmental Education, 25(4), 358–371.
- Stern, P. C. (2000). Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56, 407–424.
- Stern, M. J., Powell, R. B., & Hill, D. (2014). Environmental education program evaluation in the New Millennium: What do we measure and what have we learned? *Environmental Education Research*, 20(5), 581–611.
- Stiefel, B. M. (2008). Competencias básicas: hacia un nuevo paradigma educativo. Madrid: Narcea.
- Sund, P., & Wickman, P. O. (2011). Socialization content in schools and education for sustainable development. A study of teachers' selective traditions. *Environmental Education Research*, 17 (5), 599–624.
- Tilbury, D. (1995). Environmental education for sustainability: Defining the new focus of environmental education in the 1990s. *Environmental Education Research*, *1*, 195–212.
- Tilbury, D. (2012). Higher education for sustainibily: A global overview of commitment and progress. In *Higher education in the world*. Hampshire: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Todd, S. (2009). Toward an imperfect education: Facing humanity, rethinking cosmopolitanism. Boulder: Paradigm.
- Tugjamba, N., Yembuu, B., Gantumur, A., & Getsel, U. (2016). Policy provisions and teachers' needs on climate change education for sustainable development in Mongolia. *International Journal of Asian Business and Information Management*, 7(4), 36–48.
- Ulls, M., Martínez Agut, M. P., & Aznar Minguet, P. (2010). Análisis de la introducción de la sostenibilidad en la enseñanza superior en europa: compromisos institucionales y propuestas curriculares. *Revista Eureka sobre enseñanza y divulgación de las ciencias*, 7, 413–432.
- UN. (2009). Gender and climate change. United Nations Development Programe. http:// contentext.undp.org/aplaws_publications/2087989/Resource_Guide_Gender_CC.pdf.
- UNECE. (2013). *Empowering educators for a sustainable future*. Geneva: United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/esd/ESD_Publications/Empowering_Educators_for_a_Sustainable_Future_ENG.pdf.
- UNESCO. (2010). Climate change education for sustainable development. Paris: UNESCO. http:// unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0019/001901/190101E.pdf.
- Uskola, A., Maguregi, G., & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2010). The use of criteria in argumentation and the Construction of Environmental Concepts: A university case study. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32(17), 2311–2333.
- Varela-Losada, M., Pérez-Rodríguez, U., Álvarez-Lires, F. J., & Álvarez-Lires, M. (2014). Desarrollo de competencias docentes a partir de metodologías participativas aplicadas a la Educación Ambiental. *Formación Universitaria*, 7(6), 27–36.
- Varela-Losada, M., Vega-Marcote, P., Pérez-Rodríguez, U., & Álvarez-Lires, M. (2016). Going to action? A literature review on educational proposals in formal Environmental Education. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(3), 390–421.
- Vega-Marcote, P., & Varela-Losada, M. (2016). Basic teacher training oriented toward sustainability: Why and how to carry it out today? In W. Leal Filho & P. Pace (Eds.), *Teaching education for sustainable development at university level* (pp. 83–96). Berlin: Springer.
- Vega-Marcote, P., Varela-Losada, M., & Álvarez-Suárez, P. (2015). Evaluation of an educational model based on the development of sustainable competencies in basic teacher training in Spain. *Sustainability*, 7(3), 2603–2622.
- Vilches Peña, A., & Gil-Pérez, D. (2013). La ciencia de la sostenibilidad en la formación del profesorado de ciencias. *Revista Eureka sobre enseñanza y divulgación de las ciencias*, 10, 749.
- Vosniadou, S. (2001). How children learn. Brussels: International Academy of Education.
- Wals, A. (Ed.). (2007). Social learning towards a sustainable world. Wageningen: Wageningen Academic.

- Wiek, A., Withycombe, L., & Redman, C. L. (2011). Key competencies in sustainability: A reference framework for academic program development. *Sustainability Science*, 6(2), 203– 218.
- Worldwatch Institute. (2015). State of the world 2015. Washington: The Worldwatch Institute.
- Yavetz, B., Goldman, D., & Péer, S. (2009). Environmental literacy of pre-service teachers in Israel: A comparison between students at the onset and end of their studies. *Environmental Education Research*, 15(4), 393–415.
- Zawacki-Richter, O., & Naidu, S. (2016). Mapping research trends from 35 years of publications in Distance Education. *Distance Education*, *37*(3), 245–269.

Supporting Sustainable Policy and Practices for Online Learning Education

Diogo Casanova, Linda Price and Barry Avery

Abstract This chapter describes an approach to the adoption of online learning in Higher Education. It is particularly relevant for readers interested in Online and Distance Learning initiatives that enact an agenda of climate change education through being sustainable and future proof. We present a pathway for ensuring sustainable educational initiatives, drawing from research that identifies crucial factors in this endeavour. In particular, it addresses how the adoption of Online and Distance Learning can be used as a catalyst for changing the pedagogical paradigm of universities and how this change may impact on the development of new policies and guidelines. In this chapter we report on how policy, guidelines and professional development can be designed for sustainable and consistent learning design and teaching practices.

Keywords Sustainability · e-Learning policy · Technology enhanced learning Higher education · Learning design

Background

It was bought as a 'tool' and now finds itself in the guise of a somewhat wobbly arrow of change. In practice, changing the way thousands of teachers teach, learners learn, innovation is promoted and sustainable change in traditional institutions is achieved across hundreds of different disciplines is a demanding endeavor that will not be achieved by learning technologies alone. It involves art, craft and science as well as technology (Salmon 2005, p. 201).

D. Casanova (🖂)

Learning and Teaching Enhancement Centre, Kingston University, Kingston Hill Campus, London, UK

e-mail: Diogo.Casanova@kingston.ac.uk

L. Price

B. Avery

Faculty of Business, Kingston University, Kingston Hill Campus, London, UK

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Academic and Organisational Development, University of Bedforshire, Luton Campus, Luton, UK

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_19

Fundamental questions about the sustainability of online educational practices and processes have not lessened in the ten years since Salmon highlighted the complex nature of these changes. The proliferation of bring your own device policies (BYOD), tablets, smartphones, social media and Learning Management Systems has exacerbated changes in academia. In order to use technology wisely and, more importantly, sustainably, we need to develop principled frameworks that guide effective policies and practices. This is particularly important if we, as educationalists, are to lead the way in enacting a sustainable approach to online education that demonstrates how changing practice can help contribute to addressing climate change.

Salmon (2005) proposes several factors that are paramount for sustainability: Innovations need to

- be situated at the macro institutional level;
- have appropriate financial support;
- be aligned with institutional aspirations for teaching excellence; and,
- have institutional structures that promote wider adoption.

The variety of stakeholders within institutions need to understand that online learning projects are part of core student learning processes that are inextricably linked with teaching excellence and institutional policies and aspirations. Online learning has often been perceived as being disconnected from pedagogical processes; those more familiar with new trends in educational technologies are often 'accused of using them regardless of whether or not they are pedagogically effective, and even in ignorance of the long tradition of pedagogical evidence and thought' (Beetham and Sharpe 2007, p. 3).

Online learning initiatives are often small-scale projects supported through external or internal funding, driven by bottom-up approaches. These start with great enthusiasm but are often abandoned when they exhaust their resources (Trentin 2007). They fail to achieve a wider and more sustainable life for two reasons. First the scope has limitations and cannot easily translate to scale (Stepanyan et al. 2013). Secondly, without embedding and aligning the initiative within current institutional processes from conception, it is difficult to maintain and sustain beyond the lifetime of the project (Kirkwood and Price 2016).

Recent Horizon Reports (Johnson et al. 2014) present further evidence that acceptance of online practices in higher education (HE) is being impeded by a lack of explicit sustainability practices; a factor required for better adoption. They point to several issues:

- low level skills among staff who are not effectively supported in develop appropriate skills;
- lack of policies that reward and recognise effective teaching and learning practices;
- lack of dissemination of the practices from small scale projects; and,
- lack of perceived relevance.

These factors present challenges that HE institutions need to address in order to capitalise on our ever-decreasing resources and to use them wisely, now and in the future.

Technology as a tool or as concept usually fails when it is not supported by institutional vision and policies (Kirkwood and Price 2016). Currently institutional guidelines and procedures in relation to online learning typically focus on assessment practices or academic misconduct. Much work is still to be done in order to adopt a holistic institutional approach that can support online learning *sustainably*. The focus is still on technology and efficiency rather than 'craft' and 'science' as Salmon (2005) discusses.

Despite the considerable HE investment in technology, little research has demonstrated how it has impacted on wider institutional policy and practices (Angelo 1993; Breen et al. 2001). Much of the research is driven by small case initiatives, and typically their influence upon the institutional as a whole is still limited (Price et al. 2015). More frequently observed are the localised implementations, which usually lead to fragmentation of practices across the institution and a 'disintegrated' student experience (Kirkwood and Price 2016). While large-scale projects do exist, they are often presented as a new technical solution that seam-lessly replaces previous obsolete ones with better efficacy and more simplicity. Little discussion focuses on the underpinning processes, robustness or inadequacies of the current solutions. This has a serious implication for how resources can be shared, used wisely and how economics of scale can be achieved.

A recent meta analyses of sixty-four empirical papers describing small scale e-Learning initiatives (McGill et al. 2014) identifies the critical factors for the continuation of e-learning activities beyond locally funded projects. At least twenty of those projects were fully discontinued after three years of the publishing of the papers. The authors argue that the literature is fertile in describing research-grounded initiatives, but few have been shown to be effective in the long term. The challenge lies in scaling-up from small, locally funded projects to wider, institutionally-sustainable ones.

The greatest challenge in advancing online learning institutionally is to go beyond the noble, and often disconnected, educational technology innovations developed by TEL enthusiasts. Typically, local small-scale initiatives tend to lead to wide institutional variation. They also often operate outside the underlying institutional infrastructure and thus become marginalised or fall foul of continued or sustained IT support (see, for example, UCISA, Walker et al. 2014). Such TEL initiatives, although well intended, are often designed for specific circumstances, frequently detached from the pragmatic practices of staff. Equally, they can also be difficult to implement in other contexts. Although these initiatives may potentially be linked with main institutional agendas and policies, they often fail to be explicit. Hence academic staff fail to understand their relevance for their daily activities: again, a waste of resources.

What has become clear is the need for sustainable approaches to developing online learning that link with underlying institutional infrastructure and policy, whilst also providing students with a stake in their educational opportunities and experiences. Coherent and maintainable structures for supporting changes in the longer term need to involve art, craft and science (Salmon 2005) as well as the technology if we are to use our resources wisely.

In this chapter, we present an institutional approach for the sustainability of online learning. We specifically present the adoption of a new Virtual Learning Environment (VLE) as a catalyst for sustainable change in a UK University. We illustrate how the use of a framework from conception, enables a holistic institutional approach. This encompasses the complex relations between institutional, teaching and learning perspectives, and fully engages different stakeholders in the provision of long-term scaffolding for sustainable online learning. The 'Succeed by Canvas' project from its inception was developed as an agent of change and a vehicle through which to develop new policies and practices that not only enhance the overall quality of teaching and learning but also address the effectiveness of strategy in providing sustainable and resource-sensitive education.

The participatory approach presented here began with a 'top-down' approach and then evolved to include 'bottom-up' approaches so as to enable a sense of ownership and involvement from all stakeholders.

Knowing the Context and the Stakeholders

Implementing sustainable online learning changes in a HE institution is difficult and complex. Institutions are not heterogeneous and encompass a large range of stakeholders (Figs. 2 and 3) (Brown 2014; Kirkwood and Price 2016). Historically, HE institutions have often been formed from a conglomerate of smaller institutions, which have their own idiosyncrasies and identities. Hence a top-down senior management-driven approach, may not be welcomed or completely adopted. Likewise, bottom-up changes encounter difficulty due to lack of senior management support. These are typically initiated by small groups of 'early adopters' led by innovative individuals. While the innovations themselves may be valuable, they fail to gain the institutional traction and engagement required with the critical mass in order to achieve institutional-level adoption (Brown 2013; Marshall 2010).

Research has shown that achieving effective online learning adoption has been more difficult than policy-makers had foreseen (Walker et al. 2014). This has been manifested not only at an institutional level, but also at programme, course and module level, where module design and assessment policies are not congruent with each other or with a course or programme as a whole (Price et al. 2017). Concomitantly, it is not a surprise that a third of management bodies in US HE institutions, providing programmes with online learning and teaching, believe that the learning outcomes of these interactions have a lower quality when compared with learning outcomes of traditional face-to-face teaching (Allen and Seaman 2013). Online learning is still seen as an adjunct to learning and teaching, and is used mainly as a passive and unidirectional way of transmitting content and/or to

support administrative tasks, such as online submissions or the delivery of announcements. Latchem (2014) refers to the plethora of meanings of e-Learning by suggesting a continuous line of evolution: at one end there is the translation of didactic texts or presentations to a digital format with little opportunities for engagement, and at the other there are technology situated communities of students operating in a peer-based collaboration supporting learning and knowledge creation. The UK HE sector is still on the prior stage of this line of evolution. Walker et al. (2014) found that online learning is still largely confined to accessing web-based resources or digital repositories, e-submissions, and the use of software for detecting plagiarism. Less than 25% of academics design student-centred learning strategies with asynchronous collaborative working tools, peer-assessment or e-portfolios. Similar findings in a recent in-depth analysis of blended learning programmes found that the VLE was mainly being used to distribute resources and to manage assignments submissions (van der Sluis and May 2015). Teachers in these programmes are not reflecting on the different characteristics of online delivery, but rather focus on transposing face-to-face practices to the institutional VLE. Typically, the designers of online learning 'teach' how they were taught, attempting to replicate face-to-face teaching online (Englund et al. 2016; van der Sluis and May 2015). This is unsurprising considering staff often lack support, evidence-based research knowledge or appropriate institutional contextualization (Price and Kirkwood 2014). Hence considerable resource is wasted in preparing online learning designs that lack effectiveness and engagement for the learner.

A further highly influential factor in how academics practice is the underlying context within which they work (Fanghanel 2007). The departmental and institutional culture is highly influential. For example, if an institution has a research-intensive culture, academics are more likely to concentrate on their research as a more definitive means to gain promotion (Kirkwood and Price 2016). This inadvertently focuses attention away from teaching (Boyer 1990) with the result that engagement with online learning interventions becomes more difficult.

There is much discussion in HE about improving the quality of students' learning. However, strategies to improve this quality are typically assumed and uncontested (Coffield 2008). This is more acute in online learning where the body of knowledge is less mature and comprehensive (Kirkwood and Price 2016). As Bates (1995) argued more than twenty years ago, the problem is not with the technology per se but our hesitation in embracing the complexity and different stakeholders that are involved in it. Although daunting, the requirements of diverse stakeholders with their different perspectives, varying departmental and institutional contexts, and variations in academic ideology and teaching practice have to be addressed (Fanghanel 2007). Price (2014) argues for a more holistic approach that acknowledges the inter-related factors of the different stakeholders. Kirkwood and Price (2016) propose a model for exploring this complexity as a way to understand the influences and competing drivers from these stakeholders when developing a TEL project in HE (Fig. 1). This is in order to consolidate efforts and waste less



Fig. 1 Factors influencing teaching and learning with technology in HE: a framework (adapted from Kirkwood and Price 2016) made available in this chapter with the authorisation of the authors

resource in the pursuit of better online provision. The four main areas are the teacher's academic context; the student's academic context; the departmental context; and the institutional context.

The teacher's academic context focuses on their individual conceptions of teaching. This is how teachers individually perceive teaching; reflecting how they were taught and how they empirically learn what works during teaching (Prosser et al. 2003; Trigwell et al. 1999; Trigwell and Prosser 2004). Academic identity relates to an academic's own *persona* and overall academic profile. This encompasses teaching, research/scholarship, management, and leadership (McLean and Price 2016; McLean 2012). Teaching practices are manifested in real scenarios and these are directly related to how they use technology in their teaching (Englund et al. 2016). The teacher's academic context strongly influences the students' context but is highly swayed by both their institutional and departmental context. Similar relationships are created between other stakeholders: this requires a combined and comprehensive approach to online learning to engender sustainability. Keppell et al. (2010) suggest a more participative approach to implement online learning, referring to a 'distributive leadership'. This is where a project is jointly managed by more or less equal participants or stakeholders.

Evidence suggests that the more distributed and comprehensive online learning is, the more capable it will be of representing the different stakeholders and influences of the institution, and thus its identity and values. We believe that this is a first step in ensuring the sustainability of online learning.

What Is Sustainability and How Can It Be Manifested in Online Learning?

The term sustainability spans many disciplines, although it is usually more closely associated with environmental science and economics. Sustainability has been considered from philosophical, historical, economic, political, social, and cultural perspectives (Stepanyan et al. 2013). The term 'sustainable' is defined by the Cambridge online dictionary (http://dictionary.cambridge.org) as: 'the ability to continue at a particular level for a period of time'. While definitions vary, there appears to be a common agreement on continuity over time, implying both permanence and consistency with the same degree of efficacy. In education the discourse around sustainability has been developed in two broad directions with clear distinctions being made between education for sustainability and climate change and sustainability of education (Stepanyan et al. 2013).

Whilst education for sustainability and climate change focus on environmental sustainability through educational solutions and curriculum design (Azeiteiro et al. 2015), sustainability of education aims to promote the notion that changes are lifelong and promote consistent efficacy. Gunn (2010) supports this by arguing 'sustainability' should not only promote practices that lead to teaching and learning benefits, but should also guarantee the existence of potential that goes beyond the use in the original contexts. Trentin (2007) agrees, adding that if a project has the characteristics required to integrate itself effectively and efficiently in the wider institutional context, then the more sustainable and innovative it will be. He argues that innovation and sustainability are linked and that online learning is less innovative if it is not sustainable. Both authors agree that online learning needs to be integrated into the institution's policy and needs. This will create wider adoption and an increased sense of relevance for all stakeholders. This requires the development of institutional policy (Czerniewicz and Brown 2009) that embraces online learning, as strategic, providing therefore appropriate financial support (Nichols 2008). Gunn (2010) argues that three conditions need to be met for online learning to be considered sustainable:

- A Learning Design that supports the overall design of the programmes of study. It should be developed through a proof-of-concept stage, on the basis of evidence, and has to be judged by stakeholders as beneficial to teaching and learning.
- Online learning concepts, designs, systems and resources have to have proven potential to be adopted and adapted for use beyond the original development environment, i.e. to the wider context of the HE institution.
- Maintenance, use, and future development of online learning must not be dependent upon the few individuals who created them so that future developments are not compromised by their absence.

We propose five levels that influence online learning sustainability that directly affect personal and institutional motivation (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Levels influencing online learning sustainability

Similar to Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs, each of the levels have to be accomplished to provide foundational support for the next level. So, for example, without proper financial support it would be difficult to provide the necessary technical instructional support and this will affect both institutional and personal motivation.

Financial Support

This is the primary factor for supporting different developments and underpins the recruitment of the implementation and development team (Nichols 2008; Salmon 2005). Different stakeholders have to perceive the project as having appropriate financial support as this indicates institutional commitment and engagement with the project. Sustainable projects have to acknowledge the transition that will be required when the initial project funding ceases; institutions must provide financial and structural support for business as usual after project completion. If this financial support is missing, the initiative will not be sustainable.

Instructional and Technical Support

Online learning initiatives need to be supported throughout the development, implementation and maturity phases, especially during the latter when resources and funding may be constrained (Bates and Sangra 2011; Salmon 2005). Building on a proper proof-of-concept stage that evidences the quality of the initiative (Gunn 2010), pedagogical and technical support have to be provided through training activities, helpdesk, online documentation and one-to-one support

(technical, instructional or librarian support). This support also signals the investment in IT infrastructure and a commitment to providing reliable support for online learning (Åström 2008; Bacsich 2009; MacDonald and Thompson 2005; Marshall 2012; Masoumi and Lindström 2012; McPherson and Nunes 2008; Selim 2007; Sims et al. 2002; Sun et al. 2008).

Institutional Ownership

Online learning initiatives need institutional support for success. Ownership needs to transition from the project-initiators to the institution in order to instantiate better and more institutionally-driven support for policies and guidelines and wide adoption (Bates and Sangra 2011; Salmon 2005). Alignment of the project with institutional policies and regulations are important steps for sustainability. Policies around assessment and feedback, academic misconduct and copyright and quality assurance (Åström 2008; Bacsich 2009; Marshall 2010; Masoumi and Lindström 2012; McPherson and Nunes 2008) all have to be adapted and evolved to include online learning perspectives. Importantly, these policies consolidate a common understanding across the institution of best practice.

Institutional Impact

The ultimate goal of online learning is to lead to institutional impact (Stepanyan et al. 2013; Trentin 2007). This may result from the improvement of institutional practices or from changes in institutional policies. This only happens when there is institutional adoption of the initiative. However, it is important that this impact is acknowledged, publicised and supported, through narratives to different stakeholders. This reiterates that the project is supported and embraced, and allows stakeholders to reflect on the direction of online learning initiatives.

Stakeholders' Ownership

This is the final step of sustainability. This is where actual practitioners begin building their own conceptions and usage of online learning and evolving habits and dependencies that ensure its continuance. Successful and sustainable integration requires institutional impact evident in ownership and adoption by the stakeholders. Stakeholders need to embrace the relevance of online learning in their own practice and accept ownership of the project by transforming what is provided into their own reality and needs (Gunn 2010; Trentin 2007).

The next section provides a specific example of a wider institutional adoption of online learning based on the five-level model, and describes the practicalities required for each level.

From Top-to-Bottom and from Bottom-to-Top—A Bi-Directional Approach to Sustainability

The 'Succeed by Canvas' is a participatory approach for online learning adoption at an institutional level that began with a 'top-down' approach and evolved to a 'bottom-up' approach. This enabled ownership and involvement from all the relevant stakeholders. This required engagement from the university's senior management team, the Associate Deans of Learning and Teaching, Faculty representatives, Central Departments, TEL enthusiasts and students in a shared, institutional-wide project.

The 'Succeed by Canvas' initiative aimed at changing how the university was using online learning by introducing a new VLE, Canvas, which provided new features to support policies enabling its roll-out. The university is a middle-size in the UK with approximately 17,000 students and offers mainly Blended Learning programmes, combining face-to-face teaching with online delivery and assessment. The university comprises five faculties, each divided into Schools and Departments. It had been using BlackBoard as its VLE since 2002. Although staff were familiar with BlackBoard, evidence showed that they had developed limited active learning and student interaction (van der Sluis and May 2015). Student feedback showed significant difficulties in locating resources, assessment and feedback. They also complained about the lack of consistency in how modules were presented, even within the same programme, with low accessibility and usability. As both online assessment and learning materials storage were seen as the two main VLE features, both in the university and in the wider UK HE sector (van der Sluis and May 2015; Walker et al. 2014) it underscored less effective learning designs and a lack of transparency. The evidence also showed that current approaches to supporting the teaching and learning processes were fragmented, uncoordinated, and in some cases labour-intensive. The use of the VLE was not guided by over-arching university principles, but had evolved through well-meaning individual and uncoordinated enthusiasts initiatives. Although the university supported around 17,000 students, economies-of-scale had not been achieved and resources were being wasted on supporting this distributed and autonomous instantiation.

The VLE initiative was used as 'Trojan horse' (Trentin 2007) to implement a set of new learning design principles and policies to provide a more sustainable and better quality experience of online learning. This underpinned with evidence from research into appropriate institutional policy and goals that would help achieve sustainability and better quality student learning. The 'Succeed by Canvas' project is structured into three levels: the TEL Steering Group; The Learning Design Group and the Stakeholders Group (see Fig. 3).

The TEL steering group is chaired by the Pro Vice-Chancellor (Learning and Teaching) and met every month. It comprised the Associate Deans for Learning and Teaching in each Faculty, the Heads of Central Departments (Academic Development; Information and Technology Services, Library, Services for Students, Academic Registry and Equality and Diversity), and the TEL team. This group was responsible for approving new policy and guidance and escalating issues beyond their remit to the university Educational Committee.

The Learning Design Group consisted of the TEL team, Associate Professors representing each faculty, and Graduate Assistants, former university students. The Learning Design Group was responsible for listening to stakeholders, and based on this feedback, designing, developing and implementing changes approved by the TEL Steering Group. The stakeholders level was comprised of teaching staff who were trained during the implementation, TEL enthusiasts, students and the Faculty Associate Deans for Learning and Teaching. This level was responsible for feeding in concerns and new ideas to the Learning Design team.

The structure of the project provides an indication of the different stakeholders and how they can be involved in a wider institutionally-supported project. After the implementation phase the project entered the maturity stage with a set of structures



Fig. 3 Presents the streams of communication and representation during the project. Lighter grey background represents the structure in place after the implementation phase

that were designed to maintain the technical and training support needed for sustainability. Faculties are still represented by their Super-Users and Associate Deans and the TEL structure responds to the challenges and decisions coming from users to the TEL steering group. This structure engages staff at all levels and provides a structure and mechanism for resolving future challenges; this gives the sense of relevance and ownership, shown in Fig. 2, which are necessary for online learning sustainability (McGill et al. 2014).

Using Fig. 2 as a reference we now present how the 'Succeed via Canvas' initiative is meeting the five different levels influencing sustainability.

Financial Support

The first step in gaining financial support is to develop a sound business case. This needs to encompass the scope of the project, the rationale, the risks and impact, quality and evaluation, a project plan and a budget. While it is time consuming initially to construct such a lengthy and detailed document it serves several very important functions. First it enables clarity around what will be delivered, how, and the associated costs. Secondly it provides a clear statement of why the project is needed, what it will achieve, and how it advances the university's objectives. The business case is a very important step in initiating the project as an under-resourced project can fail to achieve its goals and potentially do more harm that good. The business case is also a vehicle for engaging top-level stakeholders across the university, including Faculties, IT support, student support services, library services and estates. It allows all these important groups to understand how the project will affect their areas and how the university will move forward as-a-whole with the project. The business case needs to be circulated to all relevant committees in the university for scrutiny and agreement. While this can be a lengthy procedure, often involving critique and revisions, once it has been reviewed, agreed and signed off by all relevant committees, there is institutional buy-in and support for the project as it moves forward. This is the cornerstone of initiating sustainable online learning.

Instructional and Technical Support

A successful business case enables the required resources for implementation to be in place and enables identification of the necessary technical and instructional support. In the 'Succeed by Canvas' project this resulted in the creation of a new team comprising a reformed TEL team with six academic lecturers responsible for instructional support; Teaching Graduates to ensure a student voice and to provide technical and admin support; and seconded senior academic staff (faculty champions), liaising with Faculties Associate Deans, and representing disciplinary interests in the development of online learning. The TEL team was responsible for guaranteeing sustainability as they ensured that developments made the best use of resources both now and in the future through maintaining their links to the different Faculties.

Institutional Ownership

Ownership is a fundamental step for sustainability, both institutionally and individually. In this project there was a clear commitment to involve the whole university. The transition to a new VLE represents a big change, in terms of existing procedures (Learning and Teaching, Assessment and Ouality Assurance), and involves different stakeholders, who see this transition an opportunity to change their practices or to express their point of view. The TEL steering group guarantees a space for senior stakeholder management engagement and active engagement in changes. It also enables the TEL team to communicate operational activities and to build specific strategies across Departments and Faculties that respond to those challenges. At the lower levels, Super-user groups meetings, both academic and admin, also provide vehicles of communication of ground-level activities. They are able to communicate their concerns and needs, which, if needed, are escalated back to the TEL steering group. Finally, Student-user groups report on how implementations of the new VLE are affecting their experience as learners. This provides a more holistic approach to make more effective use of precious university resources.

Institutional Impact

Although the instantiation of this online learning project is still on-going, a significant impact we are already experiencing is the change of policies and practices, which is connected to the institutional ownership of the project. Academic Registry, Library and Learning services, and the Assessment task Group, have all seen in this project an opportunity for collectively advancing their agendas by implementing new policies and procedures that impact on institutional and individual practices. The manifestation of these changes evidence the impact of the project and led to its sustainability after its developmental phase, as they are coupled with institutional policy and regulations. We also have preliminary data that suggests this approach provides a better understanding of the value of a VLE in enhancing students learning, staff awareness of best practices for online learning, and an increase in the implementation of rubrics for better online assessment.

Stakeholders' Ownership

Stakeholder ownership is a crucial component for engaging staff in the successful sustainable implementation of online learning. Staff are already embracing the frameworks for sustainability while also engaging with the opportunities in Canvas to tailor the learning designs for their particular student's needs. We have embraced staff suggestions for enhancement in the online learning design templates, adding in new components and functionalities, creating new content and exploring new solutions. These stakeholder requests demonstrate ownership and engagement and offer real opportunities for sustaining online learning in the future. The user groups have guaranteed that individual voices are continuing to be heard and that contributions to the project development ensure a on-going co-ownership that helps the whole institution in achieving sustainable online learning.

Final considerations

One of the important aspects of developing any online learning innovation is having a vision for sustainability from the outset. This is fundamental to ensuring that planned use of technology becomes embedded into the university's normal processes and practices. The move to 'business as usual' requires a systems approach to development that holistically addresses institutional needs whilst also understanding the delicate and complex eco system around sustainable online education that exist within universities.

Any higher education institution that aims to promote awareness in climate change education should begin by leading from the front. In other words, they should enact the principles of addressing climate change in their own institutional initiatives. Sustainable online education should be instigated as a strategic and institutionally-led initiative that engages all stakeholders if this goal is to be achieved. Salmon (2005), Gunn (2010) and Trentin (2007) agree that stakeholders need to understand the relevance of the implementation to their own practice and engage with owning the project by transforming what is provided into their own reality and needs. Providing sustainable online education is the responsibility of the whole university and it is only by engaging all university stakeholders in this venture that we can hope to address the issues of climate change in online education.

References

- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2013). Changing course: Ten years of tracking online education in the United States. ERIC.
- Angelo, T. A. (1993). A Teacher's Dozen: Fourteen general research-based principles for improving higher learning in our classrooms. *American Association for Higher Learning Bulletin*, 45(6), 3–13.

- Åström, E. (2008). *E-Learning quality: Aspects and criteria for evaluation of e-Learning in higher education*. Retrieved from http://www.eadtu.nl/e-xcellencelabel/files/0811R.pdf.
- Azeiteiro, U. M., Bacelar-Nicolau, P., Caetano, F. J. P., & Caeiro, S. (2015). Education for sustainable development through e-learning in higher education: Experiences from Portugal. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 106, 308–319.
- Bacsich, P. (2009). Benchmarking e-learning in UK Universities—the methodologies. In T. Mayes, D. Morrison, H. Mellar, P. Bullen, & M. Oliver (Eds.), *Transforming higher* education through technology—enhanced learning (pp. 90–106). The Higher Education Academy.
- Bates, A. T., & Sangra, A. (2011). Managing technology in higher education: Strategies for transforming teaching and learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bates, T. (1995). The future of learning. In *First presented at the minister's forum on adult learning*. Edumonton/Alberta (November).
- Beetham, H., & Sharpe, R. (2007). An introduction to rethinking pedagogy for a digital age. In H. Beetham & R. Sharpe (Eds.), *Rethinking pedagogy for a digital age: Designing and delivering e-Learning* (pp. 1–10). Oxon: Routledge.
- Boyer, E. L. (1990). *Scholarship reconsidered: Priorities of the professoriate*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Breen, R., Lindsay, R., Jenkins, A., & Smith, P. (2001). The role of information and communication technologies in a university learning environment. *Studies in Higher Education*, 26(1), 95–114. doi:10.1080/03075070123233.
- Brown, S. (2013). Large-scale innovation and change in UK higher education. *Research in Learning Technology*, 21.
- Brown, S. (2014). You can't always get what you want: Change management in higher education. *Campus-Wide Information Systems*, *31*(4), 208–216. doi:10.1108/CWIS-07-2013-0030.
- Coffield, F. (2008). Just suppose teaching and learning became the first priority. Holborn Centre, London: Learning and Skills Network. ISBN 978-1-84572-708-6.
- Czerniewicz, L., & Brown, C. (2009). A study of the relationship between institutional policy, organisational culture and e-learning use in four South African universities. *Computers & Education*, 53(1), 121–131.
- Englund, C., Olofsson, A. D., & Price, L. (2016). Teaching with technology in higher education: Understanding conceptual change and development in practice. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 36(1), 13–87. doi:10.1080/07294360.2016.1171300.
- Fanghanel, J. (2007). Local responses to institutional policy: A discursive approach to positioning. *Studies in Higher Education*, 32(2), 187–205. doi:10.1080/03075070701267244.
- Gunn, C. (2010). Sustainability factors for e-learning initiatives. *ALT-J*, *18*(2), 89–103. doi:10. 1080/09687769.2010.492848.
- Johnson, L., Adams Becker, S., Estrada, V., & Freeman, A. (2014). Horizon Report: 2014 higher education edition. Austin: Texas: The New Media Consortium. Retrieved from http://www. nmc.org/pdf/2014-nmc-horizon-report-he-EN.pdf.
- Keppell, M., O'Dwyer, C., Lyon, B., & Childs, M. (2010). Transforming distance education curricula through distributive leadership. ALT-J, 18(3), 165–178.
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2016). *Technology enabled learning: Handbook*. BC Canada: Commonwealth of Learning.
- Latchem, C. (2014). Quality Assurance in Online Distance Education. In O. Zawacki-Richter & T. Anderson (Ed.), Online distance education: Towards a research agenda (p. 311). Athabasca University Press.
- MacDonald, C. J., & Thompson, T. L. (2005). Structure, content, delivery, service, and outcomes: Quality e-learning in higher education. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 6(2).
- Marshall, S. (2010). Change, technology and higher education: Are universities capable of organisational change? *Research in Learning Technology*, 18(3), 179–192.

- Marshall, S. (2012). Improving the quality of e-learning: Lessons from the eMM. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 28(1), 65–78.
- Masoumi, D., & Lindström, B. (2012). Quality in e-learning: A framework for promoting and assuring quality in virtual institutions. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 28(1), 27–41.
- McGill, T. J., Klobas, J. E., & Renzi, S. (2014). Critical success factors for the continuation of e-learning initiatives. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 22, 24–36.
- McLean, N. (2012). Researching academic identity: Using discursive psychology as an approach. International Journal for Academic Development, 17(2), 97–108. doi:10.1080/1360144X. 2011.599596.
- McLean, N., & Price, L. (2016). The mechanics of identity formation: A discursive psychological perspective on academic identity. In J. Smith, J. Rattray, T. Peseta, & D. Loads (Eds.), *Identity* work in the contemporary university: Exploring an uneasy profession (Vol. 1, pp. 45–57). Rotterdam, The Netherlands: SensePublishers.
- McPherson, M., & Nunes, J. (2008). Critical issues for e-learning delivery: What may seem obvious is not always put into practice. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 24(5), 433– 445. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2729.2008.00281.x.
- Nichols, M. (2008). Institutional perspectives: The challenges of e-learning diffusion. British Journal of Educational Technology, 39(4), 598–609.
- Price, L. (2014). Modelling factors for predicting student learning outcomes in higher education. In D. Gijbels, J. Richardson, & V. Donche (Eds.), *Learning patterns in higher education in the* 21st century: Dimensions and research perspectives (pp. 56–77). Routledge.
- Price, L., Casanova, D., & Orwell, S. (2017). Modeling an institutional approach to developing Technology Enabled Learning: Closing the gap between research and practice. In *INTED2017* proceedings (pp. 5009–5018).
- Price, L., & Kirkwood, A. (2014). Informed design of educational technology for teaching and learning? Towards an evidence-informed model of good practice. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 23(3), 325–347. doi:10.1080/1475939X.2014.942749.
- Price, L., Kirkwood, A. T., & Richardson, J. T. E. (2015). Mind the gap: The chasm between research and practice in teaching and learning with technology. In J. Case & J. Huisman (Eds.), *Researching higher education: International perspectives on theory, policy and practice* (pp. 227–245).
- Prosser, M., Ramsden, P., Trigwell, K., & Martin, E. (2003). Dissonance in experience of teaching and its relation to the quality of student learning. *Studies in Higher Education*, 28(1), 37–48.
- Salmon, G. (2005). Flying not flapping: A strategic framework for e-learning and pedagogical innovation in higher education institutions. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 13(3), 201–218. doi:10.1080/09687760500376439.
- Selim, H. M. (2007). Critical success factors for e-learning acceptance: Confirmatory factor models. *Computers & Education*, 49(2), 396–413. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2005.09.004.
- Sims, R., Dobbs, G., & Hand, T. (2002). Enhancing quality in online learning: Scaffolding planning and design through proactive evaluation. *Distance Education*, 23(2), 135–148. doi:10.1080/0158791.
- Stepanyan, K., Littlejohn, A., & Margaryan, A. (2013). Sustainable e-Learning: Toward a coherent body of knowledge. *Educational Technology & Society*, 16(2), 91–102.
- Sun, P., Tsai, R., Finger, G., Chen, Y., & Yeh, D. (2008). What drives a successful e-Learning? An empirical investigation of the critical factors influencing learner satisfaction. *Computers & Education*, 50(4), 1183–1202. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2006.11.007.
- Trentin, G. (2007). A multidimensional approach to e-learning sustainability. *Educational Technology*, 47(5), 36–40.
- Trigwell, K., & Prosser, M. (2004). Development and use of the approaches to teaching inventory. *Educational Psychology Review*, 16(4), 409–424.
- Trigwell, K., Prosser, M., & Waterhouse, F. (1999). Relations between teachers' approaches to teaching and students' approaches to learning. *Higher Education*, *37*, 57–70.

- van der Sluis, H., & May, S. (2015). Tag to track? Analytics to measure the impact of educational policies. *Brookes E-Journal of Learning and Teaching*, 7(2).
- Walker, R., Voce, J., Nicholls, J., Swift, E., Ahmed, J., Horrigan, S., & Vincent, P. (2014). 2014 Survey of Technology Enhanced Learning for higher education in the UK. Oxford. Retrieved from http://www.ucisa.ac.uk/~/media/groups/dsdg/TELSurvey2014_29Sep2014.

Sustainable Mobility in Higher Education Through Virtual Attendance

Esteban Vázquez-Cano and M.ª Luisa Sevillano García

Abstract In this chapter, we present various proposals for improving student mobility on their journeys to and from university. Specifically, we describe a student service delivered by the virtual attendance system implemented by the National Distance-Learning University (UNED) which is not only a reference in terms of support for the teaching-learning process, but also enables the reduction of student journeys to UNED-associated centres and university campuses, thus reducing both the air and noise pollution caused by the use of motorized vehicles. Furthermore, we analyze from the perspective of social networking analysis (SNA), the network of interactions obtained in online discussion forums about the benefits of using virtual attendance at University. The results show that students' perceptions about this system enables the reduction of private motor vehicles, contributes to the elimination of mobility wastes and fosters academic networking and collaborative work at university.

Keywords Sustainable mobility · Virtual attendance · Higher education AVIP classrooms

Introduction

Mobility is one of the main problems affecting modern cities today, and this is not just a question of traffic congestion or poor communication networks but also the impact of transport on the environment and society, in particular motorized vehicles. Sustainable mobility means satisfying the needs of the current generation

Faculty of Education, UNED, 28040 Madrid, Spain e-mail: evazquez@edu.uned.es

M.ªL. Sevillano García e-mail: mlsevillano@edu.uned.es

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations* in *Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_20

E. Vázquez-Cano (🖂) · M.ªL. Sevillano García

without compromising the ability to satisfy the needs of future generations. It suggests that the existing paradigm ought to be more flexible, particularly if the sustainable mobility agenda is to become a reality. The intention is to design cities of such quality and at a suitable scale that people would not need to have a car (Banister 2008: 74). Sustainable mobility is therefore the mobility model that enables movement with minimal environmental and territorial impact. Nowadays, mobility has serious repercussions for the quality of life of a city's inhabitants. The problems caused by urban mobility have specific features: they affect all citizens, especially the most vulnerable and disadvantaged, and in some cases these negative effects extend from the urban area to the periphery and beyond; secondly, they are serious and widespread due to their direct and indirect effect on the quality of life; thirdly, they intervene extensively in people's daily lives, and yet they generate only meagre and incoherent criticism, a sure sign of society's acquiescence, which is paradoxical given the social outrage expressed in demonstrations on issues whose collective ramifications are far less-on drugs, workplace accidents...-which seem to arouse a greater sense of intolerance. According to a recent report by the World Health Organization (WHO 2016), reducing exhaust emissions from cars would not only avoid millions of deaths but also cut the incidence of heart disease and respiratory illnesses such as asthma. More than 80% of European inhabitants are exposed to levels of contamination that exceed WHO recommendations, which is the equivalent of the average citizen losing 8.6 months of life expectancy, not to mention suffering from illnesses and a reduction in the quality of life.

Urban congestion in Europe costs in the region of 100 million Euros a year, 1% of EU GDP, according to the European Commission. It also costs lives: 482,000 premature deaths from lung cancer and respiratory and cardiovascular diseases in 2012 in the EU, according to WHO calculations. "It has been demonstrated that the excessive use of cars results in a disproportionately big risk for human life, habitability and wellbeing, and not just in our cities but worldwide". In this sense, the EU has proposed a package of measures on climate change and energy that sets new and ambitious goals for 2020. In relation to 1990 figures, the EU is committed to:

- Reducing greenhouse gas emissions (GGE) by 20% (30% if an international accord is reached).
- Saving 20% in energy consumption by generating greater energy efficiencies; in addition, each country must ensure that 10% of transport needs are covered by biofuels.
- Boosting renewable energy sources to cover 20% of the energy market.

In this context, it is vital that as many institutions as possible contribute to alleviating the serious effects of pollution in our cities. For this reason, Spanish universities have put forward proposals to minimize the environmental impact of their students as they commute to and from campus. These initiatives include promoting the use of bicycles, public transport, hybrid and electric vehicles and shared car rides. The reason of developing this case study on Spanish Universities is derived from the necessity of meeting Kyoto target. Although Spain has made significant progress, its greenhouse gas emissions in 2009 were about 30% higher than in 1990, substantially short of its Kyoto objective which was to cap growth at 15% between 2008 and 2012. Spain's growth in CO₂ emissions between 1990 and 2009 was among the highest in the OECD (OECD 2011). So any initiative as the implementation of the sustainable mobility strategy at Spanish Universities could help to reduce emissions in the transportation sector, which is an increasingly important source. For this reason, in this chapter, we present various proposals for improving student mobility on their journeys to and from university. Specifically, we describe a student service delivered by the virtual attendance system implemented by the National Distance-Learning University (UNED) which is not only a reference in terms of support for the teaching-learning process, but also enables the reduction of student journeys to UNED-associated centres and university campuses, thus reducing both the air and noise pollution caused by the use of motorized vehicles.

Environmental Pollution and Sustainable Mobility in Student Trips to and from University

The mobility of students as they head to campus, like all journeys to and from work or for trips of a personal nature, all add to a country's levels of contamination. Various studies in Spain have shown that students' favourite means of transport to campus is their own car, which is true in 60% of cases (Ecologistas en Acción 2007).

In Spain, the sustainable use of private vehicles is minimal. Spain's fleet of private cars currently stands at around 28 million, six times higher than all the cars in China and India, whose joint population numbers around 2.4 billion, 60 times bigger than Spain. The USA's 190 million vehicles for 275 million people is equally disproportionate; applying this ratio worldwide would mean some 4 billion cars on the road, seven times more than the 560 million already in circulation (Santamarta 2002).

Transport adds to greenhouse gas emissions, accelerating climate change and the destruction of the ozone layer due to the presence of chlorofluorocarbons (CFC), or their substitutes (HCFC, HFC), in the foam used to pad car seats and in vehicle air-conditioning systems. The automobile destroys the ozone in the stratosphere, where its presence is most important. But here below, in the troposphere, where we least need it, motorized vehicles are responsible for producing large quantities of tropospheric ozone when nitrogen oxides react with hydrocarbons in sunlight; this damages people's health, affects crops, trees and plants in general, and also causes 8% of greenhouse gas emissions. Transport, together with coal-fired power stations, are the main causes of acid rain due to the emission of nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide. The noise caused by traffic comes mainly from engines and the contact of the tyres on the road surface. Trucks, motorbikes and buses make the most noise,

which starts to become unpleasant to the human ear at 55 dB. Between 40 and 80% of the people living in so-called developed countries (OECD) reside in areas that register noise levels that exceed 55 dB and between seven and 42% of the population (more than 130 million people) live in areas with unacceptable noise levels that are above 65 dB. Spain is second only to Japan as the loudest industrialized country, and the first in the EU: 74% of the population in Spain are exposed to noise levels superior to 55 dB on the A-weighted curve (referring to the sounds most audible to the human ear) and 23% have to cope with noise levels above 65 dB (Santamarta 2002).

According to the WHO, reducing current atmospheric pollution levels in big cities would save more than three million lives a year from now until 2030. So, a new mobility model based on sustainability is needed, together with a strong, efficient and competitive proposal for public transport use that would enable significant reductions in the use of the private car. This requires designating separate lanes exclusively for buses, stricter law enforcement (to penalize double parking, parking on traffic light areas, and in pedestrian or public transport zones), new tram lines, promoting non-motorized transportation (walking, cycling) for short trips, programmes to improve access for wheelchair users and people with restricted mobility, and car sharing schemes.

Spanish universities that are aware of the problem are actively promoting initiatives such as carpooling, whereby two or three people commute in a single private vehicle normally during the rush hour to work or educational centre. For example, the University of Valencia has launched a ride-sharing scheme they claim will save 186,000 L of fuel a year, which means not just a significant cut in CO₂ emissions but considerable cost savings too. Students at the University of Lleida have created a Facebook page, which now has more than 2,000 members, that regularly publishes the routes and schedules of those willing to share their car to go to and from the campus. With the aim of promoting car sharing among students and teachers at the University of Girona (UdG), the university's Centro Easy (I + D), which is part of the Tecnio network, together with the UdG's Green Office, developed the Fes Edit platform (for electronic hitch-hiking) at the end of 2011. Both the website and the mobile app link drivers to potential passengers to commute along the same route. The initiative, which arose to satisfy a growing need among students in Girona, has extended to three other universities in Catalonia, the Universidad Rovira i Virgili (Tarragona), the Universidad Politécnica de Cataluña (UPC) and the Universidad de Barcelona (UB), and to other universities across Spain.

As well as car sharing, other university initiatives to help the environment include promoting bike riding for getting to and from campus. One such example is the Autonomous University of Madrid's CibiUAM (Centro Integral de la Bicicleta de la Universidad Autónoma de Madrid) plan, which aims to encourage bicycle use as a means of daily transport and to raise awareness of sustainable urban mobility. The centre offers students a set of services and activities such as bicycle lending, secure areas for parking bicycles, a bicycle shop with repair facility, a workshop where users can repair their own bikes, a second-hand market for bikes and accessories, changing rooms and courses on bicycle mechanics. Quantitative data on CibiUAM use show that it has been a big success among students, but its most impressive achievement has been to encourage students to use their own bikes to get to campus, since there are now far more private bikes in use at the university than there are available in the bike lending scheme. More than 4,750 people have used the centre's services since it was set up in 2009, and 850 members of the university are CibiUAM card holders (48% students, 46% teachers and researchers, and 6% administrative staff and others).

With the rise in the use of electric cars, several universities in Spain have begun to take an interest by installing free recharging posts in order to encourage the use of this type of vehicle. Electric cars represent a saving of 50% in consumption since a tariff of $2.50 \in$ is sufficient to pay for an electric car to cover 100 km, compared to a conventional diesel car which needs 3.8 L to travel the same distance at a cost of $5.25 \in$.

Such initiatives should go hand-in-hand with university actions to inform, instruct and persuade students regarding mobility, as well as dissuade them from environmentally unfriendly travel habits. Strategies aimed at convincing students to commute more sustainably could focus on providing detailed information on travel alternatives, and the economic advantages and benefits to the environment of their actions in cutting contaminating emissions. Health experts could give talks to drivers on the benefits of walking and cycling instead of taking the car. The government of the Community of Madrid has undertaken an initiative to raise environmental awareness among university students with its "University Caravan for Sustainable Mobility". This project encompasses six public universities in the Madrid area, and organizations such as the Fundación Movilidad and the regional transport authority. It gathers student volunteers to organize a caravan of non-contaminating vehicles driven by the volunteers themselves, mainly on bicycles, which follows a route around the city that takes in various university campuses, and they perform activities aimed at encouraging other students to reflect on the sustainability of the current mobility model.

In Europe, awareness of sustainable mobility is on the rise and one clear indicator of this is the "U-MOB LIFE" (http://2017bcn.u-mob.eu/es/) project that aims to set up a network for the exchange and transfer of knowledge on good mobility practices among European universities. In the next five years, a consortium consisting of Novotec, the Polytechnic University of Krackow, the Erasmus University of Rotterdam, the University of Bergamo, the Autonomous University of Barcelona and the Fundación Equipo Humano will work together by integrating their broad experience in the fields of sustainable mobility, communication and teaching.

U-MOB LIFE's aims are:

- To raise awareness of the need to reduce CO₂ emissions arising from daily commutes to and from university by staff and students, and the role of universities in educating the new generations on this issue.
- To create and consolidate a European University Network for Sustainable Mobility capable of transferring good practices in this field.

- To communicate and disseminate knowledge of good mobility practices among university communities throughout Europe.
- To define and promote the role of the mobility manager, as the person responsible for implementing good mobility practices at each university.
- To define and implement good practices across European university campuses in order to reduce their level of emissions.
- To promote the development of sustainable mobility policies by public authorities and transport companies.

The contribution of the universities towards alleviating the effects of contamination caused by mobility is fundamental, as is the opening up of spaces for learning that respect people's health and the environment. Measures that can be adopted by these institutions not only relate to greater sustainability in terms of the means of transport used but also in their removal as a contaminating factor. The potential of technology today can simulate face-to-face classroom teaching and learning through what we have termed "virtual attendance" (Vázquez-Cano et al. 2013), thus strengthening learning methodologies and, by extension, reducing the pollution caused by student commutes to and from university.

The National Distance-Learning University and the AVIP System

Spain's Open University (UNED) is the largest distance-learning body in Europe and one of the largest in the world, with more than 300,000 students, 1,300 teachers and more than 6,000 tutors. Its distance-learning system combines ICT with personalized attention for students through a central site in Madrid and a network of over 60 associated centers across Spain and four continents (South and North America, Europe, and Africa). Open University students need continuous support during their knowledge construction process and, for this purpose, UNED tutors produce optional face-to-face workshops every seven days to guide students in their self-learning processes in which they incorporate new knowledge in their daily personal, academic and professional lives. This tuition, adapted to the needs of the European Higher Education Area (EHEA), was organized using blended learning methodology via an online learning platform called "aLF" and a variety of digital resources for networking through the Regional Campus. In this context, technology specialists at UNED recently developed a program called ATECA (Educational Technology Architecture for the Associated Centers) with the help of European "FEDER" funds. The objective was to strengthen "virtual attendance", which involves creating classrooms by videoconferencing via synchronous IP ("AVIP-Classrooms"), enabling the associated centers to deliver tutoring and mentoring services to geographic areas that were previously beyond reach. This means that the student does not have to commute to the associated centre and can keep up with his/her classes via any digital device and from any place location, thus minimizing the effect on the environment since no commute is necessary. The tool combines high-end videoconferencing with low-end web-conferencing and smart board-based learning. It also enables resource manipulation, besides developing digital content repositories in a way that allows the use of virtual attendance within the EHEA in a blended learning environment. The new AVIP classroom system allows almost the same types of interaction in distance learning as in traditional face-to-face learning scenarios (Dennen et al. 2007; Chou and Min 2009; Rehm 2009; Hurtado and Guerrero 2011; Chickerur and Kumar 2011).

To support tutoring and to create a common ICT-mediated learning environment, these services require efficient interactivity through video, audio and educational content of the highest quality, and in this sense it is important to use the visual language effectively (Fombona 2008). This interactivity is achieved through proprietary communication software developed at UNED, called "AVIP Classrooms Level 1 + Audiovisual IP". Aided by this video-conferencing system and with tutor support, UNED generates shared workspaces to minimize training requirements and to extend the tutoring services nationwide at a reasonable cost. AVIP Classrooms are organized on two levels:

- Level 1: AVIP classrooms, equipped with videoconferencing systems and interactive whiteboards using Multipoint Control Units (MCU) that enable simultaneous connectivity to centers and classrooms.
- Level 2: (Capture sessions [seminars, tutorials...]): Content is transmitted from classrooms and online conference rooms for storage and delayed live broadcast.

The AVIP (AudioVisual over IP) tool provides "virtual attendance"; that is, students and tutors can access the classroom activities of any center from any center or classroom. This facility can be developed "live" (online) for broadcasting seminars or classes at scheduled times, and for "on replay" (off-line), through access to information on demand (VOD), along with related documentation that may have been stored on the same server.

This technology facilitates robust interpretation of blended learning, which promotes social presence with the benefits of online teaching and learning (Kumar and Benbasat 2002; Shin 2002). It further enables exploration of learning designs which utilize social processes in promoting understanding of users' social motivation, improving social affordances of telecommunications systems, and in enhancing research of social cognition, interpersonal communication and theories of mind (Biocca et al. 2003; Lee and McLoughlin 2010; Vázquez-Cano 2011; Vázquez-Cano and Sevillano 2012; Vázquez-Cano and López Meneses 2012).

Virtual Attendance: More Than Blended Learning

Blended learning is favored in teaching and learning environments where there is an effective integration of different modes of delivery, models of teaching and styles of

learning as a result of adopting a strategic and systematic approach to using technology in combination with the best features of face-to-face interaction (Tu and McIsaac 2002; Krause 2007). According to Garrison and Kanuka (2004), the simplest model of blended learning "is the thoughtful integration of classroom face-to-face learning experiences with online learning experiences", which aims to make the best use of a synchronous face-to-face situation and the asynchronous, text-based Internet. Typically, this means traditional face-to-face teaching or lecturing with additional online materials and learning assignments, using different learning management systems, such as Moodle or other digital platforms. Thus, from the blended learning point of view, social software provides interesting opportunities for supporting collaborative learning (Ferdig 2007; Brindley et al. 2009; Conole 2010). However, researchers have approached this concept from different perspectives. The three most commonly mentioned definitions documented are as follows:

- Combining instructional modalities (or delivery media) (Singh and Reed 2001; Orey 2002).
- 2. Combining instructional methods (Driscoll 2002; Rossett 2002).
- 3. Combining online and face-to-face instruction (Reay 2001; Young 2002; Sands 2002; Rooney 2003; Ward and LaBranche 2003).

The new system of audiovisual attendance, in comparison to the usual blended learning systems, improves both task performance and perceived affordances. Virtual attendance generates social presence in one aspect: "it involves the degree to which media are capable of making users perceive other users' sociability, warmth, sensitivity, personality and closeness in a mediated communication situation." Others interpret the concept in different ways: "the feeling that others are involved in the communication process" (Whiteman 2002: 6); "the degree to which a person feels 'socially present'" (Heeter 2003: 340); "the degree of person-to-person awareness" (Leh 2001: 10); "the degree of person-to-person awareness" (Tu 2002: 1662); "the sense of being present in a social encounter with another person" (McLellan 1999: 40), and "the degree to which participants are able to project themselves affectively within the medium" (Garrison 1997: 6).

As Whiteman (2002: 8) states, "people feel more comfortable around us when they believe we share a kinship and common values". When the environment lacks social presence, the participants see it as impersonal and, as a result, the amount of information shared with others decreases (Leh 2001; Tallent-Runnels et al. 2006). The overall goal of creating social presence—online or face-to-face—in any learning environment is to create a level of comfort where people feel at ease around the tutor and other participants. Failing this, the learning environment cannot be fulfilling or successful for either instructors or learners.

VideoTutoring Model Over IP: AVIP Classrooms 1 and 1+

The AVIP classroom structure is organized in one of two modes: Classrooms AVIP (Level 1 and Level 1+) or online tutoring (Level 2+). These classrooms allow synchronous teaching and tutoring at different locations.

AVIP Classrooms (Level 1+)

Level 1 is provided with high-end videoconferencing over an interactive whiteboard (PDI) in associated center classrooms. The goal is to conduct tutoring classes simultaneously in several physically separate classrooms. The content offered can be "live", which necessarily requires the student and tutor to be in an AVIP classroom or in streaming "off-line". The videoconferencing equipment includes items such as *Polycom* or *Tandberg*. Videoconferencing technology is built up with ISDN or Internet (with sufficient bandwidth guaranteed). Interactive whiteboards also require an Internet connection to Network-UNED for interconnection with others. The most widely used interactive whiteboard tool is the "online whiteboard" which allows connectivity between whiteboards of different manufacturers. This type of synchronous tool 2.0 is characterized by the following features:

- It is possible to create whiteboard rooms.
- Each room supports a maximum of eight participants.
- Access to each room requires a password to prevent entry of unauthorized persons into the system.
- All students can interact with the board, and if someone creates a new page, everyone else can view and save the page as PDF with annotations for future reference.
- "Document viewer" is available to enable documents for presentation to be uploaded.
- Tutors' presentations can be downloaded to different AVIP classrooms.

The main objective of this new technology architecture is to offer the user a teaching-learning environment that ensures "virtual attendance". It is also portable and versatile without sacrificing audio and video quality. This virtual attendance is achieved through empowerment of the following aspects:

- Audio: For communication among multiple users, it is imperative to transmit and receive audio without defects, micro-cuts, return-audio, echo, noise, etc.
- Video: The high-definition video quality offered by AVIP classrooms Level 1 is difficult to achieve with any other type of equipment. However, high-definition video may not always be necessary for simple interactivity.
- Content: Besides video and audio, one fundamental requirement of the AVIP tool is interactive content sharing. This content can be images, office documents, notes on a blank page or document, desktop sharing, etc.

For equipping classrooms AVIP 1+, UNED has adopted multi-platform and technology policies, meaning that the choice of equipment is restricted to the best possible software to complement the tools 2.0, prioritizing quality, interoperability, ease of use and affordability. The basic equipment in the design of these new classes is as follows:

- Computer
- Projector
- Webcam
- · Peripheral Room audio with echo cancellation
- Interactive Whiteboard.

Connectivity between videoconferencing equipment can be established in two ways, depending on the number of participants: *Point to point*: between two distant locations.

Multipoint: People participating in videoconferencing are at three or more locations. To conduct a multipoint videoconference, at least one MCU (Multipoint Control Unit) is required, which can be a unit that is integrated or external.

The sessions in the AVIP Classroom can be recorded in high quality (HD), including signal capture, videoconferencing equipment (H.323) and graphics that come from the PC (presentations, web board), generating a video in FLV format (Flash Video), which can then be played via streaming. Thus, UNED's teaching and learning processes are developed according to four parameters: face-to-face tutoring, virtual tutoring, blended learning and distance learning. Figure 1 illustrates the relationship between them.



Fig. 1 UNED model of distance learning

UNED has chosen this model in order to meet the demands placed on teaching within the EHEA, and it has adapted its VLE, called aLF, with web conferencing functions to fulfill the demands of virtual attendance. All activities, tests and exams done in AVIP are transferred automatically to aLF in order to assess and orientate the students' learning progress, and so that all students' profiles and activities can be seen by each professor at the UNED central site in Madrid. The differences between the AVIP system and others are: these capabilities convert AVIP into a flexible tool that combines aLF and web conferencing; it enables students to maintain a rich and fluid communication with their tutors, lecturers and peers, and enables them to work collaboratively in the preparation of the assignments they have to undertake on these courses. UNED is currently connecting the AVIP system to social networks (Twitter, Facebook, etc.) and creating apps for students to view video lessons on their smartphones (available at the Goggle Play store: https://play. google.com/store/apps/details?id=air.es.uned.intecca.MeetingMobile&hl=en). With this application, students can play recordings and video, and interact with the notes made by the speakers, check the chats or download the documents used in the session.

Method

The main objectives of the research can be formulated as follows:

- 1. To analyze virtual attendance functionalities to reduce students' mobility at University.
- 2. To assess the effectiveness of didactic approaches with the use of virtual attendance.

For the development of these two objectives we implemented two forums to discuss about benefits of virtual attendance. The cohort that took part in this research project was comprised by those students who attended the subject: "Media, Didactic Resources and Technology", corresponding to Degree in Pedagogy during three academic years 2013–16 at UNED (Table 1).

| Variables | Items | F | % |
|-----------|--------|-----|-------|
| Gender | Male | 93 | 47.44 |
| | Female | 103 | 52.55 |
| Age | 22–25 | 112 | 57.14 |
| | 25-30 | 45 | 22.95 |
| | 30–35 | 26 | 13.26 |
| | 35-40 | 10 | 5.10 |
| | +40 | 3 | 1.53 |

Table 1 Cohort
The method was based on social network analysis (SNA) for the analysis of participation in online discussion forums. The messages in online discussion forums were analyzed from the perspective of social network analysis (SNA); this methodology provides a relational approach following the reticular morphology of social connections. It enables an understanding of the form and structure of the relationships established as a whole, something which is essential in order to reach an understanding of the underlying mechanisms in the students' statements in educational forums, facilitating hidden interaction patterns (Barabási 2002; Knoke and Yang 2008). With that aim, this SNA methodology has been applied to identify text units that may justify the reasons declared by students when assessing virtual attendance from a didactic and social point of view. The matrix scheme used to generate the graph has been the following:

$$\Pr(\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{y}) = \left(\frac{1}{\kappa}\right) \exp\left\{\sum_{A} \eta_{A} g_{A}(\mathbf{y})\right\}$$
(1)

where ηA is the corresponding configuration A parameter (whose outcome cannot be zero if all pairs of variables in A are assumed to be "conditionally dependent"). Also, gA(y) = yijIIAyij is the statistical network configuration corresponding to A; gA(y) = 1 if it coincides with the observation "and" on the network, and if the network does not appear in the result is 0. κ is an amount that ensures standardization (1) is a proper probability distribution. All models of exponential random graphs take the form Eq. (1) which implies a general probability distribution of graphics in "n" nodes considering that there are different assumptions dependence with the consequence of choosing different types of configurations as relevant to the model. Considering this equation, the only configurations that are relevant for the model are those in which all possible links are mutually configuration contingent with each other.

Results

We analyzed from the perspective of social networking analysis (SNA), the network of interactions obtained in the topics of the online discussion forum with the most significant connections. The average density of the two threads of the forum with the dichotomized matrix was 0.51 with 0.20 of standard deviation; which represents a high value for a sample of 202 students and an average rang of the network of 3.132; which indicates that the key word is interrelated with the average of about 2.4. This a high value for a total of 17 nodes. Almost everyone in the discussion acknowledged, directly replied to and commonly interpreted other members' posts in writing (Fig. 2).





 Table 2
 Nodal value of intermediation and proximity in the online discussion forums

| Main Topics | Nodal Grade | | Betweenness Grade | | Closeness Grade | |
|--------------------------------|-------------|-----------|----------------------|--------|--------------------|-------|
| | Degr. | Nrm Degr. | Betw. | nBetw. | Far. | Clos. |
| Reduce private motor vehicles | 20.0 | 52.150 | 63.5 | 31.0 | 71.0 | 39.00 |
| Cutting air pollution | 21.0 | 56.075 | 65.0 | 30.5 | 72.2 | 41.70 |
| Elimination of mobility wastes | 15.0 | 46.100 | 56.5 | 22.5 | 52.0 | 30.50 |
| Develop academic networking | 18.0 | 48.120 | 60.0 | 24.5 | 56.5 | 37.50 |
| Foster collaborative team work | 20.0 | 51.115 | 62.0 | 30.5 | 72.5 | 40.50 |

Additionally, the majority of participants received acknowledgement, replies and interpretations of their posts from other members. There was also a good balance among types of participation each member engaged with and the types of feedback each member received. To this end, we have referred to the analysis of the nodal value of intermediation and proximity (Table 2).

Our discussion thread topology illustrated five types of dynamics, the short thread pattern that consists of one post and one reply only; the extended thread pattern that consists of several consecutive posts corresponding with the previous post and the branched thread pattern where multiple replies were made to a single post. This last pattern has the highest nodal degree (Table 2). The centrality shows the position of the concepts featured in the network and reveals a rather high result of 59% with a total number of 5 nodes. The maximum value (maximum number of connections of a node in the network) is 21 ("Cutting air pollution") forming nodes with 20 ("Reduce private motor vehicles" and "Foster collaborative team work"), the nucleus of the graph, according to the concept of "k-cores".

Conclusions

The indiscriminate use of cars as the only means of transport has had consequences that could be compared to those of a bomb attack in slow motion: "a bomb whose blast would have the virtue of uprooting buildings and activity and setting them down kilometres away from their origin, and whose main effect on the centre would be to destroy the very essence of urban life: coexistence and communication between human beings (IDAE 2006). Students commuting to and from university add to the degradation of the environment. We have seen how universities are slowly but surely taking initiatives that help to diminish mobility's effect on the environment by prioritizing means of transport that respect the environment and which are more sustainable. These include public transport, whose impact is much less than that of private vehicles; non-motorized transport, with zero impact on the environment; initiatives such as ride sharing via apps and social networks. Indeed, universities that do not promote sustainable student commuting are not only have greater costs and consume much more energy, but they also marginalize those who do not have access to a car.

Distance-learning can contribute to these initiatives with virtual attendance systems and mobile and ubiquitous teaching strategies that not only support distance-learning methodologies but also help reduce the number of student commutes to and from the campus, and so, cut levels of noise and air pollution in our cities. The new technological tools that support "virtual attendance", based on the principles of ubiquity and virtual reality, are poised to improve distance learning by greater interactivity. These methodologies are significantly improved by the new layout of AVIP classrooms, based on video-conferencing services that contribute to their widespread use as a teaching tool across the country. The AVIP classroom is based on a cross-platform and open standards that ensure interoperability by combining different tools (aLF educational platform, digital repositories, etc.), which lend support to the pillars indicated below through the virtual private network, "Network-UNED":

- Training methodology, based on "blended learning", augmented to virtual attendance.
- Information based on the use of the tools and techniques of Business Intelligence.
- Communication-based groupware concept, which encourages collaborative team work.
- Helping to cut the number of trips the student makes to and from the associated centre and university campus.

University institutions also need to encourage healthy habits and respect for the environment, including measures such as: greater use of bicycles and journeys on foot, boosting efficient collective forms of transport that are less contaminating, cut the use of private vehicle in cities in favour of less contaminating vehicles. These measures need to be matched by individual actions on the part of students to raise the level of physical activity required in their movements to and from university, in order to control excess weight, diabetes and high blood pressure. Reducing pollution in the atmosphere and improving the quality of life will prolong life expectancy and reduce the chances of contracting cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, and lower noise levels will reduce stress and noise-related illnesses. Didactic strategies based on virtual teaching methods as "virtual attendance" develop by the UNED can contribute to the reduction of private motor vehicles, the elimination of mobility wastes and foster academic networking and collaborative work at university.

References

Banister, D. (2008). The sustainable mobility paradigm. Transport Policy, 15(2), 73-80.

- Barabási, A. L. (2002). Linked-The new science of networks. Cambridge, MA.: Perseus Publishing.
- Biocca, F., Harms, C., & Burgoon, J. (2003). Toward a more robust theory and measure of social presence: Review and suggested criteria. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 12(5), 456–480. doi:10.1162/105474603322761270.
- Brindley, J. E., Walti, C., & Blaschke, L. M. (2009). Creating effective collaborative learning groups in an online environment. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 10(3), 1–18. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v10i3.675.
- Chickerur, S., & Kumar, M. A., (2011). Project based learning in higher education with ICT: Designing and tutoring digital design course at MSRIT, Bangalore. In T.-H. Kim et al. (Eds.), Software engineering, business continuity, and education. Communications in computer and information science (pp. 590–597). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Chou, S.-W., & Min, H.-T. (2009). The impact of media on collaborative learning in virtual settings: The perspective of social construction. *Computer & Education*, 52(2), 417–431. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2008.09.006.
- Conole, G. (2010). Facilitating new forms of discourse for learning and teaching: Harnessing the power of Web 2.0 practices. *Open Learning*, 25(2), 141–151. doi:10.1080/02680511003787438.
- Dennen, V., Darabi, A., & Smith, L. (2007). Instructor-learner interaction in online courses: The relative perceived importance of particular instructor actions on performance and satisfaction. *Distance Education*, 28(1), 65–79.
- Driscoll, M. (2002). Blended Learning: Let's get beyond the hype. elearning, 54, 1-3.
- Ecologistas en Acción. (2007). Olvida el coche. Respira hondo. Retrieved from http://www. ecologistasenaccion.org/IMG/pdf_Cuaderno_1_Problemas_Coche.pdf.
- Ferdig, R. (2007). Editorial: Examining social software in Teacher education. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 15(1), 5–10.
- Fombona, J. (2008). Lectura de imágenes y contenidos. Madrid: CEP.
- Garrison, D. R. (1997). Computer Conferencing and Distance Education: Cognitive and Social Presence Issues. In *The new learning environment: A global perspective. Proceedings of the International Conference on Data Engineering World Conference*, Pennsylvania State University, University Park.
- Garrison, D. R., & Kanuka, H. (2004). Blended learning: Uncovering its transformative potential in higher education. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 7(2), 95–105. doi:10.1016/j.iheduc. 2004.02.001.
- Heeter, C. (2003). Reflections on real presence by a virtual person. *Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 12(4), 335–345. doi:10.1162/105474603322391587.

- Hurtado, C., & Guerrero, L. A. (2011). Enhancement of collaborative learning activities using portable devices in the classroom. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 17(2), 332–347.
- IDAE. (2006). Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía, Guía práctica para la elaboración e implantación de Planes de Movilidad Urbana Sostenible. Madrid: IDAE.
- Knoke, D., & Yang, S. (2008). Social network analysis. United States of America: SAGE.
- Krause, K. (2007). Beyond classroom walls: Students' out-of-class activities and implications for teaching and learning. *Nagoya Journal of Higher Education*, 7, 301–318.
- Kumar, N., & Benbasat, I. (2002). Para-social presence and communication capabilities of a web site. *eService Journal*, 1(3), 5–24.
- Lee, M. J. W., & McLoughlin, C. (2010). Beyond distance and time constraints: Applying so-cial networking tools and Web 2.0 approaches to distance learning. In G. Veletsia-nos (Ed.), *Emerging technologies in distance education* (pp. 61–87). Edmonton, AB: Athabasca University Press.
- Leh, A. S. (2001). Computer-mediated communication and social presence in a distance learning environment. *International Journal of Educational Telecommunications*, 7(2), 109–128.
- McLellan, H. (1999). Online education as interactive experience: Some guiding models. *Educational Technology, Sept.–Oct.*, 36–42.
- Orey, M. (2002). One year of online blended learning: Lessons learned. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Eastern Educational Research Association, Sarasota, FL.
- Reay, J. (2001). Blended learning-a fusion for the future. Knowledge Management Review, 4(3), 6.
- Rehm, M. (2009). Unified in learning-separated by space: A case study on a global learning programme. *Industry and Higher Education*, 23(2), 331–341.
- Rooney, J. E. (2003). Blending learning opportunities to enhance educational programming and meetings. Association Managment, 55(5), 26–32.
- Rossett, A. (2002). The ASTD E-Learning Handbook. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Sands, P. (2002). Inside outside, upside downside: Strategies for connecting online and face-to-face instruction in hybrid courses. *Teaching with Technology Today*, 8(6). Retrieved from http://www.uwsa.edu/ttt/articles/sands2.htm.
- Santamarta, J. (2002). El automóvil devora la ciudad. In Boletín CF + S 28. Transporte: mejor cuanto más rápido? (pp. 105–110). Retrieved from http://habitat.aq.upm.es/boletin/n28/.
- Shin, N. (2002). Beyond interaction: The relational construct of transactional presence. Open Learning, 17(2), 121–137. doi:10.1080/02680510220146887.
- Singh, H., & Reed, C. (2001). A white paper; achieving success with blended learning. ASTD State of the Industry Report, American Society for Training and Development. Centra Software.
- Tallent-Runnels, M. K., Thomas, J. A., Lan, W. Y., Cooper, S., Ahern, T. C., Shaw, S. M., et al. (2006). Teaching courses online: A review of the research. *Review of Educational Research*, 76 (1), 93–135. doi:10.3102/00346543076001093.
- Tu, C. (2002). The measurement of social presence in an online learning environment. International Journal on E-Learning, 1(2), 34–45.
- Tu, C., & McIsaac, S. M. (2002). The relationship of social presence and interaction in online classes. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 16(3), 131–150. doi:10.1207/ S15389286AJDE1603_2.
- Vázquez-Cano, E. & López Meneses, E. (2012). Virtual Tutoring and Counseling in Schools. ISRN Education, Vol. 2012. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.5402/2012/816590.
- Vázquez-Cano, E. (2011). Las nuevas tecnologías en la organización de centros educativos. Madrid: Editorial Académica Española.
- Vázquez-Cano, E., & Sevillano, M.^aL. (2012). Educadores en Red. Elaboración de materiales audiovisuales para la enseñanza. Madrid: Ediciones Académicas-UNED.
- Vázquez-Cano, E., Fombona, J., & Fernández, A. (2013). Virtual attendance: Analysis of an audiovisual over ip system for distance learning in the spanish open university (UNED). *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning (IRRODL), 14*(3), 402–426. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v14i3.1430.
- Ward, J., & LaBranche, G. A. (2003). Blended learning: The convergence of e-learning and meetings. *Franchising World*, 35(4), 22–23. doi:10.1080/03098770220149620.

- Whiteman, J. A. M. (2002). Interpersonal Communication in Computer Mediated Learning. (White/opinion paper). (ED 465 997).
- WHO. (2016). Calidad del aire ambiente (exterior) y salud. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs313/es/.
- Young, J. R. (2002). Hybrid teaching seeks to end the divide between traditional and online instruction. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 33.

E-learning in Higher Education: Academic Factors for Student Permanence

Filipa Seabra, Susana Henriques, Teresa Cardoso, Daniela Barros and Maria de Fátima Goulão

Abstract E-learning has increasingly been acknowledged as a legitimate option which contributes to the democratization of higher education. One of its advantages is the possibility of reaching non-conventional publics for higher education. including workers, adults, and people who live outside the main city centers. This is also an important aspect with regard to sustainability education, particularly when addressing climate change education, as these publics may be less easily reached by conventional educational settings. Permanence is a key issue and a significant obstacle to the success of any e-learning based initiative-in order for the educational goals to be met, one must ensure, in the first place, that students who enroll in a program are able to persevere, successfully learn, and reach graduation. This chapter presents a framework of the concept of permanence in higher education, particularly in e-learning contexts and concerning adult populations. It presents an empirical research concerning the academic factors related to good permanence outcomes. Data were gathered using a survey by questionnaire answered by students of an undergraduate degree developed through e-learning in a Portuguese public university.

Keywords E-learning · Permanence · Higher education · Sustainability education

F. Seabra (\boxtimes) · S. Henriques · T. Cardoso · D. Barros · M. F. Goulão LE@D, Universidade Aberta, Rua da Escola Politécnica, 147, Lisbon 1269-001, Portugal e-mail: Filipa.Seabra@uab.pt

F. Seabra CIEd, UM, Braga, Portugal

S. Henriques Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL), Centro de Investigação e Estudos de Sociologia (CIES-IUL), Lisbon, Portugal

D. Barros CEIS20 Universidade de Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations in Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_21

Introduction

European curricular policies have been strongly influenced by transnational organisms both internal and external to the European Union, in a context of globalization and of pressures associated with competitiveness at a global scale (Seabra 2010). Higher education, intersected by the Bologna Process, has not been unaffected by this homogenizing tendency. We have defended that the impacts of those international and transnational institutions is largely produced through the influence of key-concepts that are forged and disseminated by those organisms and later differentially assumed by national educational systems (Seabra et al. 2012). In this context, Steiner-Khamsi (2012) refers to travelling reforms or policy lending and borrowing, underlining the active role played by both the lender-that is, the coiner(s) of the reforms, and the borrower, responsible for their re-contextualization and resignification. Similarly, Teodoro (2003) clarifies how national governments have resourced to transnational guidelines according to logics of mandate, and of legitimization of decisions that internally were deemed necessary. Globalization is therefore not a unilateral and homogenous process, but rather a complex, and multi-determined processes, crossed by pressures of contrary direction (Pacheco and Pereira 2007; Sousa Santos 2001).

One of the key-concepts that have permeated transnational discourses on education, in several organisms, is that of Sustainable Development. UNESCO has dedicated a decade to that theme and to its pursuit through education, originating several reports, a declaration and even a multimedia teacher training program (*Teaching and Learning for a Sustainable Future*¹). UNESCO's approach to education for sustainable development includes biodiversity, climate change, accident risk reduction but also cultural diversity, poverty reduction, gender equality, health education, sustainable lifestyles, peace and safety, water and sustainable cities—which demonstrate the comprehensiveness of the concept.

The United Nations Organization has been dedicated to sustainability, namely by defining competencies necessary to education for sustainable development (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe—UNESCO 2012b).

As Portugal tends to be defined as a «good student» when it comes to the adoption of measures defined in a superior plane, it is perplexing to find that debate of these matters at the higher education level is still not very widespread. We believe that in the framework of universities' social responsibility, complemented by the social extension dimension of teachers' responsibility, there is room to discuss and implement such concepts, adapting them to the contextual need and audiences they are directed to.

In this context, we believe that distance and online e-learning play a particularly relevant role, as they are particularly suited to reach non-conventional students, and therefore may contribute to the spreading of sustainability education to harder to influence strata of the population, such as adult learners. High dropout rates among

¹Retrieved from: http://www.unesco.org/education/tlsf/

that population and among e-learning students in general, present a particular challenge to the efficacy of this strategy. Therefore, we defend that focusing on aspects related to permanence in distance higher education is a fundamental aspect, which we will address in greater depth.

Sustainability—A Brief Outline

Leal Filho (2000) referring to the polysemy and evolution of the concept of sustainability, clarifies that it emerged in the context of forest development, being then widely used in different academic, political and social contexts, with meanings ranging from «durable» or «systematic». He proceeds to present a definition of sustainable development as: (a) "the systematic, long-term use of natural resources" (p. 9); (b) "the modality of development that enables countries to progress, economically and socially, without destroying their environmental resources" (p. 10); (c) "the type of development which is socially just, ethically acceptable, morally fair and economically sound; and (d) "the type of development where environmental indicators are as important as economic indicators" (p. 10). The dissemination of the term took place largely as a consequence of the report «*Our Common Future*», in 1987.

Sustainability relates to limits—namely limited resources and the interdependency of all the elements of an ecosystem. It therefore is set against the term development, associated to expansion, and conceived as limitless. Sustainable development contains in itself a dialectic relation between the expansionism of development, and the constraints represented not only by resources, but also by ethics and informed by a future perspective. Thus, the concept of sustainability also encompasses the notion of equity in the distribution of resources and the assurance of the basic needs for all, including future generations (van Weenen 2000).

Education for sustainable development (ESD) is defined by UNESCO/DESD (2012b, p. 12) as follows:

Overall, ESD seeks to enable citizens around the globe to deal with the complexities, controversies and inequities rising out of issues relevant to environment, natural heritage, culture, society and economy.

Simply put, ESD is education for the future, for everyone everywhere. It is an essential ingredient to ensure quality education and a successful transition to green societies and economies.

As early as 1997, UNESCO defined education as "humanity's best hope and most effective means in the quest to achieve sustainable development". The Bonn declaration defines sustainable development as that which approaches the interdependencies among the social, economic, cultural and environmental development and education for sustainable development as education which promotes the balance between economic growth, environmental conservation, cultural diversity and social well-being in an inclusive perspective (in UNESCO/DESD 2012a).

Thus, the UN, through UNESCO, has defended over several decades the pursuit of a path through education towards sustainability, broadly conceived.

In the second half of the decade for ESD, the focus has shifted from the uniformity of definitions of sustainable development to the recognition that each context may lend to a greater emphasis on different dimensions of the concept. Attention was then focused on the educational processes that allow for the promotion of ESD, emphasizing critical thought, participation, the co-creation of knowledge within education directed towards change and competence development. Approaches such as collaborative learning, problem based learning, interdisciplinary learning and learning based on critical thinking are particularly highlighted (UNESCO/DESD 2012a, b), as well as a more global perspective on science and of the role of the University, more oriented toward complexity, uncertainty and systemic thought. Portugal was not involved in the answer to the questionnaires guiding the elaboration of this report (UNESCO/DESD 2012b).

The United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE 2009) has also presented a perspective on ESD compatible with that of UNESCO. The recommendations it promotes also stem from a broad conception of SD understood dynamically and adjusted to different local contexts. The ethical dimension, related to solidarity and interdependence among generations, among human beings and nature, and among rich and poor, is considered a fundamental dimension of ESD. More relevantly to the scope of this chapter, a lifelong ESD is proposed, and the role of universities, directed to the production of knowledge and to the development of competencies is highlighted. In practical terms, this requires education to have a dimension of application of knowledge to the solving of concrete and real problems in an interdisciplinary logic and consequently a re-equation of the roles of teachers and students.

In 2011, the UNECE presented a set of guidelines encompassing the professional development of educators, governance and management of institutions dedicated to teachers' continuous education, curriculum development based on the competencies identified by the organization and the monitoring and assessment of teaching institutions. The key-competencies for teachers to promote ESD are organized on three axes concerning (a) a holistic approach integrating theory and practice; (b) a perspective for change exploring future possibilities and learning from past experience and (c) the search for transformation in how people learn and the supports for learning. At this level, ESD requires transformation of educators, of pedagogy and of the educational system.

Universities and Sustainable Development

The relation between the mission of universities and ESD was pointed out in the *Magna Charta Universitatum* (1988), signed by the rectors of 388 European universities, which states:

- 1. that (...) the future of mankind depends largely on cultural, scientific and technical development; (...)
- 2. that the universities' task of spreading knowledge among the younger generations implies that (...) they must also serve society as a whole; and that the cultural, social and economic future of society requires (...) a considerable investment in continuing education;
- 3. that universities must give future generations education and training that will teach them, and trough them others, to respect the great harmonies of their natural environment and of life itself.

At that time, concerns for the natural environment and also the cultural, scientific and technical development which are a part of the broader concept of sustainability were already present. Following several other initiatives in that sense², in 1994 the Association of European Universities promoted the *University Charter for Sustainable Development*,³ which highlights the role of universities for the promotion of SD:

(...) universities are increasingly called upon to play a leading role in developing a multidisciplinary and ethically-oriented form of education in order to devise solutions for the problems linked to sustainable development. They must therefore commit themselves to an on-going process of informing, educating and mobilizing all the relevant parts of society concerning the consequences of ecological degradation, including its impact on global development and the conditions needed to ensure a sustainable and just world.

The Copernicus Guidelines for sustainable development in the Higher Education Area (2010) frame the development sought by the Lisbon strategy aiming to making Europe the most competitive knowledge economy of the world in the Bologna Process and the University charter, descending to a more concrete level of questioning the policies and practices necessary to their development. It refers to sustainability in economic, ecologic, social and cultural terms and sustains that SD responds to areas which are central to the future of most higher education institutions: the cost-efficiency of higher education systems; the quality of higher education, its attractiveness and future orientation; the internationalization of higher education and its relation with civil society. The same document refers to, on the one hand, the universities' contributions to the development of a more sustainable society, and on the other, how the concept of sustainability can lead the university to reconsider its own sustainability, namely in the economic vector.

This duality raises difficult questions—on one side, a University at the cutting edge of research and development, capable of educating active citizens, and productive and competitive employees concerned with contributing to a society which is more just, culturally diverse and attentive to environmental problems is pursued; on the other that university should be economically more self-sufficient and find

²University Presidents for a Sustainable Future, the Talloires Declaration, October 1990; Urgent Appeal from the CRE, the association of European universities, presented to the Preparatory Committee for the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED), Geneva, August 1991; Creating a Common Future: An Action Plan for Universities, Halifax, December 1991

³http://www.iau-hesd.net/sites/default/files/documents/copernicus.pdf.

alternative means of funding. Economic sustainability may come into conflict with ecological, social or cultural sustainability. Also the report by UNESCO/DESD (2012, p. 5) cautions in the same direction when considering that the P in prosperity (profit), may tend to trump over the other two P's that constitute the basis of sustainability—Planet and People. Faced with these and other challenges, "an understanding of the role universities may play in implementing sustainable development" is one of the requirements to its effective introduction in the practices and curricula of universities (Leal Filho 2011), including those addressing climate change education.

E-learning in Higher Education—The Challenge of Permanence⁴

E-learning has increasingly been acknowledged as a legitimate option (Casey 2008), particularly since the emergence of collaborative and multimedia based education allowing real-time interaction both between teacher and student and among students (Gomes 2008), and one which contributes to the democratization of higher education (Almeida et al. 2012). One of its advantages is the possibility of reaching non-conventional publics for higher education. This concept includes a multiplicity of life circumstances, including workers, adults, cultural minorities, older students, and students who represent the first generation in their family to pursue higher education, among others (Fragoso 2016). This is also an important aspect with regard to ESD, as these publics may be less easily reached by conventional educational settings.

This is the case of open universities, particularly directed to a population constituted by adults, workers, and sometimes migrants or people who dwell far from the main urban centers, and who tend to accumulate learning with the responsibilities of family and work. Often, these are students who enroll in university after a long period without relation to formal educational contexts. This student profile is associated to particular potentials and a wealth of experience, as well as with specific needs that may hinder their permanence and success.

Permanence is a key issue and a significant obstacle to the success of any e-learning based initiative—in order for the educational goals to be met, one must ensure, in the first place, that students who enroll in a program are able to persevere, successfully learn, and reach graduation (Araújo 2013; Fiuza and Sarriera 2013). As access to higher education is increasingly massified, issues of success and permanence arise as main concerns for this level of education. Although traditionally the focus of research on this matter has been on attrition and preventing dropout, this focus has been shifting towards the identification of the factors that help students persevere and succeed in their educational trajectories (Freitas 2009).

⁴This description is partly adapted from a previous publication (Seabra, in print).

The concept of permanence tends to be superficially theorized. Some definitions of the concept require not only the conclusion of the course of studies but also its completion in the predictable number of years (Araújo, 2013)—in this project, we do not subscribe to this condition, as we consider it to be inadequate to the trajectories of adult and non-conventional students.

Rather, we assume the perspective which describes dropout as the definitive desistence of a student at any stage of the course (Abbad et al. 2006) leading to a decline in the number of students from the beginning to the end of the course under analysis (Berge and Huang 2004). Thus, this concept does not include temporary brakes, lengthier trajectories that what is foreseen by the course's curricular structure or the cases where the student never actually frequented a course he/she enrolled for.

In counterpoint, permanence corresponds to the students' continuing participation in a course until its completion that is, as the number of students who successfully complete their academic or school courses (Rosli and Carlino 2015).

We believe that a better understanding of the students and of the motives leading to their adhesion and permanence to distance higher education is essential to devise strategies to promote the success of this modality (Fiuza and Sarriera 2013; Pachler and Daly 2011). This approach is centered on modifiable factors associated to permanence, particularly academic factors, in detriment of a perspective focused exclusively in the elimination of risk factors for dropout.

In the scope of this project, we use Fiuza and Sarriera's (2013) classification of factors of permanence in higher education e-learning courses: (1) personal factors; (2) academic factors; and (3) contextual factors. This typology helps organize the multiple factors that have been associated to permanence, as studies on this issue tend to use multiple denominations, categorizations and even focus on a single factor, leading to conceptual dispersion. Among several possible categorizations, the choice fell on this particular one due to its comprehensiveness, reflection of the concept's multidimensionality and empirical practicality. In this article, we focus on the academic factors associated to permanence in higher education e-learning courses.

Several academic factors have been associated with permanence.

Dropout in e-learning courses tends to take place during the first week of a course (Frydenberg 2007). This highlights the importance of implementing acclimation processes to the e-learning modality, as once this first barrier is met, dropout rates are not substantially different from those of in-presence higher education.

Apart from the important role played by support during the training's initial stages, support and interaction remain relevant throughout the course. Interaction with teachers and tutors, academic support, administrative, and technological support are crucial factors (Almeida 2008; Lehman and Conceição 2014; Santos and Neto 2009).

Jun (2005) identifies aspects related to social integration (time management, support from family and friends, unexpected events, distractions, etc.), academic integration (feedback, interaction, language skills, community of learning, etc.) and

technological support. Comings (2007) also identifies factors related to the support of people involved in the course—including teachers and colleagues.

Brown (2002) defines academic integration as the student's sense of belonging to the academic life of the institution and considers it to be a relevant factor for the persistence of non-traditional and adult higher education students. This concept includes dimensions such as the usefulness of the degree, commitment with goals, average (academic results) achieved, and commitment with the institution.

Among the academic dimensions presented by Cislaghi (2008) are: issues related to the social academic environment, issues related to the curriculum (ex.: length and actuality of contents), characteristics of the course such as retention rates, workload, practical applicability, and institutional issues (such as support to students in need, focusing on research rather than on teaching, etc.). These aspects were systematized as social integration, academic integration, and commitment with the institution (Bolliger and Wasilik 2009; Cislaghi and Luz Filho 2009).

Given the pertinence of academic integration, it is noteworthy that research developed in a presence-based higher education institution reveals a tendency for nontraditional students to feel excluded from the academic learning community, expressing "feelings of alienation, disconnection, and dissatisfaction with the institutional response to their presence on campus" (Witkowsky et al. 2016: 36).

In synthesis the academic factors identified as relevant include interaction (with teachers, students and colleagues), support (academic, technologic and administrative), integration (academic and social), commitment with the institution, curriculum topicality and relevance, relation with the work environment (applicability, employability and job progression or transition opportunities) and perceived quality of the course.

Methods

The research project here partially presented, named PEESAD—Permanence of Students in Distance Higher Education, is based in the Open University (Universidade Aberta, UAb), the only public distance higher education university in Portugal. Among its objectives are the identification of personal, academic and contextual factors associated with permanence trajectories, with emphasis on those that are modifiable and the characterization of distance education students who present permanence trajectories.

As part of this broader project which uses a mixed method approach, and in order to contribute to those objectives, a questionnaire was developed. A pilot application of this instrument was conducted with students of the degree in Education of this University, between the months of February and March of 2017 through an online platform. The data gathering took place during the transition between the first and the second semester, a time frame which allowed us to conclude respondents had already overcome the more critical period for dropout. Characterization of the students' trajectories also allowed for the identification of

students who had successfully concluded several curricular units, who were therefore less likely to drop out.

The questionnaire intended to encompass a wide variety of indicators, reflecting the multidimensional nature of the concept under analysis. It includes items allowing for a socio-demographic characterization, such as gender, age, nationality, country of residence, area of residence, or family situation as well as items designed to describe the student's position concerning the personal, academic and contextual factors. In particular, concerning the academic factors, the following dimensions were included: commitment with the institution, academic trajectory, academic integration, social integration, factors associated with the course and goals. This article focuses on the academic indicators most relevant to the issue under analysis.

Ethical concerns, including anonymity were taken into account when conducting the research.

Results

Seventy-eight (78) students answered the questionnaire, 66 female and 12 male, with ages comprehended between 27 and 66 years of age, and a mean age of 45. The majority (62 out of 78) are married or in a civil union, and have children (55 out of 78).

Almost all the respondents are Portuguese (n = 77) and reside in Portugal (n = 74). The majority are employed, either in the public sector (n = 35) or the private sector or third sector (n = 27).⁵ Among these, 36 are working in areas related to their degree, and 35 in unrelated fields.

This profile of professionally active and socially integrated adult learners corresponds to what was previously identified among students in distance education (Fragoso 2016).

The following graphic (Graphic 1) shows that the average monthly income of most the students' family aggregates is encompassed between $1000 \in$ and $1500 \in$.⁶

The absence of a fixed timetable for the frequency of the course, as well as the fact that students were not required to commute to and from a teaching institution to take part in the learning activities, made time and space flexibility main reasons for choosing the Open University (Portugal). Other factors, such as those related with information about the university have residual expression, in comparison (Table 1).

These results are in line with what Fiuza and Sarriera (2013) defend, stressing the importance of the academic dimension for the processes of student permanence in online higher education. In fact, flexibility is assumed as one of the main factors

⁵7 students who answered the questionnaire were unemployed at the moment.

⁶At the time, the minimum wage in Portugal was 649,83€/month, and the average income was close to 1000€/month (Source: Pordata.pt).



Graphic 1 Monthly income of the family aggregate—€

| Table I Factors for choosing the Portuguese Open Univers | Fal | ble | 1 | Factors | for | choosing | the | Portuguese | Open | Universi | iv |
|---|-----|-----|---|---------|-----|----------|-----|------------|------|----------|----|
|---|-----|-----|---|---------|-----|----------|-----|------------|------|----------|----|

| Factors | Frequency | % |
|--|-----------|------|
| Place flexibility (not needing to commute frequently to and from the University) | 5 | 6.4 |
| Time flexibility (being able to study whenever is more convenient for the student) | 68 | 87.2 |
| The pleasure of studying made me research and I found the Open University (Portugal) | 1 | 1.3 |
| The opinion of friends on the Open University (Portugal) | 1 | 1.3 |
| Suggestion by friends/colleagues/family members or publicity | 3 | 3.8 |
| Total | 78 | 100 |

for these students' option for the distance learning regimen and for the Open University (Portugal).

The importance of flexibility is also reflected when 33 students refer they are following the academic course at their own rhythm, that is, pursuing less than 5 curricular units per semester and concluding them successfully.⁷ This finding relates with the fact that although the undergraduate degree in Education has a planned duration of three curricular years, 27 students were, at the time, frequenting this course for 4 or more years.

The non-conventional characteristics of this population were emphasized by the means by which they accessed higher education. Only 8 accessed this degree in the most conventional way—the 12th grade of secondary education followed by national exams for access to higher education. Half the students accessed through a special exam, directed at adults aged 23 and over. Apart from other pathways towards higher education, 4 reactivated their enrollment after a period of having

⁷The curricular plan of the undergraduate degree in Education includes 6 semesters, with 5 curricular units each—http://www2.uab.pt/guiainformativo/eng_planoestudos1.php?curso=12&ma=5.

interrupted the frequency of the course which highlights the not always linear nature of the pathways of students who ultimately complete their degrees.

The vast majority of students (n = 63) consider the knowledge they have acquired during the course to be valuable or very valuable. Many of these, expect the frequency of this undergraduate degree will have a positive and significant effect on their perspectives for professional progression (n = 54). The issue of knowledge usefulness has increasingly become an imperative with the democratization of the access to higher education, reaching non-conventional audiences and sustaining lifelong learning (Almeida et al. 2012).

It is also noteworthy that an expressive majority intend to continue studying after they conclude the undergraduate degree (n = 52). This aspect is particularly relevant, when analyzed along with the interval that took place between the conclusion of previous formal education (non-higher education) and enrolling in this undergraduate degree (Graphic 2).

Regarding success, nearly half the students had never failed a course (n = 35), but relevant numbers have experienced some degree of failure; in fact, 11 had failed 4 or more distinct curricular units. However, most had never failed the same curricular unit more than once (n = 66).

Regarding the level of difficulty of the undergraduate degree, students' answers clustered around intermediate values, not finding it very difficult or very easy. Also, the majority were satisfied or very satisfied with the degree they were frequenting (n = 57) and with the University (n = 56). Also, a slight majority considered their feelings of belonging to the university to be intense or very intense (n = 41), despite the fact that many don't report participating in activities organized by the university (52 never or hardly ever participate). Also, although the majority were satisfied or very satisfied with their relations with colleagues (n = 52), responses were divided among those who connected with colleagues in non-academic contexts and those who did not.

A majority of students also reported being satisfied or very satisfied with support from academic services (n = 55), teachers and tutors (n = 49) and the course coordination (n = 60).

Difficulties which persist throughout the course of the undergraduate degree are also worthy of attention. Respondents stress difficulties related to time management, and lack of fundamental knowledge underpinning subsequent learning. These



difficulties stress the need for students to acquire study habits which are adjusted to distance learning.

If difficulties related with time management and the need to create and reinforce study habits are critical factors which may compromise the permanence of students in the formative path they have initiated, issues related to flexibility and usefulness are simultaneously, critical to the success of that permanence (Fiuza and Sarriera 2013). In that sense, both sets of critical factors point to areas of intervention that higher education institutions should pay attention to.

Concluding Remarks

It is argued that higher education has a fundamental role to play in the promotion of ESD, which can be understood as a key-concept, influencing educational policy and practice at a supranational level, although with limited expression in current Portuguese higher educational contexts. In particular, online distance higher education has been associated with the reaching of non-conventional audiences, including workers, adults, and people with family responsibilities, whose personal and professional lives can make it harder to access other modalities of higher education. Thus, by contributing to the democratization of higher education, and brining it closer to those audiences, distance education can also be thought of as a privileged means to bring knowledge and competences directed to the promotion of sustainable development to those non-conventional students. This goal, however, is faced with an important hindrance—the high dropout rates which have been associated with distance education and e-learning.

The research presented in this article explores the concept of permanence and particularly on academic factors which are associated to student permanence, aiming to identify factors which can be intentionally promoted by universities promoting distance higher education. We believe focusing on permanence and the factors contributing to its promotion highlights intervention possibilities focused on promotion, and invites higher education institutions to assume a proactive role. Therefore, by considering academic factors associated with permanence, higher education institutions may find pathways to intentionally foster the conditions in which permanence has greater possibility of occurring.

As previously noted, several academic factors have been identified by revising previous studies, including interaction (with teachers, students and colleagues), support (academic, technologic and administrative), integration (academic and social), commitment with the institution, curriculum topicality and relevance, relation with the work environment (applicability, employability and job progression or transition opportunities) and perceived quality of the course.

Based on these aspects and others not relevant to the specific dimension in analysis but contributing to a broad and comprehensive perspective of student permanence, a questionnaire was developed. Results presented in this article reflect the answers of 78 students, enrolled in the undergraduate degree in Education of the Open University (Portugal) who have completed at least one semester.

These data allowed for the confirmation, on a first level, of the non-conventional nature of the students' profiles and of their educational pathways, and the perspective that this modality of higher education can be a very relevant vehicle to the wide spreading and democratization of education, including ESD.

The lack of continuity of the students' pathways, characterized by large periods of interruption, as well as their perspective and desire to continue educating themselves after the completion of their degree are testament to the effect the frequency of this course has played towards the promotion of lifelong learning.

As expected, the flexibility concerning time and space of learning are key aspects to the students' choice of this modality and institution, and are therefore aspects to protect as much as possible, when trying to reach diverse audiences.

Also permanent students revealed moderately high to high levels of satisfaction in relation to the support they receive by the course coordination, administrative staff and teachers—although more support from teachers was felt as a welcome improvement. Levels of academic and social integration were somewhat limited by the students' relatively low participation in university activities and extra-university activities with colleagues—easily explained by their work and family demands which are unlike those of traditional students. Nevertheless, students were satisfied with the university, and more than half expressed intense feelings of institutional belonging and satisfaction with the interaction with their peers. Finding alternative ways of increasing student participation and involvement, as well as institutional support considering the specific needs of nontraditional students, appear as relevant avenues for the pursuit of permanence among students with similar profiles. Given the previously noted relevance of flexibility, distance based initiatives, such as online meetings, as well as small scale local initiatives, among others, may prove to be of value in this context.

Difficulties concerning previous knowledge, time management and study are closely related to individual factors of permanence, but also highlight the need of intentionally promoting opportunities for enhancing such competencies at the institutional level.

References

- Abbad, G., Carvalho, R. S., & Zerbini, T. (2006). Evasão em curso via internet: explorando variáveis explicativas. *RAE-Eletronica*, 5(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1676-56482006000 200008.
- Almeida, O. C. S. (2008). Evasão em cursos a distância: análise dos motivos de desistência. Atas do congresso ABED 2008. Retrieved from: http://www.abed.org.br/congresso2008/tc/ 552008112738PM.pdf.
- Almeida, L., Marinho-Araújo, C. M., Amaral, A., & Dias, D. (2012). Democratização do acesso e do sucesso no ensino superior: uma reflexão a partir das realidades de Portugal e do Brasil. *Avaliação*, 17(3), 899–920. doi:10.1590/S1414-40772012000300014.

- Araújo, C. B. Z. M. (2013). Permanência de estudantes nos cursos de graduação no Brasil: uma categoria em construção. *Revista Temas em Educação*, 22(2), 25–43. ISSN: 2359-8003. Retrieved from: http://periodicos.ufpb.br/index.php/rteo/article/view/17778.
- Berge, Z. L., & Huang, Y.-P. (2004). A model for sustainable student retention: A holistic perspective on the student dropout problem with special attention to e-learning. *Deosnews*, 13 (4). Retrieved from: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.29.1495.
- Bolliger, D., & Wasilik, O. (2009). Factors influencing faculty satisfaction with online teaching and learning in higher education. *Distance Education*, 30(1), 103–116. doi:10.1080/ 01587910902845949.
- Brown, S. M. (2002). Strategies that contribute to nontraditional/adult student development and persistence. *PAACE Journal of Lifelong Learning*, 11, 67–76. Retrieved from: https://www. iup.edu/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=18419.
- Casey, D. M. (2008). A journey to legitimacy: The historical development of distance education through technology. *TechTrends*, 52(2), 45–51. ISSN: 8756-3894. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11528-008-0135-z.
- Cislaghi, R. (2008). Um modelo de sistema de gestão do conhecimento em um framework para a promoção da permanência discente no ensino de graduação. Tese de Doutoramento. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Florianópolis. Retrieved from: http://btd.egc.ufsc.br/ wp-content/uploads/2010/06/Renato-Cislaghi.pdf.
- Cislaghi, R., & Luz Filho, R. (2009). Um Framework para a promoção da permanência discente no ensino de graduação e um modelo de gestão do conhecimento para IES Brasileiras. IX Colóquio Internacional sobre Gestão Universitária na América do Sul. Florianópolis: Brasil. Retrieved from: http://repositorio.ufsc.br/xmlui/handle/123456789/35844.
- Comings, J. P. (2007). Persistence: Helping adult education students reach their goals. *Review of Adult Learning and Literacy*, 7, 23–46. Retrieved from: http://www.ncsall.net/fileadmin/resources/ann_rev/comings-02.pdf.
- Comissão Mundial sobre Ambiente e Desenvolvimento. (1987). *Our common future*. Retrieved from: http://www.un-documents.net/our-common-future.pdf.
- Copernicus. (2010). Guidelines for sustainable development in the European higher education area—How to incorporate the principles of sustainable development into the Bologna process. Retrieved from: http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/esd/information/COPERNICUS% 20Guidelines.pdf.
- Fiuza, P. J., & Sarriera, J. C. (2013). Motivos para adesão e permanência discente na educação superior a distância. *Psicologia, ciência e profissão, 33*(4), 884–901. doi:10.1590/S1414-98932013000400009.
- Fragoso, A. (2016). A investigação no campo dos estudantes não-tradicionais no ensino superior: o 1º ano em debate. In L. S. Almeida & R. V. Castro (Orgs.). Ser estudante no ensino superior: O caso dos estudantes do 1.º ano (pp. 39–63). Braga: Universidade do Minho.
- Freitas, K. S. (2009). Alguns estudos sobre evasão e persistência de estudantes. *EccoS: Revista Científica*, 11(1), 247–364. ISSN 1517-1949. Retrieved from: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo. oa?id=71512097014.
- Frydenberg, J. (2007). Persistence in university continuing education online classes. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 8(3). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.19173/ irrodl.v8i3.375.
- Gomes, M. J. (2008). Na senda da inovação tecnológica na educação a distância. Revista Portuguesa de Pedagogia, 42(2), 181–202. Retrieved from: http://impactum-journals.uc.pt/ index.php/rppedagogia/article/viewFile/1243/691.
- Jun, J. (2005). Understanding dropout of adult learners in e-learning. Doctoral Theis. University of Georgia. Retrieved from: https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/jun_jusung_200505_phd.pdf.
- Leal Filho, W. (2000). Dealing with misconceptions on the concept of sustainability. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 1(1), 9–19. doi:10.1108/1467630010307066.
- Leal Filho, W. (2011). About the role of universities and their contribution to sustainable development. *Higher Education Policy*, 24, 427–438. doi:10.1057/hep.2011.16.

- Lehman, R., & Conceição, S. (2014). *Motivating and retaining online students*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Pacheco, J. A., & Pereira, N. (2007). Globalização e identidade no contexto da escola e do currículo. *Cadernos de Pesquisa*, 37(131), 371–398. doi:10.1590/S0100-15742007000200008.
- Pachler, N., & Daly, C. (2011). *Key issues in e-learning—Research and practice*. New York: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Rosli, N., & Carlino, P. (2015). Acciones institucionales y vinculares que favorecen la permanencia escolar de alumnos de sectores socioeconomicos desfavorecidos. *Estudios Pedagógicos, XLI, 1, 257–274. doi:10.4067/S0718-07052015000100015.*
- Santos, E. M., & Neto, J. D. O. (2009). Evasão na educação a distância: identificando causas e propondo estratégias de prevenção. *Revista Paidéi*@, *Revista Científica de Educação a Distância*, 2(2), 1–28. Retrieved from: http://revistapaideia.unimesvirtual.com.br.
- Seabra, F. (in print). Permanência dos Estudantes no Ensino Superior a Distância: Conceitos e fatores. Book chapter in print.
- Seabra, F. (2010). Ensino básico: repercussões da organização curricular por competências na estruturação das aprendizagens escolares e nas políticas curriculares de avaliação. Doctoral Thesis. Braga, Portugal: University of Minho.
- Seabra, F., Pacheco, J. A. & Morgado, J. C. (2012). Políticas de accountability em Portugal subsídios para um referencial. In T. Estrela et al (2012). *Revisitar os Estudos Curriculares. Onde estamos e para onde vamos?* Lisboa: EDUCA/Secção Portuguesa da AFIRSE. ISBN: 978-989-8272-14-0.
- Sousa Santos, B. (2001). Os processos da globalização. In B. Sousa Santos (org.). Globalização: Fatalidade ou utopia? (pp. 31–106). Porto: Afrontamento.
- Steiner-Khamsi, G. (2012). Understanding policy borrowing and lending—Building comparative policy studies. In G. Steiner-Khamsi & F. Waldow (Eds.), World yearbook of education— Policy borrowing and lending in education (pp. 3–17). London/New York: Routledge.
- Teodoro, A. (2003). Globalização e Educação. Políticas educacionais e novos modos de governação. Porto: Afrontamento.
- UNECE. (2009). Learning from each other: The UNECE strategy for education for sustainable development. New York/Geneva: United Nations.
- UNECE. (2011). Learning for the future: Competencies in education for sustainable development. Geneva: UNECE strategy for ESD.
- UNESCO. (1997). Educating for a sustainable future: A transdisciplinary vision for concerted action. In: International Conference, Thessaloniki, 8–12 December, Environment and Society: Education and Public Awareness for Sustainability, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation, EPD-97/CONF.401/CLD.1, November 1997.
- UNESCO/DESD. (2012a). *Exploring sustainable development: A multiple perspective approach*. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- UNESCO/DESD (2012b). Shaping the Education of Tomorrow. 2012 Report of the UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development, Abridged. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- Van Weenen, H. (2000). Towards a vision of a sustainable university. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 1(1), 20–34. doi:10.1108/1467630010307075.
- VV.AA. (1988). Magna Charta Universitatum. Retrieved from: http://www.magna-charta.org/ library/userfiles/file/mc_portuguese.pdf.
- Witkowsky, P., Mendez, S., Ogunbowo, O., Clayton, G., & Hernandez, N. (2016). Nontraditional student perceptions of collegiate inclusion. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 64, 30–40. doi:10.1080/07377363.2016.1130581.

Climate Literacy and Collaborative On-Line Landscapes: Engaging the Climate Conversation Through Drama Facilitation in Distance and e-Learning Environments

Linda Hassall

Abstract The dramatist and the scientist have similar goals as they both attempt to 'create unique, engaging and insightful texts about the humancondition' (Saldina in Youth Theatre J 14:60–71, 1999, p. 60). As the risks of devastating climate change becomes more and more apparent there is a growing understanding of the role the creative arts can play in making sense of the ecological challenges we encounter. Drama processes and performance can widely engage with sustainability issues across a number of Year levels and it's behavioural activism appeals to its audiences to think for themselves and 'act'. Dramatic form is premised on critical and creative thinking. As an art form it is only a complete learning activity when it engages the learner to experience the drama and 'do' or 'act'. This chapter discusses the potential to introduce climate literacies into on-line learning platforms through drama curriculum processes and practices. While utilising drama in on-line learning landscapes is still largely a theoretical proposition, this chapter suggests that the dramatic form could provide a unique means of fostering climate literacies with distance learners. A focus on environmental and ecological issues in the curriculum through drama collaborative processes and practices can potentially increase the possibilities for global climate change education and promote the importance of sustainability for future generations. This chapter therefore proposes that dramatic investigations of scientific discourse may provide unique ways of developing climate literacy through alternative understandings, through adopting scientists' amassed knowledge and transforming it into something that can be experienced and explored kinaesthetically in the representational worlds of the drama.

Keywords Climate literacy · Drama on-line · Kinaesthetic learning

L. Hassall

L. Hassall (🖂)

Contemporary and Applied Theatre, Griffith University, Mt Gravatt, Australia e-mail: l.hassall@griffith.edu.au

School Education and Professional Studies, Griffith University, Mt Gravatt Campus, 176 Messines Ridge Road, Mt Gravatt, QLD 4122, Australia

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

U. M. Azeiteiro et al. (eds.), *Climate Literacy and Innovations* in *Climate Change Education*, Climate Change Management,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70199-8_22

Introduction

If we choose to include themes of global climate change in the curriculum outside of and apart from science education, where would they fit and how could we address them? Within theatrical education contexts in higher education environments¹ drama performances, classrooms and workshops are increasingly exploring climate change literacies in unique imaginative, collaborative contexts. The climate is investigated through themes that consider the relationship between perceptions of what is absent and what is present, between what is past and what is future, between climate, nature and disappearing landscapes and geographies. It is within this contradiction of perception that drama educators can respond to climate change literacies through non-traditional and on-line forms of delivery. Research indicates that teachers place high priority on climate change, as a topic their students should know about but report their own knowledge is inadequate for teaching it (Fortner 2001, p. 18). In the past Boyes and Stanissteet (1993) and Fortner (2001) noted that as well as students and higher education students, pre-service and career teachers have held incorrect perceptions about global climate change and warming as well as about how human activities impact on Eco-systems. This may possibly account for the slow implementation of climate literacies in the broader spectrum 21st century Australian curriculum. Gowda et al. (1997) posit that incorrect perceptions and understanding about the ozone hole and climate change and its impact on escalating weather events have contributed to the confusion (pp. 2232-2240). While this research is twenty years old, it is my experience that this confusion is still prevalent in an Australian context.

Within dramatic investigations climate change and associated representations of nature are re-articulated as explorations of landscape, from theoretical, behavioural and psychological and sceneographic perspectives. What eclipses landscape from historical traditions of climate, environment and nature is as Gaudio (2008) suggests, materiality, the process of how we as human beings have shaped it into what it has become in this time of ecological crisis and environmental instability. Landscape encompasses human activities; individual, social, organisational, industrial, familiar and inadvertent and suggests that these activities have affected the precarious environmental and ecological balance of Earth's systems. Global warming and climate change pays testament to these particular recent historical human actions. It is the material 'ecological result of certain master-narratives' that Western culture has told over a short period of time (May 2007, p. 96) and to which artists and educators are responding to. Theatre and drama education processes suggest an encounter between people and place and consequently can be acknowledged as powerful cultural tools that can be utilised to shift societal perceptions around ecological issues (May 2007). As the risks of catastrophic climate change accelerate there is a growing understanding of the role art making can play in making sense of the ecological challenges we encounter. As theatre makers and

¹See Hassall (2013) Salvation, Charles and McGahan (2009) The White Earth.

drama educators we are able to respond to these challenges by posing provocative questions to our learner audiences around climate change issues.

As I begin writing this Chapter, the disturbing news comes through that President Donald Trump has just signed an executive order overturning regulations previous President Barak Obama had put in place to combat climate change and global warming. At the same time Australian communities across an area covering hundreds of kilometres in the State of Queensland, are being devastated by 260 kph winds and flooding rain generated by the 2nd worst Cyclone to smash the country on record. I am preparing to evacuate my home as the floodwaters rise in the street I live in. One in one hundred year events are happening, monthly, weekly even daily across the Earth. At least three plant and/or animal species are becoming extinct every hour (Schultz 2006). Recent re-confirmations of global warming predict a 21st century 'in which we as humans will come to terms with our relationship to the natural world' (May 2007, p. 95).

Lorenz (1999) claims and Duxbury (2010) agrees that scientists are given an unenviable role in predicting the escalation of climate change and are often faced with conflicting information when advising nations, leaders and communities and they warn that:

Discussions that produce vast quantities of contradictory, abstract statistics and data have the potential to alienate the general public and render them helpless in the face of such overwhelming problems (Duxbury 2010, p. 295).

Weather, as Duxbury (2010) discusses is a formidable topic that commands attention and is known 'not only through scientific data and statistics but is also implicit in our bodies and in our phenomenological interactions and experiences in and of the world' (p. 295). He further claims 'we are inseparable from it and we participate in it' (p. 295). This is particularly true in Australia. While Australians are somewhat shocked with the seriousness with which climate change and global warming are being taken by the rest of the world (Schultz 2006, p. 9), it is incontrovertible that we are 'entering a new planetary era in which the actions of human beings have become the dominant influence on Earths environment and climate' (Wiseman 2016, p. 10). Wiseman (2016) further states that there is a critical scientific case for emissions reductions yet there is however 'increasingly broad recognition that the biggest roadblocks to preventing swift implementation of large-scale de-carbonisation strategies are political, social and cultural rather than scientific and technological' (p. 6). Investigation into individual and community reactions 'to potentially catastrophic events such as bushfires and pandemics' [in Australia] suggest evidence of a 'rapidly approaching existential threat' which can potentially induce 'reactions including denial and complacency, despair and paralysis' (Wiseman 2016, p. 7). Whitmarsh (2011) further claims that political beliefs and values may play important roles in measuring scepticism on climate change issues (p. 690). Isolated as we are by distance and political discourses that are nothing short of cynical and a nation economically reliant on coal mining export to China and India and alarmingly with 'Australians being acknowledged as among the most profligate users of fossil fuels in the world' (Schultz 2006, p. 9), climate change education and action has not been a priority on the government agenda. Yet our lives in this country are dictated to by cycles of escalating drought, flood and fire weather events. Global climate change is focussing the attention of science communities. However it is a complex issue that is not well understood by the broader population, and promotes levels of uncertainty, conflicting responses and conflicting knowledge's about its science and about its severity (Fortner 2001, p. 19). In Australia like in many other countries the damage to the environment is not contained to industrial, mining and agricultural sites but is gnawing at the heart of the country itself, at our unique native species, at the inimitable landscape itself. Consequently creating a sustainable future for future generations will take courage and tenacity in our education systems (Schultz 2004, p. 9). Schultz (2006) refers to Australia's Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) data that predicts that

Australia will become more arid, that the average temperature is likely to rise by at least one to six degrees or more over the next half century, sea levels will rise, El Nino will become even more frequent, the Great Barrier Reef will continue to deteriorate, fierce fires will become common place wiping out entire communities and tropical cyclones and their widespread effects, as the one recently experienced in March 2016 will become more fierce and frequent (p. 10).

It seems evident that this is a topic that needs to be addressed in the Australian curriculum with some urgency. The escalating catastrophic weather conditions in this country and the rate of extinction of species and failing eco systems while seemingly difficult to comprehend are in fact a very frightening reality and will impact on sustainable futures in generations to come. To assist in promoting understanding and awareness, Duxbury (2010) believes it's crucial to engage populations, including learner populations on a personal level. In doing so we begin to address the ways we perceive our surroundings and open up the possibility that all individuals are capable of contributing to the changes required to stem the rapid deterioration of the climate (p. 295). Dramatic and performative exploration is a unique way to not only explore the topic but can provide a practical kinaesthetic learning experience that can promote sustainable education in both learning and real life environments.

Utilising Drama in On-Line Learning Landscapes

As discussed above, climate change literacies are becoming prevalent in drama education curriculum and higher degree theatre courses in university environments. While utilising drama in on-line learning landscapes is still largely a theoretical proposition, developing the idea further could provide a means of fostering climate literacies to extend climate discourse into unique learning platforms. Artistic representations of scientific discourse in on-line learning platforms could provide new ways of introducing the possibility for 'alternative understandings' of climate

literacies in learner environments 'through translations of scientists' accumulated knowledge, data and statistics into something that can be understood by the public' (Duxbury 2010, p. 296). Bosse (2016) also believes that unique disciplines and platforms outside established systems will foster the most 'fertile ground for developing solutions' to problems we encounter (p. 14). Climate change education is considered essential on global scales and it is now taught in schools and universities in this country (Fahey 2012, p. 704) yet there seems to be little research about its inclusion and effectiveness in on-line learning environments. It may be acknowledged, however that even with escalating weather events and disasters, the enormity of climate change may be 'difficult to comprehend or connect within an appreciable way' regardless of format or delivery 'because of its remoteness in time and unpredictability' (Duxbury 2010, p. 294). Affective engagement in learning and how students understand climate issues and engage with climate literacy through both intellectual and emotional connections is most pertinent when considering the risks of climate change, as 'the risk of doing nothing is quite considerable' (Slovic et al. 2004). Fortner (2001) suggests that younger learners may not be at a mentally cognitive development level to deal effectively with the magnitude of climate change and its global effects. Consequently as educators and artists we must address climate change literacies and landscapes through appropriate course design and delivery methods that consider non-traditional delivery models for distance and remote access learners. Importantly in fostering climate literacies in young learners we must also ensure we understand the necessity of supporting learners who access distance education especially in such a highly emotive subject areas such as climate change. Levels of support should be paramount when planning distance and on-line programs as research suggests students want to be supported as part of a larger learning community (McInnerney and Roberts 2004). McInnerney and Roberts (2004) strongly believe that we can support distance learners by paying particular attention to the ways we implement and deliver learning. They further posit that by adhering to appropriate and reliable communication protocols (p. 74) we can consider ways of designing and structuring collaborative and inter-active distance learning in what can be acknowledged as isolating on-line environments.

In the area of climate change education it is possible to facilitate climate change literacies through non-science study focuses. Clary and Wandersee (2012) hypothesise that on-line learning communities who access scientific media and discussed issues with peers might exhibit greater scientific understanding of the global issues through engagement in on-line collaboration (p. 71). However the preparation of future generations for the responsibilities of citizenship in a global society, as well as education for sustainable development literacies and practices prescribes that scientific investigation and discussion on global climate change can appear in on-line formats through various methods of delivery (Fortner 2001, p. 19; Burandt and Barth 2010) and in varying curriculum subject areas such as drama and theatre, English literature and creative courses such as visual and media arts. These are essentially storytelling arts that have the potential to engage with the learner's imaginations and consequently can provoke empathetic or sympathetic action.

In Australia climate change and its continuing effects on the land and environment may be considered as being specifically relevant to distance education students in rural and remote areas of the country. Like in many Western countries, rural and remote communities in Australia are serviced through developing distance education technologies in education however traditionally this form of education has often been weighted toward text-based instruction with students expected to demonstrate knowledge in writing (Rao et al. 2011). These learners experience very real climate change issues specific to their isolated communities including high temperatures, drought,-salinization soil erosion, pestilence and disease, experiences that can last for years (Morrisey and Reser 2007). Often learners are isolated geographically as well as physically and psychologically in the vast Australian distances. Martin (2005) believes the psychological distance is significant and believes that there is a need for it to be bridged for distance learners. McInnerney and Roberts (2004) and Palloff and Pratt (1999) agree that feelings of isolation and aloneness that students may feel is the hardest symptom for distance educators to address and these feelings are 'often based on the physical separation between student and educator' (McInnerney and Roberts 2004, p. 74). Also there are recognised dangers in sustaining interest in distance learning as Martin (2005) warns, the lack of specific training and guidance for teachers, concerns about supporting the technology (p. 402), the reliability of national broadband efficiency and isolating and isolated learning environments and the emotive subject matter can become very real issues in sustaining distance learner interests and participation. McInnerney and Roberts (2004) warn that for students studying in isolating and isolated on-line environments, social interaction with peers and educators can often be an exercise in frustration (p. 73). If frustration is to be minimised they continue, 'much thought needs to be given to the methods of communication' that facilitate the learning environment and 'fulfils the human desire for social interaction' (p. 73). However, if, as Martin (2005) suggests, an aim of distance learning platforms is to enrich taught curriculum and to foster collaborative learning by connecting the learner with peers, the use of drama in the on-line environment can bring climate change themes to life regardless of uncertainties with technology or fears of learning being an isolating experience. In educational contexts that entail facilitation of learning through on-line platforms such as necessitated by geographical distance in Australian we must consider what is the best way of engaging, communicating and combatting feelings of isolation for students in their engagement with climate change education and consequently sustainability development.

While there is little doubt that on-line teaching can provide effective learning in a number of subject areas including climate change, Clary and Wandersee (2012) question how on-line instructors and teachers can facilitate science analysis of current climate issues and successfully promote understanding of the issues (p. 70). A focus on environmental and ecological issues in the curriculum through drama collaborative processes and practices can potentially increase the possibilities for global climate change education and promotes the importance of sustainability for future generations. Educational strategies in on-line platforms are best designed when they are based on awareness of the learners' level of knowledge and

preconceptions about issues being taught. Introducing on-line practices and distance education delivery on climate change themes suggests critical information specific to the learner can be selected organised and disseminated to fill knowledge gaps across numerous disciplines to not only enhance understanding but also can 'remediate misconceptions' (Fortner 2001, p. 21). Bringing the facilitator, educator and/or artist face to face with learners virtually in real time can as Martin (2005) suggests enrich the learning process. In doing so the collaboration can satisfy a range of intelligences and importantly learning styles. Clary and Wandersee (2012) discuss that some of the biggest challenges in on-line instruction are the development of effective communications and the establishment of collaborative communities of learners as they pose different constraints for student collaboration and for student-instructor communication (p. 71). Clary and Wandersee (2012) further claim that the inclusion of 'community' can include both local community connections and online learning communities. In doing so educators and artist educators can promote sustainability practices to address climate issues but as Johnson (2002), King and Hildreth (2001), Means et al. (2009), suggest this form of education is only effective if the method of delivery is effective. Drama education processes provide a form of socio-cultural learning that promotes collaborative and communal practices and reflections and as such can effectively raise awareness about climate change and can promote sustainable development literacies though behavioural participations. As drama practice is a participatory visual medium, teachers, artists and facilitators can utilise the political dimension of theatrical and dramatic images to as Deluca and Demno (2000) suggest become a point for theoretical analysis. While our messages may be political and based in scientific fact, drama practice offers a way of seeing and learning that sits outside purely political rhetoric or scientific data. Dramatic form can offer political rhetoric and scientific data as popular culture and as such the visual nature of drama and the dramatizing experience offers ways of seeing that can be unique, evocative and experiential. The dramatic form asks us to question what vision of nature does the play, process or performance authorise and/or make legitimate and for what purpose. Drama as a pedagogical tool can therefore place climate change in the arena of cultural practice and in doing so can provide a unique and innovative platform to present, represent and engage in discourse around the very real climate and warming issues we have ahead of us.

Utilising Drama in On-Line Learning Landscapes

The growing popularity and necessity for on-line learning has as McNair-Crews (2015) claims, altered the culture of modern pedagogy and in the process has highlighted the importance of the role of the teacher. Drama teaching fosters kinaesthetic learning and in its most elementary sense is, an embodied event (Shepherd and Wallis 2004) and a collaborative and shared experience. It is a behavioural activity and is therefore contained in our bodies and in our

phenomenological exchanges and experiences in and of the world and with our relationships to both to the environment and to each other. Drama education encourages kinaesthetic learning by doing and uses experiential approaches that require students to explore and investigate content from physical, behavioural and psychological perspectives. Drama methods emphasise processes of reflexive and reflective actions and consequently require learners to use their bodies systematically over time while reflecting on physical, emotional and cognisant learning experiences. Drama encourages imagination, aesthetic representation, immersive exploration, collaborative relationships, analysis and problem solving through participatory action. Consequently theatre and drama practice and processes in distance education environments enables and encourages possible ways of addressing climate uncertainties and literacies in ways that pure scientific learning may not. On-line curriculum and course design may be considered as similar to designs in theatre and stage performances as both are concerned with depictions of worlds that are similar to reality (Fjuk and Sorensen 1997). Teaching drama in virtual worlds advocates kinaesthetic experiential learning. Unlike teacher centred models, pedagogical approaches to drama are collaborative and by its very nature drama practice engages the learner as a teammate, a cast member, an active and reflective participant in a collaborative community. Drama teaching is practiced in ways that enhance intellectual, expressive and psychological learning rather than practiced as a mode that imparts authoritative knowledge. It is widely accepted that good teaching and facilitation in the classroom environment recognises the value of interactivity, variation and various delivery strategies and may be suggested it may be similar in the distance-learning environment. In contemporary education teacher artists can play key-roles in on-line learning environments including educator, collaborator, information provider and sympathetic listener, especially with learners in remote areas who rely on distance education learning and who are at the forefront of climate change experiences in this country. Through its inherent immersion into dramatic worlds, through enacting the tensions between the real and the representational and in the requirement of participating in creating dramatic solutions through kinaesthetic learning participation, theatre and drama processes offer a unique way of addressing climate uncertainty and change at global and local and personal levels in ways that science education may not. While science education successfully addresses climate uncertainty in learners in many ways drama processes can complement and enhance science understandings of the environment, the natural world and our fragile eco-systems by utilising the scientific data in alternative imaginative and representational ways.

The representation of Nature and the natural world through drama education can symbolically link to themes that explore the ecological well-being of species and spaces (May 2007). Drama education in on-line environments can draw effectively from methodologies including environmental history, landscape theory, cultural geography, post-colonial studies, performance studies and phenomenology as well as from scientific analysis and investigations. Fish and Wickersham (2009) and Zsohar and Smith (2008) believe that effective on-line learning environments have the ability to engage student's critical thinking, and believe that on-line education

environments can promote student's practical thinking and practices, accommodate differences and encourage student's behaviours. O'Neill and Hulme (2008) propose that non-expert values, concepts, emotions and experiences of artists can significantly extend the field of expertise and consequent discourse in the field and can effectively engage and educate. Contemporary drama processes and performance can widely engage with sustainability issues across a number of Year levels and its behavioural activism appeals to its audiences to think for themselves and 'act'. Drama practice and performance is premised on critical and creative thinking. As an art form it is only a complete learning activity when it engages the learner to experience the drama and 'do' or 'act'.

Artists have interests in the representation of the world and of our relationship with each other in the world. Artists therefore have the unique ability to use their expertise to frame climate change themes in powerfully evocative ways. Historically drama and theatrical forms have proven a powerful cultural tool in responding to sociological and political issues and importantly to scientific issues and challenges. As a practical behavioural and emotive art form drama has the potential to transcend socio-cultural barriers through its participatory form and live activeness. It has the ability to unite learning societies on climate issues through focussing on how we sense and perceive the changing climate around us. The sceneographic environments and the worlds explored can link atmospheric conditions to psychological, social and environmental concerns that can be comprehendible across the national cultural and ethnic divide (Duxbury 2010). Contrary to scientific analysis and rationale, drama processes feature theatrical landscapes and representations and prioritises dramatic imaginative explorations to link experiences to emotion. While it is obvious that we cannot expect drama teacher artists to come up with solutions to the climate change phenomena, we can recognise that they can engage their student audiences through physical participation and perception to explore measures of adaption and mitigation through drama education. By utilising on-line tools for reflection, dialogue and awareness, knowledge about the broader scientific challenges such as over-population, environmental degradation, pollution and species extinction can be addressed and as Buckland (2015) suggests, 'art [forms] and science can work together to illuminate the scale and speed of the approaching crisis (p. 9). Art forms, especially visual art forms such as drama can, as Duxbury (2010, p. 298) and Bourriaud et al. (2002, p. 114) discuss, turn audiences into 'direct interlocutors' through activities that produce relationships with the world through signs, symbols, objects and actions. Learners can utilise the distance mode to their advantage by accessing compatible synchronous and asynchronous technologies to enhance and develop understanding. Web-based performance and drama activities can successfully incorporate the use of multi and social-media resources (not just text-based resources) to promote climate change learning literacies. Climate change resources can be readily researched on the Internet. Students can also access virtual performances, films, documentaries, music, poetry and other performative and visual mediums about climate change including news reports and various responses to the climate discussion. Learners can use You-tube, Facebook, vimeo and other shared social media platforms through collaborate participation to their advantage to compile web site addresses and web links and information in virtual journals that story their personal journey into the climate change phenomena. The virtual resources and information can bring the climate and our human response to it directly into the world of the learner and into the world of the collaborative learning community. On-line discussion boards in this situation can become the heart and soul of primary collaborative research tools and resources in on-line communication participation. The collaborative platform can be designed to motivate students, promote higher order thinking and foster participation, communication and collaboration (Boettcher 2013, http:// www.designingforlearning.info/services/writing/ecoach/tenbest.html). Learners can meet once a week or at convenient times on-line and collaborate during the class or workshop. Individuals can behave and work as a cooperative cast and develop dramatic scenarios and ideas from the research collated, and/or and devise and rehearse performance, discuss and analyse themes and reflect on subject, form, style content. Drama processes can therefore contribute to climate change education in the curriculum by enabling learners to:

- Experience and explore climate change events and experiences in imagined and creative safe environments.
- Immerse in drama and theatrical worlds to investigate and develop sustainable practice narratives while devising dramatized solutions to address climate change issues.
- Explore the unique learning settings of the learner in a deliberate manner by addressing their real world immediate challenges.
- Consider world-view, cultural and/or traditional knowledge and community-based lifestyles and practices.²
- Utilise the virtual space as a meeting/social space for cross-cultural interactions in which student artistic investigations are given equal value to scientific analysis.
- Collaborate and participate in drama activities to develop real life responses that promote dialogue and discussion specific to learner environment, culture and experience.
- Respond to needs of climate change themes through unique methods.
- Share and engage in collaborative problem solving hypotheses.

 $^{^{2}}$ Many authors stress the importance of asynchronous communication, as social media technologies are not as useful for group interaction in certain contexts. See McInnerney and Roberts (2004) and Aitken and Shedletsky (2002).

Conclusion

Morton (2008) suggests that art making can direct focus to a specific place, a precise moment and a particular people or community in the constructions of fictional worlds. Climate change investigation in collaborative on-line drama education can therefore be said to be experienced in the rendering of the fictional dramatic world explored. That world in turn sets up a relationship between teacher and learner and the world and the learner and establishes a point of contact between

subjective expression and objective perception. Drama can do this in a space where learner, educator and audience inhabit the same dimension. Drama processes can explore an inter-relationship between eco-critical theme and performance behaviours and can negotiate time, space and place with theatre makings materiality, the performative body and the learner community. The translation of meaning, the understanding of the implications associated with learning and the consideration and implementation of sustainable practices across perceived space and time in the on-line education environment is central to the learning behaviours and rituals of everyday life. As such the drama process presents a hypothetical shared collective history that can be changed and/or transformed into future sustainable behaviours.

Drama offers possibilities and opportunities for imagining and encountering climate change and broader scientific themes such as human impact on the environment. The on-line format can negotiate a realm of uncertainty and present ambiguities and possibilities to engage learner audiences and participants in a process of explanation, speculation, representation and interpretation. Drama is a storytelling medium and as such drama can reconstruct representations of climate change with students and learners, by allowing them to develop their own stories around climate change themes. Importantly within these stories they can explore ideas for sustainable development practices in an effort to identify and address areas in the fight for a sustainable future. Teacher artists are now able to draw on vast amounts of valuable scientific data, information and critique to build and explore drama worlds that can investigate diverse challenges in imaginative and participatory ways. As such the drama activities can offer students alternative means of knowing, engaging and reflecting on and in the world. In participating and experiencing drama activities developed around climate change themes and sustainable practices the student is invited to engage and experience sustainable behaviours and practices, imagine and develop sustainable solutions, and reflect, evaluate, critique and interpret both information and experience to make sense of a serious global reality. If facilitators are considering curriculum enrichment relating to climate change themes beyond the textual for distance learners the virtual shared classroom can provide participants with:

Experience[s] of collaborative learning and of becoming part of a larger community of learners and of having a meaningful and beneficial distance learning experience[s] (Martin 2005, p. 399).

The potential for using drama in the on-line education environment brings the subject of climate change to life through the learners' active and behavioural participation in imagined worlds. Learners have the opportunity to investigate models of behaviour that utilises factual scientific statistics and data in unique and creative ways. Their understanding of the subject and their individual and collective responses to the themes experience occurs through a kinaesthetic participatory interaction that can as Martin (2005) believes, significantly enrich the learning involvement (p. 400) and can as a result foster and develop important and significant climate change literacies through innovative curriculum development and engagement. As Duxbury (2010) suggests, there seems to be much potential for science and creative arts education to work together, to learn from each other (p. 296). History reveals that there have been moments in time when 'artists and scientists followed the same endeavours to probe a reality beyond immediate appearances' (Miller 1995, pp. 185–192). In promoting a drama, science collaboration through on-line learning platforms we as artists, scientists, scholars can work positively together to promote climate literacies in the hope of fostering sustainable futures.

References

- Aitken, J., & Shedletsky, L. (2002). Using electronic discussion to teach communication courses. Communication Education, 51(3), 325–331.
- Boettcher, J. (2013). Ten best practices for teaching online: Quick guide for new online faculty. *Designing for Learning*. Accessed July 2017 from http://:www.designingforlearning.info/services/writing/ecoach/tenbest.html.
- Bosse, J. (2016). Nature/revelation; Ian Potter Museum of Art, the University of Melbourne. In G. Abrahams, B. Johnson, & K. Gellaty (Eds), ART + CLIMATE = CHANGE (pp. 14–17). Melbourne: Melbourne University Publishing Limited.
- Bourriaud, N., Pleasance, S., Woods, F., & Copeland, M. (2002). *Relational aesthetics* (p. 44). Dijon: Les presses du réel.
- Boyes, E., & Stanissteet, M. (1993). The greenhouse effect: Children's perceptions of causes, consequences and cures. *International Journal of Science Education*, 15(5), 531–552.
- Buckland, D. (2015). Interview with CLIMARTE, June 8, 2015. www.youtube.com/watch?v= iavv8e5dph0. Accessed July 2017.
- Burandt, S., & Barth, M. (2010). Learning settings to face climate change. Journal of Cleaner Production, 18, 659–665.
- Charles, S., & McGahan, A. (2009). The white earth. Brisbane: Playlab Press.
- Clary, R., & Wandersee, J. (2012). Mandatory climate change discussions in on-line classrooms: Promoting students' climate literacy and understanding the nature of science. *Journal of College of Science Teaching*, 41, 70–79.
- DeLuca, K., & Demo, A. (2000). Imagining nature: Watkins, Yosemite, and the birth of environmentalism. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 17(3), 241–260. doi:10.1080/ 15295030009388395.
- Duxbury, L. (2010). A change in the climate: New interpretations and perceptions of climate change through artistic interventions and representations. *American Meteorological Society*, 2, 294–299. doi:10:1175/2010WCAS1053.1.

- Fahey, S. J. (2012). Curriculum change and climate change: Inside outside pressures in higher education. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 44(5), 703–722. doi:10.1080/00220272.2012. 679011.
- Fish, W., & Wickersham, L. (2009). Best practices for on-line instructors: Reminders. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education Leadership*, 10, 279–284.
- Fjuk, A., & Sorensen, E. K. (1997). Drama as a methaphor for design of situated, collaborative distributed learning. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning, 1*. Accessed online April 06, 17 from http://www.eurodl.org/index.php?p=archives&year=1997&halfyear= 1&article=14.
- Fortner, R. W. (2001). Climate change in school: Where does it fit and how ready are we? *Canadian Journal of Environmental Education*, 6(Spring), 18–31.
- Gaudio, M. (2008). [Participant in] The art seminar. In R. Z. DeLue & J. Elkins (Eds.), Landscape theory (pp. 87–156). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gowda, M., Fox, J., & Magelky, R. (1997). Student's understanding of climate change: Insights for scientists and educators. *Bulletin of American Meteorological Society*, 78(1), 2232–2240.
- Hassall, L. (2013). Salvation (D. Baker & D. Beattie (Eds)), TEXT Journal of Literary and Creative Writing-Scriptwriting as Creative Writing Research—Special Issue Series Number 19, 1–20.
- Johnson, M. (2002). Introductory biology on-line. Journal of Science Teaching, 31, 312-317.
- King, P., & Hidreth, D. (2001). Internet courses: Are they worth the effort? Journal of College Science Teaching, 2(2), 112–115.
- Lorenz, E. N. (1999). The Essence of Chaos (p. 77). Washington: University of Washington Press.
- Martin, M. (2005). Seeing is believing: The role of video conferencing in distance learning. British Journal of Educational Technology, 36(3), 397–405.
- May, T. (2007). Beyond Bambi: Toward a dangerous ecocriticism in theatre studies. *Theatre Topics*, 17(2), 95–110.
- McInnerney, J. M., & Roberts, T. S. (2004). Online learning: Social interaction and the creation of a sense of community. *Educational Technology & Society*, 7(3), 73–81.
- McNair-Crews, G. P. (2015). Investigating instructor perceptions of online teaching versus traditional classroom instruction (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). Accessed June 2017 from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1733219633?pq-origsite=gscholar.
- Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2009). Evaluation of evidence-based practices in on-line learning. A meta-analysis and review of on-line learning studies. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/rschstat/ eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport/pdf.
- Miller, A. I. (1995). Aesthetics, representation and creativity in art and science. *Leonardo*, 28, 185–192.
- Morrisey, S., & Reser, J. (2007). Natural disasters, climate change and mental health considerations for rural Australians. AJRH, Australian Journal Rural Health, 15, 120–125. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1548.2007.00865.x. Accessed on April 03, 17.
- Morton, T. (2008). John Clare's Dark ecology. Studies in Romanticism, 47(2), 179-193.
- O'Neill, S., & Hulme, M. (2008). An iconic approach for representing climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 19, 402–448.
- Palloff, R., & Pratt, K. (1999). Building Learning Communities in Cyberspace. Effective strategies for the on-line classroom. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Rao, K., Eady, M., & Edelen-Smith, P. (2011). Creating virtual classrooms for rural and remote communities: On-line learning may be the key to enabling people in less populous areas to earn teaching degrees and other professional certificates. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(6), 22+.
- Saldina, J. (1999). Playwrighting with data: Ethnographic performance texts. *Youth Theatre Journal*, 14, 60–71.
- Schultz, J. (2004). The land: Dreams and disappointments. *Griffith Review, Dreams of Land, 2003–2004*(Summer), 5–9.
- Schultz, J. (2006). Masters of the universe: How nigh is the end. Griffith Review: Hot Air. How nigh is the end? Winter, 12, 6–10.

- Shepherd, S., & Wallis, M. (2004). Drama, theatre, performance: The new critical idiom. Abingdon: Routeledge.
- Slovic, P., Finnucane, M., Peters, E., & Mac Gregor, D. G. (2004). Risk as analysis and risk as feelings: Some thoughts about affect, reason, risk and rationality. *Risk Analysis*, 24, 1–11.
- Wiseman, J. (2016). Art in a harsh climate: Pathways to a just and resilient post carbon future.
 In G. Abrahams, B. Johnson, & K. Gellaty (Eds.), ART + CLIMATE = CHANGE (pp. 6–13).
 Melbourne: Melbourne University Publishing Limited.
- Whitmarsh, L. (2011). Scepticism and uncertainty about climate change: Dimensions, determinants and change over time. *Global Environmental Change*, 21, 690–700.
- Zsohar, H., & Smith, J. (2008). Transition from the classroom to the web: Successful strategies for teaching on-line. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 29, 23–28.

Author Biography

Dr Linda Hassall is Program Director of the Contemporary and Applied Theatre Department in the School of Education and Professional Studies at Griffith University Australia. Her practice-led artistic research investigates eco-critical landscapes in contemporary performance practices that aim to develop climate literacies in audiences. Her work rearticulates representations of nature in exacerbated cultural, social, physical, psychological circumstances. Linda is a critically successful playwright and director and has numerous publications including creative works to her credit.